
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Cabinet  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Friday, 17 September 2021 at 11.00 am 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield. 

Contact: Mr. M. Hand (Tel. 0116 305 6038) 

Email: matthew.hand@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. B. L. Pain CC 
Mrs D. Taylor CC 

Mrs. C. M. Radford CC 
Mr. O. O'Shea JP CC 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 

 

Mrs H. L. Richardson CC 
Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 
Mr. P. Bedford CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 20 July 2021.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 16) 

2.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy - Latest 
Position.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 
 
 
 

(Pages 17 - 58) 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

5.  
  

Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Southern 
Section - Housing Infrastructure Fund Grant.  
 

Chief Executive, 
Director of 
Corporate 
Resources, and 
Director of Law 
and Governance 
 

(Pages 59 - 64) 

6.  
  

Corporate Asset Investment Fund Annual 
Performance Report 2020-21.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 65 - 96) 

7.  
  

Ashby Canal Maintenance Funding.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 97 - 102) 

8.  
  

Interim Coalville Transport Strategy.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 103 - 
142) 

9.  
  

Leicester City Council Draft Local Transport 
Plan 4 and Work Place Parking Levy 
Consultations.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 143 - 
152) 

10.  
  

Exception to Contract Procedure Rules - 
Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive in 
Relation to the Appointment of a Supplier to 
Provide the Publishment of Legal Traffic 
Orders.  
 

Director of 
Environment and 
Transport 
 

(Pages 153 - 
156) 

11.  
  

Response to Charnwood Borough Council's 
Emerging new Local Plan: the Pre-submission 
Charnwood Local Plan (2021 to 2037) 
Consultation.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 157 - 
218) 

12.  
  

Response to Hinckley and Bosworth Borough 
Council's draft Local Plan (Regulation 18) 
Consultation.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 219 - 
280) 

13.  
  

Public Engagement Principles.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 281 - 
298) 

14.  
  

Leicestershire School Term-Time Patterns 
from Autumn 2022 to Summer 2027.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 299 - 
330) 

15.  
  

Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Children Board Partnership Annual Report 
2020/21  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 331 - 
360) 

16.  
  

Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adult 
Board Annual Report 2020/21.  
 

Independent Chair 
of the 
Leicestershire and 
Rutland Local 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board 
 
 

(Pages 361 - 
378) 



 
 
 
 

17.  
  

East Midlands Freeport - Including Urgent 
Action taken by the Chief Executive.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 379 - 
384) 

18.  
  

Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 

 
 

 

19.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 20 July 
2021.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. B. L. Pain CC 
Mrs D. Taylor CC 
Mr. O. O'Shea JP CC 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 

Mrs H. L. Richardson CC 
Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 
Mr. P. Bedford CC 

 
 
Also in attendance. 
 
Mr. T. Parton CC, Mrs B. Seaton CC, Mr. M. T. Mullaney CC, Mr. M. Hunt CC, Mrs R. 
Page CC  
 
Apologies for absence. 
 
Apologies for absence were reported on behalf of Mrs C. M. Radford CC. 
 

23. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2021 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

24. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

25. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mrs P. Posnett MBE CC declared a personal interest in agenda item 8 (Development of 
an Interim Melton Mowbray Transport Strategy) and a personal interest which might lead 
to bias in agenda item 9 (Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Southern Section - Housing 
Infrastructure Fund Grant) as a member of the Planning Committee at Melton Borough 
Council.  She undertook to leave the meeting whilst the latter item was considered. 
 

26. Medium Term Financial Strategy Monitoring (Period 2).  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources regarding the 
2021/22 revenue budget and capital programme monitoring position as at the end of May 
2021 (period 2 of the financial year). A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 4’, is filed 
with these minutes. 
 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

Mr. Breckon CC said that the Council was facing its largest ever projected net overspend, 
of £18.4m, and a further report would be brought to the Cabinet in September regarding 
the refresh of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  Mr. Breckon added that the Council 
continued to press the case for fairer funding with the help of its MPs and thanked 
Andrew Bridgen MP and Neil O’Brien MP in particular for their support. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the 2021/22 revenue and capital monitoring position be noted. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
To highlight the latest forecast financial position for 2021/22, including a net projected 
overspend of £18.4m. 
 

27. Leicester and Leicestershire Economic Growth Strategy.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding the consultation draft of 
the Economic Growth Strategy, which had been prepared by Cambridge Econometrics 
on behalf of the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP).  A copy of 
the report, marked ‘Agenda item 5’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Members noted the comments of the Scrutiny Commission and from Mr. Max Hunt CC, 
copies of which are filed with these minutes. 
 
Mr. Bedford CC welcomed the constructive feedback on the draft Strategy and hoped 
amendments would be made by the LLEP. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the comments of the Scrutiny Commission be noted; 
 

b) That the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership be requested to 
make some further revisions to the draft Strategy to address 
 

i. the comments set out in paragraphs 29 to 32 of the report; 
 

ii. any issues arising from County Council departments (to be submitted to the 
LLEP by the end of July); 

 
c) That subject to the revisions at (b) above being made the Economic Growth 

Strategy for Leicester and Leicestershire be welcomed. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
In the absence of a Strategic Economic Plan or Local Industrial Strategy for Leicester and 
Leicestershire, it is crucial the sub-region establishes a clear vision for the economy, not 
least given the impact of the pandemic on businesses and individuals, and that the 
agreed strategy properly reflects the unique challenges and opportunities that exist in the 
County. 
 
At the Cabinet meeting on 22 June 2021 it was agreed that the LLEP be advised of 
officer observations on the pre-consultation draft and that these be included in the 

6



 
 

 

version issued for formal consultation. This report sets out where further amendments to 
the consultation draft are considered necessary. 
 
County Council departments have recently received the draft Strategy for comment and 
have been asked to submit comments by the end of July. 
 

28. Corporate Complaints and Compliments Annual Report 2020/21.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding the Corporate 
Complaints and Compliments Annual Report which covered the period from 1 April 2020 
to 31 March 2021.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 6’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
Members noted the comments of the Scrutiny Commission, a copy of which is filed with 
these minutes.  
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the comments of the Scrutiny Commission be noted; 

 
b) That the Corporate Complaints and Compliments Annual Report covering the 

period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 be noted. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
To note the increase in volume of corporate complaints received but also the continued 
strong performance in timely resolution of complaints. 
 

29. Cycling and Walking Strategy.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport concerning 
the outcome of engagement on the draft Cycling and Walking Strategy and seeking 
approval for the adoption of the Strategy and to develop Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plans for the next two priority areas. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda 
item 7’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Members noted comments from the Quorn Walking and Cycling Group, a copy of which 
is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Director assured members that the Council’s targets would be kept under review and 
updated to ensure there was a continued challenge to improve. 
 
Mr. O’Shea CC said he was pleased to see the growth in cycling and walking and that 
more Government funding for improvements was now available. 
 
Mrs. Richardson CC said the Strategy would benefit people’s health and local air quality.  
She encouraged cyclists to make use of dedicated cycle lanes where these were 
provided.  
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the results of the engagement on the draft Cycling and Walking Strategy be 

noted; 

7



 
 

 

 
b) That the Cycling and Walking Strategy (CaWS) and Action Plan, attached as 

Appendix A to the report, be approved; 
 

c) That it be noted that the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide will be reviewed to 
ensure its alignment with Government LTN1/20 cycle infrastructure standards, and 
that until this review is completed the Council will take a pragmatic approach as 
outlined in this report but will seek to align designs with LTN1/20 standards 
wherever possible; 

 
d) That the Director of Environment and Transport, following consultation with the 

Cabinet lead member, be authorised to update the Action Plan and its targets 
annually as a result of evidence arising from the delivery of the CaWS and 
consideration of the future Medium Term Financial Strategy, noting that any 
significant changes to the CaWS will be the subject of a further report to members;  

 
e) That it be noted that the next two areas to be prioritised for the development of 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans will be - 
 

i. Loughborough 
 

ii. the south-east quadrant of the Leicester Principal Urban Area. 
 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The Strategy will seek to deliver the Government’s ambitions for delivering greater levels 
of cycling and walking, as set out in its policy document ‘Gear Change’ and design 
standards LTN1/20, and in doing so help improve Leicestershire’s public health and air 
quality, alleviate congestion, and support the green recovery. 
 
The Action Plan sets out the practical short, medium and long term actions to deliver the 
CaWS. It will be updated annually to take account of funding availability, changes to 
national guidance, priorities and delivery changes etc. 
 
Adoption of the CaWS will trigger a need to review the Leicestershire Highway Design 
Guide to ensure its alignment with Government LTN1/20 cycle infrastructure design 
guidance (this is included in the Action Plan). 
 
The Director of Environment and Transport will update the CaWS Action Plan annually 
and review and update targets as necessary to support the ongoing delivery of the 
Strategy and Government national targets. 
 

30. Development of an Interim Melton Mowbray Transport Strategy.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport regarding 
the outcome of engagement on the draft interim Melton Mowbray Transport Strategy and 
seeking approval for its adoption.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 8’, is filed 
with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

8



 
 

 

a) That the responses to the engagement, on the draft Interim Melton Mowbray 
Transport Strategy (MMTS) as set out in paragraphs 44 to 71 and Appendix A to 
the report and the proposed revisions made to the Interim MMTS as a 
consequence be noted; 

 
b) That the revised Interim MMTS and Summary MMTS attached to the report as 

Appendices B and C respectively be approved. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
Significant traffic congestion in the town of Melton Mowbray has affected the lives of its 
residents, the efficiency of its businesses and its ability to grow. An MMTS remains vital 
to addressing the town’s existing traffic problems and supporting its continued growth, 
and in achieving wider objectives, including in respect of the environment. 
 
There is a Government requirement to submit an MMTS alongside the Full Business 
Case for the North and East Melton Mowbray Distributor Road (NE MMDR) scheme in 
Autumn 2021.  Notwithstanding this, it is important to note that the Interim Strategy 
incorporates the MMDR in its entirety - i.e. the northern, eastern and southern sections - 
as well as the wider measures that will be needed to support the MMDR’s delivery.  
 
Engagement with stakeholders is an important part of the process for developing new 
strategies. It helps to ensure that the Authority takes account of customer expectations 
and delivers the most appropriate service levels, consistent with the budget available. 
 
The Interim MMTS will help provide a transparent framework for determining decisions on 
transport priorities, ensure co-ordination of investment, support the Borough Council’s 
Local Plan, and build on work undertaken jointly with Melton Borough Council during the 
preparation of the Local Plan. 
 

31. Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Southern Section - Housing Infrastructure Fund Grant.  
 
(Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC, having declared a personal interest leading to bias, left the 
meeting during consideration of this item.) 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive, Director of Corporate Resources, 
and Director of Law and Governance concerning the latest position regarding to the 
Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) grant offered by Homes England in respect of the 
southern leg of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road and a supplementary report 
advising that the grant could be accepted conditionally.  Copies of the reports, marked 
‘Agenda item 9’, are filed with these minutes. 
 
With the permission of the Chairman, Cllr. J. T. Orson, Leader of Melton Borough 
Council, spoke on the report. He welcomed the recommendations, noting the substantial 
costs of infrastructure needed to support the Borough’s growth and that significant 
financial risks would remain even if the HIF grant was secured.  Mr. Orson said that the 
Borough Council’s Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
which prioritised contributions for highways and education was expected to be approved 
in September and new and updated masterplans for the South and North Sustainable 
Neighbourhoods would be adopted before the end of 2021. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

9



 
 

 

a) That the County Council welcomes the indication from the Leader of Melton 
Borough Council: 
 

i. that, in regard to the provision of infrastructure, his Council will increase its 
cap to £1.75million in an agreement between the two Councils for Melton 
Borough Council to mitigate the financial risk to the County Council; and 

 
ii. that he will arrange for his Council to approve as soon as possible and by the 

end of 2021 a Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD), a replacement masterplan for the South Sustainable Neighbourhood, 
and a new masterplan for the North Sustainable Neighbourhood; 

 
b) That in respect of the SPD, the County Council notes that the draft document on 

which consultation will follow prioritises contributions towards transport and 
education infrastructure, which the County Council will expect to see in a final 
version; 
 

c) That in respect of the South Sustainable Neighbourhood masterplan, the County 
Council notes that following concerns about viability, it commissioned consultants 
to produce an updated masterplan, which now requires to be completed; 
 

d) That in respect of the North Sustainable Neighbourhood masterplan, the County 
Council notes that its objections to an earlier draft have been incorporated in a 
revision which now requires to be shared and the work concluded; 
 

e) That, accordingly, subject to: 
 

i. assurances from Melton Borough Council in regard to an increase in the cap 
to £1.75million in an agreement between the two councils for the Borough 
Council to mitigate the financial risk to the County Council, in regard to 
approval of the SPD and masterplans for the South and North Sustainable 
Neighbourhoods to the satisfaction of the County Council; and  
 

ii. the provision of current information to Homes England on the estimated costs 
of the southern leg and further dialogue between the Director of Law and 
Governance and Homes England to reach an agreement on the terms of the 
Grant Determination Agreement, 

 
the County Council will be in a position to accept conditionally the Housing 
Infrastructure Fund grant for the southern leg of the Melton Mowbray Distributor 
Road by decision of Cabinet at its meeting on 17th September 2021. 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
To agree the position to be adopted by the County Council. 
 

32. Provision of Short Breaks and Supported Living Services.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities regarding the 
outcome of the consultation on proposed changes to the provision of the Council’s in-

10



 
 

 

house short breaks services and seeking agreement to the proposed way forward.  A 
copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 10’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the outcome of the consultation on proposed changes to the provision of the 

Council’s in-house short breaks services be noted;  
 

b) That the refurbished facilities at The Trees in Hinckley be used for the provision of 
short breaks, taking the total number of beds at the site to 12; 

 
c) That the Smith Crescent facility in Coalville be closed as a place for the provision 

of short breaks; 
 

d) That alternative provision for existing users of the short break services at Smith 
Crescent, tailored for each individual, be provided at one of the other in-house 
short breaks facilities at Hinckley, Melton, and Wigston; 

 
e) That the proposal for a replacement short breaks facility at the Cropston Drive site 

in Coalville, previously agreed in 2019, be withdrawn; 
 

f) That revised development proposals for the Cropston Drive site in Coalville be 
developed for future consideration by the Cabinet. 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The existing accommodation at Smith Crescent (part of the Cropston Drive site in 
Coalville) presents a number of accessibility challenges which cannot be addressed cost 
effectively and impacts opportunities to maximise occupancy. 
 
Former residents of The Trees in Hinckley have decided not to return to the newly 
refurbished facility. Using this accommodation for the provision of short breaks alongside 
the Council’s other short breaks services in Melton and Wigston increases the total 
number of beds available across the County from 22 to 24.  
 
Existing and planned future use of short breaks facilities within the County can be 
accommodated within this proposed capacity, including the needs of current users of 
Smith Crescent short breaks service. This would therefore negate the need for additional 
investment and the development of a replacement facility in Coalville. 
It has not been possible to achieve an economically viable bid to develop the previously 
agreed proposals for the Cropston Drive site. This would now provide an opportunity to 
review and develop alternative proposals for this site that could be met within the capital 
allocation identified. 
 

33. Shared Care Record.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities regarding 
progress with the delivery of integrated health and care services through the 
development of a Shared Care Record across Health and Care in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland, including a proposed local Charter for collaboration.  A copy 
of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 11’, is filed with these minutes. 

11



 
 

 

RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the development of a Shared Care Record between health and adult social 

care services be supported; 
 

b) That the rationale for the development of a local Charter to formalise local 
stakeholder commitment and the core principles of the Charter as set out in the 
report and Appendix be supported subject to (c) and (d) below; 

 
c) That it be noted that the Charter as currently drafted does potentially provide for 

an unquantifiable commitment to resources which requires clarification; 
 

d) That the Director of Adults and Communities and Director of Corporate Resources, 
following consultation with their respective Cabinet Lead Members, be authorised 
to 

 
i. agree with Integrated Care System partners such changes to the local 

Charter as are necessary to limit any unquantified risk to the Council’s 
Resources, 
 

ii. sign the local Charter on behalf of the Council subject to any changes 
referred to in (i) above, 
 

iii. determine appropriate officer representation on the Yorkshire and Humber 
Care Record Delivery Board and enter into a Memorandum of Understanding 
concerning the partnership working as detailed in paragraph 40 of the report.    

 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The establishment of a Shared Care Record will form an integral part of the medium-term 
objectives of the Integrated Care System. It will enable care and clinical staff access to 
real time health and care information across care providers and between different 
operational systems. 
 
The informal Charter, appended to the report, seeks to commit the Integrated Care 
System to prioritising the ongoing development of the Shared Care Record, and as such 
requires support from a range of stakeholders. These include the County Council, 
Leicester City Council, and Rutland Council.   
 
As it stands, the Charter potentially provides for an unquantifiable commitment of 
resources. It is not expected that there will be a direct call upon any single organisation to 
find money from existing allocations. However, it is recommended that this commitment is 
clarified and a suitable form of words agreed to limit the financial and strategic risk to the 
Council, or an alternative way of articulating support that limits financial risk is found. 
 

34. Development of the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme - Proposed Consultation.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Public Health seeking approval to 
commence consultation on the proposed service model for the Healthy Child Programme 
for 0-19-year olds.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 12’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 

12



 
 

 

Mrs. Richardson CC noted the importance of consultation on the proposals and for 
improvements to the existing offer to help address inequalities and promote self-care. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the commencement of a consultation exercise on the proposed service model 

for the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme for a period of 8 weeks from 22 July to 16 
September 2021, be approved; 

 
b) That a further report regarding the outcome of the consultation and proposed 

service model be submitted to the Cabinet on 26 October 2021. 
 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The Healthy Child Programme contains statutory functions that the Public Health grant 
has to commission or provide. This includes five universal health visiting checks for 
families and delivery of the national child measurement programme in schools. 
 
The current contract is due to expire 31 August 2022 and cannot be extended. 
 
The proposed service model will enable improvements to integrate universal health 
services to improve the health and wellbeing of children and young people through health 
and development reviews, health promotion and parenting support. 
 
The 1001 Critical Days review in March 2021 recommended best practice across the 
health system to ensure babies, children and their parents get the best possible start in 
life by adding two additional touch points (3-4 months contact and 3-3 ½ years review) for 
Health Visiting. This will need further engagement and consultation on how best to deliver 
these contacts. 
 
Covid-19 has exacerbated some of the issues with the current service offer and a need to 
review and improve the Programme’s preventative offer and interventions to ease 
demand on services such as Emergency Departments and to improve mental health and 
wellbeing. 
 

35. Exception to Contract Procedure Rules - Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive in 
Relation to the Appointment of a Supplier to Provide Free School Meal Vouchers during 
the Summer Holidays.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources regarding urgent 
action taken by the Chief Executive to agree an exception to the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules to enable the provision of  Free School Meal Vouchers for the 2021 
summer holidays.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 13’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive to agree an exception to the Contract 
Procedure Rules to enable the appointment of Edenred to provide Free School Meal 
Vouchers until 30 September 2021 be noted. 
 

13



 
 

 

REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The Council’s Constitution (Contract Procedure Rule 6(b)(ii)) provides that exceptions to 
the Contract Procedure Rules may be made by the Cabinet where it is satisfied that an 
exception is justified on its merits and that in urgent cases the Chief Executive (after 
consultation with the Leader or Deputy Leader save where this is not practicable) may 
direct that an exception be made subject to it being reported to the Cabinet.  The 
circumstances and financial considerations are explained in the report. 
 

36. Exception to Contract Procedure Rules - Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive in 
Relation to the Extension of an Existing Contract for an Electronic Roster System.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities  regarding 
urgent action taken by the Chief Executive to agree an exception to the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules to enable the use of an existing contract for the supply of a 
staff roster system to continue to be used by the Homecare Assessment and Reablement 
Team and Crisis Response Service teams.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda item 
14’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive to agree an exception to the Contract 
Procedure Rules to enable the existing contract for the supply of a staff roster system to 
continue to be used by the Homecare Assessment and Reablement Team and Crisis 
Response Service teams be noted. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The Council’s Constitution (Contract Procedure Rule 6 (b)) provides that exceptions to 
the Contract Procedure Rules may be made by the Cabinet where it is satisfied that an 
exception is justified on its merits and that in urgent cases the Chief Executive (after 
consultation with the Leader or Deputy Leader save where this is not practicable) may 
direct that an exception be made subject to it being reported to the Cabinet. 
 
The exception was necessary in order to support both HART and CRS services to 
continue to operate at full capacity (the circumstances are explained the report). 
 

37. Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 
There were no items referred from the Overview and Scrutiny bodies. 
 

38. Exclusion of the press and public.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded for 
the remaining item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act and that, in all circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
 

14



 
 

 

39. Proposals to Develop a New Primary School to Serve Castle Donington - Expressions of 
Interest from Academy Proposers.  
 
The Cabinet considered an exempt report of the Director of Children and Family Services 
concerning expressions of interest received from academy proposers (sponsors) to 
operate the new 210-place primary school (academy) to serve the Castle Donington area 
of Leicestershire, and making recommendations to the Secretary of State for Education 
to enable a decision to be taken on a preferred sponsor for the new school.  A copy of the 
report, marked ‘Agenda item 18’, is filed with these minutes.  The report was not for 
publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the six expressions of interest received from the Discovery Schools Academy 

Trust, East Midlands Education Trust, Scholars Academy Trust, Spencer Academy 
Trust, Willows Academy Trust and Symphony Learning Trust to operate the new 
210-place primary school to serve the Castle Donington area be noted; 

 
b) That the four academy proposers that have all progressed to Stage 2 of the 

process, and the scoring attached to each as set out in Appendices C and D to the 
report, and which defines the County Council’s order of preference, be noted; 

 
c) That all four proposers be recommended to the Secretary of State for Education 

(with whom the decision rests), as potential suitable sponsors to operate the new 
school and indicating the County Council’s preference for the appointment of a 
preferred Academy Trust as outlined within paragraph 33 of the report, and that 
the Secretary of State be advised that given the strength of the applications that 
there is no reason to suggest that it would be necessary to look elsewhere to 
secure an academy sponsor; 

 
d) That it be noted that further information will be provided to members once the 

decision on a preferred sponsor has been taken and confirmed by the Regional 
Schools Commissioner, acting on behalf of Secretary of State for Education. 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
The Education Act 1996 places a statutory duty on the County Council to ensure a 
sufficient supply of school places. 
 
The new 210-place primary school to serve the Castle Donington Charters Gate 
development (approved by North West Leicestershire District Council) is planned to open 
in September 2022.  It recognises the increase in demand for school places locally, 
arising as a consequence of the 895 new homes planned to be built. 
 
Seeking expressions of interest from suitable academy proposers (sponsors) is in 
keeping with the requirements placed upon the County Council by section 6A (the Free 
School Presumption) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, as introduced by the 
Education Act 2011. 
 

15



 
 

 

By completing the expressions of interest process, the County Council has been able to 
assess and confirm the expertise, capacity, experience and other credentials necessary 
to run the new school, of the organisations that have applied. 
 
Ensuring that all organisations recommended to the Secretary of State for consideration 
are already ‘approved’ sponsors on the Department for Education register will help 
demonstrate their capabilities and should enable an early decision to be taken. 
 
 

 

 
2.00  - 2.59 pm  CHAIRMAN 
20 July 2021 

 

16



1 
 

 
 

 
CABINET - 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY - LATEST POSITION 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide members with an update on the 2021/22 revenue 

budget and capital programme monitoring position as at the end of period 4 (the end of 
July), to obtain approval to changes to the previously agreed 2021-25 capital programme 
and agree the approach to updating the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 
2022 to 2026. 
 

Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that: 
 

a) the latest position regarding the 2021/22 revenue budget and capital programme as 
at the end of July 2021, period 4, be noted; 
 

b) the revised capital programme 2021/22 to 2024/25 as set out in Appendix C to the 
report be approved; 
 

c) the Director of Corporate Resources following consultation with the Cabinet Lead 
Member for Corporate Resources be authorised to agree the use of funding from 
the portfolio risk allocation to specific projects within the Environment and Transport 
Capital programme;  
 

d) the approach outlined in the report to updating the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
be noted. 

  
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3. To inform members of the intended approach to the development of plans to address the 

latest financial position. 
 

17 Agenda Item 4



2 
 

4. To seek agreement to the revised capital programme for 2021-25 which has required 
amendment as a result of the latest forecast financial position and known pressures on a 
number of schemes and to the delegation to the Director of Corporate Resources 
following consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member for Corporate Resources, of the 
authorisation of the use of the portfolio risk contingency (£10.6m) for Environment and 
Transport schemes in order to address issues arising with major schemes without delay. 

 
Timetable for Decision (including Scrutiny) 
 
5. The Scrutiny Commission will consider this report on 8th September 2021 and its 

comments will be reported to the Cabinet. 
 

6. The Cabinet will be asked to approve the draft MTFS 2022 to 2026 for consultation in 
December 2021. All Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Scrutiny Commission 
will consider the draft MTFS in late January 2022 and the Cabinet will then make a final 
recommendation to the County Council in February 2022.   

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
7. The Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2021/22 to 2024/25 was approved by the 

County Council on 17th February 2021. Over the autumn and winter of 2021 the MTFS 
will be reviewed and updated.  
  

8. Regular reports have been provided to the Cabinet on the overall financial position. 
 
Resource Implications 
 
9. The financial position faced by the County Council is extremely serious and challenging. 

The current MTFS anticipated a funding gap of £23m by 2024/25 but the additional 
pressures from Covid-19 will increase that gap significantly and the level of uncertainty.  
This is a particularly difficult situation for a low-funded authority such as Leicestershire as 
room for further savings is limited.   

 
10. Covid-19 continues to have a heavy influence on the current year’s financial position, and 

also increases the level of uncertainty. The year-end position will again depend very 
much on the level of interventions and other support from Government, as well as other 
bodies such as NHS bodies. So year-end estimates made in this report, based on 
information to the end of period 4, need to be treated with some caution. But furthermore, 
that uncertainty becomes more problematic when trying to assess the medium term 
financial position.  

 
11. Based on current information, it is very likely that the County Council, when it rolls 

forward the MTFS into 2025/26, will continue to have a funding gap in the later years. 
This is compounded by the increased demands from the capital programme which, whilst 
manageable in the short term increases the pressure on the Council’s cash balances and 
could, depending on the wider financial position pans out, lead to a position where 
external borrowing is required, adding further to the burden on the revenue budget.  
 

18



3 
 

12. To balance the budget without a significant impact on services will require a major 
efficiency initiative. The County Council continues to press the Government to address 
the imbalance on relative funding levels between local authorities.  Furthermore the 
financial situation also requires the Government to deal with the structural national issues 
around funding for those services, such as social care and Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities (SEND), which are experiencing a relentless growth in demand.  

 
13. The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted on the content of this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,  
Corporate Resources Department, 
0116 305 6199    E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property),  
Corporate Resources Department,  
0116 305 7668   E-mail Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

PART B 
 

 
 
2020/21 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING – PERIOD 4 

 
14. The period 4 revenue budget monitoring exercise shows a net projected overspend of 

£12m. In the current financial year this can be manged through the Covid budget. 
However, this was a one-off provision and additional pressures will lead to an increased 
requirement for savings if they cannot be contained. The Covid budget simply allows time 
to resolve the financial issues. 

 
15. In the 2021-25 MTFS the savings requirement totals £80m, of which £23m still needs to 

be identified. Even with the declared overspend there are uncertainties in the medium 
term due to the continuing impacts of Covid-19 on the economy affecting income from 
local taxation and future central government funding, and the impact on services through 
changes required for Covid-19. 

 
16. The General Fund stands at £17m as at 31st March 2021, which represents 4.3% of the 

2021/22 revenue budget, in line with the County Council’s earmarked funds policy and 
the MTFS approved in February 2021. 

 

19

mailto:Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/dkeegan/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/CJMNC7N7/Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk


4 
 

17. The overall position includes the estimated impact of Coronavirus (Covid-19) where it can 
be reasonably estimated at this stage.  There is a high level of uncertainty in the 
estimates when forecasting for the full year. This certainty will improve in future 
monitoring exercises during the year. 

 
18. A summary of the position is shown below and set out in more detail in Appendix A. 

 
REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING STATEMENT 

FOR THE PERIOD: APRIL 2021 TO JULY 2021 

     

 
Updated  Projected Difference 

 
Budget Outturn from Updated 

   
Budget 

 
£000 £000 £000 % 

     Schools Budget – Schools and Early Years 0 -1,910 -1,910 
 Schools Budget – High Needs 0 9,330 9,330 
 Net Total 0 7,420 7,420 
 

     Children & Family Services (Other) 89,087 88,857 -230 -0.3 

Adults & Communities 156,525 170,005 13,480 8.6 

Public Health  -1,323 -1,323 0 0.0 

Environment & Transport 81,355 79,945 -1,410 -1.7 

Chief Executives 12,458 12,438 -20 -0.2 

Corporate Resources 34,089 35,019 930 2.7 

Capital Financing  21,500 22,550 1,050 4.9 

Other Areas 15,870 15,720 -150 -0.9 

Central grants/other income -43,508 -44,508 -1,000 2.3 

Covid-19 budget 28,300 28,300 0 0.0 

Contribution to budget equalisation earmarked fund 4,000 7,700 3,700 92.5 

Contribution to General Fund 1,000 1,000 0 0.0 

Total 399,353 415,703 16,350 4.1 

     Funding -399,353 -403,753 -4,400 1.1 

     Net Total 0 11,950 11,950 
  

 
19. The key projected variances that have been identified are set out below.  Further details 

of major variances are provided in Appendix B.   
 
Children and Family Services – Schools Budget 
 
20. The schools budget is forecast to overspend the grant received by a net £7.4m at the end 

of 2021/22, mainly relating to the High Needs block (£9.4m) offset by an underspend on 
the Schools Block from schools growth (£2.2m) which will be retained for meeting the 
costs of commissioning school places in future years. 
 

21. Nationally, concern over the impact of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
(SEND) reform on High Needs expenditure and the financial difficulties this places on 

20



5 
 

local authorities continues.  The position in Leicestershire reflects the national 
picture.  The MTFS included £5.7m as the estimated in year overspend on the High 
Needs Block of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  The current forecast shows that this 
has increased to £9.4m, an increase of £3.7m as a result of increased number of 
Independent School and Post-16 places at an additional cost of £1.9m and non-
achievement of savings of £1.7m.  The Cabinet received a report regarding the High 
Needs Position at its meeting on 22 June.  
 

22. The SEND Capital Programme is developing new resource bases with the aim of 
reducing the reliance on expensive independent sector places.  During 2019/20 and 
2020/21 a number of these bases welcomed their first cohort of students, with more 
places to be filled during the 2021/22 academic year.  The increase in demand however 
has resulted in these places being filled with new pupils as opposed to having the desired 
impact on reducing numbers in independent settings. Due to set-up costs the full effect of 
the programme will not be seen until future years. Additionally, the numbers of pupils in 
mainstream settings that receive top-up funding is rising rapidly. 

 
23. By the end of 2021/22 the estimated accumulated High Needs deficit is forecast to be 

£26.9m. The Department is investigating a number of actions that could over the course 
of the MTFS reduce demand and therefore the overall deficit. The high needs deficit 
continues to increase over the MTFS period and is not financially sustainable, this 
creates a significant and unresolved financial risk to the Council. 
  

Children and Family Services – Local Authority Budget (Other) 
 
24. The Local Authority budget is forecast to underspend by a net £0.2m (0.3%), mainly 

relating to a projected underspend on the Children’s Social Care Placement budget 
(£1.2m) based on current demand and activity, offset by an overspend due to pressures 
within the social care workforce (£1.0m). 
 

25. Looked after Children in Care (LAC) numbers increased by 8% last financial year to 705 
as at 1st April 2021. The budget for 2021/22 had assumed a further 8% increase in LAC 
numbers. However, currently LAC numbers for Leicestershire stand at 677. The 
subsequent impact has seen current placements numbers across various provision types 
at a lower level than budgeted for.  
 

26. Further work is required over the coming months to establish how sustainable current 
patterns and trends within Leicestershire’s LAC cohort are, and its subsequent financial 
impact both in year and in future years. Current referrals into both Early Help and First 
Response service areas have doubled, a scenario which was largely expected post 
Covid-19. It is, however, uncertain at this stage how this demand will impact 
Leicestershire’s LAC numbers but will be kept under continual review.  

 
27. The Defining Children and Family Services for the Future programme has a number of 

workstreams to reduce the requirement for residential placements; reduce durations and 
increase internal fostering capacity. Early signs show this is starting to make a positive 
impact and can be seen in the departments projected spend levels for this financial year. 
The Social Care Investment programme working in partnership with Barnardo’s will also 

21



6 
 

have an impact through the creation of additional capacity for under 16’s, over 16’s and 
parent and children, which should be in place by Autumn 2021. With increasing demands 
projected and a market shortage, there is a strong case for more investment and a 
proposal is currently being worked up. 

 
28. In relation to Children’s Social Care Staffing budgets, whilst good progress has been 

made with various recruitment and retention activities across the Department, there are 
currently still isolated issues within certain social care localities. For example, currently 
within the Wigston locality it has become increasingly difficult to recruit and retain 
experienced social workers, senior practitioners, and team managers.  The prolonged 
period of instability in this particular locality has led to higher caseloads and increased 
use of agency staff; this has further impacted on retention of experienced staff. Within the 
Defining Children’s programme, Newton Europe are currently working with service 
managers to re-balance workloads, review roles and improve productivity where 
possible. 

 
Adults and Communities 
 
29. A net overspend of £13.5m (8.6%) is forecast.   

 
30. There is a continuing significant financial impact due to Covid-19 on adult social care 

which includes additional cost for commissioned services and loss of service user 
income. 

 
31. The overall number of service users being supported across Residential Care, 

Homecare, Supported Living, Cash Payments and Community Life Choices from January 
2020 through to July 2021 have significantly increased. Typical growth in a year would be 
approximately 1.5% per annum, however, current number of service users supported is 
an increase of 3.8%.  

 

 

 
32. Over the same time period the average cost per service user has also increased (the 

rises in April relates to the annual fee review uplifts). 
 

7700

7800

7900

8000

8100

8200

8300

8400

Number of Service Users 

22



7 
 

 
 

33. The main areas of additional spend are: 
 

 Homecare – an overspend of £11.3m is forecast which reflects that both average 
package costs and client numbers are significantly higher than budgeted. At the time 
of preparing the budget, the hospital discharge to assess scheme was expected to 
end on 31 March 2021. The scheme is now due to end on 30 September 2021, 
although arrangements beyond this date are uncertain. Some of these costs are 
offset by hospital discharge income in the region of £0.8m. 

 

 The discharge to assess scheme, along with placing less clients into residential care 
services during the early stages of the pandemic, has been the main factor behind 
the increase in the numbers of people receiving home care and the average number 
of hours commissioned per client since March 2020. The discharge to assess 
scheme for Covid-19 has meant a focus on lowering patient numbers in hospital, 
which has reduced the involvement of social care prior to discharge. Further work is 
needed alongside Health in reviewing these practices There was an increase in the 
average weekly client numbers from 1,880 per week in 2019/20 to 2,140 in 2020/21.  
As at end of July 2021, there were on average 2,400 home care clients with an 
average package of £260 per week. 

 

 The average cost per Service User has also risen due to increased hours being 
commissioned, rather than any significant change in pricing. Home care rates are 
fixed for the year by location and average rates have been stable over the recent 18 
months other than at the times of the inflationary uplift. Since the pandemic the 
average weekly hours have risen from 12.0 per service user to around 13.5. 

420

430

440

450

460

470

480

490

500

Average Cost (£) per Service User 

23



8 
 

 
 

 Supported Living (£4.6m) - high cost complex packages relating to a small number of 
Transforming Care service users being discharged from hospital settings in the 
community are expected to cost £3.5m. Along with increased hours being 
commissioned over the Covid-19 period for the remaining service users.  

 

 Residential Care (£3.0m) - additional average cost of care packages including 
transitions from Children’s services(£0.9m) and Covid-19/price costs (£5.3m). Over 
the last 12 months there has been a significant increase in the number of placements 
requiring a Supplementary Needs Allowance and price increases in addition to basic 
fee rates which has increased the average cost of care. It is likely that these costs 
will be an ongoing issue and work is being undertaken to understand the basis for 
these which could include reduced occupancy.  These are offset by NHS discharge 
income of £3.2m.  
 

 Residential Care Income (£1.9m) - as a result of Covid-19 the chargeable number of 
residential service users has declined. In addition to this there is an ongoing trend of 
lower residential service users from the Target Operating Model (TOM) project is 
moving them into Homecare. 

 
34. There has been additional Community Income of £3.7m as a result of the shift of service 

users into Non-Residential Services following Covid-19, the volume of chargeable service 
users has increased compared to previous years. In addition, the review of NHS Covid-
19 funded service users has increased the number of chargeable service users on the 
charging run. The income surplus is forecast to be £1.5m at this stage. Health income is 
also forecast to overachieve by £2.2m overall. New Supported Living clients have 
increased income by £2.2m, largely offsetting the additional expenditure incurred for 
these clients.  
 

35. An action plan to manage the overspend is in place which is overseen by the 
departmental management team and includes: 

 
 Reviewing all service user’s packages that have commenced or changed since April 

2020 commencing with Homecare. 

 Increasing the capacity of the reablement service leading to more service users 
receiving this service upon hospital discharge, in turn leading to better and more 
cost-effective longer-term outcomes.  

10.5

11.5

12.5

13.5

14.5

15.5

Average Hours per Service User 

24



9 
 

 Reviewing residential care packages over and above the standard residential 
banded rates which currently equates to £5m of additional annual expenditure. 

 Reviewing high cost packages to see whether health funding towards the package 
applies. To date £0.4m has been realised. 

 Working with NHS partners to help improve the discharge pathway including 
reviewing funding arrangements. 

 Ensuring financial and funding assessments are undertaken to close the current 
gap of service user income of £0.2m (residential client income has a shortfall of 
£1.7m but this is offset by an additional £1.5m of non-residential client income) 

 Reviewing internal processes and improving management controls to avoid high 
cost commissioning. 

 
36. As the approach to Covid-19 changes nationally, such as the Discharge to Assess 

scheme, which is expected to end in September, there may be further adverse impacts 
on the department and demand led commissioning should the funding end. The 
Department is currently discussing funding pressures with NHS partners and how Covid-
19 related costs can be relieved. 

 
37. These costs are offset by a £3.5m underspend from staffing, overhead and other 

budgets. This includes an additional Better Care Fund contribution agreed for the year of 
£1m. 

 
38. The Infection Control and Rapid Test Grant (£6.6m) continues in 2021/22 and provides 

support to residential, homecare and other providers that meet the strict grant conditions.  
 

39. Whilst there is significant activity taking place to reduce the current forecasted overspend 
the results of these actions are not likely to be immediate. As a result, it is not expected 
that overspend position will only be partially reduced within the current financial year. 

 
Public Health 
 
40. The department is forecasting to be on budget. There are minor net underspends of 

£20,000 which will be transferred to Public Health earmarked fund. 
 
Environment and Transport 

 
41. A net underspend of £1.4m (1.7%) is forecast.  

 
42. The main reasons for the underspend are reduced demand for Adult Social Care and 

SEN transport in Passenger Fleet (£0.6m), additional developer funding as they begin to 
increase the rate of mobilisation now that lockdown is easing (£0.5m), additional savings 
arising from a review of bus and taxi contracts during the summer (£0.2m) delays in the 
announcement of the Hybrid Bill stalling HS2 delivery (£0.2m).  

 
43. These underspends are partially offset by a net overspend of £0.1m on Waste budgets 

arising from increased waste being sent directly to landfill (£1.1m) net of additional 
material income from dry recyclables (£0.2m) and savings on Haulage and Waste 
Transfers (£0.3m) and Waste Treatment (£0.5m). 

25



10 
 

 
Chief Executive’s 
  
44. The Department is forecasting a slight net underspend of £20,000 which is mainly due to 

staffing vacancies in Democratic Services (£108,000) offset by additional expenditure on 
Coroners (£84,000). 

 
Corporate Resources 
 
45. Overall the Department is forecasting a net overspend of £0.9m (2.7%).  
 
46. There is a £1.6m forecast overspend on Commercial Services, primarily related to the 

continuation of difficult trading conditions and losses of income due to continuing Covid-
19 restrictions.  Key examples are the continued delays to opening Beaumanor Hall 
(£0.4m), lower volumes in the School Food Service and reduced scope for development 
activity. Mitigating action has been taken in the form of furloughing staff and accessing 
the governments sales, fees and charges grant funding scheme but both are available to 
a much lesser extent this year.  

 
47. There is a forecast underspend of £0.5m on Information and Technology, mainly relating 

to vacant posts and reduced printing expenditure. 
 
Central Items 
 
48. Capital Financing - £1.1m increased contribution to the capital programme.  This relates 

to the use of additional proceeds from the 2019/20 (75%) Business Rates Pilot becoming 
available in 2021/22 (see below).  The additional funds will be used to support the capital 
programme and reduce the overall funding required. 

 
49. Bank and other interest - £1m underspend.  Additional interest income is forecast from 

the returns of the £20m the Council invested in Private Debt, through the Corporate 
Asset Investment Programme.  These investments have started to be repaid resulting in 
the investment and interest returns having been received.  

 
50. Contribution to the budget equalisation earmarked fund, has been increased by £3.7m to 

match the forecast increase in the DSG High Needs deficit mentioned earlier in the 
report. This is needed due to the cashflow impact of the additional expenditure. 

 
51. Inflation Contingency (£12.2m, unallocated balance £7.1m).  The contingency is currently 

projected to be required in full.  The position on a number of key requirements, such as 
the annual pay award and energy price increases should become clearer as the year 
progresses. The latest offer from the Local Government Employers would exceed the 
MTFS assumption by £2.2m. 

 
52. Covid-19 Budget (£28.3m).  At this stage no release of this one-off budget has been 

projected. 
 

26



11 
 

53. MTFS Risks Contingency (£8m). At this stage no release of the contingency has been 
assumed in the projection. 

 
Business Rates  
 
54. Additional Business Rates income of £2.4m is forecast in 2021/22, based on the latest 

information from NNDR1 forms and forecast section 31 grants. Of this £1.1m relates to 
the balance arising from the 2019/20 (75%) Business Rates Pilot, which will be used to 
provide additional funds for the capital programme. 

 
55. The provisional outturn position of the 2020/21 Leicester and Leicestershire Business 

Rates Pool shows a total Levy of £9.5m; the final position is expected to be reported in 
November, after the completion of the external audits.  Similarly, monitoring of the 
2021/22 Pool is being undertaken, with the first exercise for quarter one showing a 
projected Levy of around £11.5m.  

 
 Council Tax 
 
56. The 2021/22 revenue budget included a provision of £9m for the potential impact of 

Covid-19 on levels of council tax (and business rates) funding. At present it is not 
possible to accurately assess the levels of reductions in the funding streams, particularly 
as Government funding for furlough does not end until 30 September and similarly some 
sectors will receive business rates relief until 31 March 2022. The full impacts of 
unemployment and business closures are likely to be seen over the remaining months of 
this financial year and in 2022/23. However, £2m of the provision has been released at 
this stage as it looks unlikely that the full provision will be required.  
 

57. As referred to above regarding business rates, the District Councils are also providing 
data on council tax and a clearer picture should emerge over the coming months and the 
provision will be re-assessed accordingly. 

 
Overall Revenue Summary 
 
58. At this relatively early stage there is a forecast net overspend of £12.0m but this is 

uncertain due to not being able to fully assess the ongoing impact of the pandemic.  This 
position will be updated as more information is known during the financial year. 

 
59. The 2021/22 outturn position is planned to be closed by the use of the Covid Budget. 
 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

 
60. The current four year capital programme totals £503m.  Discretionary funding is £232m, 

including £143m of internal borrowing through temporary use of cash balances, 
repayment cost £6m per annum.   
 

61. Due to specific and significant changes to a number of schemes, the four year capital 
programme has been reviewed and updated for the latest known position in respect of 

27



12 
 

costs, spend profiles and changes in grant funding.  However, it is likely that further 
pressures, relating to global and local supply chains, will emerge, especially as the MTFS 
is refreshed over the coming months and extended to cover the 2025/26 financial year. 

 
62. The revised 4-year programme is summarised below and shown in detail in Appendix C.   

 

Capital Programme 
Expenditure 2021-25 

Original 
MTFS 

 2021-25  
Programme 

Outturn 
adjustments 
(from 20/21) 

 

Updated 
MTFS 

 2021-25 
Programme 

 

Revised 
MTFS 2021-

25 
Programme 

Overall 
Change              

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Children & Family 
Services 84,421 17,779 102,200 105,882 3,682 

Adults and 
Communities 24,889 963 25,852 27,960 2,108 

Environment & 
Transport 212,927 15,542 228,469 258,690 30,221 

Chief Executive’s 2,250 339 2,589 2,589 - 

Corporate Resources 11,290 4,962 16,252 14,052 -2,200 

Corporate Programme 120,990 7,074 128,064 129,626 1,562 

Total 456,767 46,659 503,426 538,799 35,373 

      

Capital Programme 
Resources 2021-25 
 
      

Grant Funding/ Specific 
Contributions 

250,271 21,301 271,572 274,762 3,190 

Discretionary Funding 
(including borrowing) 

206,496 25,358 231,854 264,037 32,183 

Total 456,767 46,659 503,426 538,799 35,373 

 
63. Overall, the net funding required for the programme has increased by £32m. This 

comprises an increase in programmed expenditure of £35m offset by an increase in grant 
funding of £3m. 

 
64. Taking into account the benefit of additional expected capital receipts of £9m, the revised 

position will increase the overall funding shortfall of the capital programme to £166m 
(from £143m) which will be funded from further borrowing.  Due to the overall levels of 
cash balances it is expected to be possible in the medium term to fund the increase 
through internal borrowing rather than raising external loans. There will, however, still be 
a cost of around £1m p.a. in Minimum Revenue Provision and interest lost on 
investments that will need to be added to the MTFS to fund the additional borrowing. The 
greater the level of the shortfall on the capital programme, the greater the exposure to 
the risk of interest rate rises in the future as the availability of cash balances is not 
entirely within the Council’s control. Whilst in the short term interest rate rises are 
unlikely, when looking at increased borrowing, the impact is potentially over many 

28



13 
 

decades. If external borrowing was required to fund the entire £166m gap, the cost, 
based on current interest rates would be about £9m per annum. 

 
65. The key changes are described below. 
 
Children and Families 
 
66. The programme has increase by £3.7m. £2m relates to the addition of a children’s social 

care investment plan (C-SCIP) scheme to develop an additional 12 residential care 
places over 4 properties. This is subject to business case justification, including 
successful confirmation of grant funding to cover half of the costs. The remaining 
increase relates to an increased allocation for school places, funded by basic needs 
grant.  
 

67. The proposed contribution of £2.4m to purchase a property for additional Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) provision that was proposed in a report to the 
June Cabinet has been removed given that the development is no longer proceeding. 

 
68. Further SCIP schemes are likely to be proposed. These will be subject to business case 

and funding availability, as such will be further reviewed as part of the 2022-26 MTFS 
process. 

 
69. The only element that impacts on discretionary funding relates to the £1m cost of the 

residential care places not covered by grant. 
 
Adults and Communities 
 
70. Overall there is an increase of £2m on the departmental programme. This all relates to 

increased expectations of the level of disabled facilities grant available. It therefore has 
no impact on the discretionary funding requirement for the Authority.  

 
Environment and Transport 
 
71. The programme has an overall increased requirement of £30m. All this will be required to 

be funded from the Council’s discretionary funding. 
 
72. The increase relates to an upwards reassessment of the cost of delivering the Melton 

distributor road schemes. Significant work has been undertaken reviewing these 
schemes, including the use of independent external consultants (Atkins, Faithful & Gould) 
to do a detailed assessment of the way schemes are costed, including the treatment of 
risk and uncertainty. The key factors in driving the significant cost increase from original 
estimates are: 

a. insufficient contingency for inflationary increases (materials, contractors etc) 
especially given the most recent indicative price rises for e.g. steel and shortage 
of civil engineering skills given other competing priorities nationally such as HS2 

b. under provision for risks/uncertainty which have grown as the quantified risk 
register has been developed 

29



14 
 

c. under provision for optimism bias (not permitted to be included in original 
business case assessments) 

d. expansions in scope compared to initial scheme. 
 

73. The consultants advocate ‘three-point estimates’ for schemes which reflect a best case, 
most likely and worst case position, rather than using a single point estimate (budget). 
This is due to the significant uncertainty of delivering large infrastructure schemes, 
especially in advance of a target price being received and a contract issued. 
 

74. It is difficult to plan a capital programme with a significant range estimate on schemes; a 
recommended approach is to provide an allocation for ‘portfolio risk’ within the 
programme. The portfolio risk allocation would cover a proportion of potential adverse 
impacts that would affect all schemes such as excess inflation due to shortage of 
materials or a shortage of available contractors/scheme delivers due to the wider 
demands on the market. This approach works best when it is applied to several 
schemes, so that there is an overall balance between schemes under and over spending 
their portfolio risk assessment. The existence of portfolio risks does not eliminate the risk 
of cost escalations over and above the budget and may not cover all potential issues that 
may arise. However, over enough schemes and given enough time for it to establish, it 
should provide a way help to mitigate the uncertainty.  The overall effect is less schemes 
in the programme but it provides a better approach for managing the programme to 
reduce the risk of unexpected cost pressures for those schemes where significant 
uncertainty and long lead times mean that cost forecasting is very challenging.  

 
75. Through the budget monitoring process, risks would be identified which would point to 

the need to utilise a proportion of the portfolio risk allocation. This would be to cover 
those issues such as those referenced in the previous paragraph and would need to be 
based on clear evidence that such a scenario has arisen. This would necessitate a 
review of the portfolio risk allocation to ensure that it remained sufficient for the scheme 
risks present at the time. It is recommended that decisions on when money from the 
portfolio risk allocation is transferred to a specific project are taken by the Director of 
Corporate Resources following consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member for 
Resources.  

 
76. The schemes for which a portfolio risk allocation is needed are those which are highly 

complex and difficult to predict costs or external funding and are likely to span many 
years between initially appearing in the capital programme and actually being delivered. 
In addition to the Melton schemes, other potentials are the A511/A50 Major Road 
Network, Lutterworth East and Zouch Bridge. The delivery approach for these schemes 
is not sufficiently developed to assess the portfolio risk. They will be reviewed in the 
coming months and will feed into the overall MTFS refresh. It might also apply to a 
number of the schemes within the Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) but as the 
CAIF has a general capital programme provision quantified to take the overall Fund’s 
value up to £260m, this removes the immediate need to have a separate portfolio risk 
allocation for the CAIF. Therefore the intention is to only apply it to Highways schemes at 
this stage. 

 

30



15 
 

77. The overall level of portfolio risk for Highways schemes will need to be reviewed regularly 
to reflect how quantified risks change through the projects’ lifecycle. This will be done 
through the financial monitoring process. 

 
78. As a result of the work with consultants revised estimates (of the most likely) position 

have been made for the Melton schemes. For Melton North and East this revised 
estimate is £90.3m (including portfolio risk of £5m), For the Melton South the revised 
estimate is £43.1m (including portfolio risk of £5.6m – a higher proportional amount 
compared to the North and East scheme reflecting the scheme is at an earlier stage). 

 
79. Overall this combined cost of £133.4m is £35m in excess of the £98.4m budget in the 

existing programme. The expectation was that after allowing from grant (DfT and Homes 
England) and S106 contributions from developers (albeit which would be received further 
down the line and would need to be cash flowed by the Authority) £11m would fall on the 
Authority’s discretionary funding. So other things being equal this would increase the 
overall impact on discretionary funding to £46m.  However, an additional £4m of LLEP 
funding has since been secured towards the cost of the North/East scheme. And also 
current estimates are an additional £7m of developer funding is available for the 
Southern scheme compared to initial estimates.  

 
80. Therefore the updated assessment of what will fall upon council discretionary funding is 

around £35m, £24m more than allowed for within the previous budget. Furthermore, the 
level of risk (dependency on forward funding in advance of developer monies becoming 
available where agreements have not been put in place) has increased due to the 
assumption of a £7m expected increase in developer monies. 

 
81. It is proposed that the portfolio risk element of the scheme costs are shown on a 

separate line to the scheme allocations. As it is only being applied to schemes in 
Environment and Transport for now, it sits as a line within the departmental programme. 
But as the concept evolves it might be that it is repositioned within the corporate 
programme. As mentioned above, subject to approval, this pot could only be reallocated 
to schemes by the Director of Resources following consultation with the Cabinet portfolio 
holder for resources under delegated responsibility.   

 
82. Further work is now being undertaken with Newton Europe to review the wider approach 

to the management of large capital projects through the life cycle of the scheme. This 
work is currently being finalised and recommendations will be made and implemented in 
due course.  

 
83. There is also a £4m reduction on the overall transport asset management programme 

due to a reassessment downwards of the expected grant funding that will be available 
over the MTFS period which will increase pressure on managing the overall road network 
and preventing further decline. 

 
Chief Executives 
 
84. No changes. 
 

31



16 
 

Corporate Resources 
 
85. Overall the departmental programme has reduced by £2.2m. This is mainly due to the 

removal from the programme of the Sysonby Farm development. The scheme was in the 
programme with expenditure of £2.5m, matched by a grant from the Local Authority 
Accelerated Construction scheme. However, following review the more beneficial 
approach is for the site to be sold with minimal (£0.3m) site preparation costs which will 
be funded from the Council’s discretionary resources. The sale which is dependent on 
the Melton North/East distributor road proceeding, will contribute to the Council’s capital 
receipts. These will be used to reduce the overall funding gap on the Council’s capital 
programme. 
 

Corporate 
 
86. The changes to the corporate programme are:  

 

 The inclusion in the programme of £9.5m for the phase 3-4 developments at 
Airfield Farm, as approved by the Cabinet at the meeting on 23rd March 2021.  
£0.6m of funding has been transferred from the original requirement from phase 2 
reducing the overall increase to £8.9m. 

 The removal from the program of £7.4m for the industrial units proposed for 
Barrow Road Quorn, due to likely difficulty in receiving planning permission from 
Charnwood Borough Council 

 The net £1.5m increase from the 2 schemes above has been taken from the 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund’s ‘asset acquisition/new provision’ pot. Hence 
the position on the discretionary funding requirement is neutral 
 

Slipped schemes 
 
87. An updated has been provided around some of the key schemes within the capital 

programme which have been subject to slippage, to understand the reasons, the impact 
and where lessons can be learnt in the Council’s approach to scheme management 
going forward. 
 

88. This information is presented in Appendix D.  
 

Summary and outlook 
 
89. The recent review of the capital programme has led to an increase in the four-year 

programme of expenditure by £35m. The change includes an increase in discretionary 
funding required of £32m (the remaining £3m arising from additional grant) which will 
increase the need to use internal cash balances, adding around £1.3m per annum to the 
revenue budget. 

 
90. The Government continues to indicate that it intends to invest in infrastructure to support 

economic recovery and build out of recession. Furthermore, there is some indication of a 
move away from the use of competitive bid processes to secure such funding which can 
lead to potentially wasted investment in advanced design and related activity. The 

32



17 
 

creation of County Deals, and an agreement of funding arrangements to cover a number 
of years, would be a major positive development in this direction. However, funding 
uncertainty and competitive bidding approaches will not be completely removed, and 
going forwards there are still likely to be difficult decision to be made about which capital 
schemes are progressed given the wider financial pressures  

 
91. The emerging infrastructure requirements from District Councils’ local plans are going to 

present an increased demand on the County Council’s resources if infrastructure needs 
to be funded in advance and at risk of funding being received from developers. 
Furthermore there are a number of infrastructure requirements being identified which are 
required to kick start the East Midlands Freeport. Again there will be pressure on local 
authorities to fund up front in advance of retained business rates resources becoming 
available. Approximately £0.5m is required to get to the end of the business case stage. 
This will be repaid through future business rates. However, as the Freeport is not 
designated this funding risk rests with the County Council. Further demands around local 
infrastructure and site set up may lead to further forward funding requirements. 

 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund 
 
92. A summary of the Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) position as at quarter 1 for 

2021/22 is set out below: 
 

Asset Class 

Opening 
Capital 
Value 

Capital 
Incurred 
2021/22 

Net 
Income 

YTD 

Forecast 
Net 

Income 
FY 

Forecast 
Net Inc. 
Return 

FY 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 % 

Office 52,411 0 862 2,962 5.7% 

Industrial 24,244 0 113 1,370 5.7% 

Distribution 457 0 8 17 3.6% 

Rural 28,584 0 104 416 1.5% 

Other 4,688 0 41 263 5.6% 

Development 36,035 34 -29 -55 -0.1% 

Pooled Property 24,305 0 205 820 3.3% 

Private Debt
1
 16,640 -1,425 712 750 4.8% 

TOTAL 187,364 -1,391 2,016 6,543 3.5% 

1. Delayed distributions last year but expecting an increase this year so income likely to be understated 

 
93. Overall the fund is forecasting to achieve a 3.5% net income return for 2021/22. The 

direct property portfolio (excluding developments, pooled property and private debt) has 
a forecast net income return of 4.6%  

 
94. The directly managed property portfolio is expected to perform in line with expectation 

over 2021/22.  The office asset class now holds the LUSEP development alongside five 
other assets and is expected to return 5.7% or around £1m in net income.    

 
95. The Council's exposure to the distribution sector is low risk due to the type of assets held. 

As such, performance is expected to remain in line with last year. The rural sector is 

33



18 
 

largely unaffected by Covid-19 and is currently expected to return around £400,000 net 
income - about 1.5% based on the capital value of the rural portfolio.  The diverse assets 
held in the other asset class offered from protection from Covid-19 last year.  Similar 
returns are expected this year with a forecast net income return of 5.6%. The Citroën 
Garage within this class is the largest holding and contributes the majority of the forecast 
net income. 

 
96. Pooled property income is similar to last year and is forecast to return 3.3% from a 

diverse portfolio comprising of four institutional property manager funds.  Private Debt 
repayment of capital has totalled £1.4m in the first quarter alongside £0.7m in interest 
payments.  Interest payments will reduce over time as capital is returned (loans 
repaid).  The private debt investment is invested in a product that is primarily composed 
of senior secured debt and is highly diversified. This offers considerable downside 
protection to the capital invested. 

 
97. It should be noted that the above table excludes in year capital growth which is assessed 

annually as part of the asset revaluation exercise and reported in the annual CAIF 
performance report. 
 

  
MTFS Refresh 2022-2026 
 
98. The MTFS will be refreshed over the autumn, with a similar approach taken to that 

followed in previous years, namely continued investment in organisational change, 
planning and robust delivery of savings and a realistic allowance for growth. However, as 
mentioned previously this will be done in the context of greater uncertainty than in 
previous years. The potential longer term adverse impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on 
local businesses are likely to have an upward impact on service demand at the same 
time as reducing the Council’s core income levels.  

 
99. In addition to the usual MTFS planning process, the continuing difficult financial position 

in the current year also requires the Council to keep in place measures to control levels 
of expenditure introduced last year. The controls incorporate greater departmental and 
corporate oversight in order to: 

 
• Support consistent implementation 
• Identify opportunities across services/departments 
• Ensure shared understanding of implications. 

 
100. However, this oversight was not intended to replace the financial responsibilities that 

people have in their roles. For the spend controls to be successful, continued ownership 
by everyone who has a part in spending or generating income is vital. 

 
101. As a reminder the controls measures cover:  
 

• Targeted recruitment controls to restrict non-essential hiring including a focus on 
agency, consultants and specialist advisors 

34



19 
 

• Procurement controls to ensure greater commissioning support unit input into 
contract renewal/extension, use of frameworks and exceptions 

• Greater scrutiny of external expenditure 
• Limited approval of new projects to essential schemes only 
• Controls on grants to ensure that wherever possible they are used to cover existing 

spend pressures rather than for new service initiatives. 
 

102. These controls were put in place until the following conditions are met: 

• Any reduction to the general fund balance required to cover this year’s financial 
pressures is repaid 

• The MTFS gap is at an acceptable level 
o First 2 years balanced 
o Final 2 years at a manageable level 

• Good certainty of savings delivery, especially for the next 2 years 
• Local government outlook becomes clearer – linked to the Autumn Comprehensive 

Spending Review (CSR). 
 

103. It should be noted that the implementation of spend controls is not service cuts, although 
it should influence how services are delivered. The long-lasting impact of the Covid-19 
crisis (e.g. reduced Council Tax) inevitably means that new savings will be required 
leading to some permanent reductions in non-essential spend. Although future savings 
will not be prioritised based on where spend was reduced through the controls, managers 
will need to consider the potential to make permanent changes to their services. 
 

104. The gap in the existing MTFS is expected to have increased significantly as a result of 
the pandemic. As the Council rolls forward the MTFS to include 2025/26 it is very likely 
that there will a further significant increase in the gap in that year as well. The MTFS 
refresh exercise over the autumn and winter, including the outcome of the Government’s 
CSR, will enable a better understanding on the scale of this gap. 

 
National Position 
 
105. Latest economic forecasts suggest that the UK economy will recover more quickly than 

previous estimates. Growth of 7.2% in GDP is expected in 2021 and 5.5% forecast for 
2022 and expected to have returned to its pre-pandemic level by early 2022. 

 
106. The imminent withdrawal of the Coronavirus job retention scheme means that 

unemployment is expected to peak at the end of 2021 at 6.1%. There are expected to be 
further upward pressures on inflation but, whilst it might exceed the Bank of England’s 
2% target periodically, on average it will still be contained within the 2% envelope. 

 
107. The office for budget responsibility estimated that during the 2020/21 financial year 

around 17% of GDP was spent on support for businesses and households and wider 
measures to manage the impact of the pandemic. Gross public debt is expected to peak 
at nearly 150% of GDP in the current year. So the impact of this will be felt for many 
years to come. Tax increases have been signaled by the Government from 2022 in terms 
of personal taxation (freezing of income tax brackets) and increases in corporation tax 
from 2023. 

35



20 
 

 
108. Given that the tax rises will be needed to manage the impact the Coronavirus pandemic 

has had on the economy, prospects for increased levels of funding for local government 
seem remote. In July, the Chancellor warned ministers that the 2021 comprehensive 
spending review would be a ‘tough spending round’. 

 
109. Furthermore some of those key reviews required to resolve underlying structural issues 

in the way certain services are funded, especially social care and special education and 
disability needs where significant increases in demand are putting pressures on local 
authority budgets across the country are unlikely to reach a conclusion, and measures 
put in place to address the issues, any time soon.  

 
110. All the indications are that this will be the twelfth austerity budget in a row.  The Council 

has already made savings of £232m (excluding DSG), to the end of 2021/22.  Therefore, 
the identification of new savings will be very challenging and is likely to require much 
more radical service transformation.  

 
Leicestershire Position 

 
111. There will need to be a continued focus on performance and productivity across the 

Council’s services to improve the way it is measured and understood. This is likely to 
require some investment to ensure meaningful and reliable management information is 
available. 

 
112. It is important that the savings that are already under consideration are progressed and 

delivered on as soon as possible. Furthermore there will be a need to add in further 
savings as part of the MTFS refresh in the autumn. 

 
113. Crucial in progressing this is the need to push on crystalising the Savings under 

Development. The latest position on these is included in Appendix E. 
 
114. The existing MTFS has a gap of £10m in 2023/24 rising to £23m in 2024/25. This is likely 

to grow by between £10m and £20m by the time of the full MTFS refresh in the autumn 
due to the ever increasing growth pressures on key services such a social care and 
SEND coupled with continued concerns over the levels of the taxbase for council tax and 
business rates in the medium term compared to previous estimates. Also the growing 
pressures on the financial programme and the associated increased borrowing (with a 
growing likelihood that some of this will need to be external, will add to the gap on the 
revenue budget).  

 
115. The main objective for refreshing the MTFS will be to re-establish the Council’s strong 

financial position. And until the position is clearer on funding reforms and funding of 
legislation, changes will need to be based on prudent financial assumptions. 

 
Planning Framework 
 
116. The next three key Government announcements will be; 
 

36



21 
 

 Comprehensive Spending Review – autumn 2021. 

 Autumn Budget Statement anticipated in November. 

 Local Government Finance Settlement expected mid/late December. 

117. The broad MTFS timetable is: 
 

 September to November 2021 – refresh growth, savings and capital including 
consideration by Lead Members. 

 December 2021 – the Cabinet is requested to approve the draft MTFS for 
consultation. 

 December 2021 – receipt of the Local Government Finance Settlement 

 January 2022 – consultation on the draft MTFS, including Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and the Scrutiny Commission. 

 February 2022 – the Cabinet is requested to approve the final draft MTFS for 
submission to the County Council. 

 February 2022 – County Council is requested to approve the MTFS for 2022/23 to 
2025/26.  

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
118. Public authorities are required by law to have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share protected 
characteristics and those who do not; and  

 Foster good relations between people who share protected characteristics and 
those who do not. 

 
119. Many aspects of the County Council's MTFS may affect service users who have a 

protected characteristic under equalities legislation. An assessment of the impact of the 
proposals on the protected groups must be undertaken at a formative stage prior to any 
final decisions being made.  Such assessments will be undertaken in light of the potential 
impact of proposals and the timing of any proposed changes. Those assessments will be 
revised as the proposals are developed to ensure that decision-makers have information 
to understand the effect of any service change, policy or practice on people who have a 
protected characteristic. 

 
120. Proposals in relation to savings arising out of a reduction in posts will be subject to the 

County Council’s Organisational Change policy which requires an Equality Impact 
Assessment to be undertaken as part of the Action Plan. 

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
121. Some aspects of the County Council’s MTFS are directed towards providing services 

which will support the reduction of crime and disorder.   
 
Environmental Implications 
  

37



22 
 

122. The MTFS includes schemes to support the Council’s response to climate change and to 
make environmental improvements. 

 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
123. As part of the efficiency programme and improvements to services, working with partners 

and service users will be considered along with any impact issues, and they will be 
consulted on any proposals which affect them. 

 
Risk Assessments   
 
124. As this report states, risks and uncertainties surrounding the financial outlook are 

significant.  The risks are included in the Corporate Risk Register which is regularly 
updated and reported to the Corporate Governance Committee. 

 
Background Papers 
 

Report to the Cabinet – 22 June 2020 – 2020/21 Provisional Revenue and Capital Outturn 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6444&Ver=4 

 
Report to County Council -17 February 2021 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 to 
2024/25 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s159779/Revised%20Cabinet%20Report%20MTFS%202021-25.pdf 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Revenue Position as at Period 4, 2021/22 
Appendix B:  Revenue budget major variances 
Appendix C:  Revised Capital Programme 2021-25 
Appendix D:  Slipped Capital Schemes 
Appendix E: Savings Under Development 
 
 

38

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6444&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s159779/Revised%20Cabinet%20Report%20MTFS%202021-25.pdf


APPENDIX A

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING STATEMENT 2021/22

(AS AT PERIOD 4)

Updated Projected Difference

Budget Outturn from Updated

Budget

£000 £000 £000 %

Schools Budget

Schools 78,046 75,826 -2,220 -2.8

Early Years 35,855 36,165 310 0.9

DSG Funding -113,901 -113,901 0 0.0

0 -1,910 -1,910

Earmarked fund - start of year -6,415
Earmarked fund - end of year -8,325

High Needs 82,605 91,935 9,330 11.3

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) -82,605 -82,605 0 0.0

0 9,330 9,330

Earmarked fund - start of year 17,512
Earmarked fund - end of year 26,842

LA Budget

Children & Family Services (Other) 89,087 88,857 -230 -0.3 GREEN

Adults & Communities 156,525 170,005 13,480 8.6 RED

Public Health * -1,323 -1,323 0 n/a GREEN

Environment & Transport 81,355 79,945 -1,410 -1.7 GREEN

Chief Executives 12,458 12,438 -20 -0.2 GREEN

Corporate Resources 34,089 35,019 930 2.7 RED

DSG (Central Dept. recharges) -2,285 -2,285 0 0.0 GREEN

MTFS risks contingency 8,000 8,000 0 0.0 GREEN

Covid-19 budget 28,300 28,300 0 0.0 GREEN

Contingency for Inflation 7,106 7,106 0 0.0 GREEN

Total Services 413,312 426,062 12,750 3.1

Central Items

Financing of Capital 19,000 19,000 0 0.0 GREEN

Revenue funding of capital 2,500 2,500 0 0.0 GREEN

Revenue funding of capital - use of BR Pilot gain (see below) 1,050 1,050 n/a GREEN

Central Expenditure 3,049 2,899 -150 -4.9 GREEN

Central Grants and Other Income -43,508 -44,508 -1,000 2.3 GREEN

Total Central Items -18,959 -19,059 -100 0.5

Contribution to budget equalisation earmarked fund 4,000 7,700 3,700 92.5 RED

Contribution to General Fund 1,000 1,000 0 0.0 GREEN

Total Spending 399,353 415,703 16,350 4.1

Funding

Business Rates - Top Up -40,346 -40,346 0 0.0 GREEN

Business Rates Baseline / retained -24,181 -25,261 -1,080 4.5 GREEN

S31 Grants - Business Rates -4,900 -5,170 -270 5.5 GREEN

Business Rates - balance of 19/20 Pilot gain -1,050 -1,050 n/a GREEN

Council Tax Collection Funds - net deficit 1,574 1,574 0 0.0 GREEN

Council Tax Precept -336,934 -336,934 0 0.0 GREEN

LCTS grant -3,566 -3,566 0 0.0 GREEN

Provsion for impact of Covid-19 on funding 9,000 7,000 -2,000 -22.2 RED

Total Funding -399,353 -403,753 -4,400 1.1

Net Total 0 11,950 11,950

* Public Health funded by Grant (£25.5m)

Underspending / on budget GREEN

Overspending of 2% or less AMBER

Overspending of more than 2% RED

39



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

Revenue Budget 2021/22 – forecast main variances

Children and Family Services

Dedicated Schools Grant

A net overspend of £7.4m is forecast. The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

DSG High Needs Block (HNB) earmarked fund drawdown 5,650 n/a

Special Educational Needs 3,680 5%

Schools Growth / Budget Allocations -2,220 n/a

Early Years  / Nursery Education Funding 310 1%

TOTAL 7,420 n/a

Local Authority Budget 

The Local authority budget is forecast to underspend by £0.2m (0.3%). The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Children's Social Care Staffing 970 4%

Children's Social Care Placements -1,200 -3%

TOTAL -230 n/a

The DSG budget includes an estimated HNB drawdown of £5.7m as the forecast in year overspend.

Increased demand on the budget.  The SEND Capital Programme is developing new resource bases with the 

aim of reducing the reliance on expensive independent sector places.  During 2019/20 and 2020/21 a number of 

these bases welcomed their first cohort of students, with more places filled during the 2021/22 academic year. 

The increase in demand however has resulted in these places being filled with new demand as opposed to 

having the desired impact on existing numbers.  Due to set-up costs the full effect of the programme won't be 

seen until future years.   Additionally, the numbers of pupils in mainstream settings that receive top-up funding is 

rising rapidly. 

This funding has been earmarked to help meet the revenue costs associated with new schools and also for 

meeting the costs of some  funding protection for schools with falling rolls as a result of age range change in 

other schools. The underspend will be transferred to the DSG earmarked fund to fund pupil growth in future 

years.

Looked after Children in Care (LAC) numbers increased by 8% last financial year to 705 as at 1st April 2021. 

The budget for 2021/22 had assumed a further 8% increase in LAC numbers, however currently LAC numbers 

for Leicestershire stand at 677. The subsequent impact has seen current placements numbers across various 

provision types at a lower level than budgeted for.

On a whole whilst good progress has been made in regards to the various recruitment and retention activities 

across the department, there are currently still isolated issues within certain social care localities. In some 

localities it has become increasingly difficult recruiting and retaining experienced Social Workers, Senior 

Practitioners and Team Managers.  The prolonged period of instability has led to higher caseloads and use of 

agency staff; this has further impacted on retention of experienced staff.  

The payments to providers are expected to exceed the budget due to increased numbers, based on the Summer 

Term 2021. The impact this may have on DfE grant for 2021/22 is not known at this stage, nor by how much the 

DfE grant may be reduced in respect of 2020/21 in relation to lower numbers last year. 

41



Adults & Communities

The Department has a net forecast overspend of £13.5m (8.6%).  The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Homecare 10,520 52%

Residential Care and Nursing Income 4,950 8%

Supported Living Commissioned Services           4,615 23%

Care Pathway - Older Adults Countywide Team              305 5%

Early Intervention & Prevention              240 29%

Strategic Commissioning & Quality              175 11%

Heads of Service & Lead Practitioners (Learning Disabilities)              120 25%

Communities and Wellbeing              110 2%

Community Income -3710 -17%

Better Care Fund (BCF) contribution -995 -5%

Overspend largely due to increased temporary staffing and unbudgeted Covid-19 expenditure.

Additional staffing relating to Temporary Practice Educator and other posts not budgeted for.

Additional BCF funding was agreed during the year for social care protection and other schemes.

Overspend is mainly due to additional costs for independent Best Interest Assessor's for Deprivation of Liberties 

(DOLs) and other work.

The budget is based on an average weekly cost of £213 per SU and 1950 SU per week on average. The budget 

was prepared assuming that client numbers and average hours per client would return to pre Covid-19 levels by 

April 21, both having increased due to the hospital discharge scheme. However this reduction has not occurred 

as the discharge scheme is now continuing. At the start of the year there were 2,310 service users. An Action 

Plan has been developed by DMT to address the overspend and this includes prioritising the reviews of 

packages for home care clients and improved commissioning practices. Health partners have been advised that 

the current levels of commissioning are unsustainable for LCC. It is expected that any reductions will only be 

visible for pay runs from late August onwards, the forecast will reflect these once they occur. The average 

weekly cost for 2021/22 is forecast to be £262 and the average number of SU over the year is forecast to be 

2,370. The costs are also offset by £0.8m of income from Health for home care packages funded from the 

discharge scheme. 

There are approximately 15 high cost service users that are increasing the pay run by £67k per week which are 

currently being investigated to see whether they qualify for Health Funding (£3.5m). In addition prior year arrears 

of £600k and voids of £90k are being forecast. In addition there will be further growth of new service users from 

Residential Care to Supported Living through TOM project/MH Accommodation Moves.  Increased package 

costs are also being incurred from CLC bases being closed and additional support being commissioned for 

Supported Living service users (£400k).

The net forecast overspend arises from additional service users costs mainly due to Covid-19 

(£5.3m),transitions costs from children's services (£0.9m),and loss of Income as a result of Covid-19 due to the 

decline in the chargeable number of service users (£1.9m). These additional costs will be offset by anticipated 

additional income in the region of £3.2m from the NHS discharge Covid-19 fund. There are currently an average 

of 2,390 service users with an average gross care package cost of £840 per week .

As a result of the shift of service users into Non-Residential Services following Covid-19, the volume of 

chargeable service users has increased compared to previous years. In addition the review of NHS Covid-19 

funded service users has increased the number of chargeable service users on the charging run. The income 

surplus is forecast to be £1.5m at this stage. 

Health income is forecast to overachieve by £2.2m overall. New Supported Living clients have increased income 

by £2.2m, largely offsetting the additional expenditure incurred for these clients. New Learning Disability Pool 

direct payments service users have generated £250k of additional income and day care services income is 

higher by £100k. Offsetting these are home care recharges under HTLAH, and income from the Non Weight 

Bearing pathway for home care, which in total are £350k below budget. These two areas are likely to be due to 

new service users receiving  funding instead from the hospital discharge scheme. 

Increased contribution to  Lightbulb programme including an invoice relating to Q4 2020/21 for £93k .

Overspend relates to reduction of income due to Libraries being closed as a result of Covid-19 and reduced 

Adult Learning income (25%) and general room hire (50%) due to Ways of Working Project.

42



Supported Living, Residential and Short Breaks -680 -14%

Community Life Choices (CLC) / Day Services Team -675 -28%

Community Life Choices (CLC) commissioned services -500 -8%

Aids, Adaptations and Assistive Technology -270 -16%

Care Pathway - Working Adults Team (LD) -195 -6%

Care Pathway - Working Adults Team (OA/MH) -135 -6%

Heads of Service & Lead Practitioners (OA/MH) -115 -5%

Other variances (under £100k) -280 n/a

TOTAL 13,480 n/a

Public Health

The Department has a projected balanced position.  The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Public Health Earmarked Fund 20 n/a

Other variances -20 n/a

TOTAL 0 n/a

Environment and Transport

The Department is forecasting a net underspend of £1.4m (1.7%).  The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Landfill 1,145 13%

Passenger Fleet -620 n/a

Underspend from closure of Residential and Short Break bases following lockdown and the vacancies that are 

being held pending an action plan.

Underspend from closure of Community Life Choices (CLC) bases following lockdown and the vacancies that 

are being held.

Overspend due to: 

- £200k due to 2,000 additional tonnes arising to landfill (related to Covid-19)

- £300k more resulting from direct deliveries to landfill (offset by lower bulk haulage costs - see below)

- £460k increased tonnage from MBT (Mechanical Biological Treatment) contract (see corresponding 

underspend below)

- £90k due to an under reserve at 2020/21 year-end

- £90k error in calculation of the gate fee

The forecast is subject to the ongoing improvements in the Covid-19 situation and any further lockdowns could 

increase waste volumes to landfill.

Net underspend on Public Health budgets to be offset by a contribution to the Public Health earmarked fund. 

Uncertainties on future grants and Covid-19.

Forecast underspend due to ongoing reduced demand for services, particularly Adult Social Care services (and 

some SEN). This has resulted in a large number of vacancies for drivers and escorts. Future demand for ASC 

services and traded work is difficult to predict (relies on easing of restrictions, both nationally and within LCC, 

and on service user’s appetite to resume transport). 

Underspend following lockdown and the closure of CLC bases within the independent sector and service users 

either receiving no service or a vastly reduced service. Discussions are ongoing on a potential new CLC 

framework.

Underspend due to staffing vacancies and challenges recruiting.

Underspend due to staffing vacancies and challenges recruiting.

Underspend due to staffing vacancies and reduction in expenditure on equipment due to Covid-19.

Underspend due to staffing vacancies.

43



H & T Network Staffing & Administration -510 -59%

Treatment & Contracts -420 -5%

Haulage & Waste Transfer -300 -14%

Dry Recycling -225 -11%

Mainstream School Transport -205 -6%

Staffing & Admin Resourcing -185 -5%

H & T Staffing & Admin -175 -10%

HS2 -175 -42%

Other variances 260 n/a

TOTAL -1,410 n/a

Chief Executive's

The Department is forecasting a net underspend of £20,000 (0.1%).  The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Coroner's Service 85 8%

Policy and Communities 55 3%

Democratic Services and Administration -110 -8%

Other variances -50 n/a

TOTAL -20 n/a

Corporate Resources

The Department is forecasting a net underspend of £0.1m (0.3%).  The main variances are:

£000
% of 

Budget

Commercial Services 1,600 -93%

Leisure & Hospitality 105 n/a

Continuation of difficult trading conditions, worsened by the impacts of Covid-19. Delays in lifting trading 

restrictions and social distancing requirements have had a significant impact on trading.  This has continued into 

August.  Mitigating action in the form of furloughing of staff has been taken.

Underspend due to vacant posts currently not filled in the Highways Control team.

Underspend due to work not progressing at anticipated speed as there has been a delay to Government 

announcements in respect of the approval of the Hybrid Bill.

Increase in the number of cases, partly due to Covid-19.

Underspend due to increased income received on Asset Management and Major Programmes for capital work 

carried out and recharged by agency staff.

Overspend is largely due to the newly opened Colliery Café at Snibston.  Restricted opening of the broader site 

due to Covid-19 has impacted on trading at the café.

Forecasting £0.3m underspend due to more direct deliveries to landfill.  Landfill will be £0.3m overspent as a 

result (see above).

£460k underspend forecast due to lower tonnage through MBT (Mechanical Biological Treatment) landfill 

contract (corresponding overspend in landfill line above). This is partially offset by a £40k forecast overspend on 

RDF (Refuse Derived Fuel) due to increased waste tonnages.

Underspend due to additional S38 & S184 infrastructure income as developers were increasing rates of 

development as lockdowns eased. In addition there are a number of vacant posts in traffic and signals 

contributing to the underspend.

Underspend forecast due to improved forecast on paper and card recyclable prices. Increased tonnages are 

anticipated, however this is offset by increased material income.

Underspend forecast due to savings achieved by review of bus and taxi contracts during summer 2021.

Overspend due to impact of job share during pandemic/recovery phase.

Variance due to staff vacancies, no requirement for lease car and reduced travelling expenses.

44



Information & Technology -460 -4%

45



CAIF -120 5%

Business Support -110 -12%

Strategic Property -95 -4%

Operational Property -80 -4%

Other variances 90 n/a

TOTAL 930 n/a

Central Items - Central Expenditure budgets

These budgets are forecast to have a net underspend of £0.2m.

£000
% of 

Budget

Financial Arrangements - ESPO surplus -110 n/a

Financial Arrangements - Enterprise Zone business rates income -70 n/a

Other variances 30 n/a

TOTAL -150 n/a

Staff vacancies held unfilled ahead of staff structure review.

Vacant supplies and recruitment drag.

Latest estimate of 2020/21 share of surplus is higher than accrued for in 2020/21 accounts and 2021/22 latest 

Income received relating to the Enterprise Zones in Charnwood and Hinckley & Bosworth.

Reduction in print costs (£154k) and vacant posts also impacting on project delivery.

Vacant supplies and recruitment drag.

Greater than anticipated income generated during first quarter of the financial year.

46



CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 to 2024/25 APPENDIX  C

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

MAIN GRANT FUNDED PROGRAMME 

Mar-25 69,837 Provision of Additional School Places 27,216 23,321 5,300 14,000 69,837

SEND Programme

Mar-22 1,588 Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) Units 1,588 1,588

Mar-22 500 SEMH Special School - LA Developed 20 20

Mar-24 9,200 SEMH Special School - Free School 200 1,000 8,000 9,200

Mar-22 500 Communication and Interaction Difficulty Units 485 485

Mar-23 3,000 Expansion of Special Schools 319 2,300 2,619

Mar-23 3,642 New/Expansion of Special School 1,030 2,612 3,642

0

Sub total  - SEND Programme 3,642 5,912 8,000 0 17,554

Mar-25 11,250 Strategic Capital Maintenance 5,250 2,000 2,000 2,000 11,250

Mar-25 2,079 Schools Devolved Formula Capital 579 500 500 500 2,079

Mar-24 725 Schools Access / Security 325 200 200 725

Mar-22 300 Early Help 27 27

Children's Social Care Investment Plan (SCIP)

Mar-23 2,500 Assessment & Resi Multi-functional properties x 4 2,151 259 2,410

Mar-23 2,000 Residential Homes - 40 places 0 2,000 2,000

Other Capital 8,332 4,959 2,700 2,500 18,491

Overall Total 39,190 34,192 16,000 16,500 105,882

Future Developments - subject to further detail and approved business cases

Further Children's Social Care Investment Plan (SCIP)

47



ADULTS & COMMUNITIES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 to 2024/25 APPENDIX  C

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

Mar-24 3,730 Hamilton Court/Smith Crescent - NWL Development - Improved Service User Accommodation 250 1,431 1,500 3,181

Mar-25 17,788 Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 4,447 4,447 4,447 4,447 17,788

Mar-23 230 Changing Places/Toilets (Personal Assistance) 30 30 60

Mar-22 150 HART Rostering System 41 41

Mar-22 1,100 Hinckley, The Trees (refurbishment) 31 31

Sub total - A&C various schemes 4,799 5,908 5,947 4,447 21,101

Social Care Investment Plan (SCIP):

Mar-25 5,500 Specialist Dementia Facility - Coalville 60 1,940 2,550 950 5,500

Jan-22 570 Loughborough - Ashby Court - Refurbishment 203 203

Mar-22 1,171 Anstey, Hollow Road Flats 90 90

Mar-22 327 Coalville, 286 Ashby Rd 42 42

Mar-23 1,024 SCIP - Additional Schemes to be confirmed - balance 0 1,024 1,024

Sub total - SCIP 395 2,964 2,550 950 6,859

Total A&C 5,194 8,872 8,497 5,397 27,960

48



ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 to 2024/25 APPENDIX  C

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

Major Schemes

Mar-25 85,300 Melton Distributor Road - North and East Sections 8,960 23,956 31,115 14,528 78,559

Mar-25 37,500 Melton Distributor Road - Southern Section 2,324 2,324 17,041 15,354 37,044

Mar-24 12,430 Zouch Bridge Replacement - Construction and Enabling Works 300 5,000 5,427 10,727

Jun-22 25,530 M1 Junction 23 / A512 Improvements 4,011 4,011

Mar-25 9,595 County Council Vehicle Replacement Programme 1,500 2,995 2,700 2,400 9,595

Mar-25 11,875 Advance Design / Match Funding 2,487 2,746 3,404 3,238 11,875

Mar-24 5,340 A511/A50 Major Road Network - Advanced design 368 942 2,429 3,739

Mar-22 10,152 Anstey Lane A46 (subject to £4.1m Leicester City contribution) 50 50

Mar-25 5,300 Melton Depot - Replacement 105 2,591 1,682 682 5,060

Mar-22 4,584 A42 Junction 13 34 34

Mar-22 4,035 Lubbesthorpe Strategic Employment Site Access 6 6

Mar-22 300 Croft Gully Scheme 2 2

Mar-22 325 Coalville Ashby Rd Hway works 188 188

Mar-25 10,600 Major Schemes Portfolio Risk 0 0 0 10,600 10,600

Sub total - Major Schemes 20,335 40,553 63,799 46,802 171,489

Mar-25 44,080 Transport Asset Management 0 14,488 13,044 16,548 44,080

Mar-22 5,110 Capital Schemes and Design 5,110 5,110

Mar-22 407 Bridges 407 407

Mar-22 465 Flood Alleviation- Environmental works 465 465

Mar-22 1,899 Street Lighting 1,899 1,899

Mar-22 255 Traffic Signal Renewal 255 255

Mar-22 3,702 Preventative Maintenance - (Surface Dressing) 3,702 3,702

Mar-22 7,242 Restorative (Patching) 7,242 7,242

Mar-22 2 Public rights of way maintenance 2 2

Mar-22 318 Network Performance & Reliability 318 318

Mar-22 306 Cycleways - EATF -12 -12

Mar-23 5,600 Hinckley Hub (Hawley Road) - NPIF 3,828 1,289 5,118

Mar-24 2,010 Safety Schemes 1,910 50 50 2,010

Mar-22 13 Highways Maintenance - IT Renewals & PROW 13 13

Mar-22 Externally Funded Schemes 0

Sub total - Highways & Transport Schemes 25,139 15,827 13,094 16,548 70,609

Environment & Waste

Nov-22 5,500 Kibworth Site Redevelopment (Commitments b/f) 3,171 2,000 5,171

May-22 9,000 Waste Transfer Station Development (Commitments b/f) 7,587 1,000 8,587

Mar-22 500 Recycling Household Waste Sites - Works 500 500

Mar-25 1,715 Recycling Household Waste Sites - General Improvements 113 210 232 1,160 1,715

Mar-23 340 Mobile Plant 170 170 340

Mar-22 280 RHWS Drainage 280 280

Total - Environment & Waste 11,821 3,380 232 1,160 16,593

Total E&T 57,295 59,761 77,125 64,510 258,690

49



CHIEF EXECUTIVES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 to 2024/25 APPENDIX  C

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

Mar-25 400 Leicestershire Grants 52 100 100 100 352

Mar-22 2,900 Rural Broadband Scheme  - Phase 3 2,237 2,237

0

Total Chief Executives 2,289 100 100 100 2,589

50



CORPORATE RESOURCES - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 to 2024/25 APPENDIX  C

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

ICT

Mar-24 1,059 Corporate ICT Programme 59 500 500 1,059

Mar-22 300 Internal Firewall Replacement 300 300

Mar-25 900 Cisco Core Network Switch Replacement 200 0 0 700 900

Mar-23 80 SolarisServer Refresh 20 60 80

Mar-25 240 Replacement ITSM toolset and User Portal (Marval replacement project) 0 0 0 240 240

Mar-22 91 CSC Telephony Replacement 91 91

Mar-22 71 Wireless Controller Refresh 71 71

Sub total - ICT 741 560 500 940 2,741

Transformation Unit - Ways of Working

Mar-23 1,300 Workplace Strategy - Office Infrastructure 466 834 1,300

Mar-24 3,700 Workplace Strategy - End User Device (PC, laptop) 796 626 30 1,452

Mar-23 1,474 Workplace Strategy - property costs, dilapidations and refurbishments 524 950 1,474

Sub total - Transformation Unit 1,786 2,410 30 0 4,226

Property Services

Mar-22 265 Melton, Sysonby Farm Development - site preparation and infrastructure works 265 265

Mar-24 440 County Hall Lift Replacement Scheme 160 150 130 440

Mar-22 85 Romulus Court - IT environmental monitoring (subject to approach review) 85 85

Mar-22 110 County Hall - Fire Compartmentation 110 110

Mar-22 110 Coalville Office - Window replacement - environmental improvements 110 110

Mar-22 50 Snibston & Country Park Future Strategy - Land remedial works and covenant 50 50

Mar-22 496 Watermead Park Footbridge and Cycleway 496 496

Sub total - Strategic Property 1,276 150 130 0 1,556

Climate Change - Environmental Improvements

Mar-24 1,242 Score + (Schools Energy Efficiency Scheme) 592 330 320 1,242

Mar-23 250 Electric Vehicle Car Charge Points 150 100 250

Mar-23 180 Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards & Performance Certificates 125 55 180

Mar-22 150 Energy & Water Strategy - Invest to save 150 150

Mar-22 100 Snibston E V Chargers & Solar Car Port 93 93

Dec-21 3,614 LCC Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme 3,614 3,614

Sub total - Energy 4,724 485 320 0 5,529

Total Corporate Resources 8,527 3,605 980 940 14,052

51



CORPORATE - CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 to 2024/25 APPENDIX  C

Estimated 

Completion 

Date

Gross Cost 

of Project 

£000

2021/22       

£000

2022/23       

£000

2023/24       

£000

2024/25       

£000

Total

£000

Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF)

Nov-20 9,500 Airfield Business Park - Phase 3-4 100 8,400 1,000 9,500

Mar-21 6,390 Quorn Solar Farm 150 6,178 6,328

Oct-21 0 Quorn Barrow Road Industrial Units (Carbon Neutral) 0 0

Mar-25 1,300 County Farms Estate - General Improvements 700 200 200 200 1,300

Mar-25 1,286 Industrial Properties Estate - General Improvements 536 250 250 250 1,286

Mar-21 2,750 M69 Junction 2 - SDA 200 2,519 2,719

Mar-24 8,200 Leaders Farm, Phase 2 - Ind Units and x2 Drive Thru Restaurants 184 8,000 8,184

Mar-24 5,000 East of Lutterworth SDA (Planning and Preparatory works) 1,000 4,000 5,000

Mar-23 59 Lutterworth East - SDA 59 59

Mar-23 0 Lutterworth East - Planning and Pre-Highway construction Works 0 0

Mar-25 36,750 Asset Acquisitions / New Investments - subject to Business Case 0 9,750 10,000 17,000 36,750

Total CAIF 2,929 39,297 11,450 17,450 71,126

Future Developments

Mar-25 58,500 Future projects - subject to business cases 0 13,500 20,000 25,000 58,500

Total Corporate Programme 2,929 52,797 31,450 42,450 129,626 52



Appendix D

Department Scheme Name Time delay Reason and impact of delay Cost implications/consequence Lessons learned

E&T Zouch Bridge Has been slipped 

several times in the 

capital programme.

Programme currently on hold whilst alternative options to full 

replacement are being considered due to significant escalation 

in cost estimates compared to initial budget.

Costs will depend on the options pursued, 

however, construction and materials costs have 

significantly increased over the last 12 months 

which is likely to impact the programme price.

Outcomes of works by Newton 

Europe and Faithful and Gould will 

underpin future development.

E&T Melton North/East 1 year slippage. Increase in complexity of design, timing and funding 

arrangements with a growing dependency on external partner 

support.

No further cost implications of slippage. Wider 

cost escalations reflected in updated capital 

programme

Outcomes of works by Newton 

Europe and Faithful and Gould will 

underpin future development.

E&T Melton South 18 months slippage. Increase in complexity of design, timing and funding 

arrangements with a growing dependency on external partner 

support.

No further cost implications of slippage. Wider 

cost escalations reflected in updated capital 

programme. Further funding still being 

pursued.

Outcomes of works by Newton 

Europe and Faithful and Gould will 

underpin future development.

E&T A511/A50 MRN 1 year slippage Delays in with purchase of land at the Lidl site in Hinckley. The 

land owners, Lidl, were selling the site to a third party and 

selling a parcel of the site to LCC requiring separate 

negotiations between the land owner, LCC and the third party 

that were not anticipated. As result of land delay scheme 

reprogrammed to start post Christmas which has added further 

time.

No further cost implications of slippage Various lessons learnt from this and 

recent schemes on approach to land 

acquisition. Will be applied to future 

projects

E&T Hinckley Hub - NPIF 10 months delayed Project can not commence until funding from the DFT had been 

approved. The funding announcement from the DFT was 

delayed and took longer than anticipated.

No further cost implications of slippage N/A

A&C Specialist Dementia Facility 9-12 months Difficulty in the procurement of specialist design partner for 

the scheme as well as delays from the pandemic

None N/A

A&C Hamilton Court/Smith Crescent Scheme cancelled 20th July Cabinet paper. Short Breaks is no longer to be offered 

at Smith Crescent. Revised development proposals for the 

Cropston Drive site in Coalville are now developed for future 

consideration by the Cabinet.

None N/A

Corp res Sysonby Farm Removed Homes England grant conditions were unfavourable to LCC. 

Decision taken to sell land and achieve a more favourable 

capital receipt than would otherwise have been offered. Grant 

funding from Homes England to be returned.

Expectation is to repay grant to Homes England 

following decision to sell. The costs of sale to 

be met from capital receipt.

N/A - Best course of action has been 

adopted.

Corp Prog Quorn solar farm 1 year slippage Additional planning investigation works, e.g. archaeological 

survey.

Capital impact favourable due to improved 

efficiency of panels. Further work being 

undetaken on wholesale power pricing.  

Issues speific to chosen site. Ensure 

cinsiderred in future business case.

53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E 
 

Savings Under Development 
 

 
This appendix lists areas where departments are looking at the potential for additional 
savings which are not yet currently developed enough to be able to quantify and build 
into the detailed savings schedules. 
 
Social Care Improvement Programme 

Against the context of increasing growth requirements arising from demands and 
market capacity constraints, the C&FS department is seeking to expand investment in 
owned residential accommodation with care being provided as part of the Children’s 
Innovation Partnership. 
 
The level of costs and benefits depend on each property and the cohort of children or 
young people that are to be accommodated.  But as a rule of thumb, to generate £1m of 
revenue savings would require about 6 additional properties (accommodating roughly 3 
children or young people each). Such an approach requires capital investment. To 
purchase appropriate properties would cost about £500k per property.  A key constraint 
will be the availability of suitable properties on the market. Further work is being 
undertaken on the needs analysis. 
 
Public Health 

 
Service offer to schools 
There are several current services that are delivered to schools including young 
person’s physical activity and various specialist training elements.  The department is 
exploring the option of moving these to a traded service model. 
 
0-19 Healthy Child Programme 
Work is underway to look at this contract to see if there are opportunities to more 
closely align this to the work happening in the Defining CFS For the Future Programme 
as well as a review of the options for the next procurement of the contract in April 2022. 
Furthermore, providers are being required to cover growth which may not lead to 
specific named additional savings, but will support wider financial pressures. 
 
GP Health Checks 
The Transformation Unit is supporting the Department to identify opportunities for 
further savings and efficiencies through the Productivity and Efficiency Programme for 
GP Health Checks. 
 
Children’s commissioning 
Work is progressing looking at the approach to children’s commissioning within the 
department. This may require investment initially but should lead to savings in CFS.  
 
Environment & Transport 
 
SEND Transport 

55



An initial review was undertaken of the processes involved in the delivery of transport 
for pupils with SEND, including links with the Defining CFS for the Future Programme. 
Based on this work there is an expectation that savings can be made from more 
efficient service delivery particularly in relation to use of vehicles, contracts and route 
optimisation. This includes the review of internal fleet with a view to expanding the 
service to cater for more complex needs, rather than outsourcing to the more expensive 
external market. This would require the acquisition of multi-purpose vehicles to deliver 
these contracts. 

Low Level Street Lighting Energy Savings 

To date the ‘dimming and trimming’ to further reduce street lighting energy use has only 
considered the high-level (7 metre plus) street lights and the part-night lit low-level 
residential street lights. Further savings in carbon dioxide and energy can be achieved 
by looking at the all-night lit low-level street lights.  There are c16,000 low-level street 
lights in the county (23% of total).   

An outline business case was agreed by the Departmental Management Team in 
December 2020 to undertake this work, in order to save £30k and 55 tonnes of CO2 
emissions per annum from streetlighting energy usage.  Work commenced in March 
2021 and is on track to deliver benefits from 2021/22. However, the financial savings in 
21/22 are committed to cover the cost of the external resource undertaking the work. 

Further Highway Services Changes 

This would include consideration of the case for reduction in the level of urban grass 
cutting. At present there are 6 cuts per season. A change in the public’s attitudes for 
maintenance of natural wildlife habitats and wildflowers offers the potential for the cut 
frequency to be reduced. 
 
LCC Small Fleet Servicing (Fleet Review) 
LCC maintain small vehicles (such as cars, vans and pickups), to a higher frequency 
than is specified by manufacturers. Cost reductions would be found from reduced 
workshop time needed, and a reduction in service items such as fluids and filters. 
 
Future Waste Transfer Station and Trade Waste Commercial work 
LCC operates a Waste Transfer Station (WTS) at Loughborough RHWS.  With the 
insourcing of Whetstone RHWS and WTS planned for 1st April 2021, and the 
construction of Bardon WTS planned for completion in April 2022 there is an 
opportunity to look at maximising these assets in terms of opportunities for income 
generation. 
 
Adoption of Electric Vans in LCC Fleet 
Following a successful trial of the latest generation of electric vans within Highways 
Delivery, and the development of an improved vehicle procurement process, a business 
case to determine the extent of EV adoption possible for the fleet is commencing. 
 
Financial savings expected over the whole life cost of each vehicle in terms of diesel 
costs and maintenance. Carbon savings by switching to electric are also expected.  
Significant capital investment will need to be made to enable the switch. 
 

56



Business Mileage 
Work has commenced, in collaboration with the Ways of Working programme, on 
business mileage reductions. Alternative travel options are being investigated for LCC 
employees where mileage is incurred (such as through pool cars or car club schemes), 
with a view to retaining reductions (where possible) witnessed through Covid-19.  
 

Chief Executive 

Legal Case Management 
An external review is currently being undertaken looking at case management 
processes and the potential to exploit digitalisation to identify efficiencies in how the 
service operates, the outcome of which is expected to be reported shortly. 
 
Economic Development 
A structural review has resulted in the establishment of the Growth Service which 

encompasses responsibilities for broadband and digital connectivity, growth managers, 

strategic planning and economic growth managers responsible for economic growth 

and recovery. Activity to identify possible savings arising from the review is ongoing. 

 

Corporate Resources 

Department Review 

Following the Departmental Management Team restructure a further review will be 
undertaken looking at structures across the department for synergies and 
improvements.  

Insurance review 
A ‘Total Cost of Risk’ review is currently underway working with the authority’s 
insurance broker. This review will assess the potential for savings on policy payments. 
  
Increased automation within Customer Service Centre  
Process improvement, automation and digitisation will lead not only to an improved 
customer experience but also provide savings opportunities from improved productivity, 
reduction in handling and errors as well as a greater use of self service. 
  
Review of vacant properties 
Assessment of the council’s portfolio of existing and emerging vacant properties and 
land with a view to determining the most practical and economically advantageous 
option for using, leasing, renovating and returning to use, or disposing of such assets in 
each instance.  
 
ESPO contribution increase 
ESPO have developed plans to grow their existing business, with a particular focus on 
growth outside of their current base. Successful delivery of the place will increase the 
dividend received from the County Council’s (partial) ownership. 

Amalgamation of transactional activity 
There are several areas of similar and/or linked transactional activity, for example 
Finance, both within the department and across the County Council. This offers the 

57



potential for centralisation of transactional functions across the County Council is to be 
investigated to identify service improvements through standardisation and efficiency 
opportunities through increased use of automation including robotics. 
 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) 
The Capital programme allows for additional investment in CAIF. The benefits of 
making these investments will not only be to the local economy, but also generate 
additional ongoing revenue stream (for example as rental income from farms or 
industrial units) or future capital receipts in excess of what is required for the initial 
investment. 
 
This potential additional income is over and above what is already included in the 
MTFS. The majority of investment is expected to come from the development of sites, 
which is a more uncertain undertaking. Hence, they are still included as a Savings 
Under Development. Income will be included in the MTFS when investments returns 
have a good degree of certainty. 
 
Digital Initiatives 

Growth has been included in the MTFS for an Incubation team providing more efficient 

and effective Council services, empowering people and introducing digital ways of 

working through easier to use, customer focused and joined up services across the 

County Council and with partners. The team has received temporary funding to date 

and the extension of this funding beyond March 2021 will enable further authority-wide 

savings and cost avoidance initiatives to be developed.  

 

Ways of Working Programme 

Programme to exploit the large move towards more flexible working – seeing demand 

fall for office attendance by around 40-60%.  

 

With the reduction in space required for staffing, the strategy will allow for income 

generation from the remainder of the county hall campus. Further space may be freed 

up in the future if flexible working increases. There are also a number of other potential 

benefits which may derive efficiency savings resulting in cost reduction which are 

unknown at present but likely to include:  

• Reduction in business travel  

• Increased productivity  

• Reduction in carbon  

• Reduced operating costs  

• Improved recruitment and retention 

 

Transformation Unit restructure 

An action plan has been implemented to rationalise the breadth and number of 

Transformation Unit roles. 

 

Operational Property 

Work with Operational Property management has identified opportunities for reducing 

costs or increasing revenue, for example: postage, visitor and visitor car parking 

management, and management of third-party sites. 

58



 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

MELTON MOWBRAY DISTRIBUTOR ROAD SOUTHERN SECTION – 
HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FUND GRANT 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE 

RESOURCES AND DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE 
 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of the report is to advise the Cabinet of the latest position in 

regard to the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) grant offered by Homes 
England (HE) in respect of the southern leg of the Melton Mowbray Distributor 
road (MMDRS).  A supplementary report will be circulated to members. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. The Cabinet is asked to have regard to the information in this and the 

subsequent supplementary report in regard to the Council’s response to the 
HIF grant offer. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
3. To agree a position to be adopted by the County Council. 
 
Timetable for decisions (including scrutiny) 
 
4. The extended deadline set by HE of 31 March 2021 has passed but 

discussions with HE continue. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
5. In November 2019 the Cabinet was advised of a successful HIF bid of £15m 

for the MMDRS. 
 
6. In March 2020 the Cabinet considered a report on Melton Borough Council’s 

master planning for the Melton South Sustainable Neighbourhood (MSSN).  
The detailed possible implications for the County Council, including financial 
risk connected to the acceptance of the grant offer from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and HE towards the 
cost of the MMDRS. 

 

59 Agenda Item 5



7.  In June 2020 the Cabinet considered a report on the latest position with 
regard to the HIF grant offer and the decision by Melton BC to approve a 
masterplan for the MSSN.  The Cabinet raised a number of concerns, most 
notably that the masterplan did not demonstrate the financial viability of the 
MSSN. The Cabinet also noted that the masterplan was approved despite it 
containing unresolved errors and inaccuracies which had been raised by the 
County Council. 

 
8.  In December 2020 the Cabinet was advised of work led by the County Council 

in collaboration with landowners and developers, which showed the MSSN 
was capable of being financially viable. That was dependent on the previously 
approved masterplan for the MSSN being revised. The Cabinet resolved inter 
alia that, subject to an agreement with Melton BC on mitigating the financial 
risk to the County Council and to the completion of other necessary 
agreements, authority could be given for the County Council to enter into a 
Grant Determination Agreement (GDA) with HE in respect of the HIF grant.  
The Cabinet also noted that Melton BC was seeking to cap any agreement at 
an amount which was not considered substantial enough. That position 
changed ahead of the County Council’s Cabinet meeting in July. 

 
9. At its meeting on 20 July 2021 the Cabinet resolved as follows: 
 

(a) The County Council welcomes the indication from the Leader of Melton 
Borough Council: 

 
  (i) that, in regard to the provision of infrastructure, his Council will 

increase its cap to £1.75million in an agreement between the 
two Councils for Melton Borough Council to mitigate the financial 
risk to the County Council; and 

 
  (ii) that he will arrange for his Council to approve as soon as 

possible and by the end of 2021 a Developer Contributions 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), a replacement 
masterplan for the South Sustainable Neighbourhood, and a 
new masterplan for the North Sustainable Neighbourhood; 

 
 (b) That in respect of the SPD, the County Council notes that the draft 

document on which consultation will follow prioritises contributions 
towards transport and education infrastructure, which the County 
Council will expect to see in a final version. 

 
 (c) That in respect of the South Sustainable Neighbourhood masterplan, 

the County Council notes that following concerns about viability, it 
commissioned consultants to produce an updated masterplan, which 
now requires to be completed; 

 
 (d) That in respect of the North Sustainable Neighbourhood masterplan, 

the County Council notes that its objections to an earlier draft have 
been incorporated in a revision which now requires to be shared and 
the work concluded; 

60



 
 (e) That, accordingly, subject to: 
 
  (i) assurances from Melton Borough Council in regard to an 

increase in the cap to £1.75million in an agreement between the 
two councils for the Borough Council to mitigate the financial risk 
to the County Council, in regard to approval of the SPD and 
masterplans for the South and North Sustainable 
Neighbourhoods to the satisfaction of the County Council; and  

 
  (ii) the provision of current information to Homes England on the 

estimated costs of the southern leg and further dialogue 
between the Director of Law and Governance and Homes 
England to reach an agreement on the terms of the Grant 
Determination Agreement, 

 
  the County Council will be in a position to accept conditionally the 

Housing Infrastructure Fund grant for the southern leg of the Melton 
Mowbray Distributor Road by decision of Cabinet at its meeting on 17 
September 2021. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
10. The implications for the County Council in respect of funding the two legs of 

the MMDR and related education infrastructure are significant and will be set 
out in the supplementary report. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
This report has been circulated to members representing electoral divisions in the 
Melton area:  Mr M Frisby CC, Mr B Lovegrove CC, Mr J Orson CC, Mrs P Posnett 
MBE CC. 
 
Officers to contact 
 
John Sinnott, Chief Executive 
Tel: (0116) 305 6000 
Email: john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: (0116) 305 6199 
Email: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Lauren Haslam, Director of Law and Governance 
Tel: (0116) 305 6240 
Email: lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk 
 
  

61

mailto:john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background 
 
11.  Melton Mowbray is identified as a ‘Key Centre for Regeneration and Growth’ 

in the 2018 Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan. The Melton 
Local Plan (formally adopted in October 2018) and which the County Council 
supports sets out that the majority of the housing development for Melton will 
be delivered within two new large-scale sustainable neighbourhoods, south 
and north, known as the MSSN (Policy SS4) and the MNSN (Policy SS5).  
The MMDR has been seen as an orbital road which alongside a Melton 
Mowbray Transport Strategy would facilitate the development of both 
sustainable neighbourhoods. 

 
12.  In successive Cabinet reports, however, it has been made clear that there 

would be a significant financial risk to the County Council, particularly in 
forward funding the high cost of the required infrastructure to ensure the 
success of the sustainable neighbourhoods as new communities. 

 
13. In respect of part (e)(i) and (ii) of the resolution of the Cabinet of 20 July 2021: 
 
 (i) at its meeting on 21 July 2021, Melton Borough Council’s Cabinet was 

advised that: 
 
  “Leicestershire County Council’s (LCC) Cabinet had signalled its 

intention to accept the housing infrastructure fund grant for the 
southern leg of the road, subject to a number of conditions being 
met and this Council had supported LCC to ensure this could be 
achieved and the financial risks mitigated.  The Developer 
Contributions SPD before Members represented a formal 
demonstration of that commitment and the first step towards 
meeting one of those conditions.  Subject to Cabinet 
consideration, statutory consultation would commence on the 
SPD, with a view to submitting it again to Cabinet and then 
Council for adoption in September 

 
  (and) that alongside the SPD, the Council were working to adopt 

new and refreshed masterplans for the north and south 
neighbourhoods.  The Council was seeking to establish an 
agreement with LCC on underwriting any shortfall arising from 
developer contributions on matters within our control and up to a 
cap of £1.75m (previously £1m).  These items would be 
considered as part of separate reports to Cabinet and Council 
and by the end of 2021.” * 

 
  Melton Borough Council’s Cabinet: 
 
  “APPROVED the Draft Developer Contributions Supplementary 

Planning Document for the purposes of consultation, having particular 
regard to the infrastructure priority list; 

62



 
  AUTHORISED a 6-week period for public consultation.” * 
 
  * = draft minutes 
 
 (ii) Information has been provided to Homes England by the Director of 

Law and Governance and the Director of Environment and Transport, 
and dialogue has taken place.  Matters are not yet concluded and the 
current position will be set out in the supplementary report.  

   
Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 
14. The MMDRS was identified in the Melton Local Plan as essential for the 

delivery of the planned growth in the District. The Plan itself was subject to an 
Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment. Any future scheme will be 
subject to further assessment in line with the County Council’s policy and 
procedures. 

 
Environmental Impact 
 
15.  An environmental impacts study was carried out as part of the HIF bid 

development process to inform the WebTAG assessment. 
 
16.  An environmental impact assessment (EIA) has been carried out in respect of 

the Northern and Eastern sections of the MMDR. 
 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet - 22 November 2019 – Melton Mowbray Local Plan Delivery 
Partnership – HIF Bid Update 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5608&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Cabinet - 24 March 2020: Melton Mowbray Distributor Road - 
https://bit.ly/2zogPjT  
 
Report to the Cabinet - 23 June 2020: Melton Mowbray Distributor Road 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5996&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Cabinet - 20 November 2020: Melton North Sustainable 
Neighbourhood Draft Masterplan: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5999&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Cabinet - 15 December 2020: Melton Mowbray Distributor Road 
(South) and Melton Northern Sustainable Neighbourhood Draft Masterplan: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6000&Ver=4 
Report to the Cabinet - 22 June 2021: Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Southern 
Section – Housing Infrastructure Fund Grant: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6444 
 

63

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5608&Ver=4
https://bit.ly/2zogPjT
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5996&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5999&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6000&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6444


Report to the Cabinet - 20 July 2021: Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Southern 
Section – Housing Infrastructure Fund Grant: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6445&Ver=4 
 
 

64

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6445&Ver=4


 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

CORPORATE ASSET INVESTMENT FUND ANNUAL PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 2020-21 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1. The purpose of this report is to set out the performance of the Corporate 

Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) for the 2020/21 financial year. The Annual 
Report is attached as the Appendix to this report. 

 
Recommendations 

 
2. It is recommended that the performance of the Corporate Asset Investment 

Fund for the period April 2020 to March 2021 as set out in the Annual Report, 
be noted. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
3. In accordance with the Cabinet’s decision in September 2017, this report 

fulfils the requirement to report annually on the performance of the CAIF to 
both the Cabinet and the Scrutiny Commission, to demonstrate that the Fund 
is being managed professionally and prudently. 
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
4. The Annual Performance Report was considered by the Scrutiny 

Commission at its meeting on 8th September 2021 and the Commission’s 
comments will be reported to the Cabinet. 

  
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
5. The creation of the CAIF was included in the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) 2014/15-2017/18, which was approved by the County 
Council in February 2014. This has been renewed and increased annually in 
the MTFS. 

 
6. In May 2014 the Cabinet established the Corporate Asset Investment Fund 

Advisory Board, comprising five Cabinet members. The Advisory Board will 
consider the merits of any investment opportunities presented by the Director 
of Corporate Resources, which the Director of Corporate Resources may 

65 Agenda Item 6



 

then approve under delegated powers or refer to the Cabinet for a decision. 
 
7. The Council’s Corporate Asset Management Plan 2016/17 was approved by 

the Cabinet in June 2016. This promotes the rationalisation of the Authority’s 
property assets, reducing property running costs, generating new property 
income streams, ensuring cost effective procurement of property and 
property services, and creating capital receipts to support capital programme 
or other beneficial investment proposals. 
 

8. The Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-25 Capital Programme was 
approved by the Council on 17 February 2021. This includes provision of 
£71m for CAIF projects up to 2024/25. The revised Corporate Asset 
Investment Fund Strategy 2021 – 2025 was also approved at the same 
meeting as part of the MTFS. 
 

9. The County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22, supported by the Enabling 
Growth Plan, sets out the Council’s objectives for the rationalisation and 
utilisation of its assets, maximisation of capital receipts, and facilitating the 
delivery of affordable and quality homes and building a strong economy, 
generating economic growth. 
 

10. In 2018 the County Council adopted a new Environment Strategy for 2018 – 
2030 – ‘delivering a better future’ which sets out the Council’s environmental 
priorities and objectives to meet the global challenge of climate change. In 
May 2019 the County Council further committed to seek to achieve carbon 
neutrality in its own operations by 2030. 

 
Resource Implications 

 
11. The County Council faced a very difficult financial outlook even before the 

impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic are considered. The MTFS currently sets 
out the need for further savings of £79m to be made by 2024/25, of which 
£23m is unidentified. This gap is expected to grow as the MTFS is refreshed. 
It is anticipated that the annual review of the CAIF Strategy will be influenced 
by changes to the requirements of the MTFS arising as a direct result of the 
impact of COVID-19 on Council services and the future financial position.   
 

12. The MTFS 2021-25 which incorporates the investment strategy for that 
period provides funding to grow the CAIF from the original target of £200m to 
£260m over the MTFS period. The exact level of investments made will be 
dependent on the availability of good investments, the actual cost of 
development and the level of funding available. The expectation is that the 
returns (a combination of revenue income and capital growth) generated by 
the CAIF will have a meaningful impact on the Council’s budget to reduce the 
funding gap. 

 
13. The amount invested in the Fund as at 31 March 2021 was £184m. This is 

after £5m in principal repayments for private debt investments which are 
planned to be reinvested. The MTFS 2021-25 capital programme includes a 
provision of £71m for additional investments spread over the four years 

66



2021/22 to 2024/25 to fund further CAIF investments. This brings the total 
fund to £260m 

 
14. The total income is forecast to grow to an estimate of £9m by the end of the 

MTFS, 2024/25 
 
15. The Director of Law and Governance has been consulted on this report. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 
16. None. 

 
Officers to Contact 

 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 7830 
Email: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 

 
Jonathan Bennett, Head of Strategic Property, 
Corporate Resources Department 
Tel: 0116 305 6358 
Email: jon.bennett@leics.gov.uk 

  

67

mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:jon.bennett@leics.gov.uk


 

 
PART B 

 
Background 

 
17. The Council has owned and managed properties in the form of the existing 

Industrial and County Farms estate for many years. These properties are 
held for the purposes of supporting the delivery of various economic 
development objectives and to generate revenue and capital returns to the 
County Council. 

 
18. The creation of the CAIF and associated Advisory Board in 2014 was aimed 

at increasing the Council’s property portfolio and ensuring a more diverse 
range of properties, to continue to support economic development and 
generally increasing the quality and sustainability of the land owned by the 
Council and the income this generated. 
 

19. The Advisory Board, chaired by the Cabinet Lead Member for Resources, is 
supported by an officer group formed from strategic property, strategic 
finance and legal services to provide advice on risks, deliverability and 
financial implications. Specialist property investment support and advice is 
also available to provide an independent view and robust challenge.  
Following consideration by the Advisory Board, the Director of Corporate 
Resources approves investments (under delegated powers) or refers the 
proposals to the Cabinet for a decision. 
 

20. In 2018 the aims of the CAIF Strategy were aligned with the five Strategic 
Outcomes set out in the Council’s Strategic Plan (Strong economy, wellbeing 
and opportunity, keeping people safe, great communities and affordable and 
quality homes) and the purpose of the Fund was consequently broadened to 
ensure that CAIF investments 
 

 Support the objectives of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 

 Generate an income stream which increases the Council’s financial 
resilience given the decrease in government funding. 

 

 Support the delivery of front-line services through increased income 
generation, or through capital investments that will reduce operating costs. 

 

 Support the Council’s strategic objective of Affordable and Quality Homes 
through helping to unlock and accelerate developments. 

 

 Manage investment risk through the opportunity to invest in diverse 
sectors. 

 

 Meet the objectives of the Council’s Corporate Asset Management Plan, 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund Strategy, Strategic Plan and Single 
Outcomes Framework, the Economic Growth Plan and Local Industrial 
Strategy. 

68



 

 Increase the size of the property portfolio and improve the mix and quality 
of land and property available across the County and the sub-region. 

 

 Maximise returns on Council-owned property assets. 
 

 Support growth in the County and its economic area of influence and 
ensure there is a more diverse range of properties and land assets 
available to meet the aims of economic development. 

 

 Support the Council in maximising the benefit from its financial assets in a 
risk-aware way (not including standard treasury management activity). 

 
The Strategy was further updated in 2019 to reflect the Council’s declaration of a 
Climate Emergency to ensure all Fund developments are, where possible, low 
carbon and energy efficient. 

 
21. Support for the Advisory Board has subsequently been expanded to reflect 

this with officers from other departments, such as Environment and Transport 
and Head of Planning, also now attending where appropriate given the 
increasing impact of growth infrastructure and Climate Change projects being 
managed through the Fund and to reflect the planning decision making 
structure within Leicestershire.  The Head of the Growth Unit also provides 
support as necessary; the Unit has general oversight for the delivery of large 
growth schemes to ensure these are assessed and prioritised against the 
resources available and balanced against the need to deliver the aims of the 
Fund and the Council’s Strategic objectives. 
 

22. Following the Council’s Declaration of a Climate Emergency in 2019, an 
additional aim to ensure that all Fund developments (or developments on 
land disposed of by the Fund) are, where possible, low carbon and energy 
efficient was added to the CAIF Strategy. 

 
Current Performance of the CAIF 

 
23. The CAIF has a significant and growing value and has provided a means by 

which the Council can continue to provide high quality services to the people 
of Leicestershire despite significant pressures on public finances. 
 

24. Since 2014 income generated by CAIF investments has made a real impact 
towards supporting Council services without which further savings would 
have been required and service provision to residents and businesses in the 
County would have been adversely affected. 
 

25. Originally, funding of £15m was allocated to the CAIF to fund new 
investments over four years from 2014/15, and this focussed on direct 
managed property investments to support the funds strategic objectives. In 
addition, other Council assets have been included in the CAIF, mainly county 
farms and industrial properties. Since 2014/15, funding allocated has been 
renewed and increased annually and used to invest more widely in indirect 

69



 

and non-property investments such as pooled property funds and private 
debt. A total of £71m has been set aside in the current MTFS to support 
further CAIF investments. 

 
26. The Annual Report attached as the Appendix to this report sets out in detail 

the overall performance of the CAIF during the 2020/21 financial year. This 
shows that continued prudent management of the Fund over the last financial 
year has led to another substantial increase in its value. 

 

27.  Developments that completed during the year were transferred from the 
development sector to the office and industrial sectors with the Bardon 
development site reverting to the Environment and Transportation portfolio. 
Accordingly, at the end of 2020/21, the direct property portfolio comprised 
£28.6m of rural estate, £52.4m of offices, £28.6m industrial properties, £5.2m 
of other property together with £36.0m of development properties. These 
changes update the position reported in the 2020/21 Provisional Revenue 
and Capital Outturn to the Cabinet in June 2021.   
 

28. Overall the capital value of the Fund increased by £16m during 2020/21 (new 
investments/ other changes of £9m and £7m increase in valuation) to £187m 
and generated a net income of £4.6m which contributed directly to the 
provision of Council services. Further, the let property investments have 
produced a return of 9.3% with all direct property, including the development 
category, achieving a return of 7.3% compared to the benchmark market 
index of 2.8%. 

 
29. Also included in the CAIF valuation are the financial investments that have been 

made in vehicles outside direct property ownership. This diversification, to spread 
risk, is in line with the Council’s aim to increase its commercial activities to 
generate greater income that will support the Council’s MTFS and future service 
delivery costs. In total £24.3m is invested in Pooled Property Funds and £16.6m in 
Private Debt.  

 
30. An independent review of the CAIF was undertaken by Hymans Robertson in 

December 2020. The report recommended that future investment should be 
targeted at the industrial and logistics sector with office and rural investments 
maintained at existing levels. Consideration should also be given to investing in 
the infrastructure, renewables and residential sectors and whilst the private debt 
investment should be maintained at current levels investment in pooled property 
should be reduced over time.  
 

31. More detail, including highlights on specific projects completed or in progress is 
included in the Annual Report which is appended to this report. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
32. There are no equality or human rights implications directly arising from this 

report. 
 
Background Papers 

70



 
Report to the Cabinet, 19 September 2020 - Corporate Asset Investment Fund 
Annual Performance Report 2019-20 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5997&Ver=4 
 
Appendix 

 
Corporate Asset Investment Fund Annual Report 2020 - 2021  

71

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5997&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Building Business. Boosting Communities.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

Corporate Asset 
Investment Fund 
Advisory Board

73

mhand
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX



2   

FOREWORD 

Leicestershire County Council’s continued investment in its Corporate 
Asset Investment Fund has once again provided significant returns to 
the people of Leicestershire in difficult times. From relatively modest 
beginnings in 2016/17 the Fund’s value has continued to grow 
year on year and now stands at £187m. As the value of the Fund 
increases the income produced also continues to grow and last year 
the Fund generated a net income of £4.6m 

New business parks in Market Harborough and Coalville are now complete and fully let providing 
120,000 sq. ft. of commercial space for new and existing businesses in the county. The new 
office HQ for The Access Group on the Loughborough University Science and Enterprise Park was 
completed in autumn 2020, the tenant has completed its fit out and is now in occupation. A further 
pipeline of projects is being progressed with a view to realising further increases in revenue in future 
years.

Overall, the Fund’s portfolio of commercial properties, farms, development land and other 
investments continues to consistently outperform the national average for comparable investment 
funds. Of particular note is the increased income return which is vital in supporting services 
throughout the county.

Leicestershire County Council continues to be the lowest funded county in the country. The 
continued good performance of the Corporate Asset Investment Fund allows the Council to provide 
important services in an extremely challenging financial environment with COVID-19 putting 
additional burdens on the Council’s finances, whilst continuing to boost Leicestershire’s economy 
and helping the Council to achieve the aims and ambitions set out in its Strategic Plan

Lee Breckon  
(Lead Member for Resources)  
Leicestershire County Council

74



3   

SUMMARY

This report forms the annual review of the Corporate Asset 
Investment Fund (CAIF) portfolio, reporting on the performance for 
the year to 31st March 2021.

The CAIF is fundamental to the economic, social, and environmental wellbeing of the people of 
Leicestershire especially given the current financial climate coupled with service demand growth. 
Whilst making a significant contribution to the Council’s Strategic Plan the income generated by 
investment in high quality assets provides increased financial resilience and underpins the Council’s 
ability to deliver a comprehensive range of quality services in the future.

The annual report examines the development and performance of the overall portfolio, the potential 
of the future investment programme to deliver enhanced returns and the outlook for the wider 
investment market and how it might impact on the future investment strategy.

TOTAL VALUE BY SECTOR

As at 31st March 2021, the capital value of the portfolio totalled £187.4 million compared with the 
value as at 31st March 2020 of £170.9 million. The opening and closing valuations being calculated 
on the basis of a combination of internal and external asset valuations.

Office

Industrial

Distribution

Rural

Other

Development

Pooled Property

Private Debt

Total £171m2019/20 Total £187.3m2020/21

£4.4m £4.7m

£46.5m £52.4m

£24.2m

£28.6m

£36m

£24.3m

£16.6m

£23.6m

£22.6m

£28.3m

£24.8m

£20.3m

£0.5m £0.5m

75



4   

Financial summary

Value at  
31st March 
2020 (£m)

Transactions
Transfer 
(£m)

Valuation 
Change 
(£m)

Value at 
31st March 
2021 (£m)

Net 
Income

(£m)

Acquisitions 
(£m)

Capital spend 
(£m)

Sales 
(£m)

Directly Managed Property

Office  46.5 5.4 0.5 52.4 1.4

Industrial 23.6 0.3 0.4 24.2 1.1

Distribution 0.5 0 0.5 0.1

Rural 22.6 0.2 0 5.7 28.6 0.5

Other Property 4.4 0.3 4.7 0.3

Total Property 97.6 5.9 0 6.9 110.4 3.4

Development

Development 28.3 11.4 0.2 0 4.0 0.1 36.0 -0.1

External Investments

Pooled Property 24.8 -0.5 24.3 0.9

Private Debt 20.3 4.0 0.3 16.6 1.1

Total Ext. Invts 45.1 4.0 -0.1 41.0 2.0

 Sub-Total 170.9 11.4 6.1 4.0 4.0 6.9 187.4 5.2

Central Charges -0.6

Overall Total 170.9 11.4 6.1 4.0 4.0 6.9 187.4 4.6

Notes: All figures are rounded to nearest 0.1 

Central charges are an allowance made against net income in the corporate accounts in respect of debt and sinking fund costs

At 31st March 2021, the Fund held managed direct property assets of £110.4m, and development 
property of £36.0m (a total of £146.4m). In addition, the Fund holds external pooled property funds 
and private debt investments totalling £41.0 million. 

Returns in 2020/21 showed a marked increase on the previous year as a result of positive income 
returns and capital growth across all sectors despite the sharp corrections experienced in the 
wider market as a result of the COVID pandemic causing the greatest economic upheaval in living 
memory. This sound performance is in part, due to continued very good occupation and rent 
collection rates.

76



5   

A debt and sinking fund provision (central charge) has been made within the revenue account 
in order to more appropriately assess overall CAIF performance in terms of its contribution to 
generating additional funding for Council services. These charges against the fund reduce the net 
income figure from £5.2m to £4.6m. 

• A sinking fund can be thought of as a savings account which ensures that there are funds set 
aside to cover one-off expenses in the future required to maintain the assets’ capital value.

• A bad debt provision is a reserve used to cover the potential for future incomes (e.g. rent) not 
being received as expected. Once a provision is established it is reassessed each year in light of 
what is known about outstanding monies still to be received.

The net income of £4.6m represents a modest increase on the previous year, generating a net 
income return of 2.5% which is comparable to that achieved in 2019/20. With the benefit of rental 
increases as further new developments are completed, and tenants secured, this will continue to 
grow. 

The new business parks at Coalville and Market Harborough (Phase 2) are now both fully let and 
will produce full market rents in the coming years.

It should be noted that the Fund doesn’t hold any retail investments in the direct property portfolio, 
which will have contributed towards the Fund outperforming the market.

There was one major and two smaller land purchases at Misterton required to complete land 
assembly and progress the Lutterworth East Strategic Development Area at a cost of £11.4m and 
are included within the Development Sector

During the year the Fund completed a strategy review of the overall fund, which was undertaken by 
external consultants, Hymans Robertson.  The findings will be incorporated within future reviews of 
investment strategy.

77



6   

Fund Performance

• Overall, the portfolio produced a return* of 6.1% in line with target levels. This represents an increase of 3.4 percentage 
points on the previous year and exceeded the general market increase in returns. 

• The managed direct property portfolio (i.e. excluding the development assets, pooled property, and private debt), 
produced a total net return for the year to 31st March 2021 of 9.3% (capital and income combined), compared to the 
market benchmark All Property Monthly Index of 2.8%

• The returns from the rural portfolio remained exceptionally strong, exceeding the market for the 14th consecutive 
year. The capital growth figure of 25.3% reflecting the benefit of pro-active management and the ongoing pipeline of 
development sites to be marketed with planning consent. Accordingly, the rural sector continues to make a significant 
contribution to the overall performance of the portfolio.

• Overall, the returns from the office sector exceeded the market achieving both positive capital growth and a realistic 
income return given that the terms of all office lettings agreed throughout the year were subject to extended rent free 
periods (in line with market expectations).

Of
fic

e

M
ar

ke
t O

ffi
ce

In
du

st
ria

l

M
ar

ke
t I

nd
us

tri
al

Di
st

rib
ut

io
n

M
ar

ke
t D

is
tri

bu
tio

n

Ru
ra

l

M
ar

ke
t R

ur
al

Ot
he

r P
ro

pe
rty

Al
l D

ire
ct

 P
ro

pe
rty

M
ar

ke
t A

ll 
Di

re
ct

 P
ro

pe
rty

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

Po
ol

ed
 P

ro
pe

rti
es

Pr
iv

at
e 

De
bt

Market Indices
Capital Growth %

Income Return %

2.8%
1%

4.9%
-4.9%

4.4%
1.5%

4.7%
9.1%

3.3%
0.3%

4.7%
9.1%

2.3%
25.3%

1.2%
0.6%

6.3%
6.2%

3.2%
6.7%

5.5%
-2.5%

0.6%
-0.2%

3.5%
-2.2%

5.4%
1.7%

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

* Whilst the overall return is calculated taking account of the bad debt provision and sinking fund these have been excluded 
when making comparison for individual sectors to ensure a like for like comparison with the market indices.

78



7   

• The returns from both the Industrial and distribution were constrained and fell substantially short of market levels. This 
was due to a number of factors including the nature of the premises, the continued high occupancy rate and most 
importantly the change in the annual valuation date to 1st October each year. Due to shifts in market yields between 
October 2020 and April 2021, the effect of the early valuation date had a significant impact on potential capital growth, 
reducing the return by c.5.0% 

• The development sector saw further capital invested in the East of Lutterworth SDA. However, this expenditure has 
not impacted portfolio performance being reflected in the closing valuation. Whilst, the performance metrics for the 
development sector currently appear to be “relatively poor” this will be corrected when the developments are completed, 
and rental income or capital receipts are generated.

• The pooled property investments are spread across four separate investment managers.  The returns this year have 
been impacted by exposure to sectors that have been impacted adversely by covid-19 such as retail.  The 3.6% net 
income yield (3.9% in 2019/20) compares favourably to the market return of minus 9.9%.

• Private debt returns are in line with expectations with £1m interest income during the year and c£4m capital returned.  
Interest income will reduce over time as underlying loans are repaid and capital is returned.  

 

79



8   

Value at year start Change during year

    
 Ca

pit
al 

Ex
pe

nd
itu

re*

£170.9m
Value at year end

£187.4m£16.5m

+
£6

.0m

Va
lua

tio
n c

ha
ng

e
£6

.9m

Sa
les

 an
d T

ra
ns

fer
s*

*
£8

.0mAc
qu

isi
tio

ns
£1

1.4
m

CHANGES TO THE PORTFOLIO  
DURING THE YEAR

Summary of Changes

During the year, the property portfolio increased from £170.9m as 
at 31st March 2020 to £187.4m as at 31st March 2021. This 
increase was due to a combination of valuation changes and further 
investment in assets and indirect holdings, as set out in the chart 
below.

*This includes spend on farm estate buildings and the original industrial premises. 

** The transfers were made at valuation

80



9   

TRANSACTIONS THROUGH THE YEAR

Direct property acquisitions

Lutterworth East 

The Fund completed all the outstanding acquisitions necessary to complete full land assembly for the proposed East of 
Lutterworth Strategic Development Area within the overall budget approved by Cabinet.

Private Debt Investment

The private debt investments returned £4m capital during the year alongside £1m in interest payments from the original 
£20m invested and managed externally by the Partners Group. Accordingly, at 31st March 2021, the private debt holding 
had a net asset value of £16.4m.

Pooled Property

The Fund also hold externally managed pooled property investments. Whilst there were no transactions completed during 
the year the value of the investments reduced by 2.2% to £24.3m reflecting the state of the overall property market.

Property Disposals

In line with the strategy, the following disposals were achieved during the year and resulted in total capital receipts of 
£68,500 through opportunity sales of property from the portfolio. 

Property Disposal Date Receipt Sector
Easement over land at Sutton in the Elms 16/04/2020 £40,000 Rural
Land on the Stephenson Industrial Estate (deposit) 20/01/2021 £28,500 Development

In addition, to the above there are a number of substantial disposals in the pipeline, most notably the development site 
at Sysonby Farm, Melton Mowbray where the marketing of the site was delayed by the completion of the Section 106 
Agreement. In addition, planning is being progressed on a number of other non-strategic sites with a combined value (with 
planning consent) of in excess of £12m.

Property Transfers

Following the transfer of Apollo Court and the Airfield Farm (Phase 2) business units from the Development Sector to 
the Industrial Sector last year In the 2020/21 year the eight acre site at Bardon Interlink, held by the Fund as a future 
development site, was transferred back to the Council’s Waste Management service to be developed as a waste transfer 
station; the transfer being made at the opening valuation (£4.0m). Following completion of the waste transfer station project, 
any surplus land will transfer back to the Fund. 

81



10   

PERFORMANCE AND COMPARISON 
AGAINST INDUSTRY BENCHMARK

The Fund’s benchmark is the “All Property” total return (capital growth 
plus income return) of the market benchmark monthly index. The total 
return for the direct property portfolio for the year to 31st March 2021 
was 7.3% significantly outperforming the market benchmark Monthly 
Index total return of 2.8%.

Office Sector
The office sector achieved a return of 3.8% compared to a market return of minus 0.3%; the sector 
achieving both positive capital growth and a solid income return. In future years with all the major 
office investments fully let income returns are set to improve further. 

Industrial Sector
The Industrial sector produced a modest return of 5.9% compared to the market figure of 14.2%. This 
was due in part to the nature of the portfolio, being largely older premises, which together with the lack 
of tenant churn restricted the potential for achieving increased rental income. The portfolio valuation 
date of 1st October each year further contributed to capital growth being reduced by 5% against the 
market, as the increase in capital value resulting from a hardening of industrial yields in the second 
half of the year was not reflected in the portfolio’s closing valuation figures. However, if current market 
conditions persist this will result in a positive catch up in the current year. Demand remains strong for 
all grades of property within the sector due to the lack of supply, and with full rental levels becoming 
payable in respect of the newly occupied units at Coalville and Market Harborough, rental income will 
continue to grow. 

Rural Sector
The rural assets performed very well, producing an overall return of 27.6% which is well in excess of 
the sector’s national performance driven predominately by capital growth (reflecting the development 
value accruing to individual assets at Melton and Misterton). Potentially, this will be translated in capital 
receipts in future years as sites are sold with the benefit of planning permission. At 2.3%, income 
return was significantly above the performance of the rural sector nationally.

Alternative Sector
The alternative or other property sector produced an excellent return of 12.5% against the minus 5.2% 
achieved by the market. This was largely due to the fact that the Fund holds a mixed portfolio of assets, 
including the Citroen garage, a petrol filling station in Loughborough and a supported education school, 
but does not hold any leisure investments which were severely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

82



11   

PORTFOLIO REVIEW

Current Yield
The current yield from the portfolio is 4.0% (4.9% in 2020) this is below the market benchmark 
national figure of 5.0%. The managed direct property and indirect sector have a combined yield of 
5.2% marginally above the market but a low yield from the development assets meant that overall, 
the yield fell below the benchmark. 

Sector Proportions
The effect of purchases, sales, and movements in value during the year has resulted in further shifts 
in the sector weightings as illustrated earlier in the report. Whilst the long-term aim is to maintain 
a balance between sectors that reduces risk and maximises the potential for achieving financial 
resilience in the shorter term, in considering future acquisitions, the Fund will continue to focus on 
the purchase of assets that deliver the prospect of good long-term income, sound tenant covenant 
and produce a better than market yield in line with the recommendations of the independent review 
undertaken in December 2020 by Hymans Robertson. 

Rent Reviews, Lease Expiries and Tenant Only Breaks
There are 52 rent reviews, 49 lease expiries and 27 tenant-only break options that are falling due in 
2021/22. The negotiations regarding the reviews, lease renewals and dealing with the break options 
will form part of normal day-to-day property management. 

The effect of Covid19 on business confidence was a defining factor in all market transactions 
over the past 12 months, as the financial impact of the pandemic was felt across all sectors. On 
the whole the Fund’s tenants, through the use of the support offered by Central Government and 
sound business practice have “weathered the storm”. With an upturn in business confidence and 
improving economic conditions, coupled with a lack of supply within key sectors modest rental 
growth from rent reviews and new lettings should be achieved across the portfolio. The incidence 
of business failure or higher than usual voids did not materialise, and although some office spaces 
have remained vacant there has been a significant uptake of industrial leases. 

83



12   

New Lettings
Over the 2020/21 year despite challenging market conditions the following new lettings have been achieved.
 

Airfield Farm Business Park (Phase 2) 

Background

The Council purchased this 16-acre site to the north of Market Harborough in late 2016 which benefitted 
from an outline planning permission for a mix of industrial, office and roadside uses. A new planning 
permission was achieved for 80,000 sq. ft. a mix of industrial and office uses. Construction began on site in 
early 2019. (Note: Phase 1 was the sale of land to Thorpe’s’ Joinery)

All 12 units have been let and the site is approaching full occupation securing an initial increase in income of 
£263,000. 
 

Apollo Business Park, Coalville

Background

This site was a former undeveloped yard in Coalville leased to a haulage company for open storage at 
a rental of £25,700 pa. Having obtained vacant possession, planning permission was secured for 17 
industrial units and work began on site in late 2018. Following completion in September 2019, all the units 
have been let and the estate is fully occupied delivering an annual rental of £321,750.

 Description         80,000 sq ft Class E & B2/B8 
 Divided into 12 units  
 

 Completion Date 6 December 2019 
 

 Asset value £7.1m 
 

 Annual rent roll £543,000 
 

 Yield 7.69%

 Description 41,000 sq ft Class E and B2/B8 
 divided into 17 units 

 Completion Date 16 September 2019

 Asset value £4.4m 

 Annual rent roll £321,750 per annum

 Yield 7.27%  
 

84



13   

Embankment House

Embankment House was purchased by the Fund in 2018 at which time 9,500 sq. ft. of office space was unlet. During 
the current year, a 10-year lease was completed at an annual rental of £180,000 and the tenant is now in occupation. 
Embankment House will now have an annual rent roll of £963,000 and produce a yield of 8.1% in line with expectations at 
the time of purchase.

Developments Completed in 2020/21:

The Armstrong Building, Loughborough Science and Enterprise Park (LUSEP)

Background

The County Council entered into a ground lease with Loughborough University in January 2019 whilst simultaneously 
entering into an agreement for lease to The Access Group UK Ltd for an initial term of 15 years.

Work commenced on site at the beginning of February 2019 and was substantially completed in October 2020. Since 
that time the lease has been completed and The Access Group has taken possession of the building and has fitted out the 
accommodation with staff now working in the offices. The scheme won the International NEC Contracts Project of the Year 
award in June 2021.

 Description         102,909 sq ft gross Grade A 
Office HQ with 320 car parkspaces

 Completion Date October 2020
 

 Asset value £25.9m 
 

 Annual rent roll £1,609,820 
 

 Yield 6.2%

85



14   

Future Investments
During the 2020/21 the Fund has, on the basis of further funding being available through the Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS), committed further investment to deliver the following developments that will have the effect of further 
transforming the portfolio, achieving excellent rates of return and delivering significant additional income.

Leaders Farm South, Lutterworth

Background

This site formed part of a field within the County Farms portfolio and was identified as having possible office and industrial 
development potential.

Following extensive marketing of the site a demand has been identified for roadside and storage uses, and terms agreed with 
several potential occupiers. A planning application is to be submitted shortly and whilst the proposals represent a departure 
from the local plan changes to the Use Class Orders which took effect in September 2020 should allow more flexibility and 

help secure the development of this site.

Airfield Farm Business Park (Phase 3)

Background

Following completion and the successful launch of Phase 2 of the new industrial development at Airfield Farm Business 
Park, a masterplan has been drawn up for the final phases and a planning application for the 97,273 sq. ft. comprising 
phases 3 & 4 of industrial units was submitted in July 2021. The current proposal is to construct Phase 3 only, extending to 
81,835 sq. ft. of industrial space.

 Completion Date Target April 2023

 Build Cost £8.5m

 Expected Rental roll  
 from Phase 3 £638,000 per annum

 Yield 7.5%

86



15   

 Completion Date Target June 2022

 Build Cost £8m

 Expected annual income £400,000 per annum

 Yield 5%

Solar Farm Development, Quorn

Background

The proposal, which is currently at the planning stage involves the development of a 10MW solar 
farm on County Farms land at Quorn. Once developed the scheme will have the capability of off-
setting more than 2,000 tonnes of CO2 annually which is greater than the total carbon emissions of 
all County Council Buildings,

In addition to the above schemes funds were also 
committed to the acquisition of further properties 
to complete land assembly to facilitate the future 
delivery of the East of Lutterworth SDA and to the 
promotion of Boundary Farm, Sapcote as part 
of a potential strategic development area west of 
Stoney Stanton adjoining M69 J2.

87



16   

Development Sites

The Fund holds a number of assets within the portfolio that have been 
expressly retained or purchased with a view to realising their development 
potential in order to realise capital receipts or wider financial benefits to 
support the Council’s capital and revenue programmes. 

Sysonby Farm, Melton Mowbray

Outline planning permission has been granted for 290 dwellings, a primary school and local centre by 
Melton Borough Council on 23rd December 2020: the site forming part of the Melton North Sustainable 
Neighbourhood. Subsequently, the residential element of the site has been marketed and a sale agreed which 
is due to be completed later this year. The school site will transfer to the Children’s and Families Service and 
proposals developed for the local centre with a view to its retention within the Fund for as a source of income. 
Land on the northern boundary of the site has been reserved for the construction of the Melton Mowbray 
Distributor Road (MMDR) and the allocated employment land to the north of the MMDR may be developed as 
a depot site for the County Council’s Environment and Transportation department. 

Lutterworth East

The allocation of the East of Lutterworth SDA comprising 2,750 dwellings, 23 hectares of B1, B2 and B8 
employment land, a community hub, two primary schools, 110 hectares of open space including a country 
park together with substantial highways infrastructure was secured as part of the Harborough Local Plan 
which was adopted on 30th April 2019. 

A hybrid planning application (in outline for the residential and commercial development and in detail for the 
spine road and other highways infrastructure works) was considered by Harborough District Council’s Planning 
Committee on 28th July 2020. The planning committee resolved to grant planning permission subject to 
conditions and the completion of a section 106 Planning Agreement. The Section 106 Agreement is currently 
being finalised.

Due to the decision by Homes England not to support the County Council’s application for Housing 
Infrastructure Fund money, the procurement of a delivery partner for the scheme was temporarily put on hold. 
Further discussions regarding other funding sources are being progressed. 

On receipt of a free from legal challenge planning permission and confirmation of funding (both internal and 
external) work could commence on the enabling infrastructure within 6 months with a view to the first houses 
and an early phase of commercial development being occupied in 2024. 

Furthermore, the procurement of a delivery partner could recommence upon confirmation of funding. 
However, in the light of continued market uncertainty commencement of works on site may be delayed 
ensuring that returns from the project are protected in the longer term. 

As a result of the planning delays the £8.8m of Local Authority Accelerated Construction funding secured 
from Homes England may have to be foregone despite a successful application being made to extend the 
period for the delivery of the grant funded works to 31st March 2022.

88



17   

M69 Junction 2 – Stoney Stanton

Following the Cabinet decision in March 2020, work has been progressed on the promotion of up 
to 152 acres of County Council land as part of a larger residential-led mixed-use development of at 
least 5,000 houses. Working in collaboration with other landowners and their developer partners, 
submissions have been made to Blaby District Council’s Call for Sites and Issues and Options 
consultation and work is ongoing to provide the necessary evidence base to support the sites 
allocation as part of the emerging Blaby District Local Plan which is due to be adopted in 2022. 
Throughout the process, the Landowner Consortium has engaged with Blaby District Council and 
the local community, with further briefings and stakeholder events planned for later this year.

Land at Barton Road, Barlestone

An outline planning application has been submitted for 55 houses and 3.5 acres of public open 
space on an 8-acre site in Osbaston Parish, fronting Barton Road, Barlestone. The application 
should be determined later this year.

Other potential sites
A pipeline of more development sites is being brought forward on an ongoing basis largely through 
the local plan process, by their submission to Call for Sites consultations at the start of the plan 
review process and thereafter making appropriate responses to the further consultations. By 
securing future local plan allocations, investment returns and a stream of capital receipts will be 
maintained.

Voids
In the year to March 2021 with the two major schemes at Apollo Court and Airfield Business Park 
(Phase 2) becoming fully let the level of voids had fallen from the March 2019 level of 22.3% to 
10.3% at a time when the market as a whole saw an increase from 5.7% to 9.8% due to the effects 
of the COVID-19 pandemic; there remains a number of office units vacant across the portfolio 
totalling 9,648 sq. ft., but with a letting agreed during March 2021 (completed in June 2021) of the 
remaining vacant office suite at Lichfield South, the situation is showing signs of improvement.

With an improving economic environment and demand outstripping supply it is anticipated that 
the low level of voids away from the office sector can be maintained, whilst the relaxation of COVID 
restrictions will likely re-energise office occupancy over the course of 2021. 

89



18   

Rent Arrears (Direct Portfolio)
At 31st March 2021, total unsecured 90-day debt amounted to £90,548 which equates to 1.64% 
of gross portfolio income and although greater than previous years, remains considerably below 
industry averages especially during turbulent economic conditions. Payment of all outstanding debts 
is being actively pursued through debt management procedures.

It should be noted that none of the tenants of the 3 major investment property acquisitions 
(Embankment House, Nottingham/Lichfield South Office Park/car showroom in Leicester) have any 
rent arrears at all.

In the longer term as the proportion of properties devoted to economic development continues to 
fall in line with the Fund’s strategy, the covenant status profile should improve further reducing the 
fund’s exposure to debt risk.

Lease Expiry Profile (Direct Portfolio)
The table below illustrates the profile of rents receivable from leases expiring in each year within the 
portfolio over the next 7 years both in cash terms and a proportion of total rental income. Where a 
tenant has an option to break within a lease, the worst-case scenario that the tenant will exercise 
such an option is assumed, whereas in practice it is likely that not every tenant will elect to do so.

The largest figure in the table above, and presenting the greatest risk to the portfolio, relates to the 
2026 financial year when two leases at Embankment House, Nottingham and 13 of the 17 leases 
at Apollo Court expire. In accordance with usual practice it is proposed to engage with the tenants at 
an early date with a view to agreeing lease renewals.

£k
 va

lu
e

Sum of Annual Net Amount

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

0.0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

20
5,

74
3 30

2,
43

6

26
5,

40
0

12
2,

49
4

1,
02

3,
66

3

36
2,

82
6

48
6,

88
7

90



19   

PROPERTY INVESTMENT  
MARKET REVIEW

Economic Outlook
Over the last year, the UK has experienced the biggest economic upheaval in living memory, with 
the coronavirus pandemic dominating the way that people live and work since the first lockdown 
was announced on 23rd March 2020.

In 2020, GDP recorded an annual fall in growth of 9.9%, however following the latest lockdown 
which was put in place in January 2021 and the successful roll-out of the vaccine programme, 
there is now evidence that despite a further fall of 1.5% in Q1 2021 there will be a strong rebound 
in retailer and business confidence throughout the remainder of 2021. Indeed, the Bank of England 
now projects growth of 7.25% (up from 5.0% in February) over the next 12 months in line with the 
predictions of Oxford Economics and Goldman Sachs.

Indications are that excess household savings should support consumer spending and business 
investment is expected to pick up again during the year. Meanwhile, fiscal, and monetary policy 
remain accommodative for now, but several support measures such as the furlough scheme and 
stamp duty holiday will come to an end over the coming months, meaning growth could slow 
towards the end of the year. 

Although there has been an increase in unemployment, the furlough scheme has kept the 
unemployment rate at relatively low levels to date and continued low interest rates and extended 
government support have helped businesses survive. Unemployment is expected to continue to 
rise albeit modestly and there is a risk that inflation and interest rates may increase in due course 
given the scale of the fiscal stimulus, but the immediate economic outlook is one of significant 
improvement.

Accordingly, it is likely that the Bank Rate will remain at current levels in the short to medium term 
as the temporary surge in inflation, from the March figure of 0.7%, to levels above the 2% target 
will be tolerated, but 10-year gilt yields could see further upward pressure as more aggressive US 
monetary policy has knock on effects globally.

91



20   

Investment Market
UK commercial property returns remained unsurprisingly subdued during 2020 but there are now 
signs of an upturn as investors return to the market as reflected in both the annual total return 
figures and the quarterly changes in capital value.

The UK commercial property market continued to show resilience to the pandemic in Q1, with 
investment volumes reaching £11.1bn. While this is around 20% below the five-year quarterly 
average, the figure was considerably higher than during the first national lockdown in Q2 2020 
when only £5bn was transacted. A number of sectors, such as medical, industrial and supermarkets 
outperformed, while there was only very limited interest for leisure, hospitality, shopping centres and 
shops. Industrial assets accounted for around a third of all transactions by value, its second-highest 
share ever, only beaten by Q4 2020. Meanwhile, the share of office investment fell to just 20%, 
well below the five-year average of 34%.

Property Market Forecasts
The pandemic had led to a modest 2.3% decline in all property total returns in 2020. By the end 
of the 2020/21 year the all property total returns figure had improved and showed an increase of 
2.8%. 

These improving figures however disguise the fact that the polarisation of the UK commercial 
investment and occupational markets that was being felt pre-pandemic has become even more 
accentuated during the past year as certain property sectors have flourished (predominantly 
industrial) with the retail and leisure sectors being badly hit.

It is anticipated that there will be total returns growth of 6.4% in 2021, comprised of 4.8% income 
return and 1.6% capital growth. This is stronger than initial forecasts, which predicted a 3.8% rise 
in total returns. It is then expected that there will be total returns growth of 5.9% in 2022 and 5.3% 
in 2023. Over the five-year forecast horizon, industrial and supermarkets are predicted to be the 
best performing sectors.

Mild rental growth will result in a slight reduction in yields in the short term, but we expect yields 
to then generally shift out, in line with the trends for the Bank of England Bank Rate and 10-year 
government bond yields. At the all property level, equivalent yields will compress by around 20bps 
this year. Supermarkets and the industrial market segment will record the strongest reduction in 
yields, although mild compression is also expected across the office segment. Further outward 
movement will meanwhile continue across the retail and leisure sectors.

92



21   

All Property Forecast

Prediction Date  December 2021  December 2022  December 2023  5-year cycle

ERV Growth (% pa) -1.8 1.1 1.8 1.0
Equivalent Yield (%) 5.7 5.7 5.7 5.6
Capital Growth (% pa) 1.6 1.1 0.5 1.0
Total Return (% pa) 6.4 5.9 5.3 5.9

The retail sector, with the exception of supermarkets, performed predictably badly in the 2020/21 
year. The ‘High Street’ sector produced a total return of -14.1% in the year to 31st March 2021as 
a result of a fall in capital value of -19.8%, whilst the ‘Shopping Centre’ sector fared even 
worse producing a total return of -18.7%,  and a capital fall of -25.7%. Both sectors have been 
significantly damaged by the effects of the coronavirus pandemic, exacerbating structural shifts in 
consumer shopping patterns that were already well under way, and an oversupply of retail space 
in many towns. Due to the fact that Supermarkets have remained open during the pandemic the 
‘Supermarket’ sector produced a total return of +7.6% in the year to 31st March 2021, reflecting an 
income return of 5.4% together with modest capital value growth. All retail total returns are expected 
to show marginal growth of 0.6% this year, with income growth being the main driver of total 
returns growth, whilst capital growth is expected to remain in negative territory over the next few 
years. Retail warehouses and supermarkets will continue to drive the sector’s performance in 2021, 
with all other sub sectors recording negative total returns.

The total return for the offices sector in the year to 31st March 2021 was -0.3%, based on an 
income return of 4.9% failing to fully off-set a further decline in capital values It is anticipated that 
following the UK’s vaccination roll-out and a phased resumption of ‘normal’ working practices, 
business beginning to return to the office will further boost investor confidence. Total returns are 
expected to increase by 2.8% in the South East and 3.0% in Rest of UK this year, which compares 
to 2.5% for Central London. All-office total returns are expected to increase by 2.4% this year 
comprised of 4.1% income return and capital growth of minus 1.7 -%. All office total returns will 
average 5.1% pa over the period to 2025.

The industrial sector recorded a total return in the year to 31st March 2021 of 14.2%, reflecting an 
income return of 4.7% and further strong capital growth. This sector continues to benefit from the 
inexorable rise of e-commerce and the structural change in retail distribution, combined with a lack 
of supply of new accommodation. Tenant demand remains robust with take up reaching a record 
levels in 2020. Although there has been an increase in new development in this sector, much is 
pre-let and therefore availability remains low in many regions. Accordingly, rental growth prospects 
remain positive, although the rate of growth is likely to slow. Given the ongoing strength of rental 
growth and firming of yields, all industrial total returns are predicted to show growth of 16.1% this 
year, before slowing to a more sustainable rate of 5.4% in 2022.

93



22   

U
03

79

The alternative sector (which includes leisure property, hotels, restaurants and cinemas) fared poorly 
overall in the year to 31st March 2021 recording a total return of -5.2%, as a result of capital values 
falling by10.4% almost entirely due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the effect of lockdowns on 
those businesses. It is expected the alternative sector will recover quickly once lockdown conditions 
allow venues to fully open and trade fully once more. However, unlike the retail sector, this sector is 
not experiencing structural change, and with many people actually having saved money during the 
pandemic, a consumer surge in demand would not be unexpected.

Whilst constrained by a limited supply of investment opportunities Rural Property remains a safe 
haven for investors, with income returns of 1.2% (largely unaffected by the Covid pandemic), stable 
capital values and the prospect of modest long-term capital growth achieved through the realisation 
of development potential.

In respect of Pooled Property Investments it would appear that the market has now stabilised and 
performance should therefore recover as the economic conditions improve further through the 
second half of the year.

94



23   

Investment Strategy Update

The key objectives of the strategy remain: -

• Ensuring that there is a diverse range of assets available to meet the aims of economic 
development.

• Increasing the size of the portfolio.

• Improving the quality of the assets.

• Ensuring the sustainability of the County Farms and industrial portfolios by replacing land and 
assets sold to generate capital receipts.

• Providing a revenue stream that can be used to support ongoing service delivery; and

• Ensuring that any development undertaken on land owned by the County Council (or sold to a 
3rd party for development) is undertaken in accordance with the aims and aspirations of the 
County Council’s Declaration of Climate Emergency and any development is therefore to be 
sustainable, low carbon and energy efficient.

The implementation of this strategy coupled with the development of robust performance monitoring 
measures will ensure that the portfolio operates effectively and delivers value for money.

The Fund’s strategy continues to be reviewed regularly. In addition to the ongoing internal review 
of the portfolio, an independent review of the Fund was undertaken by Hymans Robertson in 
December 2020. That review considered the current economic outlook and that of the real estate 
investment market in light of the COVID-19 crisis and the implications of Brexit.  In line with other 
commentators, it acknowledged the challenges facing the market at the present time particularly the 
retail sector. Equally, it identifies the industrial, distribution and logistics sectors as being the most 
resilient in current circumstances. Further, the report examined the potential to diversify the portfolio 
further by considering infrastructure investments and the need to consider the environmental, social, 
and governance credentials of future potential investments.

Broadly, the Hymans Robertson report made the following main recommendations: -

Investment in direct property assets should be focused on the industrial, distribution and logistics 
sectors especially given Leicestershire’s location at the heart of the national transport network.

• Investment in the office and rural sectors should be maintained at current levels.

• Investment in the Pooled Property sector should be reduced over time and the funds reinvested 
in other more attractive investments such as diversified infrastructure. The private debt 
investments have potential to deliver stable returns and should be maintained or increased.

• Consideration should be given to investing in infrastructure and renewables either directly or 
via a pooled investment vehicle. Entry into the residential market is also recommended. To an 
extent the portfolio has an exposure to the residential market through the bringing forward of 
development sites However, the development and retention of residential properties within the 
portfolio would present particular legal problems for the County Council not being a housing 
authority. 

95



24   

These recommendations will be considered in a forthcoming strategy review together with the 
latest market trends and the County Council’s strategies. The review will address both the short-
term effects and potential longer-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic with a view to protecting 
the Fund’s current portfolio and guide its future acquisitions strategy and development programme 
moving forward to ensure it maximises the benefits it delivers. 

The updated strategy will be incorporated within the Medium-Term Financial Strategy which will be 
considered by Cabinet and full Council later in the year

96



 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021  
 

ASHBY CANAL MAINTENANCE FUNDING 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval to provide funding 

to the Ashby Canal Association (ACA) for maintenance of the section of the 
Ashby Canal which is due to be transferred to the ACA. The section of canal 
which is due to be transferred is shown in the Appendix to this report.   
 

Recommendations 
 

2. It is recommended that the Cabinet: 
 

(a) Approves the allocation of £1.1m for funding the maintenance of the 
section of the Ashby Canal to be transferred to the Ashby Canal 
Association in line with option b(ii) as set out in  this report, subject to 
Parliamentary approval of the proposed transfer of a section of the 
Transport and Works Act Order 2005 and associated land; 
 

(b) Authorises the Director of Environment and Transport, in consultation 
with the Director of Law and Governance and the Director of Corporate 
Resources, to agree payment terms and enter into a funding 
agreement with the ACA to cover all future maintenance costs for the 
transferred section of canal referred to at (a) above. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3. It is usual when a canal is transferred for there to be a maintenance 

undertaking or financial dowry payment from the transferer (the County 
Council in this instance) to the transferee (the ACA in this instance). 
 

4. In taking on responsibility for the transferred section of the Ashby Canal, the 
ACA will take on all ongoing and future liabilities for the upkeep, maintenance 
and future development of the section to be transferred.   

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

 
5. It is anticipated that the Statutory Instrument transferring the section of the 

Ashby Canal Transport and Works Act Order 2005 (TWAO) from the County 

97 Agenda Item 7



Council to the ACA will be considered by Parliament in autumn 2021 (the date 
is still to be confirmed). 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
6. In September 2019, the Cabinet approved the submission of an application to 

the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for consent 
to transfer powers under the TWAO to the ACA, to enable the ACA to take on 
a section of Ashby Canal between Snarestone and Measham. The Cabinet 
authorised the Director to agree terms and conditions for the transfer of the 
ownership of land from the Council to the ACA, complete the transfer of the 
land and powers under the TWAO, and to allocate funding for interim support 
to the ACA in taking on ownership of the section of the canal. 

 

Resource Implications   
 

7. The ongoing Ashby Canal maintenance budget is £40,000 per annum capital 
and £24,300 revenue. Should the TWAO transfer be approved by Parliament, 
the County Council will retain circa 42% by length of the Ashby Canal and 
circa 58% will transfer to the ACA. 
 

8. The proposed funding of £1.1m is to cover all future maintenance costs 
associated with the stretch of canal to be transferred to the ACA, including the 
repair of ongoing seepage and the construction of new stop gates at 
Snarestone. Funding requirements in excess of the proposed allocation will 
need to be covered by the ACA. The full amount is not provided for in the 
current Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-25.  
 

9. The £1.1m is inclusive of the statutory funding that LCC will be required to 
transfer to the ACA when the TWAO transfer is approved by Parliament.  The 
final value of the statutory funding element will be calculated on the date of 
the transfer (currently estimated to be circa £94,500) and will be met from 
existing Ashby Canal capital and revenue budgets.  More details on the 
maintenance funding options are given in Part B of this report. 
 

10. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and 
Governance have been consulted in the preparation of this report.  
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

11. This report has been sent to Mr. R. Ashman CC as the member for the Forest 
and Measham division. 
 

Officers to Contact  
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel: 0116 305 7000   Email: ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk 
 

Vicky Cormie 
Head of Service, Environment and Waste Commissioning 
Tel:  0116 305 7291    Email: vicky.cormie@leics.gov.uk  

98

mailto:ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:vicky.cormie@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background  
 
12. Since 1994, the County Council has led on the restoration of the Ashby Canal, 

which was closed in 1966 due to mining subsidence. The last significant 
section (500m) was restored in 2014/15 from Snarestone to the new Bridge 
62, costing around £1.1m and was funded through a Section 106 (developer) 
contribution. 
 

13. The ACA is a Registered Charity and a Company Limited by Guarantee 
established in 1966 to promote the restoration of the Ashby Canal. In 
September 2019, the Cabinet agreed that the ACA, as a charity with the sole 
purpose of restoring and promoting the Ashby Canal, might be better placed 
than the Council to secure funding for the canal’s ongoing restoration and 
approved the submission of an application to the Secretary of State for the 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for consent to transfer powers under the 
Transport and Works Act Order 2005 (TWAO) to the ACA with regard to the 
section between Snarestone and Measham.   
 

14. If the transfer of the TWAO is approved by Parliament, the County Council will 
retain a section of the Ashby Canal line at Measham and a section of the 
watered canal at Moira. The TWAO transfer passes any ongoing benefits or 
liabilities associated with the section of the canal to be transferred to the ACA.   
 

15. When a canal is transferred, it is usual for there to be a maintenance 
undertaking or a financial dowry payment from the transferer to the transferee. 
 

Maintenance Funding Options 
   

16. The options considered included: 
 

a. Transfer without maintenance funding:  this option was discounted 
as it is highly unlikely that the ACA would accept the transfer of the 
canal without maintenance funding.  It is considered unreasonable to 
propose a transfer without maintenance funding as there are ongoing 
maintenance liabilities associated the section to be transferred.   
 

b. Transfer with maintenance funding: the ACA would receive from the 
Council a payment of £1.1m to cover all future maintenance costs 
associated with the stretch of canal transferring to the ACA.  The 
maintenance funding could be paid either as a lump sum or in a 
number of increments linked to a programme of works. 

 
i. Lump Sum: In light of the Council’s obligation to ensure the 

financial stewardship of public funds and the value of payment 
to be made, this option has a number of associated risks.  
However, the ACA have expressed a preference for receiving a 
lump sum and there are benefits linked to reduced ongoing 
administration.  

99



ii. Funded programme of works: The funds would be released to 
the ACA in line with a programme of works, to be agreed 
between the Council and the ACA.  This option would mitigate 
some of the risks associated with a lump sum payment but could 
extend the Council’s involvement in this section of the Ashby 
Canal for a significant period of time and would have an 
increased administrative burden for both parties.  
 

17. It is considered that option b(ii) above is the most preferable as it will provide 
the ACA with sufficient funds to effectively manage any future canal 
maintenance requirements and will mitigate some of the risks associated with 
a lump sum payment.  Subject to the Cabinet’s approval, the Director of 
Environment and Transport, in consultation with the Director of Law and 
Governance and the Director of Corporate Resources will agree payment 
terms and enter into a funding agreement with the ACA.   
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
18. There are no equality or human rights implications arising from this report.  

 
Appendix 
 
Ashby Canal Land Transfer Plan 
 
Background Papers 

 
Report to the Cabinet on 13 September 2019 - Potential Transfer of Part of the 
Ashby Canal and minutes of that meeting (minute 311) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5605&Ver=4  
 
 

100

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5605&Ver=4


Not to Scale @ A3 Portrait
by Vanessa Hughes

August 2021

Potential Land Transfer
Ashby Canal, Measham

Strategic Property Services
Corporate Resources Department
County Hall, Glenfield.
Leicester. LE3 8RE

Reproduced from an Ordnance Survey map with the 
permission of the Controller of HMSO 
® Crown Copyright.  Leicestershire County Council 
Licence number 100019271

Land to be transferred to ACA

Rights for construction and maintenance
to be transferred to ACA

TO DONISTHORPE

MOVEABLE BRIDGE

SWINGBRIDGE

WHARF

HIGH STREET AQUEDUCT

EXISTING HORSES
LANE BRIDGE

WINTER STORAGE
LAKE

GALLOWS LANE
HIGHWAY BRIDGE

ILOTT WHARF

GILWISKAW BROOK
AQUEDUCT

ACCOMMODATION BRIDGE 62

START OF
ASHBY CANAL

EXISITING ASHBY
CANAL

TURNOVER BRIDGE 61

OVERFLOW WEIR

F:\GIS\Asset Man\AshbyCanalCPO\2021\Potential Land Transfer Ashby Canal v4

SWING BRIDGE 61A

101



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

INTERIM COALVILLE TRANSPORT STRATEGY 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the outcome of the 

engagement on the draft interim Coalville Transport Strategy (ICTS) and to seek 
approval to adopt the ICTS. 

 
Recommendation 
 
2. It is recommended that: 
 

(a) The responses to the engagement on the draft Interim Coalville Transport 
Strategy (ICTS), as set out in paragraphs 57 to 60 and summarised in 
Appendix A to the report, be noted; 
 

(b) The ICTS, attached as Appendix B to the report, be approved. 
 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
3. Significant traffic congestion in Coalville has affected the lives of its residents, the 

efficiency of its businesses and its ability to grow. Having a transport strategy for 
Coalville remains vital to addressing the town’s existing traffic problems, supporting 
its continued growth and achieving wider objectives, including in respect of the 
environment. 

 
4. The ICTS will ensure that the County Council, as the local Highway Authority 

(LHA), is using the most up-to-date evidence and information when seeking 
developer contributions, providing highways advice to North West Leicestershire 
District Council (NWLDC) and supporting the District Council with any highway 
related planning appeals. 

 
5. The ICTS will help to provide a transparent framework for determining decisions on 

transport priorities, ensuring co-ordination of investment and support NWLDC’s 
Local Plan. Any delay in adopting the ICTS could potentially impact on securing 
developer contributions towards highway infrastructure in NWLDC to support the 
local growth agenda. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

103 Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

 
6. Subject to approval, the ICTS will be published on the County Council’s website. 
 
7. It is currently anticipated that a further report concerning the A511 Growth Corridor 

scheme, which forms a key part of the ICTS, will be considered by the Cabinet later 
in 2021. 

 
8. The development of the final CTS is expected to be completed in 2023/24. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
9. In March 2011 the County Council approved the third Leicestershire Local 

Transport Plan (LTP3). This contains six strategic transport goals. Goal 1 is to have 
a transport system that supports a prosperous economy and provides successfully 
for population growth. The LTP3 sets out the County Council’s approach to 
achieving this, namely, to improve the management of the road network and 
continuing to address congestion issues. 

 
10. The Enabling Growth Action Plan, approved by the Cabinet in March 2015, 

identifies the A511 Coalville Growth Corridor as a priority for the County Council. In 
September 2015 the Cabinet considered a report on the review of the Medium-
Term Financial Strategy and Investment Proposals and agreed areas for 
investment, including £2 million to enable the modelling and advanced design of 
highways infrastructure schemes, including in and around Coalville. In November 
2015 the Cabinet prioritised development of a package of infrastructure to deliver 
growth in Coalville concentrating on the A511 and Bardon Link Road. 

 
11. In November 2018 the Cabinet approved the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP), which 

provides an agreed local framework for considering the longer-term needs of the 
area. Coalville was identified as an ‘Area of Managed Growth in Local Plans’, 
recognised as being under intense pressure for development and having made 
substantial provision within, and on the edges of, the existing town. Much of this 
has still to be built and is dependent upon new local infrastructure.  

 
12. In March 2019, the Cabinet approved the development of a package of measures 

along the A511/A50 corridor (‘A511 Growth Corridor’) and agreed that this should 
be the Council’s priority for bidding for Major Road Network (MRN) funding in the 
period 2020 to 2025. In November 2019, the Cabinet approved the commitment of 
further resources and actions to take forward delivery of the A511 Growth Corridor 
scheme.  

 
13. In June 2020 the Cabinet considered the outcome of study work and the 

implications that this had for taking forward the ongoing development and delivery 
of the CTS and for NWLDC’s ‘Coalville Contribution Strategy’. It resolved, inter-alia, 
that the County Council works with NWLDC to produce a formal Coalville Transport 
Strategy document. 

 
14. In November 2020, the Leicester, and Leicestershire Strategic Transport Priorities 

(LLSTP) document was approved by the Cabinet. It supports the proposals set out 
in the SGP, identifies delivery of the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme as a key 
priority for supporting growth in North West Leicestershire. 

104



 

 
 

 
15. In March 2021 the Cabinet considered a report on the A511 Growth Corridor 

proposals, including the Bardon Link Road in Coalville.  
 
16. In June 2021, the Cabinet considered a report on the National Bus Strategy (‘Bus 

Back Better’) and national guidance on developing Bus Service Improvement 
Plans, whilst in July 2021 the Cabinet approved the Cycling and Walking Strategy. 
Work to develop passenger transport and walking and cycling in the Coalville area, 
which are key elements of the ICTS, will be developed in line with these strategies.  

 
Resource Implications 
 
17. Since its inception, it has been expected that the Coalville Transport Strategy would 

be delivered through a mixture of public and private (developer) funding. 
 
18. A bid has been made to the Department for Transport (DfT) for Major Road 

Network (MRN) funding for the A511 Growth Corridor scheme, which is a major 
component of the ICTS. The bid is on the basis of a total estimated scheme cost of 
£49m, of which £42m is expected to be met from MRN funding and the remaining 
£7m represents the local contribution requirement, e.g. found from developer 
contributions. However, the scheme estimate is currently under review; factors such 
as significant construction materials’ cost inflation mean that the estimated cost is 
likely to increase. The MRN scheme will be subject to a further report to the Cabinet 
later this year.  

 
19. The ICTS sets out how the County Council will develop plans for complementary (to 

the MRN scheme) highway, passenger transport, and active travel schemes to 
develop the full CTS, and how A511 MRN Growth Corridor will be funded and 
delivered while this work is ongoing.  

 
20. The complementary highway schemes include the A511/Smisby Road roundabout, 

A511/Nottingham Road roundabout, A511/A42 Junction 13, Copt Oak Crossroads 
and A511/M1 Junction 22 and these have been provisionally costed at a total of 
between £25m to £30m; work will continue to refine the proposals. Officers are 
currently liaising with NWLDC with regard to work that it is doing to develop cycling 
and walking proposals; proposals for passenger transport enhancements will be 
linked with work on the development of a Bus Service Improvement Plan for 
Leicestershire (under the National Bus Strategy).  

 
21. NWLDC has no plans to refresh its 2013 “Section 106 (S106) policy for the delivery 

of infrastructure in Coalville” (the Policy). As reported to the Cabinet last June, this 
is due to the impact of Covid-19 on the development market going forward. As 
Planning Authority NWLDC considered it unwise to be suggesting any increases in 
the current circumstances. 

 
22. In respect of S106 contributions, it is still anticipated that a potential of £20m will 

ultimately be secured based on ‘current’ developments. How much of this might be 
required to support delivery of the MRN scheme and how much might be available 
to support delivery of complementary schemes will be subject to the outcomes of 
the cost estimate review referred to above. 

 

105



 

 
 

23. The ICTS will be delivered incrementally, as opposed to all at once. Going forward 
the County Council will continue to pursue Government funding opportunities where 
affordable (as has already been the case with Growth Deal monies and National 
Productivity Investment Fund monies previously secured to deliver improvements 
along the A511 Growth Corridor, and with the current MRN bid); will seek 
developers to deliver improvements; and seek to secure other developer 
contributions that are beyond the scope of the Policy based on the ICTS and Local 
Plan policies. Having the ICTS in place will strengthen the Authority’s position in 
securing S106 contributions. 

 
24. With regard to the Local Plan, NWLDC has recently commenced work to develop a 

new Plan. Should the new Plan allocate further housing growth to Coalville, this 
would provide new opportunities to secure S106 contributions, increasing the 
potential total beyond the anticipated £20m based on ‘current’ developments. 

 
25. The levels of funding secured (from Government or developers) will continue to be 

monitored and kept under review so that a clear understanding of any funding 
shortfall for delivery of the overall ICTS is maintained. Likewise, officers will 
continue to work closely with NWLDC to understand the viability of development 
sites going forward post pandemic. Such variables will inform future reviews of the 
level of contributions to be sought under the Policy.  
 

26. The costs of developing the ICTS (including the engagement exercise) have been 
funded from within Environment and Transport budgets.  

 
27. The Director of Corporate Resources and Director of Law and Governance have 

been consulted on the content of this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
This report has been circulated to members representing the electoral divisions 
that are affected by the proposals 
 
Mr. J. G. Coxon CC, Mr. T. Gillard CC, Mr. D. Harrison CC, Mr. T. Pendleton CC, Mr. N. J. 
Rushton CC, Mr. R. Ashman CC, Mr. C. A. Smith CC, Mr. K. Merrie CC 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers - Director 
Environment and Transport 
Tel:   (0116) 305 7000 
Email:  ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk 
 
Janna Walker - Acting Assistant Director, Development and Growth 

Environment and Transport 
Tel: (0116) 305 0785 

Email: janna.walker@leics.gov.uk 

106

mailto:ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:janna.walker@leics.gov.uk


 

 
 

PART B 

 
Background 
 
28. Congestion on the A511 has been a longstanding issue recognised by both 

NWLDC and the County Council. In 2008 studies were commissioned jointly 
between the County Council and NWLDC to aid understanding of the causes of the 
traffic problems in and around Coalville and Ashby and identify measures required 
to enable the area’s continued strategic growth. This work is what was originally 
referred to as the ‘Coalville Transport Strategy (CTS)’, albeit no actual strategy 
document was ever produced at that time. 

 
29. Since work on the  original CTS was undertake, circumstance have evolved; 

improvements have been delivered in the A511 corridor, including at M1 J22 and 
A42 J13; proposals for growth in North West Leicestershire have continued to 
develop, including additional (in comparison to 2008) housing growth in and around 
Coalville and Ashby; and the development of the A511 Growth Corridor MRN 
project. 

 
30. In the light of evolving circumstances, a report was considered by the Cabinet in 

June 2020 which set out the results of work to refresh the evidence base for the 
CTS and to revisit its content. The ICTS document that has been developed 
reflects the outcomes of the evidence base refresh. 

 
The ICTS document  
 
31. The final CTS will ultimately consist of a suite of four complementary documents, 

rather than one stand-alone document. Each document will focus on a specific 
aspect of Coalville’s transport network: 

 
a) The A511 (MRN) Growth Corridor 
b) Complementary highway schemes, such as junction improvements 
c) Passenger transport, including buses and trains 
d) Active travel, including walking and cycling 

 
32. Until the whole suite of documents is developed (expected in 2023/24), the 

individual components will be referred to as the ‘Interim Coalville Transport 
Strategy’ (ICTS).  

 
33. The ICTS document, appended as Appendix B, focuses primarily on the MRN 

project and the importance of its delivery to the enabling of growth in the A511 
corridor. In respect of the other components, the document sets out the following:  

 
ICTS – Complementary Highway Schemes 

 
34. The complementary highway schemes will be developed for more detailed 

assessment, so that preferred options can be identified for each location. Where 
appropriate, the preferred options will then be taken through a design and business 
case process to identify their overall priority within Leicestershire, identify funding 
sources (e.g. external funding pots, developer contributions), and secure funding 

107



 

 
 

and a place in the construction programme. Consultation exercises will be 
undertaken as part of any scheme development. 

 
35. The ICTS also sets out how the council will continue to refine proposals for a 

number of complementary schemes including: 
 

 A511/A42 Junction 13 
 A511/M1 Junction 22 
 A511/Smisby Road roundabout 
 A511/Nottingham Road roundabout 
 Copt Oak Crossroads 

 
36. Initial focus will primarily be on developing the options for the M1 Junction 13 and 

M1 Junction 22. Work to develop the remaining junctions will continue. 
 

ICTS – Passenger Transport 
 
37. The existing policy document for delivering passenger transport services in 

Leicestershire is the Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy (PTPS). In March 
2021, the Government published ‘Bus Back Better’, a strategy aimed at 
revolutionising road passenger transport provision in England. As part of this 
strategy, all local authorities will be required to review their passenger transport 
services and publish a Bus Improvement Plan. 

 
38. Work to develop passenger transport proposals to support growth in and around 

the Coalville urban area will be carried out in line with the Council’s existing PTPS 
and the emerging Bus Improvement Plan, which is currently being consulted on.  

 
39. At present the ICTS makes only a limited reference to the reopening of the 

Leicester to Burton Line to passenger traffic, noting that the County Council will 
continue to work with and support the Campaign for the Reopening of the Ivanhoe 
Line (CRIL) as it continues to develop the case for the Line’s reopening. The ICTS 
will be reviewed as appropriate so as to align with how the proposals for reopening 
the Line might move forward. Additionally, short to medium term investment in 
highway infrastructure that removes potential barriers to housing growth in Coalville 
and Ashby may help to bolster the case to reopen the Line - more houses equates 
to great levels of population, thereby increasing potential levels of demand for a rail 
service between Leicester and Burton. 

 
ICTS – Active Travel 

 
40. The Cabinet approved the Council’s Cycling and Walking Strategy (CaWS) in July 

2021. The Council will continue to work with district councils to develop Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) for each district over the next 
five years. The ICTS reflects the work being undertaken with district partners to 
develop cycling and walking proposals. 

 
41. Separately, NWLDC is developing its own LCWIP, which will include proposals for 

Coalville. The County Council will engage with NWLDC through this process to 
offer appropriate support and advice.  

 

108



 

 
 

42. The NWLDC LCWIP is due to be published by the end of 2021. The County Council 
will work closely with NWLDC when developing its own NWL / Coalville Urban Area 
LCWIP, with a view to building on, and/or incorporating, the District Council’s 
adopted LCWIP in the full CTS.     

 
43. Further work is required to develop proposals for complementary highway 

schemes, passenger transport and active travel, before these can be formalised as 
part of the CTS suite of documents. This work will be reliant on further partnership 
working and the County Council will continue to engage with relevant stakeholders 
as each of these documents is developed. 

 
44. The work to date will inform the development of the full Coalville Transport 

Strategy, which is expected to be published, following approval of the Cabinet, in 
2023/24. However, the timing and order of this work will depend upon the outcome 
of the DfT MRN Growth Funding bid and NWLDC planning application decisions. 

 
Other Rail Considerations 

 
45. Final details on the development of HS2 in Leicestershire are yet to be announced 

by Government. Should approval be given for the proposed route, HS2 will impact 
on the A511 corridor. Initially, these will be transient impacts associated with a 
temporary compound and railhead, both to be accessed from the A511, during 
construction of the Phase 2 route. This will lead to a significant increase in HGV 
traffic on the A511 during the construction period.  

 
46. Once the line opens, the A511 will form part of the route for traffic travelling from 

Coalville to access the East Midlands HS2 station. This is likely to have particular 
impacts on peak hour congestion as a result of people travelling to work at the new 
station and associated developments, as well as people travelling to the station to 
catch a train to Leeds or London. 

 
Engagement 
 
47. Engagement with stakeholders is an important part of the process for developing 

new strategies. It helps to ensure that the Authority takes account of customer 
expectations and delivers the most appropriate service levels, consistent with the 
budget available.  

 
48. The draft ICTS utilises evidence and views gathered during the development of 

various strategies and plans, including the Strategic Growth Plan, North West 
Leicestershire District Council’s Local Plan, the County Council’s Strategic Plan 
and Local Transport Plan and the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Transport 
Priorities (LLSTP) document. Comprehensive consultation took place in 2020 
during the development of the LLSTP. Where appropriate, the feedback from 
consultations on these documents helped steer development of the ICTS. 
Legislation, guidance, best practice, evidence, and data etc have also been 
considered when developing the draft ICTS. 

 
49. In addition, the A511 Growth Corridor (which as previously explained is a key 

component of the ICTS but is being taken forward separately) was subject to 
separate consultation in2019. 

109



 

 
 

Overview of the exercise 
 
50. The ‘light touch’ engagement on the draft ICTS was held from 5 July to 2 August 

2021. There was targeted engagement with the public, County Council members, 
parish councils and communities. The district council also shared details of the 
engagement and the Coalville Times was advised of the engagement. 

 
51. The “have your say” section of Leicestershire County Council’s website provided an 

opportunity for people to provide their views on the transport plan for the town and 
surrounding area.  

  
52. The engagement materials consisted of the draft ICTS document and people were 

asked to send their views via email or post. Hard copies of documents were 
available on request.  

 
53. The engagement exercise asked for people’s views on the interim Strategy, 

including: 
 

 its scope 
 the challenges it presented  
 the prioritisation of highways and transport projects 
 the strategy for complementary highways’ schemes, passenger transport and 

active travel 
 
54. The webpage also explained that once the engagement exercise had closed, views 

would be analysed and proposals reviewed.  
 
55. The specific aims of the engagement were to: 
 

 establish the level of public support for the Strategy 

 inform the overall approach to addressing traffic and transport issues  

 inform the further development of proposals for complementary highway 
schemes, passenger transport and active travel. 

 
56. As specific schemes/initiatives identified within the ICTS are developed, further 

engagement will be undertaken. The Authority will continue to take an evidence-based 
approach to maximise benefits for the people of Coalville and the surrounding area. 

 
Engagement Responses - Overview 

 
57. A total of four responses were received from members of the public. A summary of the 

responses can be found at Appendix A accompanied by detailed officer responses.  
 

58. Three of the four comments received stated that the ICTS did not address cycling, 
walking and passenger transport infrastructure requirements. The officer response 
confirmed that the ICTS does address the issue of active travel infrastructure, but as 
an interim document its focus is on the A511 MRN Growth Corridor. Such 
requirements will be identified as part of the NWLDC’s Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan, which will set out plans to make cycling and walking more 

110



 

 
 

attractive and increase travel by these modes. Once the LCWIP has been developed 
this will be incorporated in an updated version of the CTS.  

 
59. The other comment received queried the scale of the issues identified in the ICTS and 

the need to make considerably more changes to road infrastructure or reduce the 
levels of growth. The officer response confirmed that the need for and benefits of the 
schemes proposed in the ICTS have been thoroughly tested and evidenced as part of 
the proposal development. It is considered that the scale of infrastructure 
requirements are in line with the growth proposals for the area.   

 
60. Given the high-level nature of the comments received and that no fundamental 

objections to the Strategy were received, no changes have been made to the ICTS.  
 
Conclusion 
 
61. The ICTS is a high-level strategic document that sets out transport aspirations to meet 

the challenge of economic and housing growth in Coalville and its surrounding area. 
More detail about specific schemes, initiatives, and development etc sits or will sit 
beneath the Strategy. Whilst work on COVID-19 transport recovery continues, it is not 
possible to predict its longer-term impact on transport use and on wider societal 
behaviours. As knowledge and understanding progress, the ICTS and final CTS will 
be reviewed and, where appropriate revised, to reflect this evidence.  

 
62. There are no fundamental reasons to abandon and/or pause the development of the 

ICTS because of the responses received from the engagement.  
 
63. The publication of the ICTS is a starting point. The county council will continue to work 

with stakeholders and partners to develop and deliver the highways and transportation 
and other infrastructure measures required to enable Coalville’s long-term growth 
within the wider financial constraints of the Authority. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications  
 
64. The Equality Act 2010 requires the Authority to have due regard to the need to 

eliminate discrimination and to promote equality of opportunity between different 
protected groups. 

 
65. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening has been 

completed. This identified an overall neutral/positive impact from the ICTS. A full 
EHRIA was not therefore required. A separate EHRIA is being undertaken for the 
A511 Growth Corridor scheme. 

 
66. The Strategy and schemes will continue to be developed, focussing on providing 

the greatest benefit. The Council will seek to ensure that specific infrastructure and 
services are planned effectively, including possible alternative methods of transport 
and/or priority for specific groups, to make certain that any negative impacts are 
considered, and infrastructure and services are planned effectively. 

 
67. Where appropriate, separate Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments will 

be completed as specific schemes are developed. The Council will continue to 
communicate, engage and/or consult on schemes, where appropriate, so that the 

111



 

 
 

needs of communities can be considered during the schemes development and any 
negative impacts can be mitigated.  

 
Environmental Impact  
 
68. NWLDC have identified four Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA’s) in NWL, with 

one on Stephenson Way/Broomleys Road, Coalville up to its junction with the 
A511.  

 
69. The ICTS and subsequent schemes will be informed by the Council’s Environment 

Strategy, Carbon Reduction Road Map, Strategic Plan, and national policies, 
ensuring that environmental and climate change commitments are an integral part 
of proposals. 

 
70. There are currently no environmental implications arising from this report. 

Environmental Impact Assessments will be completed as specific schemes are 
developed, where appropriate. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Local Transport Plan (2011 - 2026) 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-maintenance/local-transport-plan 

 
Report to the Cabinet on 29 March 2019:  Environment and Transport 2019/20 Highways 
Capital Programme and Highways Transportation Work Programme 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5601 

 
Submission of an outline business case to Government for funding for the A511 MRN 
Growth Corridor improvements in January 2020 
A511 MRN Growth Corridor Outline Business Case 

 
Report to the Cabinet on 23 June 2020: Coalville Transport Strategy 
http://cexmodgov1.ad.leics.gov.uk:9075/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5996&Ver=4  

 
Report to the Cabinet on 20 November 2020: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Transport Priorities 2020 to 2050 
http://cexmodgov1.ad.leics.gov.uk:9075/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5999&Ver=4  

 
Report to the Cabinet on 23 March 2021: A511 Growth Corridor Proposals – Bardon Link 
Road 
http://cexmodgov1.ad.leics.gov.uk:9075/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6441&Ver=4  

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Engagement comments and responses 

Appendix B  - Final Interim Coalville Transport Strategy 

112

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-maintenance/local-transport-plan
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5601
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2020/3/24/A511-MRN-Outline-Business-Case.pdf
http://cexmodgov1.ad.leics.gov.uk:9075/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5996&Ver=4
http://cexmodgov1.ad.leics.gov.uk:9075/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5999&Ver=4
http://cexmodgov1.ad.leics.gov.uk:9075/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6441&Ver=4


Appendix A: Interim Coalville Transport Strategy – Comments Received and Officer Responses 
 

Comment 
No 

Page 
No. 

ICTS 
Text 

Comment Response 

1 N/A General Whilst the document makes some limited reference to 
active travel and public transport, the bulk of the 
document seems to focus on road programmes, with 
the aim of improving traffic flow. 
 
Surely the emphasis and main infrastructure 
expenditure should be aimed at making it harder to 
use cars for short journeys and much more pleasant 
and safe to cycle, walk or take a bus? Why spend 
money improving roads and making it easier for 
people to drive? This simply encourages the 1mile 
school run or trip to the supermarket. 

As explained in the ICTS, this is an interim 
document and only covers one part of the 
overall strategy (the A511 MRN Growth 
Corridor).  
 
We are working to develop the other parts 
of the strategy, which will focus on 
encouraging travel by passenger transport, 
cycling, and walking. However, we will still 
need to improve road infrastructure to 
accommodate traffic growth in the 
medium-term, facilitate travel by 
passenger transport and private car for 
those who have no other option, and keep 
the roads safe for those travelling by active 
travel modes. 
 
NWLDC also are in the process of 
developing their Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP), which will set 
out their plans to make walking and cycling 
more attractive and increase travel by 
these modes. We will engage with NWLDC 
as they develop this document. LCC will 
be developing LCWIPs for the whole of 
Leicestershire (exc. Leicester City) in due 
course. 
 

2 N/A General Cycling improvements on A511 Some cycling improvements are included 
in the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme. 

113



Appendix A: Interim Coalville Transport Strategy – Comments Received and Officer Responses 
 

Further cycling improvements will be 
considered through the Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plans, as well as 
future work to develop the Cycling and 
Walking elements of the full Coalville 
Transport Strategy. 
 

3 
 
 
 
 

N/A General Is there any reason why they project is so small as the 
work you are carrying it will not improve anything. 
There is no problem with the flow of traffic just the 
roads are unable to take the amount of traffic on them. 
 
You need to make all lot more changes or stop 
building. 

The ICTS only covers one part of the 
overall strategy (the A511 MRN Growth 
Corridor). The need for and benefits of this 
scheme have been thoroughly tested and 
evidenced as part of the scheme 
development. 
 
We have published a summary of the 
benefits of the scheme on our website. 
More detailed information can be found in 
the Outline Business Case which we 
published as part of our bid for funding 
from the Department for Transport.  
 
Wider changes to the highway network 
and improvements to encourage greater 
travel by passenger transport, walking and 
cycling will be considered as we develop 
the remaining parts of the full Coalville 
Transport Strategy. 
 

4 N/A General Asks about proposals for Cyclists in the area as 
current level of cycle paths is poor 

Some cycling improvements are included 
in the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme. 
Further cycling improvements will be 
considered through the Local Cycling and 

114

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-maintenance/a511-growth-corridor-scheme
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2020/3/24/A511-MRN-Outline-Business-Case.pdf


Appendix A: Interim Coalville Transport Strategy – Comments Received and Officer Responses 
 

Walking Infrastructure Plans, as well as 
future work to develop the Cycling and 
Walking elements of the full Coalville 
Transport Strategy. 
 
NWLDC also are in the process of 
developing their Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP), which will set 
out their plans to make walking and cycling 
more attractive and increase travel by 
these modes. We will engage with NWLDC 
as they develop this document. 

 

115



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Interim Coalville 
Transport Strategy

117

mhand_1
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX B



Contents

Foreword 3

1. Introduction 4
1.1 What is the Coalville Transport Strategy (CTS) ? 4
1.2 The CTS refresh 4
1.3 ICTS structure  5
1.4 COVID-19 statement  6

2. Scope of the CTS 7
2.1 The CTS geographical area  7
2.2 Infrastructure scope  7

3. Challenges 8
3.1 Government focus on economic growth and housing  8
3.2 Existing transport challenges 9
3.3 Future growth challenges  10
3.4 Challenges associated with HS2 Phase Two  11

4. Previous work 12
4.1 Work done to date 12
4.2 Work to refresh the CTS  13
4.3 Schemes  14

5. Prioritisation 15
5.1 Why is the A511 MRN Growth Corridor top priority? 15
5.2 Prioritisation of complementary highway schemes not included in the 15 

A511 MRN Growth Corridor.

6. The A511 MRN Growth Corridor Scheme 16
6.1 How the scheme was developed  16
6.2 Scheme objectives  16
6.3 Scheme description 17

7. Funding the MRN Growth Corridor Scheme 18
7.1 Major Road Network investment programme  18
7.2 Developer contributions 19

8. Strategy for complementary highway schemes, passenger  21  
transport and active travel
8.1  Complementary highway schemes  21
8.2  Passenger transport 21
8.3  Active travel  22

9. Next steps 23
9.1 Next steps for the A511 MRN Growth Corridor 23
9.2 Next steps for the wider Coalville Transport Strategy 23

Appendix A 24

118



3Foreword

Foreword

Modern-day traffic congestion is a blight on all our lives - and I know this is 

particularly keenly felt in Coalville. That is why the County Council has developed 

an interim Coalville Transport Strategy (ICTS) and we recently sought the views of 

the public on this during a four-week engagement exercise. Most of the evidence 

and proposals set out in the strategy are based on pre-COVID-19 assumptions and 

it’s important to stress that the fundamental requirement for this strategy document 

doesn’t change as a result of the pandemic. However, what we will be doing is 

reviewing any potential, longer-term societal and economic changes which emerge. 

The document confirms that significant changes to transport infrastructure are required to support the 

growth identified by NWLDC in and around Coalville. The interim strategy is particularly relevant to the 

development of a package of improvement schemes along the A511, which has met the eligibility criteria to 

bid for Government funding. The junctions identified in the ICTS will need to form part of a wider package 

of measures to help address the town’s existing traffic problems, support the growth of the town and to 

achieve wider objectives, including environmental improvements. 

The interim strategy provides a clear framework for putting these other measures in place, by setting  

out the key areas we intend to explore in more detail during the next phase of work to develop the  

strategy, including:

• Proposals for improving the walking and cycling network; 

• Identify future opportunities for passenger transport

• Working with other parties to explore the potential of rail services in the area

The interim strategy also provides us with the evidence needed to secure developer contributions and other 

possible government funding to improve the town's transport network, now and in the future. During the 

public engagement on the draft ICTS, held during August 2021, we received feedback, which has been 

invaluable to completing the interim strategy and will continue to assist us during the next stage of work.  

I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone who took the time to respond.

Ozzy O’Shea

Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 

Leicestershire County Council

119



4 Introduction

1. Introduction

1.1 What is the Coalville Transport Strategy (CTS)?
Coalville is the principal town of the North West Leicestershire District. As such, it is identified by 

North West Leicestershire District Council (NWLDC) and Leicestershire County Council (LCC) as a 

key area for significant growth and regeneration in the period to 2031.

Significant transport infrastructure interventions will be required to support this growth. A Coalville 

Transport Strategy (CTS) was developed in 2008, with the aim of providing a co-ordinated 

approach to mitigating the impacts of development. The CTS focused on supporting known, 

planned growth by:

• identifying and prioritising interventions,

• ensuring that these are delivered in a co-ordinated fashion, and

• addressing issues of funding, particularly where third-party funding such as external 

Government funding or developer contributions will be required.

1.2 The CTS Refresh
In the time that has passed since the original CTS was developed, a number of works have been 

carried out in and around the Coalville area, including Local Growth Fund works at A42 junction 

13 (J13) and M1 junction 22 (J22); the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan has 

been published, setting out an ambitious growth agenda for the County; and the funding and 

policy contexts have moved on. As a result, LCC and NWLDC have agreed that the CTS should 

be refreshed, to ensure that it remains current and appropriate to facilitate growth in the Coalville 

area.

The refreshed CTS will be composed of a suite of documents, of which this is the first. Each 

document will focus on a specific aspect of Coalville’s transport network. These are:

1. The A511 Major Road Network (MRN) Growth Corridor (this document)

2. Complementary highway schemes (such as junction improvements)

3. Passenger transport, including buses and trains

4. Active travel, including walking and cycling

120



5Introduction

In 2018, the UK Government announced its Major Road Network (MRN) investment programme. 

Under this programme, local highway authorities can bid for a contribution of between £20 - 

£50million to deliver schemes that will alleviate traffic on routes which form part of the Major 

Road Network, including bypasses, widening, and major junction improvements.

A package of schemes which was identified as part of the 2013 CTS meets this eligibility criteria 

and has been developed into a bid for funding from the MRN investment programme. This 

package of schemes is known as the ‘A511 MRN Growth Corridor’. 

However, further work is required to develop proposals for complementary highway schemes, 

passenger transport and active travel, before these can be formalised as part of the CTS. This work 

will be reliant on further partnership working, and we shall engage with the relevant stakeholders 

as the detail of each element of the CTS is developed.

Therefore, this document will form an Interim strategy (ICTS), focusing on:

•  how we will fund and deliver the A511 MRN Growth Corridor

• how we will develop our plans for complementary highway schemes, passenger transport, and 

active travel and formalise these in the final CTS.

1.3 ICTS Structure
This interim document is structured as follows:

Chapter 2 - the scope of the ICTS 

Chapter 3 - the transport and growth challenges for Coalville 

Chapter 4 - the work which has been done to date 

Chapter 5 - the rationale behind the prioritisation of schemes, which has led to the A511 MRN 

Growth Corridor being identified as top priority

Chapter 6 - details of the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme

Chapter 7 - the funding strategy to support delivery of the scheme

Chapter 8 - strategy for complementary highway schemes, passenger transport, and active travel

Chapter 9 - next steps.

121



6 Introduction

1.4 COVID-19 statement
This document has been prepared during the outbreak of the COVID 19 pandemic and the 

profound societal, health and economic impacts it has had across the world. It is too early to say 

at this time what the pandemic’s long-term impacts might be on our society and for our economy. 

The County Council considers that the strategy set out in this document still provides an 

appropriate overall starting framework within which to move forward and support Coalville’s long-

term recovery and to meet the area’s long-term housing needs. It also recognises that the extent 

to which each measure might be implemented could be significantly influenced by many factors 

arising from the pandemic, including changes to Government policy and funding and in people’s 

behaviour. 

The County Council has developed a separate Covid-19 Transport Recovery plan, which sets out 

how we are seeking to mitigate the impact of the pandemic and aid recovery. This can be found 

on our website.

122

https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/cycling-and-walking/covid-19-approach-to-transport-recovery__;!!B5cixuoO7ltTeg!Q6zPvQlEGJ7PT-87rFo9Mf3RUVeKBQ_MK6SLLUfqGm3f2WEqZzrlV37fzEQIGMvGnA$


7Scope of the ICTS

2. Scope of the ICTS

2.1 The ICTS geographical area
The need for additional transport infrastructure and services to support growth in Coalville will 

largely arise as a result of private development. Therefore, as set out in Chapter 7, developer 

contributions are likely to be required to fund elements of the ICTS.

Circular 11/95 is the Government Policy document which governs the application and use of 

planning conditions, including developer contributions and obligations. This sets out six tests 

which conditions must meet in order to be considered lawful. One of these tests is that the 

conditions must be relevant to the development to be permitted.

This means that the geographical area covered by the ICTS is restricted to a radius within which 

developments are likely to have an impact on the transport infrastructure in and around the 

Coalville Urban Area and which is aligned to NWLDC’s Developer Contributions Strategy. 

It is important to note that this does not preclude contributions from sites outside of the ICTS 

geographical area, where these sites will have an impact on transport in and around the Coalville 

Urban Area.

2.2 Infrastructure scope
The CTS and ICTS will be limited to covering the need for, and funding/delivery of, new or 

improved transport infrastructure. This will include, but not be limited to, public highways, 

walking and cycling provision, and bus and rail infrastructure. 

It will not include routine maintenance of existing infrastructure or assets such as new rolling 

stock, or private roads which are not adopted by LCC as the local highway authority. It also will 

not include non-transport infrastructure.

123



8 Challenges

3. Challenges

3.1 Government focus on economic growth and housing
Economic growth has been a significant priority for the UK Government since 2011, when it 

published its Plan for Growth. The overall aim of the Plan for Growth was to set out proposals for 

the long-term growth of the UK economy, make the UK an attractive place to do business, and 

improve its global competitiveness. To achieve this, the Plan set targets for: 

• investment in strategic infrastructure, 

• improvements to the planning process to make it easier for new business developments to get 

planning permission, and 

• encouraging investment in housing.

As part of the work to increase housing availability, the Government set out a national target for 

one million new homes between 2015 and 2020. This included housing provided as a result of 

converting existing buildings, as well as new developments. The Autumn Budget in 2017 updated 

this to a target of 300,000 new homes per year by the mid-2020s.

These housing targets are translated into minimum annual local authority housing need and 

housing targets, using average household growth projections as a baseline and adjusted for 

affordability. The housing need for NWLDC is set out in section 3.3, below.

Since the 2011 Plan for Growth, the Government has published numerous detailed policies and 

strategies which reflect the level of priority which it places on economic growth. These include 

the Industrial Strategy, Clean Growth Strategy, and a review of the planning process. It has also 

released several funding programmes, such as the Local Growth Fund, Growth and Housing Fund, 

and Major Road Network investment programme, aimed at supporting investment in infrastructure 

to support new developments.

However, a Government review of housing supply in January 2021 found that provision of new 

housing nationally is still significantly below the 300,000/year target. According to the review, this 

is having a negative impact on businesses and stifling economic growth.

124



9Challenges

3.2 Existing transport challenges
Congestion on the A511 MRN Growth Corridor is a long-standing issue, which has been 

recognised by both NWLDC and LCC since 2008. It experiences high levels of congestion at 

several key junctions, leading to peak hour delays and poor journey time reliability. Speed limits on 

the A511 exceed 40mph for much of the route, but actual traffic speeds can be as low as 10mph. 

This peak-time congestion and the associated delays are a particular issue considering the high 

level of commuting into the district and the fact that predominant travel to work method is private 

car.

The A511 is a key north-west to south-east corridor, acting as an artery for freight movements as 

well as commuter traffic. Its good access to the Strategic Road Network (SRN) (A42 and M1) and, 

via that, the East Midlands Airport, attracts inward investment. There are currently a wide number 

of transport and logistics and industrial firms on the corridor, which is reflected in the high levels 

of employment in these sectors in local demographics. The existing levels of congestion on the 

corridor makes freight movement slower, less reliable, and more expensive. 

The congestion on the A511 MRN Growth Corridor can also impact on the reliability of passenger 

transport, affecting residents who are reliant on this mode to access amenities, key services such 

as health, employment and education, essential retail, leisure, and to meet with friends and 

family. 

Analysis of the area using the 2011 Census1 showed low levels of walking and cycling trips, 

compared to the national average, even on relatively short distance movements. As a result, LCC 

was able to obtain substantial funding from the Local Sustainable Transport Fund to improve 

walking and cycling provision throughout Leicestershire, including in the Coalville area. 

However, observations are that walking and cycling travel remains below what it could be, despite 

the A511 MRN Growth Corridor benefitting from adequate shared pavements over the majority of 

its length, which could be used for more active modes. This means that car travel is the preferred 

choice for short trips, contributing to congestion.

Complementary measures to support passenger transport and active travel will be detailed in 

future iterations of the CTS.

1 At the time of writing, the 2021 Census data is not yet available. We will review our understanding of 
active travel levels using this data as part of the work on the Walking and Cycling section of the full 
CTS, bearing in mind that the results of the Census are likely to have been affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic.

125



10 Challenges

3.3 Future growth challenges
The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (LLSGP) identifies Coalville as an area 

which is already under intense pressure from development. However, significant growth is planned 

for Coalville as part of the North West Leicestershire Local Plan 2011-2031. The Local Plan sets 

out a hierarchy of locations for housing and employment growth. As the principal town of the 

district, the Coalville Urban Area has been identified as the location for the largest amount of new 

development. This includes development to support the regeneration of the town centre. 

The Local Plan’s vision for Coalville is of a town that has grown significantly and benefitted from 

major investment in new infrastructure by 2031. 9,620 new dwellings are planned for the district 

between 2011 and 2031, of which 5,547 dwellings were built from 2011-2020.2 Of this, 

1,620 dwellings were built in the Coalville area. In total (as at April 2020) there was planning 

permission for about 4,300 dwellings in the Coalville Urban Area. 

This includes approximately 3,500 dwellings to be situated to the south-east of Coalville in a new 

Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE), upon which development has commenced in the last couple 

of years.

As set out in 3.2 above, Coalville has good access to the Leicestershire International Gateway, 

including East Midlands Airport, the East Midlands Gateway strategic rail freight terminal, and the 

proposed HS2 station at Toton. As a result, it is designated as an area of managed growth in the 

LLSGP, which also recognises the need for regeneration and infrastructure investment to support 

and sustain the benefits of this growth. 

In addition to growth in and around Coalville, there are significant potential employment 

opportunities associated with the East Midlands Gateway. North West Leicestershire aspires 

for these job opportunities to be accessible from Coalville by public transport and private car. 

Although the coronavirus pandemic highlighted the potential opportunities and benefits of home-

working, many of these jobs will be in sectors such as manufacturing and distribution, which 

cannot be done remotely.

The additional travel associated with this economic and housing growth will exacerbate the 

existing issues on the A511 corridor, as well as bringing its own additional challenges. The current 

issues with junction capacity and journey time reliability constrain the volume of development that 

can be delivered without causing gridlock on the network.

The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Transport Priorities (LLSTP) document, which was 

developed to support the proposals set out in the LLSGP, identifies development of this ICTS and 

delivery of the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme as key priorities for supporting growth in 

North West Leicestershire.

2 North West Leicestershire District Council Authority Monitoring Report 2019/20

126

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/authority_monitoring_report_201920/Authority%20Monitoring%20Report%202020.pdf


11Challenges

3.4 Challenges associated with HS2 Phase Two
HS2 Ltd will also bring impacts to the A511 corridor. Initially, these will be transient impacts 

associated with a temporary compound and railhead, both to be accessed from the A511, during 

construction of the Phase 2 route. This will lead to a significant increase in HGV traffic on the 

A511 during the construction period. 

Once the line opens, the A511 will form part of the route for traffic travelling from Coalville 

to access the East Midlands HS2 station. This is likely to have particular impacts on peak 

hour congestion as a result of people travelling to work at the new station and associated 

developments, as well as people travelling to the station to catch a train to Leeds or London.

127



12 Previous work

4. Previous work

4.1 Work done to date
In 2008 the County Council and NWLDC jointly commissioned studies to aid understanding of the 

causes of the traffic problems in and around Coalville and Ashby and identify measures required to 

enable the area’s continued strategic growth. 

In 2011, a further transport study was commissioned to look at the impacts of two Sustainable 

Urban Extensions and several smaller sites of up to 1,000 houses each, which were being 

promoted through the Local Development Framework Core Strategy.

The original CTS was developed in 2011 based on the work in these studies. This was comprised 

of a series of sustainable transport measures, junction improvements, and the building of a Bardon 

Relief Road to mitigate the projected growth to 2026. However, further work undertaken in 2012, 

identified that the likelihood of achieving public funding for a Bardon Relief Road was low, so the 

scheme was not progressed any further.

As a result, this proposal was amended to a Bardon Link Road, to provide some level of mitigation 

to support delivery of new housing south east of Coalville.3

The following junctions were included in the original CTS: 

• A42 Junction 13 Swannington Road Roundabout (‘Hoo Ash Roundabout’) 

• Thornborough Road Roundabout 

• Whitwick Road Roundabout 

• Broom Leys Road Crossroads 

• Bardon Road Roundabout (eastern end of Stephenson Way) (part of the Bardon Link Road) 

• Reg’s Way Roundabout (‘Birch Tree Roundabout’) 

• Beveridge Lane Roundabout / Stanton Lane Roundabout (‘Flying Horse Roundabout’)

• M1 Junction 22 

• Central Crossroads (‘Hugglescote Crossroads’) 

3 The Bardon Link Road was later removed as a planning obligation.

128



13Previous work

Further to this, in 2014, the Leicester and Leicestershire Local Enterprise Partnership secured 

Growth Deal funding towards delivery of improvements at M1 J22 and A42 J13. Until now, 

developer’s contributions have been sought and secured against this list. 

In 2016, SYSTRA Ltd were commissioned by LCC to develop a robust evidence base to support 

a series of transport schemes for the A511 Coalville Growth Corridor, in order to enable economic 

regeneration of the area and facilitate new housing and employment developments. 

This study:

• identified all of the necessary infrastructure to mitigate the cumulative impact of the known 

growth and regeneration aspirations in the district;

• ensured that the investment priorities to support growth in the Coalville area were understood; 

and

• identified the opportunities to prepare bids to fund all, or part of, the identified gap between 

expected developer/private sector contributions and the cost of the infrastructure.

The culmination of these pieces of work was the evolution of the A511 MRN scheme and 

identification of a series of additional schemes which will be required to support the known, 

planned growth in and around Coalville.

4.2 Work to refresh the CTS
In June 2020, LCC commissioned a further study to use Leicestershire’s Pan-Regional Transport 

Model (PRTM) to review and refresh the modelling work relating to the CTS. This study included 

consideration of the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme which developed from the results of the 

previous studies. 

This work reaffirmed the recommendations of the previous studies, including the finding that 

growth will be severely restricted without investment in the A511 corridor. Vehicle delay per 

kilometre during an average peak hour is expected to increase by over 40% between 2014 and 

2036. 

Significantly, the number of junctions in the area exceeding their design capacity is forecast to 

increase from 5 to 12 during this period. Many of these junctions are on key routes leading to 

the dispersion of traffic onto less desirable alternatives. This is forecast to increase local area 

congestion significantly with many minor routes, both urban and rural, being overtly exposed to 

‘rat-running’. 

A review of the proposed A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme showed that it effectively disperses 

the additional demand resulting from new developments, as well as mitigating existing congestion 

issues. This is characterised by a significant reduction in local ‘rat-running’ and cross-country 

routeing. Meanwhile, those junctions exceeding their design capacity are forecast to fall from 12 

to 7. 

129



14 Previous work

In addition, the Bardon Link Road is shown to provide traffic relief (in terms of future forecast 

levels) to the A511, Bardon Road section and to the ‘Hugglescote Crossroads’.

The outcomes of this recent study work corroborate the work done to develop the business case 

for the MRN project, demonstrating the scheme’s necessity in dealing with the impacts of growth 

in the area. However, it also demonstrates that it does not deal with all of the impacts. The study 

highlighted several junctions which will also require investment to mitigate growth impacts by 

2036, even after the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme has been fully implemented. Additional 

junctions will require capacity improvements if the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme is not 

implemented. 

Details of both sets of junctions are set out in section 4.3, below.

4.3 Schemes
4.4 The following junction improvements have been identified as necessary to mitigate the impacts of 

planned growth to 2036, in addition to the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme:

• A511, Ashby Bypass/Ashby Road

• A511, Ashby Bypass/Nottingham Road

• A511/A42 J13

• M1 J22

• B591/Warren Hills Road, Copt Oak

• B591/Whitwick Road, Copt Oak

4.5 If the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme is not implemented, then the following junctions 

(currently included in the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme) will also need to be improved:

• A511, Hoo Ash, Coalville

• A511/Flying Horse

• A511/Waterworks Road, Coalville/Bardon Link spur/Beveridge Lane

• Beveridge Lane/Whitehill Road, Ellistown

• Hugglescote crossroads

4.6 Appendix A shows the locations of these junctions and the relationship between those which were 

part of the original CTS, those which are included in the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme, and 

those which will need improvements if the scheme does not go ahead as planned.

130



15Prioritisation

5. Prioritisation

5.1 Why is the A511 MRN Growth Corridor top priority?
Major improvements to the A511 corridor were identified as a priority need through the work 

to develop the original CTS. This was re-affirmed during assessments of the transport impacts 

of growth proposals, including the North West Leicestershire Local Plan and the Leicester and 

Leicestershire Strategic Growth Priorities. 

These assessments identified that a package of improvements on the A511 corridor would 

provide “breathing space to implement a wider transport strategy for Coalville and the surrounding 

area to address localised traffic issues, public transport improvements and walking and cycling 

connectivity; building on the work done as part of the Local Sustainable Transport Fund” (A511 

MRN Growth Corridor Outline Business Case, Leicestershire County Council, January 2020).

The announcement of the MRN programme offered an opportunity to submit a bid for funding for 

the A511 improvements, in the form of the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme, which would 

enable these improvements to be delivered more quickly than would be possible without funding 

from central Government. 

5.2 Prioritisation of complementary highway schemes not included in the 
A511 MRN Growth Corridor
Initial options were developed for the junctions not included in the A511 MRN Growth Corridor 

scheme, as listed in section 4.3. These options, including a ‘do nothing’ scenario in which no 

changes would be made to the existing junctions, have been subjected to a high-level appraisal in 

line with Government guidance. In brief, the appraisals considered:

• Benefits of implementing the scheme for all road users, including pedestrians;

• Potential disbenefits of implementing the scheme;

• Safety implications; and

• Estimated costs

This appraisal has identified that A42 Junction 13 and M1 Junction 22 are the highest priority for 

improvements, once the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme has been delivered. Further work is 

required to develop a priority list for the remaining schemes.

131

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2020/3/24/A511-MRN-Outline-Business-Case.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2020/3/24/A511-MRN-Outline-Business-Case.pdf


16 The A511 MRN Growth Corridor Scheme

6. The A511 MRN Growth  
Corridor Scheme

6.1 How the scheme was developed
The A511 Growth Corridor MRN Growth Corridor scheme was developed in accordance with the 

national and regional criteria and guidance for MRN projects. This ensured that it provides the 

best value for money / strongest business case when assessed against those criteria as part of the 

Government’s assessment of bids for MRN funding, in addition to meeting the normal business 

case requirements for transport projects.

MRN schemes must:

• Reduce congestion

• Support economic growth and rebalancing

• Support housing delivery

• Support all road users (including cyclists, pedestrians, and disabled people), and

• Support the Strategic Road Network.

Schemes that are eligible for MRN funding include major junction improvements, road widening, 

and packages of measures.

There is significant overlap between the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme and the list of 

junctions which require improvement to mitigate against the impacts of growth. However, the 

A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme was not developed with the intention that it will deliver all of 

the measures required along the A511 corridor to support growth in Coalville.

6.2 Scheme objectives
The following scheme objectives have been identified. These incorporate the MRN funding 

requirements, as well as aligning with local and regional policy.

Objective 1 - Make journeys on the A511 faster and more reliable.

Objective 2 - Provide a safer road network, which is more resilient to road collisions.

Objective 3 - Improve reliability and capacity for freight along the A511 Growth Corridor.

Objective 4 - Support NWLDC’s objectives of facilitating growth by delivering transport 

infrastructure.

Objective 5 - Improve connectivity for all road users, with particular focus on vulnerable  

road users.

Objective 6 - Support the SRN by providing a reliable and resilient link to the M1 and A42.

Objective 7 - Improve air quality and traffic noise impacts along the corridor.

132



17The A511 MRN Growth Corridor Scheme

6.3 Scheme description
The A511 MRN Growth Corridor covers 15km of mainly single carriageway road, extending from 

the A50 Field Head junction (just west of the M1 Junction 22) to the A42 Junction 13 near 

Ashby-de-la-Zouch. 

The A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme is made up of capacity improvements at nine junctions 

and a link road between the A511 Bardon Road/Stephenson Way junction and the South East 

Coalville development.

A new section of highway, which extends southwards from the A511 Bardon Road into the south-

east Coalville SUE, will provide additional accessibility to and from the housing and employment 

sites planned for the SUE, while an internal spine road will provide connection towards Grange 

Road. A plan of the scheme is shown below.

6

5 

4 
3 

7
 

8
 

 

A42 

 

1Roundabout 

 
Improvement

 

2Roundabout  
Improvement 

Roundabout 
 

Improvement
 

Dual Carriageway  

Junction
 

Improvement
 

Roundabout Improvement 
and Link Road Extension  

9
  

Roundabout with 
Part Time Signals

 

 

Fully signalised Roundabout 
with Turning Restrictions

 

A511 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Roundabout 

 

Improvement

 

 

 

A447

A511

A511

M1

M1

Coalville

Bardon Hill Quarry

Industrial Estate

Proposed 
Housing

Development

This plan is for identification only and is 
subject to copyright. Please do not reprduce.

Areas to be considered
1 - Hoo Ash roundabout

2 - Thornborough Road roundabout

3 - Stephenson Way dualling

4 - Whitwick Road roundabout

5 - Broom Leys Road junction

6 - Bardon Road junction

7 - Birch Tree Road roundabout

8 - Flying Horse roundabout

9 - Field Head roundabout

133



18 Funding the MRN Growth Corridor Scheme

7. Funding the MRN Growth  
Corridor Scheme

7.1 Major Road Network investment programme
In 2017, the Government announced proposals for the creation of a Major Road Network (MRN). 

This was a new tier, sitting between the strategic road network (SRN) and the rest of the local 

road network, and made up of the country’s busiest and most economically important local 

authority roads.

As part of these proposals, a new MRN funding stream was announced as part of a £3.5bn pot 

available for large improvement schemes on local authority roads.

Under the programme, local authorities (via their sub-national transport bodies, in Leicestershire’s 

case Midlands Connect) can bid for contributions of £20m-£50m towards the following types of 

interventions on the MRN:

• Bypasses or new alignments, which alleviate congestion and make through journeys quicker, 

safer, and more reliable.

• New roads that link to existing stretches of the MRN or SRN.

• Widening of existing MRN roads where there are known congestion points or safety risks.

• Major structural renewals on roads, bridges, tunnels, and viaducts on MRN roads.

• Major junction improvements such as grade separation.

• Variable message signs (VMS), traffic management, and the use of smart technology and data 

to raise the performance of the network.

• Packages of improvements which may include elements of safety, widening, junction 

improvements, and new alignment.

Local authorities are expected to provide a contribution from local authority or third-party funds 

(e.g. developer contributions), which is equivalent to at least 15% of the total scheme costs.

134



19Funding the MRN Growth Corridor Scheme

Section 9.1 sets out the next steps for delivering the A511 MRN Growth Corridor, in the event that 

the OBC and planning application are successful.

In the event that no MRN funding were to be available in this first round, then other funding 

options include: 

• Continuing to secure developer contributions, underpinned by the latest evidence work and 

policies of the adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan; 

• Pursuing future Government bidding opportunities that might arise, including potentially MRN 

round 2. 

In practice, such an approach would likely result in the eventual delivery of the MRN project, 

albeit in a piecemeal fashion and over a longer timescale. The A511 MRN Growth Corridor would 

remain our top priority scheme.

7.2 Developer contributions
As set out above, the MRN investment programme funding will not cover the full costs of 

the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme. The remainder will be accumulated from developer 

contributions for sites which will have a traffic impact on the A511 route within the boundaries of 

the scheme.

North West Leicestershire District Council has an approved policy, “Priorities for Developer 

Financial Contributions for infrastructure provision relating to Major Residential Development 

Proposals in and around Coalville” which was adopted in 2013. This policy sets out the District 

Council’s approach towards dealing with competing developer financial contributions from major 

residential development in and around Coalville, in circumstances where the overall level of such 

contributions would render the development proposal unviable. The policy states:

“Where the council is satisfied that a major residential development proposal in or around the 

Coalville area is proven to be unviable as a result of required developer financial contributions (e.g. 

off-site highway works; education provision and affordable housing requirements), the council will 

consider relaxing its normal affordable housing requirements proportionately so as to:

a) give highway infrastructure investment the highest priority for funding;

b) ensure all other essential infrastructure is provided; and

c) continue to contribute to affordable housing provision as far as possible whilst ensuring that the 

development scheme is viable.

135



20 Funding the MRN Growth Corridor Scheme

For development proposals where the council accepts no affordable housing or a lower proportion 

of affordable housing contribution (both on site provision and/or a financial contribution in lieu of 

provision) the council will reduce the time period for any planning permission to be commenced 

to 2 years and shall include in the section 106 agreement provision to enable the council to 

periodically revisit the affordable housing contribution if the economic factors determining the level 

of affordable housing improves before the development is commenced.

Developers seeking reduced levels of affordable housing will need to produce a clear and robust 

viability assessment with open book accounting as part of their application. The council will test 

the robustness of viability assessments”.

This policy ensures that financial contributions can be secured via S106 Agreements, which 

contribute towards the identified improvements to the A511 MRN Growth Corridor.

136



21Strategy for complementary highway schemes, passenger transport, and active travel

8. Strategy for complementary  
highway schemes, passenger 
transport, and active travel

8.1 Complementary highway schemes
The complementary highway schemes will be developed further for more detailed assessment, 

so that preferred options can be identified for each location. The preferred options will then be 

taken through the usual design and business case processes to identify their overall priority within 

Leicestershire, identify funding sources (e.g. external funding pots, developer contributions), and 

secure funding and a place in the construction programme. Development of any scheme proposals 

will be subject to consultations.

Initially, we shall focus primarily on developing the options for the M1 Junction 13 and M1 

Junction 22, as identified in section 5.2. Work on the remaining junctions will continue, but at a 

slower pace. 

However, this is predicated upon us obtaining MRN funding from the DfT. If this funding bid is not 

successful, then our strategy for the complementary highway schemes will need to be revised to 

allow us to focus on obtaining funding for, and delivering, the higher-priority A511 MRN Growth 

Corridor improvements.

8.2 Passenger transport
The extant policy document for delivering passenger transport services in Leicestershire is our 

Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy (PTPS).

In March 2021, Government published ‘Bus Back Better’, a strategy aimed at revolutionising 

road passenger transport provision in England. As part of this strategy, all local authorities will be 

required to review their passenger transport services and publish a Bus Improvement Plan.

Our work to develop passenger transport proposals to support growth in and around the Coalville 

Urban Area will be carried out in line with our existing PTPS and the emerging Bus Improvement 

Plan. 

We are supportive of reopening Beeching line cuts where there are clear overall benefits and 

welcome Government support for this via the Restoring Your Railway Fund. Reopening lines 

could bring substantial environmental benefits, reduce congestion on equivalent highway routes, 

and improve travel options for residents. We will work with campaign groups taking advantage 

of the Restoring Your Railway Fund, as we have done with the Campaign to Restore the Ivanhoe 

Line (CRIL). The ICTS will be reviewed as appropriate so as to align with how the proposals for 

reopening the Line might move forward.

137



22 Strategy for complementary highway schemes, passenger transport, and active travel

8.3 Active travel
Subject to approval, the County Council will publish a Cycling and Walking Strategy (CaWS) in 

July 2021. Following publication of the CaWS, we will work with the district authorities to develop 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) for each individual area over the next five 

years.

Separately, North West Leicestershire District Council are developing their own LCWIP, which will 

include proposals for Coalville. We will be engaging with NWLDC through this process to offer 

appropriate support and feed in information as required. 

The NWLDC LCWIP is due to be published by the end of 2021. We will involve NWLDC closely 

when we develop the LCC-led LCWIP for North West Leicestershire/the Coalville Urban Area, with 

a view to building on and/or incorporating their adopted LCWIP.

138



23Next steps

9. Next steps

9.1 Next steps for the A511 MRN Growth Corridor
In the event that the application for funding from the MRN programme and the planning 

application for construction of the scheme are both successful, we will publish the Compulsory 

Purchase Orders and Side Road Orders in early 2022.

The scheme will require a Public Inquiry, which currently is expected to take place in Autumn/

Winter 2022, with statutory orders and consents expected to be confirmed by late Summer 

2023. Once all of the statutory orders and consents have been confirmed, we will submit the Full 

Business Case for the scheme to DfT for their final approval.

Work on construction of the scheme is currently scheduled to begin at the start of 2024, taking 

approximately 24 months to complete.

The new, improved A511 MRN Growth Corridor is expected to be open for public use in early 

2026.

9.2 Next steps for the wider Coalville Transport Strategy
The work set out in chapter 8 will inform the development of the full Coalville Transport Strategy, 

which we expect to publish in 2023/24.

However, the timing and order of this work will depend upon the outcome of the DfT MRN Growth 

Funding bid and planning decision.

139



24 Appendix A

Appendix A

The table below illustrates the junctions that were included in the original CTS (2008), and how these are 

being treated in the context of the A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme and the ICTS. The numbers in the 

table relate to the position of the junctions on the map overleaf.

Junction number and name
Included 
in original 

CTS

Included in revised ICTS

MRN scheme Additional 
junctions

1. A511 Ashby Bypass/Ashby Road 
2. A511 Ashby Bypass/Nottingham Road 
3. A42 Junction 13  
4. Swannington Road Roundabout  

(‘Hoo Ash Roundabout’)  

5. Thornborough Road Roundabout  
6. Stephenson Way dualling 
7. Whitwick Road Roundabout  
8. Broom Leys Road Cross Roads   

9. Bardon Road Roundabout  
(Part of Bardon Link Road)

10. Bardon Link Road 
11. Reg’s Way Roundabout  

(‘Birch Tree Roundabout’)  

12. Beveridge Lane Roundabout 
13. Stanton Lane Roundabout  

(‘Flying Horse Roundabout’)  

14. M1 Junction 22  
15. Central Cross Roads  

(‘Hugglescote Crossroads’) 

16. Field Head Roundabout 
17. B591/Warren Hills Road, Copt Oak 
18. B591/Whitwick Road, Copt Oak 
19. High Street/Belvoir Road, Coalville 

140



25Appendix A

4Swannington Road Roundabout 
(‘Hoo Ash Roundabout’)

6 Stephenson Way 
Dualling

19High Street/
Belvoir Road, Coalville

15Central Cross Roads 
('Hugglescote Crossroads')

5Thornborough Road
Roundabout

7 Whitwick Road 
Roundabout

8 Broom Leys Road 
Cross Roads

9 Bardon Road 
Roundabout10Bardon Link Road

11Reg's Way Roundabout
('Birch Tree Roundabout')

13Stanton Lane Roundabout
('Flying Horse Roundabout')

12 Beveridge Lane 
Roundabout

17 B591/Warren Hills 
Road, Copt Oak

18B591/Whitwick Road,
Copt Oak

16Field Head Roundabout

14 M1 Junction 22

2 A511 Ashby Bypass
/Nottingham Road

1 A511 Ashby Bypass/
Ashby Road

3A42 Junction 13

 

 

 

A42 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

A511 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

A447

A511

A511

M1

M1

Coalville

This plan is for identification only and is 
subject to copyright. Please do not reprduce.

A42 

Ashby 
de la 
Zouch

Field
Head

141



Section Heading

V0
2

7
2

142



 

 
CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
LEICESTER CITY COUNCIL DRAFT LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN 4 

AND WORK PLACE PARKING LEVY CONSULTATIONS 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the consultation on 

Leicester City Council’s draft Local Transport Plan (LTP4) and Workplace 
Parking Levy (WPL) and set out a proposed response for submission to 
Leicester City Council as the views of the County Council. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that the comments set out in this report in response to 

Leicester City Council’s consultation on its draft Local Transport Plan 4 and 
Workplace Parking Levy proposals (paragraphs 23 to 36 and paragraphs 45 to 
48 respectively) be submitted to Leicester City Council as the views of the 
County Council. 

 
Reason for Recommendations  
 
3. The draft Leicester LTP4 and WPL will inform the next stage of local transport 

plan making in the City up to 2036. As the City of Leicester is important to 
residents of Leicestershire, e.g. for access to jobs and services, so then too is 
the need for good transport connectivity to and through the City. Proposals 
within the City’s boundaries have the potential to interact with and affect county 
highways, transport networks and local communities. The content of the 
Leicester City draft LTP4 and WPL are thus important to the County Council. 

 
4. The proposed responses set out key comments for consideration by Leicester 

City Council in preparing its new LTP4 and WPL proposals. These comments 
seek to ensure alignment with key strategic documents (including the Leicester 
and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (SGP), the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Strategic Transport Priorities document and the County Council’s 
Strategic Plan) and ensure that Leicester City Council’s draft LTP4 and WPL do 
not have a negative effect on County highways or residents. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 

143 Agenda Item 9



 

5. Consultation responses are required to be submitted to Leicester City Council 
by 17 September 2021. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
6. The Council’s Strategic Plan (2018 to 2022) “Working together for the benefit of 

everyone” was approved by the County Council in July 2020 (having been 
revised in light of the Council’s declaration on climate change). It has five 
strategic outcomes, with the delivery of ‘Affordable and Quality Homes’ and 
‘Strong Economy’ most directly impacted by the City Council’s emerging LTP4 
and WPL.  

 
7. The SGP for Leicester and Leicestershire was approved by the County Council 

and the other nine partners, including Leicester City Council, in late 2018. It 
provides the long-term vision for planned growth of the area to 2050. It 
recognises the pivotal role of the city of Leicester in the area and its ‘central 
city’ role, supporting the market towns and rural area around it through more 
jobs, leisure, arts, culture and entertainment. The SGP recognises that 
Leicester needs to grow in such a way that enables full use to be made of its 
existing services and infrastructure and notes that by providing more homes 
close to jobs in the city centre and other employment centres this will help 
relieve development pressures in the County. 

 
8. In November 2020 the Cabinet approved the Leicester and Leicestershire 

Strategic Transport Priorities document (2020-2050), which highlights where 
Leicestershire County Council and Leicester City Council will work together to 
deliver common transport aims and objectives and ensuring that long-term 
development needs and associated transportation requirements are co-
ordinated.  

 
Resource Implications 
 
9. There are no immediate resource implications for the Council arising from the 

recommendations in this report. However, where proposals put forward by 
Leicester City Council have cross-boundary implications, officer resources will 
be required to work with City Council colleagues to understand the nature of 
any potential impacts and to identify any possible complimentary/mitigating 
measures that might be required in the county area that should be funded by 
the City Council. 

 
10. The Traffic Management Act 2004 (network management duty) states that: 

“It is the duty of a local traffic authority to manage their road network with a 
view to achieving, so far as is reasonably practicable and having regard to their 
other obligations, policies and objectives, the following objectives: 

 

 securing the expeditious movement of traffic on the authority’s road 
network; and  

 facilitating the expeditious movement of traffic on road networks for which 
another authority is the traffic authority”. 

 

144



 

11. Close working between the County Council and City Councils is of paramount 
importance in the delivery of transport infrastructure and related proposals. 
Early evidence-based identification of cross-boundary issues, such as impact 
on neighbouring authority’s road networks, are vital to delivering the network 
management duty and achieving wider benefits for Leicester and 
Leicestershire. 

 
12. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance 

have been consulted on this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers 
Director, Environment and Transport 
Tel:  (0116) 305 7000 
Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk  
 
Janna Walker 
Acting Assistant Director, Development and Growth 
Tel:  (0116) 305 0785 
Email: Janna.Walker@leics.gov.uk  

145

mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Janna.Walker@leics.gov.uk


 

PART B 

 
Background 
 
13. The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Transport Priorities (LLSTP) 

document, which was approved by the Cabinet in November 2020, sets out 
how the County Council and Leicester City Council will work together to 
deliver common transport aims and objectives, including those in support of 
the SGP.  

 
14. The report to the Cabinet in November 2020 noted that that the two councils 

would continue to prepare their own specific detailed plans and strategies, 
including their respective Local Transport Plans. It also noted that Leicester 
City Council’s infrastructure requirements, because of local growth and 
development, would continue to be included within its Local Plan, ensuring 
that the right infrastructure and transport interventions are identified to support 
Local Plan growth. 

 
15. Leicester City Council held informal discussions with key stakeholders (e.g. 

businesses, environmental groups, other organisations in the city and the 
County Council) in late 2020 / early 2021, as to what transport improvements 
they wanted to see in Leicester and sought initial views on the concept of a 
Workplace Parking Levy (WPL) for Leicester. At the time the County Council 
expressed its concern about the implementation of a WPL and its potential 
impact on Leicestershire residents. 

 
Consultation  
 
16. On 25 June 2021 Leicester City Council launched a formal consultation on its 

draft Local Transport Plan (LTP4) and draft WPL 
(https://consultations.leicester.gov.uk/communications/ltp4/). The 12-week 
consultation seeks the views of people who live/work in the city or who visit. 
This consultation closes on 17 September. 

 
17. The City Council’s consultation exercise was highlighted with all County 

Council members in late June and again in early July, highlighting the 
implications for County residents and businesses and advising members that 
the Cabinet would be asked to agree the County Council’s formal response at 
its meeting on 17 September.   

 
18. Comments from members (one response received) and officers have 

informed the County Council’s formal response to the City Council’s LTP4 and 
WPL proposals and these are set out in paragraphs 23 to 48 below. 

 
Leicester City Council’s draft LTP4 overview  
 
19. Leicester City Council’s draft LTP4 sets out the transport strategy framework 

for the City to 2036.  
 
20. The proposed Plan sets out a programme of transport improvements, 

including delivery of an electric express bus network across the city, 

146

https://consultations.leicester.gov.uk/communications/ltp4/


 

establishment of a city-wide network of cycleways and paths and a major 
transformation of Leicester Railway Station to create a new gateway into the 
city. 

 
21. Supplementing its emerging Local Plan, the draft LTP4 proposals are a step 

forward for public transport, cycling and walking in the city, focussing on three 
main areas: 

 Developing connected main transport corridors and stations, 

 Improving transport within local neighbourhoods, 

 Managing demand for car use. 
 

Proposed response to Leicester City Council’s draft LTP4 consultation 
 
22. The proposed response below sets out key comments for consideration by 

Leicester City Council.  
 

General comments 
 
23. The City of Leicester has a significant role to play in meeting the economic 

and social needs of people across the County. Thus, the County Council 
recognises the importance of a well-functioning transport system in Leicester 
in achieving accessibility to such economic and social needs. 

 
24. The County Council thus welcomes the opportunity to formally comment on 

the draft LTP4 and is supportive in principle of many things that are being 
sought to achieve through it. The County Council recognises that as a unitary 
authority facing its own particular range of challenges and opportunities, 
Leicester City Council must prepare a transport plan that is fit for its needs 
and aspirations and has no intention to comment on the LTP4 in this respect. 

 
25. However, given the wider importance of the City of Leicester for Leicestershire 

residents and businesses, the County Council does wish to comment in 
respect of seeking to ensure the draft LTP4’s alignment with key strategic 
documents and seeks to ensure that its proposals do not have a negative 
effect on County highways. Whilst acknowledging the potential benefits for 
County residents of some of the proposals such as the improvements to the 
rail station and connecting cycle routes.   

 
Note: The following headings relate to sections of the draft LTP4. 

 
Policy Overview 

 
26. The County Council notes that the ongoing/planned transport assessments 

that are required to support the development of the City Council’s own Local 
Plan could identify a requirement for additional transport improvements within 
Leicester, over and above the proposals currently identified within the draft 
Leicester LTP4. It will be important for the LTP4 to be updated at the 
appropriate time to reflect any such additional requirements. 

 
Challenges and Opportunities 

 

147



 

27. In recognition of the City’s central role as the main focal point for jobs and 
services for the County as a whole, as identified in the SGP, the LTP4 should 
place greater emphasis and recognition on the growth agenda across the 
wider County area (both in terms of the “edge” of Leicester growth and other 
urban areas). 

 
28. A “sustainable travel-led” approach to addressing growth pressures is 

welcomed. However, it should be noted that it will be far more challenging to 
apply in dealing with growth in demand for orbital travel within the Leicester 
Urban Area or travel into Leicester from the County and beyond. Even with an 
ambitious package of sustainable travel and demand management measures, 
the approach may still need to be accompanied by targeted highway works to 
deal with residual traffic impacts, which is something that the LTP4 should 
acknowledge. 

 
29. The LTP4 should also do more to acknowledge the transport connectivity 

challenges that will arise from meeting a considerable volume of the City’s 
housing needs in areas beyond its boundaries (unmet need). 

 
Transport Vision 

 
30. Leicester’s role in the wider County should be further emphasised. 

Notwithstanding any specific initiatives within the City, for people travelling 
from across the Leicestershire area car travel is likely to continue to play a 
predominant role in accessing jobs and services across in Leicester. The 
impacts of this will need to be considered and provided for appropriately. 

 
31. There is little acknowledgement of the “cross-boundary” nature of the 

Leicester bus network, nor the resulting need for a joint/coordinated approach 
between the City and County Councils to developing and implementing 
improvements to the network. Reference to the City and County emerging Bus 
Service Improvement Plans (BSIPs) would be welcomed as these will need to 
set out how it is intended that “cross boundary issues” are to be managed in 
the future. 

 
Key Themes and Proposed Projects 

 
32. As highlighted in paragraph 31, significant parts of the proposed Electric Bus 

Network extend into the County and this will need to align with the emerging 
BSIPs for both areas. The LTP does need to emphasise this point and amplify 
the need for cross-boundary working/agreement.  

 
33. In order to implement an effective strategy for managing demand for car use 

in and around Leicester, it will need to be devised and implemented 
collaboratively by the City and County Council on (at least) the basis of a 
Leicester Urban Area.  
 

Delivery and funding  

 

148



 

34. It is welcomed that the draft LTP highlights the funding constraints that all 
Local Highway Authorities work under. Under the auspices of the SGP 
delivery, it will be important for both the City and County Councils to continue 
to work together with district council partners to secure the funding to deliver 
the transport infrastructure and measures that will be required to enable 
Leicester and Leicestershire’ future growth. Where relevant and appropriate, it 
will also be important for the two authorities to continue to provide mutual 
support for funding bids to Government. 

 
35. Both authorities also face the common challenge of seeking to ensure that  

their respective highway assets remain in good standard and fit for use; this 
will become an ever increasing challenge to support increasing levels of 
cycling, walking and passenger transport and with the potential wider use of 
micro-mobility (e.g. e-scooters). Where suitable opportunities arise, the 
County Council would welcome the opportunity to cooperate with the City 
Council to ensure that maintenance funding from Government is used to best 
advantage for existing and future assets. 

 
36. In respect of securing funding from developers, it will also be important for the 

two authorities to continue to work jointly on the development of area 
strategies (e.g. for the north of Leicester) to provide an evidenced-based 
platform on which to seek to secure such. It would be helpful if the LTP4 could 
make greater reference to this. 

 
Leicester City Council’s Workplace Parking Levy (WPL) overview 

37. The City Council is considering the concept of a WPL scheme for Leicester, to 
encourage more people to switch from using private cars to sustainable 
transport and to help deliver the funding for transport improvements identified 
within the City Council’s LTP4. Potential investment from WPL in radial bus 
routes and services, new park and ride sites and an improved rail station 
would have the potential to benefit travellers from the County.   

 
38. A WPL is a charge on employers (businesses, public sector, and education 

organisations) that provide parking places for those that commute by car. 
Liable employers can choose to pass on the charge to their employees or pay 
it themselves. 

 
39. Key points to note on the City Council’s WPL initial consultation proposals:  
 

 The scheme would only operate within the City Council’s administrative 
area.  

 It would require Secretary of State approval to implement and the earliest it 
could be introduced is 2023, ahead of the next mayoral election. 

 It would be broadly based on Nottingham City Council’s WPL (currently the 
only WPL operational in the UK). 

 The levy / charge is yet to be determined but is likely to be around £550 
per parking space per year for employers with eligible parking spaces.  

 Possible exemptions or discounts are still under consideration and are yet 
to be determined. These include: 

149



 

o Public sector bodies (including the City Council and the University 
Hospitals), 

o Staff and students at educational establishments (universities, 
colleges and schools), 

o Parking spaces used by customers and blue badge holders,  
o Emergency services and those employers with a small number of 

workplace parking spaces (in Nottingham this is 10 spaces) 

 All funds raised from the WPL must be ring-fenced for investment in 
transport schemes outlined in the City Council’s transport plan. 

 
40. To help to provide evidence to understand the potential impact of the WPL 

proposals on traffic levels, congestion, air quality, road safety, carbon 
emissions and on parking, the City Council intends to utilise the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Transport Model. 

 
41. Drawing on evidence and experience from the Nottingham City Council, the 

City Council will also be carrying out local assessments to help determine any 
knock-on effects, for example, for parking in county residential areas, including 
county roads, and possible action to safeguard residents’ parking.  

 
42. The County Council will be reviewing the City Council’s WPL proposals and 

associated evidence as they develop, particularly with regard to the risk of 
displaced parking in all County areas adjoining the City administrative 
boundary such as Anstey, Glenfield, and Braunstone. Consideration will also 
be given to communities further afield which may become a focus for 
displaced parking should commuters operate informal liftshare arrangements 
with others to reduce car trips into the City and consequent WPL charges. 

 
43. It should be noted that the consultation document does not, at this time, 

contain any confirmed detail regarding the operation of the proposed WPL 
scheme or evidence to show what effect it might have on the County.   

 
44. The City Council intends to prepare a detailed business case for formal 

consultation later in 2021. This will include further details of the scheme, 
supporting evidence and take account of responses received from this current 
consultation exercise.   

 
Proposed response to Leicester City Council’s draft WPL consultation 
 
45. The County Council welcomes the opportunity to formally comment on the 

proposals at this stage. The proposed response below sets out key comments 
for consideration by Leicester City Council.  
 

46. These comments seek to ensure alignment with key strategic documents and, 
given the connectivity, interaction and possible impact on County highways 
and communities, of proposals, they also seek to ensure that proposals will 
not have a negative effect on Leicestershire highways or residents. 

 
47. As such, the County Council has the following comments: 

150



 

i. The County Council is opposed to the concept of a WPL and has no 
plans to introduce its own WPL.  

ii. The County Council is not supportive of the introduction of a WPL in 
Leicester City.  

iii. If Leicester City Council remains committed to pursuing a WPL the 
County Council would insist that the boundary for such a scheme was 
within the extents of Leicester City Council’s administrative boundary.  

iv. If the WPL proposal is taken forward, the County Council will expect a 
fully researched and evidence-based study of the likely levels and 
geographic extents of workplace parking displacement from the City into 
the County. This should draw on evidence from, at a minimum, 
Nottingham City Council and Nottinghamshire County Council. 

v. Should the project be implemented, it should include funding from the 
City Council for the introduction of appropriate mitigation measures 
across the County. 
 

48. Should Leicester City Council not agree with points iii to v above, it should be 
noted that the County Council will continue to voice its opposition to the WPL 
proposal more widely, in order to seek to safeguard the interests of its 
residents.  

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
49. There are no equality and human rights implications arising from the 

recommendations in this report.  
 

50. The City Council’s draft LTP4 and WPL document indicates that significant 
further work will be undertaken to progress the proposals. The County Council 
will continue to work with the City Council where appropriate to minimise any 
negative impact on the County. 

 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
51. Leicestershire County Council and Leicester City Council have a strong track 

record of partnership working to develop and deliver strategies and 
programmes, such as Park and Ride, bus priority corridors, Leicester and 
Leicestershire Rail Strategy and the Leicester and Leicestershire Integrated 
Transport Model. 

 
52. The County Council will continue to work closely with Leicester City Council 

during the development of its LTP4 and WPL, in order to maximise the 
benefits and minimise disbenefits of any proposals. 

 
Background Papers  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 20 November 2020 ‘Leicester and Leicestershire 
Strategic Transport Priorities’: 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5999&Ver=4  

151

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5999&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

EXCEPTION TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES - URGENT ACTION 
TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN RELATION TO THE 

APPOINTMENT OF A SUPPLIER TO PROVIDE THE PUBLISHMENT 
OF LEGAL TRAFFIC ORDERS 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT  

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of urgent action taken by the 

Chief Executive to agree an exception to the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 
which enables the Council to continue to place advertising relating to Road 
Traffic Orders with Reach Publishing Plc. 
 

2. The exception to the Council Contract Procedure Rules is temporary and 
intended to expire when the Council completes a procurement exercise to meet 
its future advertising needs.  

 
Recommendation 
 
3. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the urgent action taken by the Chief 

Executive to agree an exception to the Contract Procedure Rules to enable the 
appointment of Reach Publishing Plc,  to continue with the publication of Road 
Traffic Orders in local press for a six-month period ending on the 31 March 2022.   

Reasons for Recommendation 
 
4. The Council’s Constitution (Contract Procedure Rule 6 (b)) provides that 

exceptions to the Contract Procedure Rules may be made by the Cabinet where 
it is satisfied that an exception is justified on its merits and that in urgent cases 
the Chief Executive (after consultation with the Leader or Deputy Leader save 
where this is not practicable) may direct that an exception be made subject to it 
being reported to the Cabinet. 
 

5. The direct appointment was required in order for the Authority to continue to meet 
its statutory duty to publicise Road Traffic Orders in local newspapers, until such 
time when a procurement exercise can be undertaken. 

 
  

153 Agenda Item 10



Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
6. The Chief Executive agreed the exception on 11 August 2021. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
7. The exception to the Contract Procedure Rules follows the Council’s Constitution 

(Contract Procedure Rule 6 (b)). 
 
Resource Implications 
 
8. By procuring the County Council’s total Road Traffic Order publishing 

requirements rather than placing ad hoc orders, the Council is expected to 
achieve better value, thus complying with its Best Value obligations. 
 

9. The estimated annual value of publishing all the legal orders that the County 

Council is required by law to publish in the local press is £1m. Therefore, an 

exception of £500,000 has been requested in order to manage the normal 

demand for orders and to allow for any periods of high demand before the end 

March 2022 to be addressed. Actual spend will depend on the number of orders 

processed during this time.  

 
10. A procurement exercise in order to award a new contract (in accordance with the 

procurement rules), will be undertaken as soon as possible, in order for new 
contract arrangement to be in place before the 31 March 2022. 

 
11. The Director of Corporate Resources and Director of Law and Governance have 

been consulted on the content of the report.  
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Ann Carruthers - Director  
Environment and Transport  
Tel:   (0116) 305 7000  
Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk    
  
Janna Walker - Acting Assistant Director, Development and Growth  
Environment and Transport  

Tel: (0116) 305 0785  

Email: Janna.Walker@leics.gov.uk  
 

 
 

154

mailto:Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Janna.Walker@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background 
 
12. The Council has an ongoing need to make road traffic orders (both on a 

permanent and temporary basis). The Council has, for example, a statutory duty 
to maintain its own road network. Likewise, the Council receives a significant 
number of requests for road traffic orders from organisations such as utilities 
companies, developers and parish Councils as well as from private persons.  
 

13. The making of road traffic orders is governed by primary1 and secondary 
legislation2. Materially however, where the Council wishes to create a road traffic 
order, it must place advertisements in the local press.    
 

14. The amount of the Council’s advertising spend is such that the Council must take 
account of the law on public procurement as well as its own internal Contract 
Procedure Rules.  
 

15. The Contract Procedure Rules form part of the Council’s own Constitution. The 
Contract Procedure Rules confirm, inter alia, that the Council must comply with 
the law in relation to public procurement including the Public Contracts Rules 
2015 (the “PCR 2015”). 
 

16. With certain exceptions, public bodies which procure goods and services above a 
certain threshold amount are expected to undertake a formal procurement 
exercise. Where a local authority purchases goods and services, that threshold is 
currently set at £189,330.  
 

17. The cumulative amount being spent by the Council on advertising on an annual 
basis of approximately £1m, which exceeds the current threshold amount of 
£189,330 and therefore the Council is legally required to undertake a public 
procurement. However, the actual value of the future contract will be determined 
as part of the procurement process, and the need to achieve economies of scale.  
 

18. The procurement involves publishing the Council’s advertising requirements, 
allowing bidders to submit tenders, evaluating tenders and awarding contracts. 
That procurement exercise will however take several months to complete. 
However, given the requirement to publish advertisements in the local press 
there are limited supplier options.  
 

19. In the meantime, the Council has a continuing need to make road traffic orders 
and that need entails ongoing advertising expenditure. It is for this reason that 
the Council required this temporary exception. The temporary arrangements 
allow for a continuation of a reactive approach whereby the County Council 
places an advertisement as and when required in the appropriate local press. 
The procurement exercise will offer the opportunity to create a contract with 

                                            
1
 The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1994.  

2
 The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996. 

155



these suppliers based on historic demand and ensure value for money based on 
the scale of the potential contract when these advertisements are considered 
cumulatively. 
 

20. Officers considered stopping current advertisements for legal traffic orders until a 
procurement exercise had been completed as an alternative option to seeking 
the exception. However, given the County Council has legal duties as a highways 
authority that rely in part on being able to make legal orders this option was not 
considered appropriate. 
 

21. The temporary arrangements will be in place until the conclusion of the 
procurement exercise, which will be completed by the 31 March 2021.  

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
There are no positive or adverse equality or human rights implications arising from this 
report. 
 
Background Papers 
 
None.  

156



 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

RESPONSE TO THE CHARNWOOD BOROUGH COUNCIL PRE-
SUBMISSION CHARNWOOD LOCAL PLAN (2021-2037) 

CONSULTATION  
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet on the content of Charnwood 

Borough Council’s Draft Local Plan, and to seek approval for comments to be 
submitted to the Borough Council as the views of the County Council. 
 

2. The detailed comments are set out in the Appendix to this report and key 
issues are highlighted in paragraphs 38 to 103 below. 

 

3. As the consultation period ended on 23 August 2021 it was agreed with the 
Borough Council that comments would be submitted by officers by this date as 
the County Council’s views.  Formal confirmation of those comments, with any 
additions or amendments arising from consideration by the Cabinet will be 
submitted to the Borough Council following the Cabinet meeting. 

 

Recommendations 
 
4. It is recommended that: 
 

a) The comments set out in the Appendix to this report be forwarded to 
Charnwood Borough Council (Charnwood BC) as the views of the County 
Council on the Draft Charnwood BC Local Plan 2021 to 2037; 

 
b) Charnwood BC be advised that the County Council considers that 

partnership working arrangements between the Borough Council, the 
County Council and other partners, notably National Highways, need to be 
formalised at the earliest opportunity; 

 
c) It be noted that  

 
i. the initial cost of the further work required to identify the transport 

mitigation strategies to support the Draft Charnwood BC Local Plan at 
Examination in Public, estimated at £150,000 to £200,000, will be 

157 Agenda Item 11



shared between the County Council, Charnwood BC and other 
partners as appropriate;  

 
ii. given the distribution strategy proposed by Charnwood BC, it is likely 

that much of the transport mitigation will be achieved via Section 106 
(developer) funding arising from multiple developments, securing 
which will require continued close working between the County and 
Borough Councils. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
5. Adoption of the new Local Plan will replace the existing Charnwood Core 

Strategy 2011 to 2028 (adopted 2015) and the Saved Policies of the Borough 
of Charnwood Local Plan 1991 to 2006 (adopted 2004). The new Local Plan 
will provide Charnwood BC with a plan-led development strategy to 2037. 
Given the location of the district of Charnwood close to the City of Leicester and 
close functional connectivity to communities living and working in Blaby, North 
West Leicestershire, Melton and Hinckley and Bosworth, the content of the 
emerging Local Plan is particularly important to this area and the wider 
Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area (L&L HMA). 

 
6. The proposed response sets out key comments for consideration by 

Charnwood BC in progressing its new Local Plan. It seeks to ensure alignment 
with the strategic outcomes of the County Council’s Strategic Plan, the 
Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (SGP), and to influence the 
content of the Local Plan in the interests of local communities, including to 
ensure that the Local Plan provides as robust as possible policy platform for 
securing the provision of the infrastructure and services required to support its 
successful delivery. 

 

7. The highways and transport issues arising from accommodating further growth 
in the Borough of Charnwood impact on both local road networks (County and 
City) and the strategic road network. Addressing the issues requires a 
formalised partnership approach to the development of the required transport 
mitigation strategies. 

 

8. In the current financial climate, the financial risk to the County Council needs to 
be minimised. Therefore a joint commitment to developing a funding strategy 
for how infrastructure will be funded in the Charnwood BC Local Plan will be 
essential. It is vital that S106 contributions are secured to support mitigation 
strategies and to facilitate growth. 
  

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 

9. As explained above, comments were submitted to Charnwood BC by 23 August 
2021 and any additions or amendments arising from consideration by the 
Cabinet will be submitted following the Cabinet meeting.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

158



10. In December 2019 the Cabinet agreed a response to be submitted on behalf of 
the County Council to a consultation from Charnwood Borough Council relating 
to its Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) Preferred Option. In brief, key 
comments included: 

 

 Environment needed to be placed higher at the forefront of the vision 

 Support for confirmation and identification of strategic sites as SUEs 

 Seeking commitment to comprehensive masterplanning   

 Outside proposed SUEs the scattered and relatively small-scale nature 

of development locations around the Borough meant it was especially 

important for the Local Plan to have strong policies around the 

identification of cumulative impacts and securing mitigation to offset 

those impacts 

 The County Council supported an evidence-based approach to housing 

to arrive at a preferred scale and noted scale expressed may be too low 

as required sufficient flexibility and ability to maintain a five-year land 

supply of deliverable sites, scale of unmet need from Leicester City was 

becoming clearer and a lower growth option did not chime well with 

Government’s national ambition  

 Support for development and further expansion of the Loughborough 

Science and Enterprise Park 

 Increased recognition of key tourism assets was needed 

 The Local Plan should strive to reference the full challenge of climate 

change 

 Commitment to support sustainable modes of travel through new 

development appropriately supported by passenger transport services 

and commitment to walking and cycling was welcomed 

 Notwithstanding spatial distribution being relatively more scattered than 

the existing core strategy Charnwood BC’s transport evidence suggests 

draft Local Plan proposals are nonetheless likely to place considerable 

additional pressure on Loughborough’s transport system, which will 

require a co-ordinated strategy for mitigation 

 Proposed concentration of future growth around north and west of 

Leicester when combined with growth in City and Blaby District means a 

co-ordinated strategy will similarly be required 

 Proposed further growth in settlements in and around the Soar Valley is 

likely to put pressure on a highway network subject to significant 

resilience issues  
 

11. The Council’s Strategic Plan (2018 to 2022) “Working together for the benefit of 
everyone” was approved by the County Council in July 2020 (having been 
revised in light of the Council’s declaration on climate change). It has five 
strategic outcomes, with the delivery of ‘Affordable and Quality Homes’ and 
‘Strong Economy’ most directly affected by Charnwood BC’s emerging Local 
Plan. 

 

159



12. In 2018 the County Council, Leicester City Council, the seven district councils 
in Leicestershire, and the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership, 
approved the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) which 
provides the long-term vision for planned growth for the area up to 2050. 

 
13. For the north and north west parts of Leicestershire, which includes Charnwood 

Borough, the foci for growth set out in SGP are: 

 The Leicestershire International Gateway; 

 Managed growth for Loughborough and Coalville; 

 The northern end of the A46 Priority Growth Corridor.  
 
14. The essential infrastructure to support the delivery of growth shown on the SGP 

strategy diagram for the north and north west parts of Leicestershire are: 

 M1 Leicester Western Access and M1 North Leicestershire extra 
capacity;  

 a new Junction 20a on the M1; 

 A46 Priority Growth Corridor; 

 M42/A42 Expressway; 

 rail improvements.  
 
15. The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Transport Priorities (LLTSTP) was 

approved by the Cabinet on 20 November 2020. This document was developed 
by the county and city councils alongside the SGP to ensure the long-term 
development needs and associated transportation requirements are co-
ordinated.  

 
16. In November 2020 Midlands Connect Published the A46 Phase 2 Study. Taking 

into account the SGP, the study showed a road of ‘Expressway’ standard is not 
needed around the South and East of Leicester to serve people making long 
distance trips but confirmed a lower standard of road is still required to support 
new housing and economic development delivered in accordance with the 
spatial distribution of housing set out in the SGP. 

 

17. On 22 June 2021 the Cabinet received a report regarding the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Statement of Common Ground Relating to Housing and 
Employment Land Needs (SoCG) and noted that the County Council was a 
signatory to the document as a factual statement, i.e. not necessarily 
supporting the content of the emerging Charnwood Local Plan but agreeing the 
needs, theoretical supply, scale of unmet need from Leicester City, and process 
by which unmet need would be addressed. This SoCG prepared to accompany 
the Charnwood Local Plan process also provides an up to date context for the 
current stage of the Hinckley and Bosworth Local Plan process. A signed SoCG 
by all partners was required by Charnwood Borough Council ahead of taking its 
emerging Local Plan to its Council meeting on 10 June 2021. 

 

Resource Implications 
 

18. The revised capital programme for 2021-25 as presented in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy report on this agenda now stands at £539m over the four 

160



year period. This latest position includes £166m currently unfunded from 
borrowing (hopefully contained to internal borrowing against cash balances but 
the risk of having to undertake borrowing externally is increasing). 

 
19. Within the programme, a significant list of schemes and activities linked to 

supporting both housing and economic growth are included. However, the 
proposals from the emerging and updated district council Local Plans will lead 
to a demand for further schemes to be delivered, and as such further 
substantial pressures on the County Council’s financial resources. 

 

20. Further schemes can only be accommodated when sufficient confidence can 
be obtained that developer funding will be forthcoming to repay the County 
Council’s investment. 

 
21. The scale of the infrastructure, and the need for much of it to be needed in 

advance of development, will put pressure on the County Council to cash flow it 
in advance of funding being received from developers. However, given the 
wider pressures on the County Council’s financial position, there is limited 
scope for this and there will inevitably be a need for prioritisation. 

 
22. It is of paramount importance that early engagement and close working is 

undertaken between the County Council and other partners in the delivery of 
infrastructure and related proposals to help to partially mitigate some of these 
risks.   

 

23. It is also crucial that there is flexibility wherever possible around timing of spend 
and what money is spent on as well as ensuring developer contributions to 
local infrastructure costs can be secured in a coordinated and equitable 
manner. 

 

24. The Government’s ambitions in the Planning White Paper (August 2020) will 
also need to be factored into the delivery of emerging Local Plans, 
necessitating adjustment and perhaps major changes to the mechanisms used 
to secure and deliver infrastructure. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
25. This report will be circulated to all Members.  

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Tom Purnell   
Assistant Chief Executive  
Tel: 0116 305 7019   Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk 
 
Simon Lawrence 
Growth Service and Major Programmes Manager 
Tel: 0116 305 7243   Email: simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk 
 
Sharon Wiggins  

161

mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk


Strategic Planning Manager, Chief Executive’s Dept. 
Tel: 0116 305 8234   Email: sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tim Smith 
Strategic Planning and Policy Officer, Chief Executive’s Dept  
Tel. 0116 305 7219   Email: tim.smith@leics.gov.uk 

162

mailto:sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background 
 
26. The preparation of Local Plans involves various stages of consultation. This 

consultation from Charnwood BC is known as a “Regulation 19” consultation. 
Comments received will inform the Borough Council’s policy recommendations 
ahead of submission of the Local Plan to the Secretary of State. Once agreed 
by the Planning Inspectorate, the document will replace the current Charnwood 
Local Plan Core Strategy 2011-2028. It is currently expected that a Local Plan 
Examination (part of the statutory process prior to formal adoption) will be held 
in the latter part of 2022.  
 

27. The Government’s Planning White Paper, considered by the Cabinet on 18 
September 2020, proposes ‘end to end’ reform of the current planning system 
in England. Local Plans are proposed for retention but with a greater role and 
tighter timeframe. Once the consultation responses have been considered by 
Government legislative change and revision to national planning policy will take 
place and will impact on plan making processes. The timescale for these 
changes is not yet known, however, it is understood Government will make an 
announcement on planning reforms in the autumn. 

 
28. In December 2020 Government announced a new Standard Method for the 

calculation of local housing need, which included a 35% uplift for the 20 largest 
cities and urban areas in England, including Leicester. For the L&L HMA this 
gives an indicative housing need figure of 5,520 per year 2020-2036. Whilst the 
figures in the districts remain largely the same, the need in Leicester has 
increased by about 10,000 homes (600 homes per year). 

 
Overview of content of Charnwood BC Pre-Submission Local Plan document 

 
29. The identified Local Housing Need for Charnwood is 1,111 dwellings to be built 

annually between 2021 and 2037, a total of 17,776 dwellings. The Local Plan 
allocates land for the development of at least 19,461 dwellings, allowing for 
flexibility and response to unforeseen circumstances (an additional 10%).  
 

30. The Plan seeks to focus development towards sustainable locations which will 
provide well-designed housing, intensifying and extending existing urban and 
suburban areas and larger villages. The majority of new dwellings (10,603) will 
come from existing planning permissions yet to be built, including sustainable 
urban extensions at west of Loughborough (Garendon Park), north of Birstall 
(Broadnook) and north-east of Leicester (Thorpebury). The remainder will 
largely be met through extensions to existing urban areas and larger villages.  

 

31. Provision is made for 81.8 hectares of employment land and a 73-hectare 
extension to Loughborough University Science and Enterprise Park (LUSEP), 
supporting flexible employment space for the 8,900 jobs needed in Charnwood 
to 2037.  

 

163



32. The Borough seeks to make effective use of its strategic infrastructure, 
supporting growth at LUSEP, the urban edge of Leicester, and the International 
Gateway connection to the M1 and East Midlands Airport. Additional 
infrastructure requirements are identified, including five new schools at 
Loughborough, Shepshed, Barrow, Anstey and Syston – as well as new and 
expanded health services, roads and public transport networks.  

 

33. The Plan looks to protect nearly 279 square kilometres of open countryside, 
whilst conserving biodiversity, protecting heritage sites, creating open leisure 
spaces and supporting healthier communities. It also considers the effects of 
climate change and how to reduce its impacts, including flooding. 

 
Duty to Cooperate 

 
34. It is recognised that should an Housing Market Area (HMA) authority identify, 

quantify and provide robust evidence to demonstrate an unmet need, it is 
incumbent upon the HMA authorities to jointly resolve any cross-boundary 
matters with HMA partners under the Duty to Co-operate. Whilst it is 
acknowledged that Government intends to reform the planning system and in 
summer 2020 consulted on a White Paper – Planning for the Future, there is 
yet no formal timetable for such reforms. The Duty to Cooperate is key to the 
ongoing success of the SGP. Without the SGP and without a clear aligned 
approach to delivery, Leicestershire faces high levels of 
speculative/indiscriminate development with the consequent high risk of 
inadequate highway and education infrastructure. To avoid this, ongoing 
commitment from all the local authorities to the SGP is therefore crucial, as is 
their support for a collaborative and coordinated approach to the defining and 
allocating of infrastructure funding requirements of Local Plans. 
 

35. All ten partners to the SGP also signed up to a Joint Position Statement relating 
to Leicester’s Housing and Employment Land Needs in September 2020. This 
set out how the local authorities and the LLEP will continue to work together to 
accommodate unmet need for housing and employment land identified in the 
draft City of Leicester Local Plan. 

 

36. In April 2021, the County Council became a signatory to a Statement of 
Common Ground (SoCG) prepared by the Leicester and Leicestershire local 
planning authorities and the County Council, guided by the Strategic Planning 
Group and Members’ Advisory Group to support the Charnwood Local Plan 
process. In becoming a signatory to the SoCG, the County Council was not 
necessarily giving support to the content of the emerging Charnwood Local 
Plan. The key strategic matters covered in the SoCG under the Duty to Co-
operate are; Leicester and Leicestershire Housing and Employment Needs to 
2036; Unmet Need to 2036; and the process of apportioning unmet need to 
2036. 

 

37. A future SoCG for Leicester and Leicestershire dealing with the apportionment 
of unmet need from the City to the district councils will be informed by strategic 
evidence work currently being undertaken by partners in Leicester and 
Leicestershire to inform future infrastructure and growth, and work the City 

164



Council is undertaking to maximise the growth it is able to accommodate 
without adversely affecting the environment and quality of place. It is expected 
this will be available in winter 2021/2022 and will be the subject of a report to 
the Cabinet. 

 
Response to the Pre-Submission Local Plan document  
 
38. The comments of the County Council in response to the questions put in the 

consultation are set out in the Appendix to this report. A summary of the key 
issues is set out below, covering     

 
- Overarching response 
- Scale, distribution and Local Plan Review trigger policy  
- Further key comments on Vision, Objectives and Development Strategy 
- Place Based Policies 
- Housing 
- Employment 
- Town Centres, Services and Facilities 
- Climate Change 
- Environment 
- Infrastructure and Delivery 
- Appendix 3: Infrastructure Schedule 
- Comments from the County Council as a landowner. 

 
Overarching response 
 
39. Since the County Council submitted its response to the ”Draft Charnwood Local 

Plan (2019-36) Preferred Option” in December 2019 there has been closer 
working across key disciplines, and at a senior level, with Charnwood Borough 
Council to inform and shape the Pre-Submission Local Plan.  This is largely in 
recognition of: 

 the challenges presented by the Strategic Road Network (SRN) in the 
Borough and wider area; 

 the lack of capacity on the Local Road network; 

 the need to take a strategic approach to education and other infrastructure 
provision; and  

 the need to secure deliverable planned growth supported by infrastructure 
rather than unplanned speculative development. 

 
40. The County Council acknowledges the scale of growth Charnwood Borough 

has planned for and delivered in recent decades; and with the long term 
strategic policy steer expressed in the Strategic Growth Plan looks to a 
broadening and shift of the focus for planned growth to the south and east of 
Leicester. Within this context the impacts of future growth in the Charnwood 
Borough area need to be fully understood, and flowing from this understanding 
needs to be a package of mitigation measures to deal with the planned growth 
and robust policies contained within the Local Plan to form a clear backdrop for 
securing developer contributions and dealing with cumulative impacts of sites.  
 

165



41. Furthermore, the County Council wishes to enable continued progress towards 
an up to date adopted Local Plan recognising the risk presented by the lack of 
five year land supply, and the County Council will seek main modifications to 
the Local Plan to reflect the outcome from transport work to be undertaken and 
the resultant mitigation strategy.  
 

42. The County Council is pleased to report that Charnwood BC are keen to 
maintain the positive partnership work on transport issues and evidence. They 
welcome the proposal that the County Council adopt an ‘in principle’ supportive 
approach to the draft Local Plan based on commitment by Charnwood BC to 
complete further work between now and the Local Plan Examination to inform 
the Examination process and the modifications proposed by the Inspector.  
 

43. The Appendix contains the officer responses. Overall the position is generally 
positive, reflected in the support given and constructive comments made in 
response to the draft Local Plan. 
 

44. The ‘in principle’ supportive approach is based on helping Charnwood BC in 
enabling the continued progress towards an up to date adopted Local Plan for 
Charnwood, recognising the risk presented by the lack of five year land supply 
and consequential and significant speculative development. To this end the 
County Council will seek main modifications to the Local Plan at the next stage 
to reflect the outcome of transport work being undertaken and the resultant 
mitigation strategy, and to ensure that the adopted Plan provides as robust a 
policy basis as possible for seeking to secure developer contributions towards 
the delivery of the overall package of highways and transportation measures 
that will be required to mitigate the impacts of accommodating further growth in 
Charnwood Borough. 
 

45. Officers have been in dialogue with Charnwood BC for a sustained period to 
‘pin down’ the further transport work required to inform a mitigation package to 
support the proposed growth, and the joint funding to do this, because it is 
critical to the successful delivery of the proposals in the draft Local Plan. 
Charnwood BC has now confirmed that additional budget has been secured to 
partially fund this work. Whilst Charnwood BC’s position is welcomed and a co-
ordinated, strategy-led approach offers the best opportunity for seeking to 
address the impacts of growth, there remain risks worth highlighting; 

 

 given the likely scale and cost of the mitigation package likely to be 
required its delivery will have to be phased over the lifetime of the Plan. 
There is a high degree of probability that traffic conditions in communities 
across the Borough will deteriorate unless and until the package is fully 
implemented; 

 elements of the package are not within the gift of either Charnwood BC or 
the County Council to deliver – notably the likely requirement for 
improvements to the Strategic Road Network (M1 and A46). The cost of 
mitigating these elements cannot be met by the planned development and 
so delivery will depend on National Highways (formally Highways England) 
future programmes. National Highways  are in the early stages of study 
work in this area. 

166



 
46. However, given these risks arise from the scale of growth across the Housing 

Market Area and the agreed need to move to a different distribution strategy it 
is considered appropriate that the Strategic Road Infrastructure requirements 
are considered in this context. Local Plan review triggers will need to provide an 
opportunity to revisit this should National Highways’ support not be forthcoming. 

 
47. From an education viewpoint, the County Council has worked closely with 

Charnwood BC on the implications for schools from their proposals and is 
content the Local Plan incorporates solutions to issues previously highlighted, 
with progress made to find suitable sites for new primary schools. However, it 
should be noted that further conversations are required with Charnwood BC 
and developers regarding the potential requirement of additional land for 
Woodbrook Vale Academy to support housing development to the south of 
Loughborough, and also for the delivery of new Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities provisions across the Borough. From an Early Years perspective, it 
is expected that new provision will be developed in each locality either attached 
to schools and/or placed separately in community hubs. 

 
48. Officer’s advice is to take an in-principle supportive approach to the 

draft Local Plan on the conditional basis of completing further work between 
now and the Examination in Public that will allow the Inspector to consider 
representations from the County Council to include additional text in the plan, 
and ultimately for the Inspector to recommend a modification. This is based on 
recent confirmation from Charnwood BC to the following principles: 

 

 Charnwood BC understands that LCC, as highway authority will be 
seeking to influence the inspector to recommend modifications to the 
current plan; 

 Those modifications are intended to link the identified impacts to a delivery 
strategy for the Local Plan especially given the reliance on a s.106 based 
strategy to deal with cumulative impacts; and 

 Charnwood BC is committed to work with LCC, HE and the City Council to 
achieve this and ensure the necessary strategies are developed and 
adopted. 

 
49. The conditional support position is dependent on Charnwood BC and LCC, 

together with partners such as Leicester City Council and National Highways , 
working together to undertake the additional work identified (particularly the 
commitment to develop and adopt specific transport strategies for key impacted 
areas). If achieved, then the supportive position will be sustained at 
Examination in Public as well as to the agreement of main modifications to the 
plan at examination. 

 
50. Lack of progress or a change in position regarding the commitment from 

Charnwood BC will require coming back to Cabinet to consider the County 
Council’s position ahead of the Local Plan Examination. 

 
51. This is not a traditional approach and is not without significant risk and potential 

for substantial financial and staffing implications. As ordinarily the LHA would 

167



give evidence to assist the Inspector’s understanding in support of the Local 
Plan, and lack of progress or a change in position could mean giving evidence 
to halt the progress of the Local Plan. The risk would include the cost of 
obtaining specialist legal support and advice, potential costs for technical 
specialists, substantial staff time preparing and giving evidence at the 
Examination in Public etc to ensure a Local Plan isn’t progressed without 
essential mitigation being secured. The challenge is amplified by the fact that 
the delay this would cause to Local Plan adoption would mean more unplanned 
growth is likely to be granted planning permission without the necessary levels 
of developer contributions or with regard to the cumulative impact of sites. 
 

52. The responses of the County Council which follow in this report and the 
Appendix need to be considered within this context.   

 
Scale, distribution and Local Plan Review trigger policy  

 
53. The scale of provision for growth across the borough is supported. It is 

recognised that the Standard Method has been used as the starting point and 
that the Borough Council has included a 10% contingency. 

 

54. The spatial distribution set out in the development strategy in the Pre-
Submission Charnwood Local Plan 2021 to 2037 is almost ‘ideal’, seeking to 
align with County and wider HMA scale proposals set out in the Strategic 
Growth Plan (SGP), with the foci of additional future development directed to 
Leicester’s urban edge at Birstall, Thurmaston and Syston (2,104 dwellings, 
24%), Loughborough (2,242 dwellings, 25%) and Shepshed (1,878 dwellings, 
21%). Shepshed is within the Leicestershire International Gateway and the 
regeneration of the town centre is sought as part of the delivery of new housing 
and the major employment opportunities in this area. 

 

55. This leaves 30% which has been directed towards large and small villages in 
the borough. The service centres form the foci for the remaining growth with 
limited growth in smaller settlements related to providing for local needs. Whilst 
1,819 dwellings (20% of additional growth) is directed to large villages, policy 
seeks to steer 815 dwellings (9% of additional growth) to small villages in the 
borough. 

 

56. The County Council is supportive of locating growth to provide for new schools 
to come forward; though it is very mindful of the impact this is highly likely to 
have on other key infrastructure, in particular transport. The County Council is 
the main enabler/provider for both of these key forms of infrastructure, and it is 
understood that the scale of development for Service Centres and smaller 
settlements was informed by the hybrid strategy and further sustainability 
appraisal testing to understand the capacity of each settlement tier to 
accommodate development. This factor, together with the agreement on the 
transport work to be undertaken, means that on balance the County Council is 
willing to support the spatial distribution in the rural area provided mitigation 
measures for transport are clearly identified and policy requirements seek to 
secure and deliver the transport mitigation strategy once this work is complete. 
 

168



57. The current situation with capacity on the Strategic Road Network (SRN) and 
the local road network in Charnwood Borough means there are complex and 
interrelated connectivity considerations which need to be understood and 
considered within the Borough, across the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Housing Market Area and beyond. 

 
58. The draft Plan text currently underplays the evidence-based situation in respect 

of the likely overall scale of the transport package necessary to enable growth 
going forward in the Borough of Charnwood, especially in respect of the 
Strategic Road Network. 

 
59. It is suggested that amplifying matters early in the Plan should be helpful in 

establishing the narrative (which should run as a core through the document) 
for the transport partnership-working journey that the Plan making authority and 
the local and strategic highway authorities have been on; are still on; and that 
will continue well-beyond the Local Plan’s adoption. This will reinforce that a 
coherent and realistic approach is being taken to deal with the substantial 
transport challenges faced with accommodating growth in the Borough (and 
elsewhere in adjoining areas). 

 

60. As already referenced, further work is ongoing to aid understanding of the 
mitigation measures required. The County Council further advises a review of 
the Local Plan at the earliest opportunity to enable the full outcomes of this 
work to inform at an early stage the next round of plan making, the scale of 
which is highly likely to include a proportion of the increased unmet need 
arising from Leicester City. 

 

61. To this end the County Council is keen to ensure a review trigger for an early 
review of this emerging Local Plan is included and comes into operation. This is 
likely to happen given the expected publication of the SoCG dealing with the 
apportionment of unmet need in late 2021/early 2022 following the completion 
of strategic evidence currently being undertaken on behalf of Charnwood 
Borough Council, the County Council, and other partners in the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Housing Market Area (L&L HMA). 

 

62. Policy DS2 ‘Leicester and Leicestershire Unmet Needs’ of the draft Local Plan 
forms this trigger policy which entails Charnwood Borough Council publishing a 
review of the Local Plan within six months of the agreement by all partners of 
the Statement of Common Ground dealing with apportionment. It is suggested 
that the wording of the policy is amended to refer to the SoCG being published 
for consideration through respective governance processes rather than 
agreement, to avoid the situation where a single partner withholding agreement 
could halt the review of the Charnwood Local Plan. The Local Plan Review 
trigger policy also needs to cover ‘other significant changes in circumstances’ 
which may trigger a Local Plan review, such as if National Highways’ support is 
not forthcoming.  

 
Further key comments on Vision, Objectives and Development Strategy 

 

169



63. The objectives of the Local Plan should also embrace deliverability, to ensure 
communities benefit from the provision of infrastructure to support housing and 
employment growth. 

 
64. A key indicator where planning can make a positive difference is regarding 

obesity, and it is requested this is added to the profile summary. The business 
tourism offer also needs to be included, as Loughborough University provides 
the largest business conference venue in Leicestershire.  

 
65. It is suggested that it might be more appropriate in the circumstances to have a 

separate set of transport objectives, which inter-alia, could include an objective 
around Charnwood BC working in partnership with relevant transport bodies 
and Plan making bodies to ensure a coordinated and strategic approach to the 
delivery of transport measures required to enable further growth.  

 
66. Policies DS1: Development Strategy and DS3: Housing Allocations. As a result 

of the proposed pattern of development, the transport evidence shows a wide 
pattern of impacts across the Borough, with impacts often leading to the use of 
less appropriate, lower order roads with potential implications for road safety 
and/or the communities living along those roads. 

 
67. In some cases, these impacts are likely to be the result of existing network 

issues and in others the result of cumulative impacts of different sites. Whilst 
the County Highways Authority accepts that addressing such issues would be 
beyond what it would be reasonable (in planning terms) and/or affordable (in 
viability terms) for an individual site, nevertheless the causes of the impacts 
and who should pay for them to be resolved are likely to be of little concern to 
those affected; they will look to the relevant highway authority to deal with the 
impacts. This adds further weight for the need for a continued, cohesive, 
structured, strategy-led approach to the development of and securing the 
funding to deliver the package of highways and transport measures that will be 
required to support and enable growth across the Borough and ensuring that 
the Plan as adopted is properly reflective of this and provides as strong as 
possible policy platform for seeking funding. 

 
68. Policy DS3: Housing Allocations. In some cases reference is made to dealing 

with the cumulative impacts of growth on educational infrastructure, the County 
Highway Authority wishes to avoid create a misleading impression about the 
need also to secure developer contributions towards addressing cumulative 
transport impacts across the Borough, through seeking clearer wording in the 
Plan. It is noted that several of the site allocations require the submission of a 
masterplan for the development of the site to accompany the outline 
applications for the delivery of the sites. It is requested that for some of the 
larger sites these should be Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) which 
have adopted status. This is important as SPD are consulted on and the 
process provides the opportunity for all infrastructure providers to be sure that 
what they have asked for can be delivered.  

 

170



69. Within Policies DS3 and DS4 reference should be made to Health Impact 
Assessments (HIA) to ensure health issues are considered as part of the 
masterplanning process. 

 

70. Policy DS5: High Quality Design should refer to places providing ‘Space for 
Nature’ and facilitate community interaction and social action. 

 

Place Based Policies 
 

71. Support the recognition of the need for the timely delivery of infrastructure to 
support development. With regards to Policy LUC1: Loughborough Urban 
Centre, consultation with the Local Flood Authority should be key in addition to 
the Environment Agency. 

 
72. The reference made in the policies for the Leicester Urban Area, the 

Loughborough Urban Centre, Shepshed and the Service Centres to ensuring 
the timely and coordinated delivery of infrastructure and improving connectivity 
and accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport are welcomed. 
However, that the two aspects are split within these policies and across Policies 
INF1, INF2 and CC5 does little to support the need for a coordinated, 
structured, strategy-led approach to addressing the transport impacts of growth 
across the Borough. 

 
73. For the three SUEs and the Loughborough Science and Enterprise Park it is 

understandable that the respective policies reflect the history of the sites. 
Nevertheless, as the Local Plan in now proposing additional growth in and 
around the same area, the Plan should be clearer as to what contributions if 
any these sites will provide towards the delivery of an overall transport package 
that deals with any cumulative impacts of growth, both within the Borough but 
also reflecting growth proposals coming forward in adjoining areas. 

 
Housing 

 
74. An addition to Policy H2: Housing for Older People and People with Disabilities 

is sought to refer to consulting and working in partnership with Leicestershire 
County Council Adults and Communities Department in planning for future 
demand and associated types of housing for Older People and for People with 
Disabilities. 

 
75. Concern is expressed about Policy H4: Affordable Housing. This policy 

approach which requires a clear justification supported by an independent 
viability assessment if an applicant considers circumstances justify the need for 
a lower level of affordable housing provision could have an adverse impact on 
the provision of County infrastructure. 

 

Employment 
 

76. It is suggested that text is added to encourage development that supports the 
move to a low carbon circular economy. 

 

171



77. The Tourism & Leisure section is welcomed. There is a need to ensure tourism 
offer is sustainable and has the infrastructure to support it (skills, transport, 
accommodation etc). Welcome that support will be offered to the growth 
ambitions of key tourism businesses in the area. 

 

78. Whilst reference in the policy to supporting development that supports and 
promotes transport, power and broadband infrastructure is welcomed, this 
Policy is inconsistent with the Place Based policies that reference Policies 
INF1, INF2 and CC5. Notwithstanding this, the Policy does little to support the 
need for a coordinated, structured, strategy-led approach to addressing the 
cumulative transport impacts of growth across the Borough, including 
interactions between growth in the Service Centres and Loughborough and 
Leicester. 

 
Town Centres, Services and Facilities 
 
79. Tourism needs to be incorporated into the town centre role for Loughborough. 

The Local Plan highlights the main tourism assets in the Borough and aligns 
with the ambitions for sustainable tourism growth. It does not however, refer to 
the Leicester and Leicestershire Tourism Growth Plan and could improve 
alignment with sub-regional ambitions for the visitor economy and local tourism 
blueprint. 
 

80. Policy T2: Protection of Community Facilities. Given many communities will 
continue to grow, the policy should be widened to positively support the 
provision of new, improved or replacement facilities in locations within easy 
reach of local residents. 

 
Climate Change  
 
81. Policy CC1: Flood Risk Management. It is recommended that policy wording is 

amended to align with national policy and supporting guidance/standards. 
There should also be a strengthening of text around Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems (SuDS).  

 
82. Policy CC3: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Installation. The generation of 

renewable energy is strongly supported, and it is suggested policy wording is 
made more positive by presumption in favour of development subject to there 
being no severe impacts that significantly outweigh the benefits of 
development. 

 
83. Policy CC5: Sustainable Transport. There is no reference to contributions being 

required through planning applications to ensure that bus services and 
sustainable travel options are viable. It is also queried why this policy refers to 
just ‘major developments’, and it is not apparent how this policy would be 
applicable to address cumulative transport impacts arising from growth across 
the Borough. Furthermore, it is not just capitally funded infrastructure that 
needs to be considered. Evidence shows that revenue funded educational and 
behavioural change programmes are essential in achieving changes in peoples’ 
travel habits. 

172



 
Environment  
 
84. The County Council is confident that Charnwood BC has appropriately 

considered issues around biodiversity, with it being vital that early consideration 
is given to the commitment to achieving biodiversity net gain within the design 
process.  
 

85. Policy EV1: Landscape. Policy focuses on the look of the landscape and not 
the intrinsic natural capital biodiversity value it provides, suggested addition to 
policy wording. 

 
86. Policy EV4: Charnwood Forest and the National Forest and Policy EV5: River 

Soar and Grand Union Canal Corridor. There are various suggested additions 
to policy including reference to eco tourism, Access for all, cultural links and 
biodiversity plans. 

 
87. Policy EV6: Conserving and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity. Should 

include reference to bigger, better, and more connected landscapes to be 
considered in enhancing fragmented habitats. 

 
88. Policy EV7: Tree Planting. Project and ecological assurance of new planting 

schemes biodiversity surveys are mentioned greater elaboration on ensuring 
high value habitat is not displaced by new planting, for example grassland 
habitat nationally and locally in decline. Also, newly planted trees that are likely 
to interact with the public highway should be covered by effective management 
and funding arrangements for the lifetime of the development. e.g. through 
commuted sums and appropriate monitoring. 

 
89. Policy EV8: Heritage. Policy identifies the role that heritage plays in creating a 

sense of place and attracting economic growth and tourism but perhaps fails to 
take into account the recent changes to the NPPF with regard to contested 
heritage. 

 
Infrastructure and Delivery 
 
90. With regards to transport, as detailed earlier in the report the Highway Authority 

requires further evidence is commissioned by Charnwood BC on behalf of the 
Borough, the County Council, the City Council and National Highways , and 
that the approach to transport infrastructure in the Local Plan will require 
modification based on that shared evidence. The County Council will seek to 
influence the Inspector to recommend modifications to the current draft Local 
Plan. Charnwood BC has agreed to work with the County Council, City Council 
and National Highways in drafting the modifications in the context of the new 
evidence with the aim of agreeing a mutually acceptable position. 

 
91. This further evidence will also ensure appropriate developer contributions are 

secured to mitigate transport impacts, particularly important in light of the 
development pressures for unplanned growth being experienced in Charnwood 

173



and the risks they present, and also adds weight to progressing the Charnwood 
Local Plan as quickly as possible. 

 

92. The County Highways Authority notes that “….new development cannot be 
used to fund an existing shortfall in infrastructure; it can only be required to 
address the needs arising from new development itself…”. However, the 
transport evidence work undertaken to support the Local Plan’s development 
suggests that existing problems both on the local transport system and 
Strategic Road Network are likely to be a barrier to the ‘acceptable’ delivery of 
further growth in the Borough, unless a route(s) (i.e. alternate to developer 
funding) can be agreed towards identifying other ways to plausibly and 
reasonably address the problems within the Plan period. 

 
93. In this respect and learning from its experience with the Melton Local Plan (and 

the considerable scale package of transport measures required to enable 
growth in Melton Mowbray) the County Highways Authority consider it is 
important the Local Plan should embed a coordinated, strategy-led approach, 
both through a core narrative about the journey up to and beyond the Local 
Plan’s adoption and in respect of robust policies linking growth to strategy 
development and delivery. 

 

94. Policy INF1: Infrastructure and Developer Contributions and Policy INF2: Local 
and Strategic Road Network are too generic, and do little to embed in the Plan 
the coordinated, strategy-led approach that is required to supporting/ enabling 
further growth in the Borough. 

 
95. Further to Policy INF1, schools are referred to, but not the delivery of 

new/extended libraries or waste facilities. The policy needs to be expanded to 
do so. To protect the position of the County Council it is also important that the 
Local Plan is properly viability tested at a strategic level to ensure that all of the 
infrastructure that is required as part of a development can be delivered. 

 

96. There is also no mention of contributions to infrastructure that promotes healthy 
lifestyles, so primary prevention and wider determinants of health, only health 
services.  A link could be made to Policies EV9 and EV10 to overtly link activity 
to health, and a HIA could help with placing these facilities around accessibility 
for those experiencing most inequality.   

 

97. With regards to broadband the County Council supports the expansion of 

electronic communications networks, including next generation mobile 

technology (such as 5G) and full fibre broadband connections. Any proposed 

development will be required to work with all engaged network operators to 

further this aspiration within the Charnwood area and to seek to leverage 

improved gigabit capable network deployment to surrounding areas.  

98. The County Council aspires to encourage innovation within the 
telecommunications asset space. This includes but is not limited to the 
deployment of multi-use infrastructure components. Examples may include 
electric vehicle charging points or community WIFI hotspots. 

 

174



Appendix 3: Infrastructure Schedule 
 
99. Charnwood BC need to ensure developers sign up to developer contributions in 

the Infrastructure Schedule, otherwise this will give rise to financial risk to the 
County Council if this does not happen. 

 
100. The Infrastructure Schedule is derived from transport evidence work 

undertaken to inform the Local Plan’s development and does contain measures 
which provide a platform for moving forward. But, at as it stands at present the 
measures are not drawn together in a coordinated, strategy-led way. It is also 
noted that they have a cost running to several hundreds of millions of pounds, 
including Strategic Transport Projects. 
 

101. In its overall comments on the draft Plan, the County Highways Authority 
references ongoing discussion with Charnwood BC to agree the details of a 
continuing work programme. The County Highways Authority expects that such 
a work programme is predicated on developing a more strategy-led and 
coordinated approach to the further development and delivery of the package of 
highways and transportation measures that are required to facilitate the Plan’s 
successful delivery. The County Highways Authority also anticipates that the 
outcomes of the work programme available by the time of the Plan’s 
Examination in Public are likely to necessitate discussions about possible 
changes to the Plan’s narrative text and policies to reflect the evolved and 
evolving situation and to ensure that the Plan provides as strong a policy 
platform as possible for seeking to secure the required highways and transport 
investment. 
 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 
 

102. The comments of Strategic Property Services representing the County 
Council’s landowner interests largely align with and are incorporated within this 
report.  However, from a landowner perspective there was a strong preference 
for a buffer of 20% to be included within the scale of housing in order to give 
the Local Plan greater resilience. In addition, concern was expressed regarding 
the distribution of housing allocations across the Service Centre settlements 
which potentially could constrain the ability to successfully promote the 
Council’s land at Farley Way, Quorn. 
 

103. In accordance with usual practice it is proposed that more detailed site specific 
responses be submitted in respect of this site, the proposed Quorn Solar Farm 
and the potential employment site off Barrow Road, Quorn in order to support 
their promotion through the later stages of the Local Plan process. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

104. There are no equality and human rights implications arising from the 
recommendations in this report. Charnwood BC is working with the County 
Council and with other partners in the L&L HMA to provide for the homes and 
jobs required in the future. 

 

175



Environmental Implications 
 
105. The County Council will continue to work closely with Charnwood BC and other 

partners to minimise the impact of the planned growth on the environmental 
assets of Leicester and Leicestershire. 

 
106. The impact upon the environment is a key consideration in all planning 

decisions made within the context of an approved or emerging Local Plan, and 
the County Council will seek to ensure that opportunities are taken to enhance 
the environment through biodiversity net gain and sustainable forms of 
development. 
 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 

107. The County Council works closely with the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Strategic Planning Partnership, which includes Leicester City Council, the 
seven district councils in Leicestershire and the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Enterprise Partnership. A strengthening of partnership working is sought to deal 
with the transport challenges which require a strategy-led approach with 
multiple partners, both in Charnwood Borough and the wider area. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Report to Council on 6 December 2017: Strategic Plan and Single Outcomes 
Framework  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 23 November 2018: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Growth Plan – Consideration of Revised Plan for Approval 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4 
 
Minutes of the County Council meeting held on 15 May 2019 (10 (a) Climate 
Emergency) 
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5112  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 17 December 2019: Response to Charnwood Borough 
Council’s Draft Local Plan (2019-36) Preferred Option Consultation 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6052&Ver=4  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 20 November 2020: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Transport Priorities 2020 to 2050 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5999  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 22 June 2021: Urgent action taken by the Chief Executive 
in relation to the Leicester and Leicestershire Statement of Common Ground relating 
to housing and employment land needs (March 2021) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6444   
 
Appendices 
 

176

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5112
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6052&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5999
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6444


Appendix:  Leicestershire County Council Officer Comments on Charnwood 
Borough Council’s Pre-Submission Charnwood Local Plan (2021-37) 
Consultation  

177



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix 
 
Charnwood Borough Council Pre-Submission Charnwood Local Plan (2021-37) Consultation 
Leicestershire County Council Officer Comments 
 

Section Comments 

Overall Document The County Highway Authority (CHA) has worked closely with Charnwood Borough Council (CBC) to support and enable the 
successful delivery of growth in the Borough, including to secure the successful adoption of the current Core Strategy and to 
secure the delivery of transport infrastructure to enable the growth proposals that it contains. 
 
Thus, the CHA recognises the importance of continuing to deliver growth in a ‘planned’ manner (as opposed to ‘unplanned’, ad-
hoc and speculative), and therefore wishes to see the new Local Plan successfully adopted. 
 
Given significant existing pressures on the Borough’s transport system – including on the Strategic Road Network (SRN)– the 
evidence developed so far for the Local Plan has demonstrated the transport challenges in seeking to accommodate yet further 
growth in the Borough. Many of the transport issues arise from the cumulative impacts of growth across and without the Borough 
(especially around the western and northern areas of the City of Leicester and the adjoining areas in the County). To address 
these challenges will require a structured, coordinated and strategy led approach, one that will continue well beyond the Local 
Plan’s adoption. This applies not just to highway infrastructure improvements, but also to the coordinated provision of passenger 
transport service improvements and cycling and walking measures, the costs of which are likely to be significant (in capital and 
revenue terms) especially in the light of the Government’s ambitions for significantly improving provision for cyclists and 
pedestrians, and passenger transport, as set out in its ‘Gear Change’ Cycling and Walking Plan and  National Bus Strategy (‘Bus 
Back Better’) respectively. 
 
Building on the evidence work to date, the CHA is continuing to engage with CBC about the details of a continuing work 
programme –  extending beyond the Plan’s adoption – that seeks to develop the supporting strategies necessary to ensure that 
both authorities are in as strong a position as possible to secure investment in the package of highways and transport measures 
that will be required to enable the delivery of further growth in the Borough over the lifetime of the Plan. 
 
The CHA anticipates that the outcomes of any continuing work programme that should be available by the time of the Plan’s 
Examination in Public are likely to necessitate discussions with the Inspector about the need for possible changes to the draft 
Plan’s narrative text and polices. This is so as to reflect the evolved and evolving situation and to ensure that the Plan provides as 

179



2 
 

strong a policy platform as possible for seeking to secure the required highways and transport investment. Some potential 
examples are flagged elsewhere in the CHA’s comments. Were there to be an absence of a sufficiently strong basis, the CHA has 
concerns that it would not be possible to secure appropriate national/public and developer contributions, leaving cumulative 
impacts unaddressed, which would in turn give rise to potential adverse economic and environmental impacts and could 
ultimately result in the CHA advising refusal of planning applications on the basis of severe residual impacts. 
 
The remainder of the CHA’s comments should be considered in the context of this overall comment. They are intended to be 
constructive in seeking to ensure that the Plan as adopted reflects the challenges faced in seeking to deliver further growth in the 
Borough whilst providing as strong as possible Plan policy basis on which to address those challenges. The CHA remains 
committed to working with CBC to achieve this. 
 
Various references are made throughout the Plan to growth in Shepshed “supporting the Leicestershire International Gateway as 
set out in the SGP”; initially within the Vision (page 14), then again within the Development Strategy supporting text (page 28), 
and finally within Policy SUA1(Shepshed Urban Area) and preceding supporting text (pages 115, 118 and 120).  
 
Whilst this intent to link the Local Plan Development Strategy to the SGP is welcomed, it is suggested that the Local Plan should 
provide at least a strong accompanying vision and objectives to demonstrate how Shepshed will be connected/integrated with the 
wider Gateway Area in practice (especially the wider employment opportunities likely to arise from this). This would provide a 
platform to substantiate a robust transport evidence base and strategy to support this ambition going forward under policy SUA1. 
 

Introduction   

Profile  The projected increase of 78% between 2011 and 2036 in the number of people aged over 65 years old and the 157% increase in 
those aged over 85 is a particular point of interest when looking at the projected health needs of the population, as are the 
expected student numbers at Loughborough University. Needs around suitable housing, access to services, access to medical care 
and social connectivity are all key. 
 
Car/van ownership of 536 per 1000 residents/81.9% of households owning a car (based on 2011 Census data and perhaps 
increasing since) and the amount of travel to work by car highlights the need for considerations around air quality and carbon 
reduction, particularly based around those experiencing health inequality from air quality (young, older people, pregnant people, 
those with long term health conditions).   
 
The jobs and prosperity section could include NOMIS data around type of work – this would provide a clearer picture of the work 
demographics and can inform a much-improved health and economic wellbeing picture. 

180



3 
 

 
It would be interesting to demonstrate whether or not Charnwood is an outlier in any type of deprivation - i.e. health/economic. 
There is no reference point of regional or national comparators to the ‘active people’ data, nor to the statement, “In Charnwood, 
the life expectancy for males is 80.8 and for female its 83.8. (Public Health England, 2017-19)”. GP Practice data is helpful, but PCN 
information would also be beneficial. A key indicator where planning can make a difference is in obesity, but this is omitted from 
the profile summary.  
 
P.9 - “‘Charnwood’s tourism sector grew by 38% between 2011-16 with opportunities including the expansive countryside, 
Charnwood Forest and enhancements to Loughborough town centre and heritage quarter (Charnwood Blueprint for Tourism)’” - 
This data has now been superseded by STEAM tourism economic impact reports for 2017 and 2018.  
 
There is no mention of the business tourism offer – the award-winning Imago venues, part of Loughborough University in 
Loughborough provides the largest business conference venue in Leicestershire. It is renowned for its sporting heritage and there 
is an Elite Athletes Hotel on site with unique altitude-controlled bedrooms, for elite athletes to train. There are 3 other conference 
venues on site including a purpose-built conference centre with capacities ranging up to 280 delegates in one room. Two of the 
venues also offer accommodation of 185 4-star standard bedrooms and 94 3 star standard bedrooms, whilst the Elite Athletes 
Hotel has 44 bedrooms. Other conference, meeting and wedding venues in Charnwood include Beaumanor Hall, Quorn Grange 
Hotel, Prestwold Hall hotel, Ramada and a range of budget hotels. The Great Central Railway promotes its unique offer to 
corporate delegates offering exclusive use for meetings and dinners. Charnwood Forest and Loughborough feature as one of 
seven key district visitor hubs in Leicestershire in the sub-regional Tourism Growth Plan 2020-2025. 
 

Vision Whilst referring to ‘development’ repeatedly, the vision does not mention developing local infrastructure to support this growth. 
There should be an expansion to the reference to the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP), in that the SGP seeks to shift the emphasis of 
future planned growth in the L&L HMA to the south and east of Leicester, and that this is in part due to the existing infrastructure 
constraints to the north and west of Leicester which has been the focus of planned and speculative growth in recent decades.   
 
Whilst the CHA has no particular issues with the vision, it is perhaps surprising that it is the first place in which reference is made 
to the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP). Earlier reference to the SGP, perhaps in the introductory text, or possibly better still as a 
separate section, would be useful in terms of setting the context for this Plan’s development, and in particular highlighting that 
the shift in emphasis of growth at the Housing Market Area (HMA) level going forward beyond this Plan – i.e. to the south and 
east of Leicester – is in part due to the considerable existing infrastructure pressures (transport and otherwise) faced in seeking to 
continue to deliver substantial further growth to the north and west of Leicester. Including such reference would be helpful in 
setting a basis for the transport challenges faced in developing and seeking to deliver this Local Plan. 

181



4 
 

 
Additionally, it might be useful to set out early in the document how the Covid19 pandemic has impacted on the Borough and the 
role that the Local Plan has in aiding the area’s recovery. 
 
P.11 – “A number of deprived communities in the Borough with lower than average incomes, poor health and lower levels of 
educational attainment” – This could be expanded to ‘deprivation causing inequalities in…’ and the impact on life expectancy.  
 
P.11 – “Increasing volumes of traffic and pressure on infrastructure including schools, health centres, open spaces and utilities’ – 
This could be expanded to make reference to the impact on air quality. 
 
P.12 - “‘Development will have been managed to improve the economy, quality of life and the environment’ – This misses a key 

opportunity to mention health, with quality of life strongly linked to healthy life expectancy years. Putting the environment last 

can imply that it is the least important of the list. Increasing recognition that unless we address the environmental issues (climate 

change, biodiversity loss, resource scarcity) there will not an economy to develop or much in the way of a quality of life. If CBC has 

declared a climate emergency, then it would make sense to put this at the fore of the vision.  

P.12 - “Our strong and diverse economy will provide more employment opportunities for local people including higher skilled, 
better paid jobs in high technology research and manufacturing, sports, tourism, creative and cultural industry clusters” - The 
ambition of the Government in the 25 Year Environment Plan is to achieve a circular economy. In such an economy, repair and 
remanufacturing will be key to keeping materials and products in use for longer at their maximum value. As such the appropriate 
skills in these sectors will need to increase. Therefore, reference should be made to such jobs in this vision statement.  
 
There is also the opportunity to reference provision of good work, which is strongly linked to health. “Being in good work is better 
for your health than being out of work. ‘Good work’ is defined as having a safe and secure job with good working hours 
and conditions, supportive management and opportunities for training and development. There is clear evidence that good work 
improves health and wellbeing across people’s lives and protects against social exclusion.” Source: Health matters: health and 
work - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  
 
P.12 – “Growing businesses…” - Any reference to growth should be framed as sustainable growth – again in a circular economy 
growth represents the decoupling of resource use from economic growth so stressing growth will be sustainable is recommended. 
 
P.12 – “Charnwood will be known for its natural and built environment which provides a place that people want to visit and 

explore. Our communities will have access to a range of green spaces, leisure and recreational facilities across Charnwood and new 

182

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-health-and-work/health-matters-health-and-work
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-health-and-work/health-matters-health-and-work


5 
 

parkland in Loughborough and Thurmaston will be provided. Charnwood Forest will be recognised as a Regional Park” - It is 

important that tourism in Charnwood is sustainable. Parts of the Charnwood Forest area (Bradgate Park & The Outwoods in 

particular) are over touristed and the natural landscape is being damaged by high visitor numbers. The infrastructure, especially 

car parking, is unable to sustain the volume of visitors and sustainable transport options to visitor sites in the Charnwood Forest 

area need to be considered.  

 

P.12 - “Delivering growth to a high design quality that benefits our communities.” – This could include reference to low/zero 

carbon, more environmentally sustainable development. Or add ‘that benefits our communities and the environment.’ Also, there 

is an opportunity when talking about the types of homes to reference that all new homes will be low carbon in line with 

forthcoming Future Homes Standard and proposed changes to the NPPF. 

 

P.12 – “Our landscape and the special buildings, heritage and biodiversity it contains will be in a good state.” – it is not made clear 

how that ‘good state’ will be defined or measured.  

 
P.12 – “Charnwood will be a place that promotes health by design with developments that have the connectivity and open spaces 

where active travel is desirable.” - Health by design is about much more than active travel and needs to be a more explicit part of 

the vision. 

 

P.13 – “The town will have benefitted from regeneration which capitalises on our industrial heritage including the Great Central 
Railway and 13 the Grand Union Canal. The town centre will be an attractive, compact and walkable destination for shopping, 
leisure, entertainment and culture.” – It is also worth mentioning the Loughborough Bellfoundry Trust that has secured Lottery 
Funding to support its ambitious development plans.  Visitor attractions need to be linked, and wayfinding improved, to help 
visitors navigate a route to the GCR and Bellfoundry site from the town centre. 
 
Heathland could be expanded but on its own, plays a small part in carbon reduction as a habitat provision for carbon 
sequestration with ecosystem services. Reference can be made to Action for Nature and Heathland data. In addition, there is no 
mention of the value of wetlands (Marginal river habitat in terms of their ability to store and sequester carbon such as those 
habitats along the River Soar). 
 
There is welcome recognition of the challenge to provide homes for those unable to get onto housing ladder – social housing/ 
accommodation for homeless people and affordable/social rent requirements.  
 

183



6 
 

There is agreement that reducing car travel is important for tackling climate change, but also for community interaction and social 
capital development. 
 
The community commitments of the Strategy could be supplemented to include a commitment to building social capital – 
community interaction and mutual support including between different communities which can be supported by good design and 
facilities that encourage contact and mixing.  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The vision could be improved with a further paragraph, “The vitality of our Services Centres will be maintained and enhanced by 
the provision of additional high-quality housing and business opportunities to support their continued role as thriving self-
sustaining communities”. 
 

Objectives  The narrative makes reference to the unmet needs of Leicester City and the potential to review housing numbers at an early date 
following the agreement on the Statement of Common Ground which is supported. The plan proposes a 10% uplift in housing 
numbers to provide flexibility. It is assumed that this modest uplift over the standard method requirement, although welcome, 
will only take account of the potential for additional growth within the Borough during the plan period. 
 
Whilst the need to reduce car travel and to increase levels of cycling, walking and passenger transport use are important to 
accommodating/mitigating the impacts of the growth, the Plan text currently underplays the evidence-based situation in respect 
of the likely overall scale of the transport package necessary to enable growth going forward in the Borough of Charnwood, 
especially in respect of the Strategic Road Network. 
 
It is suggested that it might be more appropriate in the circumstances to have a separate set of transport objectives, which inter-
alia, could include an objective around CBC working in partnership with relevant transport bodies and Plan making bodies to 
ensure a coordinated and strategic approach to the delivery of transport measures required to enable further growth, and also to 
help to emphasise the need to ensure the transport network enables Charnwood to continue to grow. 
 
It is also suggested that the objectives should be stronger in respect of the climate emergency and decarbonisation agenda. 
 
There is no mention about local infrastructure and how this is to be developed to meet the needs of the local residents through all 
of the growth that is proposed.  
 

184



7 
 

It would be helpful to see consideration around reduction in health inequality mentioned. 
 
P.13 - Development Strategy 1: “Loughborough, to capitalise on its rich history, to support the town centre, and for the town to 
continue to be the main economic, social and cultural heart of the Borough and an attractive, compact and walkable destination 
for shopping, leisure, entertainment and culture” – specific reference to tourism could be made here. 
 
P.14 - Development Strategy 3: “seeking high environmental standards in all development” - the intent should be to ‘ensure high 

environmental standards in all development’ 

 

P.14 - Society 8: “To assist our communities in their engagement with neighbourhood planning and use Neighbourhood Plans as 

appropriate to inform planning decisions.” – this is supported. The inclusion and importance of NPs is welcomed.  

 

It is suggested that a Social Value Statement could be made a requirement for major developments and potentially added as a 
Plan indicator. Promoting a culture of inclusiveness and a strategic approach can be included within the Community Element.  
 

P.14 - Environment 1: “To promote the prudent use of resources and reduction of waste through patterns of development, design, 

transport measures, reducing the use of minerals, energy and water, minimising waste and encouraging recycling” – ‘Prudent use’ 

is an odd phrase to use; the Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy published in 2018 focuses on resource efficiency and 

resource productivity. Using language which aligns with this national strategy is recommended so as not to cause ambiguity and 

ambition that sits outside that of the general direction of Government. Also, the Government has just consulted on the Waste 

Prevention Programme for England which (again in line with their ambition to shift to a circular economy) aims to raise the 

management of waste up the hierarchy whereby waste prevention and reuse sits above recycling. This should be acknowledged 

and picked up in these environmental objectives. Alternative wording could therefore be: ‘To promote resource efficiency, waste 

prevention and reduced waste arisings through patterns of sustainable development, circular economic design, transport 

measures, reducing the use of minerals, energy and water, preventing and minimising waste and encouraging reuse before 

recycling’.  

 
P.15 - Environment 3: “To protect and enhance the range of habitats and species found in Charnwood, seek to deliver biodiversity 
gain and reverse habitat fragmentation and the recovery of ecological networks’ - In recovery of ecological networks this may 
mean that habitat creation is required and not just enhancement and protection of existing habitats. This may mean creating new 
spaces for nature after opportunity mapping identify where this can be done.  
 

185



8 
 

P.15 - Environment 9: “To make efficient use of land, to limit the need for greenfield development and encourage the re-use of 

brownfield land and underused buildings” - could recognise the potential for some brownfield sites to contribute through good 

design to nature conservation and important species that colonise brownfield sites. These sites are also vulnerable to Climate 

Change as per the Natural England Climate Change Habitat Vulnerability mapping. 

P.15 - Economy - there should be reference to the circular economy to align with the Government’s ambition and current 
direction. Recommend officers appraise themselves with the aims and objectives of the Resources and Waste Strategy 2018 and 
Proposed Waste Prevention Programme which has just been consulted on.     
 
P.15 - Economy 3: ‘To sustain and enhance Loughborough town centre as a prosperous, attractive and vibrant destination for 
shopping, entertainment and leisure as well as a place to live.’ – in addition, tourism as a destination, with its attractions could be 
specifically referenced here.  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The narrative makes reference to the unmet needs of Leicester City and the potential to review housing numbers at an early date 
following the agreement on the Statement of Common Ground which is supported The plan proposes a 10% uplift in housing 
numbers to provide flexibility. It is assumed that this modest uplift over the standard method requirement, although welcome, 
will only take account of the potential for additional growth within the Borough during the plan period. 
 

Development Strategy   

General Comment The chapter text should be stronger in setting out how evidence has played a part in driving decisions to arrive at the proposed 
development strategy; for example, early transport evidence was a determinate in arriving at the overall scale of housing growth 
that the Plan would set out. 
 
This is suggested because it would further add context in respect of the transport challenges faced in continuing to accommodate 
further growth to the north and west of Leicester and in Loughborough/Shepshed. 
 
In that context, whilst locating development in ‘sustainable’ locations and seeking to maximise levels of walking, cycling and 
passenger transport usage are certainty keys to accommodating/mitigating the impacts of the growth, the Plan text currently 
underplays the evidence-based situation in respect of the likely overall scale of the transport package necessary to enable growth 
going forward in the Borough of Charnwood, especially in respect of the Strategic Road Network. 
 

186



9 
 

It is suggested that amplifying matters early in the Plan should be helpful in establishing the narrative (which should run as a core 
through the document) for the transport partnership-working journey that we (the Plan making authority and the local and 
strategic highway authorities) have been on; are still on; and that will continue well-beyond the Local Plan’s adoption, reinforcing 
that we have a coherent and realistic approach to dealing with the substantial transport challenges faced with accommodating 
growth in the Borough (and elsewhere in adjoining areas). 
 
Reference to the SGP in the first complete paragraph gives a ‘peg’ in respect of our comment on page 13, but it does not really 
provide the early context setter than it is suggested should be provided in the Plan. 
 

Policy DS1: 
Development Strategy  

Regarding the development strategy, the scale of growth proposed is fine with Standard Method (December 2020) taken as the 
starting point and 10 % contingency added. The spatial distribution is mostly fine. There is support for foci to north of Leicester 
(reinforcing ‘Our Central City’), Loughborough (market town contributing significantly to the L&L economy, including 
entertainment and leisure offer) and Shepshed (regeneration and role within Leicestershire International Gateway).  Would have 
preferred less development to have been directed to service centres and ‘other’ settlements (currently 5%), though understand 
the scale of growth to service centres and ‘other’ settlements is as per the previous draft Local Plan (2000 dwellings) with a 
greater proportion directed to Anstey and Barrow to support education provision.   
 
Whilst the Plan is described as being founded on a principle of urban concentration and intensification, nevertheless nearly 20% of 
the housing growth is proposed to be in either a ‘Service Centre’ or ‘Other Settlements’. It can be challenging and costly to 
provide those living in such areas with access to jobs, services and facilities the urban areas; the transport evidences shows trips 
drawn to Loughborough and Leicester. 
 
Furthermore, even in the urban areas, the housing growth proposed in the Local Plan in on sites of a sub-sustainable urban 
extension scale, meaning a likely low level or trip self-containment. 
 
As a result of the proposed pattern of development, the transport evidence shows a wide pattern of impacts across the Borough, 
impacts often leading to the use of less appropriate, lower order roads with potential implications for road safety and/or the 
communities living along those roads. 
 
In some cases, these impacts are likely to be the result of existing network issues and in some cases the result of cumulative 
impacts of different sites. Whilst the CHA accepts that addressing such issues would be beyond what it would be reasonable (in 
planning terms) and/or affordable (in viability terms) for an individual site, nevertheless the causes of the impacts and who should 
pay for them to be resolved are likely to be of little concern to those affected; they will simply look to the relevant highway 

187



10 
 

authority to deal with the impacts. This simply adds further weight for the need for a continued, cohesive, structured, strategy-led 
approach to the development of and securing the funding to deliver the package of highways and transport measures that will be 
required to support and enable growth across the Borough and ensuring that the Plan as adopted is properly reflective of this and 
provides as strong as possible policy platform for seeking funding. 
 
Regarding employment and retail, in addition to LS&EP (73ha) the majority of new employment land will be delivered as part of 
three SUE’s and Watermead Business Park with smaller proportion allocated in Shepshed and to north of City. Strengthens further 
(beyond housing delivery) the need to support delivery of the SUE’s to bring employment land forward in timely manner.  More 
emphasis is required on the evolving role of town centres, as hubs of activity for leisure, commerce, and tourism further to the 
diminishing traditional retail focus with growth in online shopping. The identified retail capacities should be reviewed to ensure 
they are still relevant post-pandemic with the switch to on-line sales and closure many high street chains resulting in a large 
number of large units in Loughborough Town Centre. 
 
The inclusion within Policy DS1 of criteria to meet in circumstances where a five-year land supply cannot be demonstrated, is 
supported. There is particular support for the third criterion, to not prejudice the delivery of infrastructure set out in Appendix 3. 
 
There is no mention of supporting sustainable development that doesn’t contribute to an increase in carbon emissions or 
development that is not impacted by the effects of climate change. 
 
P.16 - “Access to jobs, services, infrastructure and sustainable travel options” – healthy lifestyles could be referred to here.  
 
P.16 - “However, there is recognition that encouraging more people to adopt active lifestyles is an important public health 
objective.” – it is suggested that the word ‘active’ is replaced with ‘healthy’. 
 
P.24 – “The overall spatial strategy …is urban concentration and intensification.” – it is important for the local plan to clearly 
identify cumulative impacts on the most environmentally sensitive areas and ensure that appropriate mitigation to offset those 
impacts is secured. If concentration of development is towards urban areas, how will development then contribute to rural access 
to the countryside and biodiversity net gain?  
 
P.27 - Reference to “supporting healthy lifestyles and access to health-related services” could be added to the Policy wording. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

188



11 
 

Given the nature and settlement structure across the Borough, the distribution of New Homes is logical as it concentrates 

development in a manner that maximises the delivery of infrastructure although the allocation to Service Centres appears low. 

However, any further housing need arising from the City’s unmet need should be distributed in a manner that maximises the 

sustainability of the Service Centres and compliments the delivery of services. 

 

The delivery of further employment and retail development to Service Centres is supported as it will enhance the sustainability of 

the settlements and potentially reduce the need for car travel. 

 

The strategy relating to unallocated sites and their future development is noted and will be addressed in the promotion of 

individual County Council owned sites.  

 

The allocation of 8951 additional new homes should be regarded as a minimum. 

 

Policy DS2: Leicester 
and Leicestershire 
Unmet Needs  
 

Policy DS2 forms the Local Plan review trigger policy and entails Charnwood Borough Council publishing a review of the Local Plan 
within 6 months of the agreement by all partners of the Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) dealing with apportionment. An 
amendment to strengthen and ensure the intent of the policy is achieved, is suggested. The wording of the policy could be 
amended to refer to the SoCG being published for consideration through respective governance processes rather than 
agreement, to avoid the situation where a single partner withholding agreement could halt the review of the Charnwood Local 
Plan. Or refer to agreement by ‘majority’ rather than ‘all’ partners. 
 
The Local Plan review trigger is highly likely to be utilised given the expected publication of the SoCG dealing with the 
apportionment of unmet need in late 2021/early 2022 following the completion of strategic evidence (Strategic Growth Options 
and Constraints, Housing and Employment Needs Assessment (HENA), Strategic Transport Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal 
of the increased unmet need) currently being undertaken on behalf of Charnwood Borough Council, the County Council, and other 
partners in the Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area (L&L HMA). 
 
There is also a need to consider broadening out the Local Plan review trigger policy to cover ‘other significant changes in 
circumstances’ which may trigger a Local Plan review, such as if Highways England support is not forthcoming. 
  

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The policy is seen as basically sound, however by the identification of reserve sites within this plan the additional allocation 

189



12 
 

process could be considerably shortened thereby safeguarding the Borough’s position regarding the need to maintain a 5-year 
housing land supply. Such a measure would provide greater certainty whilst being seen as maintaining a flexible approach. 
 

Policy DS3: Housing 
Allocations 

In respect of the main policy, the same comments apply as per the CHA’s comments on Policy DS1. 
 
In respect of the policies relating to the specific sites, the CHA notes that they vary in structure and content and contain varying 
levels of (relative) detail. Whilst the CHA is not expressing a view as to whether this is ‘right’ or ‘wrong’, In particular, the policies 
in some cases seek to deal with the cumulative impacts of growth on educational infrastructure.  The CHA would be concerned if 
this disparity were to create a misleading impression about the need also to secure developer contributions towards addressing 
any cumulative transport impacts across the Borough (including infrastructure and enhancements to passenger transport and 
walking and cycling provision). The CHA would ask that changes be made to the Plan to avoid such an impression. (This comment 
should also be read in particular with the CHA’s comments on Place Based Policies and CC5 and INF1 and 2.) 
 
Furthermore, Policy DS3 could be helpfully strengthened to ensure a comprehensively master-planned (and thereby coordinated) 
approach is taken to key clusters of adjacent sites. In particular this applies to: 
 
o Sites to the south and east of Syston – HA1/HA2/HA3 and possibly also HA5, HA7 and HA8 
o Sites to the south-west of Loughborough – HA16/HA17/HA19 
o Sites to the east of Shepshed – HA32/HA34 and possibly also HA31 
o Sites to the south of Shepshed – HA39/HA40/HA41 
o Sites to the north of Queniborough – HA64/HA65 
 
Grouping the above clusters of sites together to create ‘mini SUEs’ through a requirement for collaboration/joint master-planning 
would allow a more coordinated approach to securing the transport infrastructure/mitigation required to support the delivery of 
these sites (e.g. in terms of internal spine roads and/or walking and cycling routes, public transport services, joint site access 
points and off-site mitigation), helping to reduce the challenges posed by the relatively ‘scattered’ spatial nature of the Local Plan 
(i.e. spread across relatively smaller/mid-sized sites rather than concentrated at large SUEs). 
 
It is noted that a significant number of housing sites have been allocated, helping to provide good positive planning and clarity at 
the outset of the developer contributions sought. It is also noted that a few allocated housing sites have had their site capacity 
reduced to enable key Green Wedge functions to be retained as part of development, e.g. Policy DS3 (HA12) Land at Gynsill Lane 
and Anstey Lane, Glenfield. This approach is supported. 
 

190



13 
 

It is noted that several of the site allocations require the submission of a masterplan for the development of the site to 
accompany the outline applications for the delivery of the sites. Some of the allocations are large, important sites and it is queried 
whether the receipt of a masterplan to accompany an outline planning application provides sufficient safeguards for the 
development of the site. Perhaps for some of the larger sites, these should be SPD documents which have adopted status and are 
consulted on so that all infrastructure providers can be sure that what they have asked for can be delivered.  
 
It is also noted that a number of the allocated sites will deliver new schools and it is important to ensure that the requirements 
noted in the policies match that required by the education team.  
 
Within this section there isn’t any mention of Health Impact Assessment (HIA).  There could be reference made to HIA of 
masterplans, like those currently being worked on jointly with Blaby and NWL. Reference to this, at the very least for large 
settlements, would be advantageous.     
 
It is recognised that the following allocations are located on sites which are within minerals safeguarding areas for sand and 

gravel: 

 HA1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 14, 15, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 48, 49, 53, 59, 64, 65, 67 and 68. 

 HA30 is located on a site which is within an igneous rock safeguarding area. 

 HA39 is located on a site which is within a brick clay safeguarding area. 

 HA40 is located on a site which is within a brick clay and igneous safeguarding area. 

 HA45 and 46 are located in a gypsum safeguarding area. 

 HA49 is within a gypsum and sand and gravel safeguarding area.  

It should be noted that brick clay, igneous rock and gypsum are scarcer resources both nationally and within the County. 
 
P.36 - ‘(HA7) Land off Barkby Thorpe Lane - include an appropriate width of landscaping and appropriate extensive tree 
planting...’. Species permeability of landscape should be ensured through appropriate lighting and design of development. 
 
P.36 - ‘(HA12) Land at Gynsill Lane and Anstey Lane’ – There are cross boundary implications for management of verges, trees etc. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The totality of housing allocations across the settlement hierarchy matches the distribution detailed at Policy DS1. Further, it is 

191



14 
 

noted that there are no specific allocations to individual settlements across the Service Centres. Whilst this allows flexibility in the 
delivery of those homes and enables greater weight to be placed on identified constraints to development and the need for 
preserving the integrity of individual settlements a balance needs to be achieved that supports the sustainability of all those 
settlements. Accordingly, the allocation of 75 homes (4% of the total Service Centre allocation) at Quorn appears 
disproportionately low when compared to other settlements with a comparable range of facilities and services. Whilst the 
allocated site HA50 appears deliverable in the event of it not being brought forward or the future needs of the village increasing 
the potential exists for a shortfall in housing delivery within Quorn necessary to support  the continued provision of services and 
maintain sustainability. Further, in order to meet the potential increase in housing requirements resulting from additional growth 
or the unmet needs of Leicester City and provide additional resilience of housing supply further sites should be allocated within 
Quorn to ensure the village remains a vibrant thriving community .  
 
The opportunity exists through the allocation of the Land at Farley Way to deliver a limited amount of additional much needed 
housing, together with additional community facilities and open space in a sustainable location, adjoining existing development, 
inside the line of the A6 (which would then form the logical Limits of Development) on a site within easy walking or cycling 
distance of the village centre with good access and where any potential constraints to development can be mitigated. The site is 
both available and deliverable having a both willing landowner and strong developer interest. 
 

Site HA12 (Land at 
Gynsill Lane and 
Anstey Lane, Glenfield) 

The wording for site HA12 currently refers to the need for “a masterplan to be agreed which includes delivery and phasing 
arrangements for the whole allocation, in order to achieve comprehensive development”. Whilst this is welcomed, neither the 
policy nor the supporting text and plan refer to the fact that this site is part of a wider ‘cross-boundary’ development proposal 
and accordingly, the need for the masterplan to cover this wider ‘cross boundary’ proposal in its entirety to ensure that 
development comes forward in an appropriate form/with the necessary supporting infrastructure/mitigation. 
 

HA18 (Land to r/o 
Snell’s Nook Lane, 
Loughborough) 

The wording and accompanying diagram for site HA18 refer to a safeguarded potential future access route through the site to 
Loughborough Science and Enterprise Park. The supporting justification/evidence for the inclusion of such in the policy is matter 
for CBC; but, from its perspective the County Highway Authority (CHA) is not aware of any specific proposals for such a route and 
also notes that the safeguarded route ends in a dead end at the south eastern corner of the site, without any indication as to how 
the gap to Nanpantan Road would be bridged to complete a connection. The CHA would also want to see evidence as to the 
potential traffic impacts of such an access route, particularly in respect of any impacts of it encouraging additional traffic to use 
Nanpantan Rd/Snell’s Nook Lane instead of the A512. Such evidence would need to be considered in the context of a wider 
coordinated and strategy-led approach enabling the future growth of Loughborough/the Borough more widely. 
 

Policy DS4: P.67 - HIA as part of a clear process of health considerations within the planning process adds to place-making guidance such as 

192



15 
 

Employment 
Allocations  

‘Building for a Healthier Life’. Adding the local health profile around inequality and need to these best practice guidance 
aspirations adds depth and value to any considerations around making a place more ‘healthy’, as it considers those accessing the 
place and their needs. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

In considering the allocation of employment land, consideration needs to be given to the provision of employment and business 
opportunities within or adjacent to all Service Centres in order to support economic growth and reduce car travel. In order to 
provide a flexibility to the current approach there ought to be a general presumption support employment growth in all major 
settlements. 
 

Policy DS5: High 
Quality Design  

The use of independent design reviews for strategic or sensitive development proposals and reference to expectation that they 
will be funded by the applicant, is supported.  
 
There should be mention of places providing ‘Space for Nature’ as well as being ‘attractive’. This can then be explored in more 
detail in Design Codes. 
 
P.67 – “We will require new developments to make a positive contribution to Charnwood. Providing attractive appropriate and 
functional places where people will want to live, work and visit”. - Should add ‘whilst meeting the current and future needs of the 
stakeholders in a sustainable and creative way.’ 
 
High quality design – it is suggested that a reference is incorporated as to how this can also facilitate community interaction and 
social action – movement on foot, meeting places etc. It is particularly important to ensure spaces are accessible to everyone.  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

This policy is supported. 
 

Place Based Policies   

Policy LUA1: Leicester 
Urban Area  

Reference in the policy to ensuring the timely and coordinated delivery of infrastructure and improving connectivity and 
accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport are welcomed. However, that the two aspects are split within this policy and 
across Policies INF1, INF2 and CC5 does little really to support the need for a coordinated, structured, strategy-led approach to 
addressing the transport impacts of growth across the Borough. 

193



16 
 

 
As per comments on the Vision, whilst reference here to the Strategic Growth Plan is welcomed, it should be referenced closer to 
the beginning of the document to ensure its importance and relation to the Plan is emphasised. 
 
P.69 - “The River Soar and Grand Union Canal stretch from the centre of the city into Charnwood and provide recreational 
opportunities along their length, notably at Watermead Country Park” - Watermead is mentioned but it is also important to note 
that there are other reserves in the area important to Wildlife such as those belonging to the Wildlife Trusts and others (not in the 
public sector) but also of value in terms of ecological connectivity along the River Soar and also opportunities for recreation. 
Charnwood has a strong waterways tourism and leisure offer with Barrow Boating, Pillings Lock Marina, waterside pubs at 
Mountsorrel, Barrow on Soar and Birstall and the Let’s Get Lost Leicester waterways experiences.  
 
P.69 – “Thurmaston, Syston and Birstall also individually provide a full range and choice of services and facilities to residents. These 
settlements all have a secondary school and more than one option available to residents for a range of services including food 
shops, primary schools, doctor’s surgeries, pharmacies and cash machines” - with Thurmaston having some of the most deprived 
households in the Borough what can the Local Plan add to considerations about the access to services and health offer of things 
like food shops.  What are the choices?   
 
Regarding Sustainable Travel, the East Midlands Railway line linking Barrow and Loughborough (the former Ivanhoe line) offers 
tourism potential if the heritage, points of interest and distinctive character of each location can be made more visible. 
 
There is an independent retail offer, complemented by a quality food and drink offer, across the Charnwood area, particularly in 
Quorn, Rothley, Anstey, Mountsorrel. There is however, no mention of the niche retail offer that has developed in Rothley and 
Quorn that is above the standard food offer. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

These policies are seen to be appropriate to the circumstances of the individual locations and development proposals with policy 
LUC3 being strongly supported. 
 

Policy LUA2: North 
East of Leicester 
Sustainable Urban 
Extension  

It is understandable that this policy reflects the past history of this site. Nevertheless, as the Local Plan in now proposing 
additional growth in and around the same area, the Plan should be clearer as to what contributions if any this site will provide 
towards the delivery of an overall transport package that deals with any cumulative impacts of growth, both within the Borough 
but also reflecting growth proposals coming forward in adjoining areas. 

194



17 
 

 
In areas where flooding or drought/development causes a loss of flood plain habitat, refuge should be provided to species 
impacted. 
 
The reference to SUE’s and utilising alternative transport is positive as there is a need for cycling and walking for leisure use to link 
these new areas into Charnwood Forest, Watermead and the Grand Union canal. 
 
P.77 - The wording of the 4th bullet should be changed to “Supporting the provision of gigabit capable broadband infrastructure 
for all homes and businesses in Leicestershire in accordance with Policy E3”. 

 

P.88 - In the ‘communities section’ the bullet should be replaced with “Supporting the provision of gigabit capable broadband 
infrastructure for all homes and businesses in Leicestershire in accordance with Policy E3”. 
 

Policy LUA3: North of 
Birstall Sustainable 
Urban Extension  

It is understandable that this policy reflects the past history of this site. Nevertheless, as the Local Plan in now proposing 
additional growth in and around the same area, the Plan should be clearer as to what contributions if any this site will provide 
towards the delivery of an overall transport package that deals with any cumulative impacts of growth, both within the Borough 
but also reflecting growth proposals coming forward in adjoining areas. 
 
In areas where flooding or drought/development causes a loss of flood plain habitat, refuge should be provided to species 
impacted. 
 

Policy LUC1: 
Loughborough Urban 
Centre 
 

Reference in the policy to ensuring the timely and coordinated delivery of infrastructure and improving connectivity and 
accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport are welcomed. However, that the two aspects are split within this policy and 
across Policies INF1, INF2 and CC5 does little really to support the need for a coordinated, structured, strategy-led approach to 
addressing the transport impacts of growth across the Town/Borough.  
 
Consultation with the Local Flood Authority should also be key not just the Environment Agency. 
 
The role of Loughborough Town Centre to support retail and leisure welcomed however there is question mark around the need 
for additional retail space on Baxter Gate given the recent changes to retail. 
 
P.90 - “The Tourism Blueprint for Charnwood recognises the tourism potential of our industrial past and its key heritage attractions 
such as the Great Central Railway, the Grand Union Canal and Taylor’s Bell Foundry and Museum and the opportunity for a 

195



18 
 

heritage trail is being investigated” – This could also reference the Leicestershire Tourism Growth Plan 2020 – 2025 which 
identifies the Charnwood Forest area and Loughborough as one of seven key visitor hubs in the County and identifies the 
importance of the GCR “bridging the Gap” project to create a continuous 18 mile heritage railway line and new visitor attraction 
at North Terminus. 
 
P.91 - “The Loughborough Bell Foundry Trust is restoring key parts of the historic Grade II* Listed Taylor’s Bell Foundry to enhance 
the commercial operation and attract more visitors.” - Visitors will need help with wayfinding to locate the Foundry if arriving on 
foot or bike from the town centre. Car parking is restricted in the residential area in which the foundry is situated, and provision 
should be made for coaches bringing groups.  
 
P.95 - “conserves and enhances the heritage and tourism value of Loughborough’s Industrial Heritage Quarter and its heritage 
assets, including the Great Central Railway, Grand Union Canal and Taylor’s Bell Foundry, in accordance with Policy EV8 including: 
o proposals to reconnect the northern and southern sections of the Great Central Railway and associated infrastructure; o 
requiring development adjacent to the Grand Union Canal to provide an active waterfront with public access;” - An Industrial 
Heritage Quarter will improve the visibility of some of Loughborough’s key tourism assets and would be very welcome. 
 

Policy LUC2: West of 
Loughborough 
Sustainable Urban 
Extension  
 

It is understandable that this policy reflects the past history of this site. Nevertheless, as the Local Plan in now proposing 
additional growth in and around the same area, the Plan should be clearer as to what contributions if any this site will provide 
towards the delivery of an overall transport package that deals with any cumulative impacts of growth, both within the 
Town/Borough but also reflecting growth proposals coming forward in adjoining areas. 
 
This scheme will require substantial infrastructure including new road links through the town and enhanced public transport. No 
mention is made here of how these will be funded for their delivery and whether the intention would be via S106 agreements. 
Perhaps it would be better if clarity was given on this point. 
 

Policy LUC3: 
Loughborough Science 
& Enterprise Park  
 

It is understandable that this policy reflects the past history of this site. Nevertheless, as the Local Plan in now proposing 
additional growth in and around the same area, the Plan should be clearer as to what contributions if any this site will provide 
towards the delivery of an overall transport package that deals with any cumulative impacts of growth, both within the 
Town/Borough but also reflecting growth proposals coming forward in adjoining areas. 
 

Policy SUA1: Shepshed 
Policy  

Reference in the policy to ensuring the timely and coordinated delivery of infrastructure and improving connectivity and 
accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport are welcomed but there is no mention of how this is expected to be funded. 
The fact that the two aspects are split within this policy and across Policies INF1, INF2 and CC5 does little really to support the 

196



19 
 

need for a coordinated, structured, strategy-led approach to addressing the cumulative transport impacts of growth across the 
Town/Borough. 
 
There is a good section on retailing in Shepshed, however it is questioned, given the amount of new housing whether the food 
offer is sufficient to bring these people into the centre. 
 
The area has several significantly important sites for conservation including LNR’s, SSSI, RIGs, Ancient woodland etc. There should 
be greater consideration of these sites and maintaining appropriate buffers and habitat continuity, and addressing the INN’s 
problem along the Blackbrook and associated tributaries. Could be links to L&RWT ‘Saving he Soars Species’ e.g. water vole? There 
should be consideration around improving the water quality in failing areas as per the EU Water Framework Directive. There 
should be consideration for local designation such as LWS and their role locally for wildlife & community value, and habitat 
enhancement for reptiles, as well as retaining key habitat and features used for basking and refuge. 
 

Policy SC1: Service 
Centres  

It is noted in explanatory text that one of key issues is the provision of homes within safe walking distance of a primary school. 
Two new schools (Anstey and Barrow) and school extension (Cossington, also to serve housing growth in Sileby) are proposed. It is 
noted that the housing allocations are largely focused in three of the Service Centres to ensure that new or extended primary 
schools can be secured as part of the new development.   
 
Reference in the policy to ensuring the timely and coordinated delivery of infrastructure and improving connectivity and 
accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport are welcomed. However, the fact that the two aspects are split within this 
policy and across Policies INF1, INF2 and CC5 does little really to support the need for a coordinated, structured, strategy-led 
approach to addressing any cumulative transport impacts of growth across the Borough, including interactions between growth in 
the Service Centres and Loughborough and Leicester.  
 
The references to required/target walking distance in this policy (800m) is contradictory to Policy CC5 Sustainable Transport 
(400m). The policies should align with the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide standards/thresholds unless clear evidence is 
presented to justify a more ambitious target and demonstrate how this will remain viable in the long-term (i.e. once any 
developer subsidy of a passenger transport service ends). 
 
(NB – the policy CC5 monitoring target/indicator in Appendix 1 (page 210) reflects the 400m threshold set out in CC5 and would 
also need to be reviewed in response to this.) 
 
Clear reference is made here that planning obligations are required to deliver two new schools and an extension to the third.  

197



20 
 

 
P.116 - “We will encourage development which supports the vitality and viability of the Local and District Centres and seek to 
enhance their unique characteristics in terms of their heritage and diversity of uses” - This is particularly welcome. The Service 
Centres have potential to support tourism with their accommodation offer (character hotels like Quorn Grange, Rothley Court, 
high quality B&Bs like Horseshoe Cottage Farm), range of attractions (GCR, waterways offer, Stonehurst family farm etc) and 
quality independent retail and food & drink offer (Mountsorrel hosts the only Michelin star restaurant in Leicestershire).  It is 
important that the character of these villages (many of whom feature buildings constructed from local stone) is retained to 
maintain their distinctive appeal. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Subject to the comments made in respect of Policies DS1, DS2, particularly DS3 and DS4 above the policy is supported. It is also 
noted that the site currently allocated at Quorn (East of Loughborough Road) would be contrary to Policy EV3 whereas the County 
Council’s site at Farley Way has the potential to be fully policy compliant and is both available and deliverable. 
 

Policy OS1: Other 
Settlements  
 

An expanded primary school at Cossington is included within the Policy and other criteria is as anticipated, for lower order 
settlements in settlement hierarchy. There is reference to the need for new infrastructure through policy INF1 which deals with 
this topic.  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

This Policy is supported 
 

Policy C1: Countryside  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

This Policy is supported 
 

Housing   

Policy H1: Housing Mix  There is a suggested policy addition – “To support the development of dwellings suitable for single people including those with 
frailties and disabilities including bungalows, one-bedroom flats and wheelchair accessible single person units.” 
 
There is mention of viability here and there could be a potential impact on county infrastructure. 
 

198



21 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Housing mix is based on latest evidence and therefore supported. 
 

Policy H2: Housing for 
Older People and 
People with Disabilities  

There is a suggested policy addition – “To consult with and work in partnership with Leicestershire County Council, Adults and 
Communities Department in planning for future demand and associated types of housing for Older People and for People with 
Disabilities inc. physical, sensory, learning and mental health disabilities including Extra Care Housing, and specialist supported 
living.” 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

This policy is supported. 
 

Policy H3: Internal 
Space Standards  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

This policy is supported. 
 

Policy H4: Affordable 
Housing  

The policy 30% affordable housing from all major housing sites with exception of brownfield (10% affordable housing) is 
supported. 
 
Viability mentioned in that affordable housing provision has been calculated on a strategic viability basis for the whole plan. Policy 
H4 does mention that should an individual developer try to argue that a specific site isn’t deliverable, then they must go through 
the viability exercise with the outcome independently reviewed. The approach to be adopted is clear, but will have an impact on 
County infrastructure at the expense of delivering affordable housing where the residents are likely to need the infrastructure 
that won’t be delivered as part of the scheme. 
 
P.129 – “In order to seek 10% of homes to be available for affordable home ownership on greenfield sites...” – should this figure 
read 30%? 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Policy H4 should be caveated by the addition of the words “up to” in respect of the proposed percentages. It is noted that the 
level of affordable housing can take account of the viability of individual sites in order that delivery of the housing is not 
compromised which is supported. 

199



22 
 

 

Policy H5: Rural 
Exception Sites  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

This policy is supported. 
 

Policy H6: Self-build 
and Custom 
Housebuilding  

The Policy makes it clear that affordable housing contributions for self-build aren’t required. The Plan is silent however, on 
whether other contributions are still to be sought which again could impact on the county’s infrastructure. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The provisions of this policy are supported in particular the final paragraph in respect of plots where no market demand can be 
found. 
 

Policy H7: Houses in 
Multiple Occupation  
 

The policy to manage proportion of HMOs in and outside of Loughborough is supported. 
 

Policy H8: Campus and 
Purpose Built Student 
Accommodation  
 

No comment.  

Policy H9: Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling Show people  

Reference to working with other LAs in L&L to identify and bring forward sites in areas of greatest need for transit provision 
(north-west of the County), an identified shortfall, is welcomed.  
 
There is reference to infrastructure, but not on how the policy will impact on local infrastructure, especially that maintained by 
the County Council such as the local schools.  
 

Employment   

Policy E1: Meeting 
Employment Needs  
 

The policy intent is as anticipated (support for expansion of LS&EP, encourage greater proportion of high technology and 
knowledge-based businesses in Loughborough etc). There is support for the potential retention via planning condition of Use Class 
E(g) to ensure remain as offices, R&D or light industrial in perpetuity. 
 
There is no specific policy included regarding strategic warehousing and logistics, instead reference to use of L&L joint evidence 
approach through Duty to Cooperate to ensure continued long term strategic and collaborative planning of strategic warehousing 

200



23 
 

and logistics. Potential ‘areas of opportunity’ reconfirmed in recent study (May 2021) do not include Charnwood, so comfortable 
with this approach. 
 
There could be an addition that development that supports the move to a low carbon circular economy will be supported. 
 
Whilst reference in the policy to supporting development that supports and promotes transport, power and broadband 
infrastructure is welcomed, this Policy is inconsistent with the Place Based policies that reference (in the main) Policies INF1, INF2 
and CC5. Notwithstanding this, the Policy does little really to support the need for a coordinated, structured, strategy-led 
approach to addressing the cumulative transport impacts of growth across the Borough, including interactions between growth in 
the Service Centres and Loughborough and Leicester. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The policy is generally supported however bullet point 7 could be re-worded to read “………Priority Neighbourhoods, existing 
urban areas and service centres”. 
 

Policy E2: Protecting 
Existing Employment 
Sites  

This policy may be at odds with future development that allows land to become ‘rewilded’ in exchange for government subsidy 
and other recreational uses - this may not necessarily be ‘farmed’ landscape. The policy should consider allowance for this type of 
land-use change. 
 
The Tourism & Leisure section is very welcome. There is a need to ensure the tourism offer is sustainable and has the 
infrastructure to support it (skills, transport, accommodation etc). Welcome that support will be offered to the growth ambitions 
of key tourism businesses in the area. More could be made of the local food and drink offer – there are a number of craft 
breweries, top restaurants, pubs full of local character that offer quality dining in attractive locations, plus the Edible Forest offer.  
The Charnwood Forest Partnership is developing a narrative for sustainable tourism and will aim to promote and support SMEs. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Whilst the proposed policy is sound the criteria for those poorly performing uneconomic premises to be widened to include those 
where poor energy efficiencies will limit their future economic life. 
 

Policy E3: Rural 
Economic 
Development  

There is a useful section on Tourism but there is nothing mentioned about both increasing and diversifying the amount of 
accommodation on offer in the area. The section on Town centre buildings could also be improved to mention the Art Deco 
architecture. 

201



24 
 

 
It is suggested that there is further reference made to make it clear that “development that supports the move to a low carbon 
circular economy will be supported”. 
 
P.149 - Wording should be amended to “provides superfast broadband full fibre gigabit capable broadband networks for all homes 
and businesses” 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The policy should also facilitate the re-use or replacement of existing farm buildings on holdings where a viable farm business can 
no longer be sustained (with or without a diversified enterprise) in order that the premises can continue to make a positive 
contribution to the wider rural economy. 
 

Town Centres, 
Services and Facilities  

 

Policy T1: Town 
Centres and Retail  

Tourism needs to be incorporated into the town centre role for Loughborough, and the importance of town centres as hubs of 
activity for communities covering informal get togethers to formalised leisure activities, and uses to support working from home 
(meeting spaces, tech hubs for trouble shooting etc). Latter points Important for Shepshed town centre and for district and local 
centres too. 
 
There is nothing to suggest that Loughborough Town centre should shrink with a focus on the retail core and as units become 
vacant on the periphery encourage their conversion into residential - this is different to what is suggested on P.153. 
 
The Policy could reference the interaction of hot food takeaways and health and the proximity to schools and school routes. There 
is easier access to this food for communities experiencing health inequality rather than healthy food providers/grow your own 
opportunities. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Whilst recognising the need to sustain vibrant Town, District and Local centres in the major settlements across the Borough the 
policy in respect of the Retail provision needs to take account of the impact of on-line shopping and the need to reduce car travel. 
Accordingly, in order to widen the choice available to communities, particularly in the food retail sector, units of up to 2000 sq m 
should be permitted in locations within or immediately adjoining the limits of development and within easy reach of local 
residents, community facilities and the existing centre. 

202



25 
 

 

Policy T2: Protection of 
Community Facilities  
 

‘Reasonable effort’ should include liaison with Neighbourhood Plan groups where they exist. 
 
Policy T1 does not mention community buildings and so it is suggested that there is a requirement to support new development. 
SUEs should incorporate community meeting places/buildings where community activities can take place and services can be 
delivered from.  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Given that many communities will continue to grow increasing demand for many community facilities such as doctor’s surgeries, 
the policy should be widened to positively support the provision of new, improved or replacement facilities in locations within 
easy reach of local residents. 
 

Policy T3: Car Parking 
Standards  
 

It is welcomed that development is expected to meet the ‘latest published’ LCC parking standards, however there should be a 
reference added in to provide a cross-reference to the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide. 
 

Climate Change  It is suggested that references should be included to the Government’s Transport Decarbonisation Plan. 
 

Policy CC1: Flood Risk 
Management  

Existing proposed policy wording states that “requiring development on brownfield sites to secure a decrease in surface water run-

off”. It is recommended that this is changed to align with national policy and supporting guidance/standards. Suggested wording is 

“requiring development on brownfield sites to discharge surface water run off at equivalent greenfield runoff rates. Where this is 

adequately demonstrated to not be reasonably practicable, the proposed discharge from the development should never exceed the 

existing rate for any given event”.  

Whilst the NPPF does not specifically advise this in relation to brownfield sites, it is implied. It is more clearly defined within Non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems 
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-
drainage-technical-standards.pdf) and other supporting guidance. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

In applying the sequential test it is important that, in circumstances where the function of the development proposed is to 
support the sustainability of a particular settlement or service centre that the test be based on the potential to deliver an 

203

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-drainage-technical-standards.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-drainage-technical-standards.pdf


26 
 

alternate site of a lower flood risk within the same settlement, as housing located some distance away within the wider borough 
would fail to fulfil that function. 
 

Policy CC2: Sustainable 
Drainage Systems 
(SuDS)  

Policy CC1 states that SuDS in minor development will be encouraged as per CC2, however minor development is not specifically 
mentioned in CC2. Furthermore, CC2 advises more on SuDS being a requirement of major development which suggests minor 
development should not always consider SuDS by default. This section should be reworded.  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The policy is considered sound. 
 

Policy CC3: Renewable 
and Low Carbon 
Energy Installations  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The generation of renewable energy is strongly supported. It is suggested that the policy is made more positive by assuming that 
there would be a presumption in favour of development subject to there being no severe impacts that significantly outweigh the 
benefits of development. It is noted that a significant proportion of the Council’s holding at Poole Farm, Quorn currently proposed 
as a solar farm is situated in a location considered appropriate for that use. 
 

Policy CC4: Sustainable 
Construction  

In designing carbon saving homes, consideration should be made for ensuring that ‘Space for Nature’ is created such as allowing 
species of nesting bird or roosting bat to make use of building as part of net gain opportunities. Planning policy has an opportunity 
through design policy and guidance to provide good advice on this matter. Royal Institute of British Architects already promote 
literature around this.  
 
Biosecurity needs consideration given that warmer temperatures are causing an increase in the threat of pests and diseases. 
 

Policy CC5: Sustainable 
Transport  

Sustainable Transport (Policy CC5) is as anticipated, with the inclusion of negative impacts on air quality and Policy EV11. 

 

There is mention that the district will work with the bus operators and the county council to ensure that bus services and 

sustainable travel options are viable but there is no reference to any contributions required through planning applications to 

make this happen. 

 

The general sentiments of this Policy are welcomed and supported by the CHA, but it is unclear why it refers to just ‘major 
development’. Additionally, the policy appears to be written from the perspective of a single development considered in isolation 

204



27 
 

and what is needed to enable it. Whist this is important, it is not apparent how this policy as currently drafted/worded would be 
applicable to address a cumulative transport impacts arising from growth across the Borough. The scale of cycling, walking and 
passenger transport investment required to affect a genuine change in travel behaviours of existing and future residents of the 
Borough is likely to be significant; securing appropriate developer contributions to deal with cumulative transport impacts will be 
important to delivering the scale of infrastructure required, and yet this policy does not appear to provide for this. 
 
Additionally, it is not just capitally funded infrastructure that needs to be considered. Evidence shows that revenue funded 
educational and behavioural change programmes are essential in achieving changes in peoples’ travel habits and the CHA would 
want to see the Local Plan provide a robust policy position for seeking developer contributions too towards such revenue funded 
measures. 
 
More widely, it is not especially clear how this policy integrates with other policies to provide a cohesive approach to delivering 
the package of transportation measures required to support and enable further growth across the Borough. 
 
It is suggested that it would be appropriate in this section to mention the governments new National Bus Strategy ‘Bus Back 
Better’ setting out its plans for ambitious and far reaching reform of bus services across England (outside of London) in the 
aftermath of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
P.166 - Suggested additions highlighted – “We will expect major developments in the Borough to make provision for improving and 
extending our walking and cycle networks and ensuring priority is given first to pedestrians and cycle movements. We will also 
explore opportunities for improved signage, safe well-lit routes, resting equipment and increased connectivity between urban and 
rural areas and key services. We will promote the health benefits of walking and cycling for healthier lifestyles and improved well-
being. More people walking and cycling will also mean less congestion and emissions on our roads, improving air quality for our 
local communities.” 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The policy is supported.  
 

Policy CC6: Electric 
Vehicle Charging 
Points  
 

There is support for EV charging infrastructure to be fitted in new development but it is perhaps surprising that there is no 
reference to the provision of vehicle charges in existing off-street car parks. 
 
Additionally, given the Government’s ‘target’ to ban the sale of ICE cars from 2030 it is suggested that the policy could be more 

205



28 
 

ambitious, i.e. have a starting point of a minimum of ‘passive provision’ for every new parking space (unless site specific 
circumstances dictate otherwise), applicable to all forms of development. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The policy is supported.  
 

Environment   

Policy EV1: Landscape  This policy focuses on the look of the landscape and not really the intrinsic natural capital biodiversity value that it provides. There 
needs to be consideration of how this policy will work with EV6 and with the need for Biodiversity Net Gain. 
 
P.170 - Suggested policy addition – “Providing appropriate and practical landscape design solutions that reflect the identity and 
quality of place whilst meeting the current and future needs of the stakeholders in a sustainable and creative way.” 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Policy appears both sound and proportionate. It is important that in the plan making process that these strategic policies are given 
sufficient weight as to prevent green wedges and local areas of separation being compromised by allocating built development in 
situations where alternative deliverable sites exist.  
 

Policy EV2: Green 
Wedges  

Green wedges are a local policy tool in Leicester and Leicestershire and their longevity into the future is sought given the green 
corridor they provide into the City. It is recognised that change may need to be identified to Green Wedges in light of the need to 
maximise the use of land for growth within the City whilst minimising environmental harm, and given the extension of Green 
Wedges into urban areas in surrounding districts change may be required. Support is given to the use of the shared methodology 
for reviewing Green Wedges, and it is understood this has been the case and that this has informed the identification of 
allocations of land within areas of Green Wedge in Charnwood Borough. 
 
Green wedges should also look to promote wider landscape connectivity & continuity to avoid further fragmentation, by providing 
linear and spatial habitat. For example, buffer zones and grading of glades, as the edges are some of the most valuable habitat for 
species (e.g. Woodland Fringe, urban to rural transitional habitat).  
  

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Policy appears both sound and proportionate. It is important that in the plan making process that these strategic policies are given 

206



29 
 

sufficient weight as to prevent green wedges and local areas of separation being compromised by allocating built development in 
situations where alternative deliverable sites exist.  
 

Policy EV3: Areas of 
Local Separation  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

The Policy appears both sound and proportionate. It is important that in the plan making process that these strategic policies are 
given sufficient weight as to prevent green wedges and local areas of separation being compromised by allocating built 
development in situations where alternative deliverable sites exist.  
 

Policy EV4: Charnwood 
Forest and the 
National Forest  

The section on the National Forest and Charnwood Forest is well aligned to local strategies for sustainable tourism development 

in these areas. 

There could be reference to the role of eco-tourism for visitor experiences and managing the conflicts of tourism and recreation 
against biodiversity. 
 
Access for all, looking at access audits, accessibility training at tourist sites and improved visitor facilities (e.g. changing places). 
Enhanced visits and increased marketing as an accessible tourism destination, helping the local economy and general experience. 
£12.1 billion is spent in the accessible tourism industry (*this point may be better placed elsewhere in the plan; however, forest 
experiences are one example of accessible tourism if planned well and branded). 
 
There are opportunities for cultural links to the BEM communities along the corridor, many who do not have vehicle access. There 
are large residential areas around the centre and Loughborough and there is limited access on to towpaths and lack of signage in 
many areas. 
 
There should be cultural considerations and sensitivities in preserving and managing the waterway. For example, cremation points 
for Indian cultures etc. 
 
Way finding in creative new ways should be considered, for example street art collaboration and celebrating local arts. There 
could be potential guides that link up key hubs and facilities along major routes, for example, cafes, heritage assets, cycling hubs, 
toilets etc, supporting local businesses etc. Working with the local tourist board. 
 
There should be consideration in the biodiversity plans for invasive and non-native species in terms of safeguarding the ecology of 
the waterway. There are currently issues with floating penny wort, American signal crayfish and Himalayan balsam amongst other, 
which are a risk. There is the potential to improve connectivity via eel passes, groins etc. for salmon. 

207



30 
 

 
There is a potential for Green Flag status along improved routes and key sites such as Country Parks and the River Soar. There is 
already good marketing & associated management as they are high value tourist destinations. There are opportunities around 
travel by water too, for example via boat (water taxi’s) and recreational activities such as paddle boarding, kayaking, and 
canoeing. With links to the Soar Trail. Opportunities are present to improve visitor moorings in partnership with others. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

These policies appear both sound and proportionate. 
 

Policy EV5: River Soar 
and Grand Union Canal 
Corridor  

The section on the Charnwood Forest, Grand Union Canal and River Soar have identified positive opportunities for sustainable 
growth in the visitor economy.  
 
Improving access along the River Soar for water-based recreation could also be integrated into design of new employment and 
housing sites as well as ensuring the removal of barriers to access along the Soar & GU itself.  
 
There are opportunities for cultural links to the BEM communities along the corridor, many who do not have vehicle access. There 
are large residential areas around the centre and Loughborough and there is limited access on to towpaths and lack of signage in 
many areas. 
 
There should be cultural considerations and sensitivities in preserving and managing the waterway. For example, cremation points 
for Indian cultures etc. 
 
Way finding in creative new ways should be considered, for example street art collaboration and celebrating local arts. There 
could be potential guides that link up key hubs and facilities along major routes, for example, cafes, heritage assets, cycling hubs, 
toilets etc, supporting local businesses etc. Working with the local tourist board. 
 
There should be consideration in the biodiversity plans for invasive and non-native species in terms of safeguarding the ecology of 
the waterway. There are currently issues with floating penny wort, American signal crayfish and Himalayan balsam amongst other, 
which are a risk. There is the potential to improve connectivity via eel passes, groins etc. for salmon. 
 
There is a potential for Green Flag status along improved routes and key sites such as Country Parks and the River Soar. There is 
already good marketing & associated management as they are high value tourist destinations. There are opportunities around 

208



31 
 

travel by water too, for example via boat (water taxi’s) and recreational activities such as paddle boarding, kayaking, and 
canoeing. With links to the Soar Trail. Opportunities are present to improve visitor moorings in partnership with others. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

These policies appear both sound and proportionate. 
 

Policy EV6: Conserving 
and Enhancing 
Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity  

P.178 – It is stated that Charnwood will work with partners to prioritise areas for investment in protected species and priority 
habitats. LCC would wish to include appropriate Green Infrastructure along highways, country parks and other land such as 
County Farms as part of the discussion concerning improvements in Borough.  
 
Reference to the principles in the Lawton review ‘Making Space for Nature’ in terms of bigger, better, and more connected 
landscapes to be considered in enhancing fragmented habitats. Reference to the local and national UKBAP. LWS should be given 
consideration in these development areas as high value spaces for nature. 
 
P.179 – There should be reference to Native species of local providence in wildflower creation schemes. 
 
Hedgerow restoration should be included in the plating of trees and shrubs to restore and expand fragmented habitats, providing 
wider connectivity and cover. Carbon credits could also be referenced, in terms of biodiversity net gain and off-setting. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Policy appears both sound and proportionate. 
 

Policy EV7: Tree 
Planting  

This content is generally supported.  
 
Interventions to deliver planting to tackle loss of trees due to Ash Dieback is supported, however biosecurity needs consideration 
in site management practises and in the field to control spread and disease.  
 
Regarding project and ecological assurance of new planting schemes, whilst biodiversity surveys are mentioned, perhaps greater 
elaboration on ensuring high value habitat is not displaced by new planting, for example grassland habitat nationally and locally in 
decline. 
 
It is suggested that installation of bat and bird boxes should be installed where appropriate on younger trees or other suitable 

209



32 
 

locations (buildings) to add greater habitat opportunity in new creation schemes. 
 
Local providence and local supply for trees should be utilised and/or with appropriate passports if not possible to minimise risk to 
biosecurity. Any newly planted trees that are likely to interact with the public highway should be covered by effective 
management and funding arrangements for the lifetime of the development, through commuted sums and appropriate 
monitoring. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Policy appears both sound and proportionate. 
 

Policy EV8: Heritage  Although LCC do not provide heritage advice to CBC, LCC do maintain the Historic Environment Record (HER) for the Borough, the 
latter is referenced in the supporting text to their Heritage policy (EV8).  The HER represents the primary record to inform the 
management of heritage, particularly non-designated heritage assets (the vast majority of known and potential heritage assets 
likely to be encountered) through the development management process.  This point could usefully be reinforced through explicit 
reference in the supporting text. 
 
As a general comment, reviewing proposed heritage policy (EV8), Identifying the role that heritage plays in creating and a sense of 

place and attracting economic growth and tourism is to be commended and appears to be in according with national planning 

policy, but perhaps fails to take into account the recent changes to the NPPF with regard to contested heritage.  Specifically, 

proposals as they relate to statuary, memorials, plaques and commemorative monuments; proposals to demolish or alter non-

listed heritage assets within this class of monument now require consideration for planning permission.  In the latter context LCC 

HNET also maintain the War Memorial project database which lists and curates an online and publicly accessible record of the 

commemorative monuments within the county, including Charnwood.    

P.184 – “Incorporate Charnwood’s distinctive local building materials and architectural details to make a positive contribution to 

the character and appearance of the area” – the use of non-standard materials needs careful monitoring. 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Policy appears both sound and proportionate. 
 

Policy EV9: Open 
Spaces, Sport and 

The development of additional Allotment Gardens within larger developments are encouraged and supported, to secure the 
associated community, health and wellbeing benefits. 

210



33 
 

Recreation   
A HIA would help look at community garden need targeted at those who may be experiencing inequality around access to green 
space to grow produce.  These considerations need to be made to reduce health inequality within the borough.   
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Policy appears both sound and proportionate. 
 

Policy EV10: Indoor 
Sports Facilities  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Policy appears both sound and proportionate. 
 

Policy EV11: Air 
Quality  

The Policy implies acceptance of a certain level of pollution from development but ‘significant impact’ needs defining. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Policy appears both sound and proportionate. 
 

Policy EV12: Burial 
Space  

Burial spaces provide huge opportunity to increase habitat and promote wider landscape connectivity. Early consideration of 
commitment to achieving biodiversity net gain within the design process is vital.  
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

Policy appears both sound and proportionate. 
 

Infrastructure and 
Delivery  

 

General comment The CHA welcomes the transport evidence work undertaken to date by CBC. The evidence has served to highlight the challenges 
presented – both on the local transport system and the Strategic Road Network – in seeking to accommodate yet further growth 
in the Borough, not least cumulative impacts. 
 
It is the CHA’s view that a coordinated, strategy-led approach is required to address the challenges – not least in respect of 
securing funding to deliver the package of transport measures required to support/enable growth. However, the wording of the 
introductory text (“…This strategy has been based on an assessment of the infrastructure needs of individual site allocations [CHA 

211



34 
 

highlighting] to ensure that development is sustainable….”) does nothing really to support the need for a coordinated approach. 
 
The CHA notes that “….new development cannot be used to fund an existing shortfall in infrastructure; it can only be required to 
address the needs arising from new development itself…”. However, the transport evidence work undertaken to support the Local 
Plan’s development suggests that existing problems both on the local transport system and Strategic Road Network are likely to 
be a barrier to the ‘acceptable’ delivery of further growth in the Borough, unless a route(s) (i.e. alternate to developer funding) 
can be agreed towards identifying other ways to plausibly and reasonably address the problems within the Plan period. 
 
In this respect and learning from its experience with the Melton Local Plan (and the considerable scale package of transport 
measures required to enable growth in Melton Mowbray) the CHA consider it is important the Local Plan should embed a 
coordinated, strategy-led approach, both through a core narrative about the journey up to and beyond the Local Plan’s adoption 
and in respect of robust policies linking growth to strategy development and delivery. 
 
The Infrastructure Schedule is derived from transport evidence work undertaken to inform the Local Plan’s development and does 
contain measures which provide a platform for moving forward. But, at as it stands at present the measures are not drawn 
together in any coordinated, strategy-led way. It also noted that they have a cost running to several hundreds of millions of 
pounds, including Strategic Transport Projects. 
 
In its overall comments on the draft Plan, the CHA references ongoing discussion with CBC to agree the details of a continuing 
work programme. The CHA expects that such a work programme is predicated on developing a more strategy-led and coordinated 
approach to the further development and delivery of the package of highways and transportation measures that are required to 
facilitate the Plan’s successful delivery. The CHA also anticipates that the outcomes of the work programme available by the time 
of the Plan’s Examination in Public are likely to necessitate discussions about possible changes to the Plan’s narrative text and 
policies to reflect the evolved and evolving situation and to ensure that the Plan provides as strong a policy platform as possible 
for seeking to secure the required highways and transport investment. 
 

Policy INF1: 
Infrastructure and 
Developer 
Contributions  

It is the CHA’s view that as currently drafted, this policy is rather too generic and, in line with comments elsewhere, does little 
really to embed in the Plan the coordinated, strategy-led approach that is required to supporting/ enabling further growth in the 
Borough. 
 
There is a large introduction relating to infrastructure but from a county context, only education is referred to. The delivery of 
new or enhanced library provision or the securing of S106 agreements to mitigate the impact of a development on libraries is not 
mentioned. Waste is also not mentioned at all. The policy needs expanding to do so. It states that significant expansion to local 

212



35 
 

schools and the provision of new schools will be required and this will be achieved through individual contributions. There is 
concerns for the County that not all developments may deliver the necessary level of contributions especially if the applicants go 
down the viability route. Viability is mentioned – It states that the plan itself is tested to see if its viable and that developers 
should provide full details to allow the Council to assess viability if this relates to individual planning applications.  It is important 
to protect the position of the County that the plan is properly viability tested at a strategic level to ensure that all of the 
infrastructure that is required as part of the development can be delivered otherwise its delivery will fall to the County Council.  
 
There is also no mention of contributions to infrastructure that promotes healthy lifestyles, so primary prevention and wider 
determinants of health, only health services.   A link could be made to Policies EV9 and EV10 to overtly link activity to health, and 
a HIA could help with placing these facilities around accessibility for those experiencing most inequality.   
Revised text is suggested for the broadband section on Page 194: 
 

Full-fibre broadband is a critically important infrastructure now commonly referred to as the ‘fourth utility’ alongside 

electricity, gas and water supply. We want Charnwood to be a well-connected borough in order to reduce the need to travel, 

support higher levels of home working and inward investment and improve economic competitiveness. Leicestershire County 

Council is committed to working towards universal coverage of gigabit capable broadband infrastructure for all homes and 

businesses in Leicestershire, with the ‘Superfast Leicestershire’ focussed on areas not served by commercial operators.   The 

Council supports a principle policy objective of promoting high quality digital infrastructure to all new build developments.  

The greatest need is likely to remain in rural areas in the east of the Borough where in the region of 1,000 premises remain 

unconnected. We will continue to support the full roll out of superfast broadband and full-fibre gigabit capable broadband 

to achieve the Government’s target of a full fibre UK wide network and ensure that all of our businesses and communities 

are able to take advantage of the opportunities that it presents. 

The Council supports the expansion of electronic communications networks, including next generation mobile technology (such as 

5G) and full fibre broadband connections. Any proposed development will be required to work with all engaged network 

operators to further this aspiration within the Charnwood area and to seek to leverage improved gigabit capable network 

deployment to surrounding areas.  

The Council aspires to encourage innovation within the telecommunications asset space. This includes but is not limited to the 

deployment of multi-use infrastructure components. Examples may include electric vehicle charging points or community WIFI 

hotspots.  

213



36 
 

The Council supports a ‘dig once’ approach for the deployment of communications infrastructure and a build which is sympathetic 

to the character and appearance of the surrounding area.  The Council encourages telecommunications build which does not 

significantly impact on the appearance of any building or space on which equipment in located and which minimises street clutter.  

The Council supports the co-location, re-use and sharing of infrastructure assets including duct space and mast sharing with fixed 
and mobile networks designed to a minimal necessary size and scale within the visible build environment. 
 

Policy INF2: Local and 
Strategic Road 
Network  
 

It is the CHA’s view that as currently drafted, this policy is rather too generic and, in line with comments elsewhere, does little to 
embed in the Plan the coordinated, strategy-led approach that is required to supporting/enabling further growth in the Borough.  
 
There is mention that development must support sustainable forms of travel however, including public transport. This loosely fits 
in with the County requirements.  
 

 

Appendix / Glossary 

Section 
 

Comments 

Appendix 1: 
Monitoring  
 

No comment. 

Appendix 2: Housing 
and Employment 
Trajectory  
 

The trajectory may be considered overly favourable in the early years for the three SUE’s. 
 
 

Appendix 3: 
Infrastructure 
Schedule  

Detailed costs associated with delivering different types of named infrastructure is given here. County infrastructure (Libraries, 
Civic Amenities, Sustainable Transport measures & Education) to be delivered by S106 which provides risk that the necessary 
funding might not come forwards. Some of the highway works are to be delivered by S106 with others to be provided direct by 
the developer. Again, CBC will need to make sure that the developer signs up to these contributions to ensure that these schemes 
happen to facilitate the growth. It is also important that the plan is correctly assessed for its strategic viability to ensure that the 
cost associated with the delivery of development and the necessary infrastructure that is associated with it is future proofed so 
that it is still relevant to allow the infrastructure to be delivered as envisaged. 
 

214



37 
 

See also CHA comment on Infrastructure and Delivery Section. Additionally, and reflecting the CHA’s general comments on the 
overall document, the lists within the table (from ‘Leicester Urban Area’ onwards), will need to be reviewed and updated to 
reflect the evolving situation as a result of the continuing work programme, most likely to see the transport components 
simplified/more broadly worded so as to relate to the development of cumulative, area-based transport strategies and mitigation 
packages, rather than necessarily listing the specific measures tested through the Local Plan modelling work. Additionally, it is 
noted that some of the areas (most notably the Leicester Urban Area) do not currently include a transport line, which creates a 
misleading impression that any cumulative transport mitigation is not required to accommodate growth in such areas.  
 
P.216 - It is suggested that wording under infrastructure scheme be changed to “Site reconfiguration and development of waste 
infrastructure to increase the capacity at Mountsorrel Civic Amenity site”. 
 
P.218 – It is suggested that wording under infrastructure scheme be changed to “Site reconfiguration and development of waste 
infrastructure to increase the capacity at Shepshed Civic Amenity site”. 
 

Appendix 4: Design 
Guidance  

The approach to design guidance is supported, particularly in light of increased emphasis on good design in Planning White Paper 
and recent linked consultation on national design code.   
 
In respect of the bullet points providing guidance for new walking and cycling routes, an additional bullet point should be added 
stating that ‘new facilities should be developed in accordance with the Government’s current cycle design guidance LTN 1/20’, to 
ensure the greatest possible clarity about our future expectations of developer-led infrastructure. 
 

P.237 - Wording regarding ‘waste and bin storage’ is considered currently weak in terms of actual space requirements as further 

to the Government’s current proposals for future consistency in waste collections (further to their Resource and Waste Strategy 

2018) more space will be required to accommodate a greater number of bins including a food waste bin. Similarly, storage at the 

rear of a property would not be sufficient if there is no room to bring bins to the front of the property. Wording should be phrased 

to take account of accessibility requirements.  

Glossary  No comment. 
 

 

Other / non-policy specific comments / general presentational comments  

Comments 

215



38 
 

 

In the draft Local Plan good progress has been made to find suitable sites for new primary schools in the communities of West Loughborough (Garendon 

Park), Shepshed, Barrow upon Soar , Anstey, Syston, North East of Leicester SUE (Thorpebury) and North of Birstall SUE (Broadnook), as well as for a 

significant expansion for Cossington Primary School. 

However, it should be noted that further conversations are required with CBC and developers regarding the potential requirement of additional land for 

Woodbrook Vale Academy to support housing development to the the south of Loughborough, and also for the delivery of new SEND provisions across the 

Borough.  Wherever possible new SEND provisions will be attached to existing or new, primary or secondary schools in each locality accepting there will be 

circumstances where some pupils with specialist needs may need to attend schools further afield. 

From an Early Years perspective, it is expected that new provision will be developed in each locality either attached to schools and/or placed separately in 

community hubs. 

The County Council has a statutory duty to provide every child with a school place, ideally within the locality where they reside. It is encouraging that the 

draft Local Plan appears to recognise that good and sustainable schools function best when placed at the heart of the communities they serve. This 

connection is particularly important, as the benefits of ensuring pupils are educated in their local communities are multifaceted; to pupils in terms of their 

education and social development (including the transition to healthy and participatory adulthood) and to the local economy which is derived from future 

employees who attended local schools with continuity and progression, related to skills required by nearby employers and local family support networks. 

LCC is confident that CBC are covering biodiversity issues appropriately; supported by CBC’s own in-house ecologist. 
 
It is repeatedly stated in the document that SuDS should be implemented where appropriate. This makes it sound more optional than it is. It is suggested 
that stronger statements should be used, such as ‘SuDS must be incorporated, unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate;”. This is also 
more in-line with NPPF wording (NPPF Para 163). 
 
The LLFA would request the LPA consider making pervious paving SuDS a requirement for all private driveways and shared parking areas on residential 
developments. This will provide source control treatment and reduce the total volume of run-off from a development site. These should only be used for 
attenuation where they are located within shared areas accessible by an appointed maintenance company. 
 
It would be useful to have a list of references at the end of the document which refer to the external evidence supporting the document. 
 
Public transport is used numerously throughout the document. It would be better to use the terminology ‘Passenger Transport’ instead where it occurs. 
 
For ease of reading it would be better if diagrams and maps had figure numbers, so it is easy to refer to them in the text. This would be the same for tables. 

216



39 
 

 

Profile, Pg. 8  A map of the location of Charnwood would be a good visual aid for people reading the document to break up the text and give a 
different method of showing the key settlements/ strategic transport network around it. 

 It may also be more visually pleasing to split the profile information into a table. 

Section 1.26  Missing a full stop at the end. 

Pg. 19  Paragraph 2.7 is missing a comma between employment and shops which we recommend amending. 

Pg. 119  Section 3.182 is missing a full stop at the end of the sentence. 

Pg. 129  Section 3.212 states “the following map…” however this is related to a map previous to this text, so perhaps this should say the “ the 
map above.” Or refer to a figure number. 

Pg. 138   Section 4.28 is missing a full stop at the end. 

Pg. 164  Section 7.2- ‘process’ should be ‘processes’ in the paragraph. 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 

In addition to the comments already made, more detailed site-specific consultation responses will be submitted in respect of the County Council’s Sites at 
Farley Way and Barrow Road, Quorn. 
 

 

217



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

RESPONSE TO THE HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BOROUGH 
COUNCIL’S DRAFT LOCAL PLAN (REGULATION 18) 

CONSULTATION  
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet on the content of Hinckley 
and Bosworth Borough Council’s Draft Local Plan, and to seek approval for 
comments to be submitted to the Borough Council as the views of the County 
Council. 
 

2. The detailed comments are set out in the Appendix to this report and key 
issues are highlighted in paragraphs 38 to 121 below. 

 
3. As the consultation period ended on 27 August 2021 it was agreed with the 

Borough Council that comments would be submitted by officers by this date as 
the County Council’s views. Formal confirmation of those comments, with any 
additions or amendments arising from consideration by the Cabinet will be 
submitted to the Borough Council following the Cabinet meeting. 

 
Recommendations 
 
4. It is recommended that: 

 
a) The comments set out in the Appendix to this report be forwarded to 

Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council as the views of the County Council 
on the Draft Hinckley and Bosworth Local Plan 2020 to 2039; 

 
b) That Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council be advised that the County 

Council  
 

i. considers that partnership working arrangements between the 
Borough Council, the County Council and other partners, notably 
National Highways, need to be formalised as a matter of urgency; 

 
ii. will need to secure substantial funds from the Borough Council and 

other partners in order to meet the (as yet unidentified) cost of the 

219 Agenda Item 12



work to identify transport mitigation measures and strategy required to 
support delivery of the Draft Hinckley and Bosworth Local Plan; 

 
iii. accordingly, requests the Borough Council to delay progressing to 

Regulation 19 stage of the Local Plan in order for the Draft to be fully 
informed by transport evidence. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 

5. Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council’s new Local Plan will set out the 
Borough’s development strategy to 2039. Given its location close to Leicester 
and close functional connectivity to communities living and working in Blaby, 
Charnwood and North West Leicestershire, the content of the emerging Local 
Plan is particularly important to this area and the wider Leicester and 
Leicestershire Housing Market Area (L&L HMA). 

 
6. The County Council wishes to see alignment of the Borough’s Draft Local Plan 

with other key strategies (for example, the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Strategic Growth Plan) and for it to provide a robust policy platform to secure 
the infrastructure and services to support its delivery and protect local 
communities. 

 
7. It is a matter of some concern that the Borough Council has not published any 

transport assessment as part of the evidence base for this consultation. The 
highways and transport issues arising from accommodating further growth in 
the Borough are expected to have significant impacts on local road networks (in 
Leicestershire, Leicester, and Warwickshire) and the strategic road network. 

 
8. As the Highway Authority the County Council would expect to see, at the point 

of a Local Plan’s submission, a clear understanding of the likely nature, scope, 
scale (cost) and deliverability of the transport measures required. Transport 
modelling takes time and a formal partnership approach is needed to develop 
transport mitigation strategies. To date, transport work has been concerned 
only with base inputs and potential impacts of development options.  
 

9. In the current financial climate, the financial risk to the County Council needs to 
be minimised. Therefore a joint commitment to developing a funding strategy 
for how infrastructure will be funded in the Hinckley and Bosworth BC Local 
Plan will be essential. 
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 

10. As explained above, comments were submitted to Hinckley and Bosworth BC 
by 27 August 2021 and any additions or amendments arising from 
consideration by the Cabinet will be submitted following the Cabinet meeting.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

11. In March 2019 the Cabinet agreed a response to be submitted on behalf of the 
County Council to consultation from Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council 

220



relating to its Local Plan Review: New Directions for Growth. This included 
concern about the lack of consultation with the Highway Authority and 
insufficient reference to the policy framework provided by the agreed Strategic 
Growth Plan (SGP). It emphasised the need for a constructive, co-operative 
approach from the Borough Council and noted that the County Council had 
worked hard with partners and invested more than £10m over the last five 
years to improve highways infrastructure in the Hinckley area. 

 
12. The Council’s Strategic Plan (2018 to 2022) “Working together for the benefit of 

everyone” was approved by the County Council in July 2020 (having been 
revised in light of the Council’s declaration on climate change). It has five 
strategic outcomes, with the delivery of ‘Affordable and Quality Homes’ and 
‘Strong Economy’ most directly affected by Hinckley and Bosworth BC’s 
emerging Local Plan. 

 
13. In 2018 the County Council, Leicester City Council, the seven district councils 

in Leicestershire, and the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership, 
approved the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) which 
provides the long-term vision for planned growth for the area up to 2050. 

 
14. For the south west parts of Leicestershire, which includes Hinckley and 

Bosworth Borough, the foci for growth set out in SGP are: 

 Managed growth for Hinckley, further sustainable development 
consistent with the need to support local growth (in particular, 
aspirations for continued town centre regeneration and better services) 
and; 

 the A5 improvement corridor 
 

15. The essential infrastructure to support the delivery of growth shown on the SGP 
strategy diagram for south west parts of Leicestershire are: 

 M1 Leicester Western Access and M1 North Leicestershire extra 
capacity;  

 A46 Priority Growth Corridor; 

 A5 improvement corridor 

 Rail improvements.  
 

16. The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Transport Priorities (LLTSTP) was 
approved by the Cabinet on 20 November 2020. This document was developed 
by the county and city councils alongside the SGP to ensure the long-term 
development needs and associated transportation requirements are co-
ordinated.  
 

17. In November 2020 Midlands Connect Published the A46 Phase 2 Study. Taking 
into account the SGP, the study showed a road of ‘Expressway’ standard is not 
needed around the South and East of Leicester to serve people making long 
distance trips but confirmed a lower standard of road is still required to support 
new housing and economic development delivered in accordance with the 
spatial distribution of housing set out in the SGP. 

 

221



18. On 22 June 2021 the Cabinet received a report regarding the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Statement of Common Ground Relating to Housing and 
Employment Land Needs (SoCG) and noted that the County Council was a 
signatory to the document as a factual statement, i.e. not necessarily 
supporting the content of the emerging Charnwood Local Plan but agreeing the 
needs, theoretical supply, scale of unmet need from Leicester City, and process 
by which unmet need would be addressed. This SoCG prepared to accompany 
the Charnwood Local Plan process also provides an up to date context for the 
current stage of the Hinckley and Bosworth Local Plan process.  
 

Resource Implications 
 

19. The revised capital programme for 2021-25 as presented in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy report on this agenda now stands at £539m over the four 
year period. This latest position includes £166m currently unfunded from 
borrowing (hopefully contained to internal borrowing against cash balances but 
the risk of having to undertake borrowing externally is increasing). 

 
20. Within the programme, a significant list of schemes and activities linked to 

supporting both housing and economic growth are included. However, the 
proposals from the emerging and updated district council Local Plans will lead 
to a demand for further schemes to be delivered, and as such further 
substantial pressures on the County Council’s financial resources. 

 

21. Further schemes can only be accommodated when sufficient confidence can 
be obtained that developer funding will be forthcoming to repay the County 
Council’s investment. 

 
22. The scale of the infrastructure, and the need for much of it to be needed in 

advance of development, will put pressure on the County Council to cash flow it 
in advance of funding being received from developers. However, given the 
wider pressures on the County Council’s financial position, there is limited 
scope for this and there will inevitably be a need for prioritisation. 

 
23. It is of paramount importance that early engagement and close working is 

undertaken between the County Council and other partners in the delivery of 
infrastructure and related proposals to help to partially mitigate some of these 
risks.   

 

24. It is also crucial that there is flexibility wherever possible around timing of spend 
and what money is spent on as well as ensuring developer contributions to 
local infrastructure costs can be secured in a coordinated and equitable 
manner. 

 

25. The Government’s ambitions in the Planning White Paper (August 2020) will 
also need to be factored into the delivery of emerging Local Plans, 
necessitating adjustment and perhaps major changes to the mechanisms used 
to secure and deliver infrastructure. 

 

222



Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

26. This report will be circulated to all Members.  
 

Officers to Contact 
 

Tom Purnell   
Assistant Chief Executive  
Tel: 0116 305 7019   Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk 
 

Simon Lawrence 
Growth Service and Major Programmes Manager 
Tel: 0116 305 7243   Email: simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk 
 
Sharon Wiggins  
Strategic Planning Manager, Chief Executive’s Dept. 
Tel: 0116 305 8234   Email: sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tim Smith 
Strategic Planning and Policy Officer, Chief Executive’s Dept  
Tel. 0116 305 7219   Email: tim.smith@leics.gov.uk 

223

mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk
mailto:sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk


PART B 

 
Background 
 
27. The preparation of Local Plans involves various stages of consultation. This 

consultation from Hinckley and Bosworth BC is known as a “Regulation 18” 
consultation. Comments received will inform the Borough Council’s approach to 
its emerging Local Plan. This will be followed by a formal consultation on its 
Pre-Submission Draft Local Plan (Regulation 19), currently proposed to take 
place in December 2021/January 2022. Once submitted to the Secretary of 
State and agreed by the Planning Inspectorate, the document will replace the 
current Hinckley and Bosworth Core Strategy (December 2009), Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies (July 2016), Hinckley Town 
Centre Area Action Plan (March 2011) and Earl Shilton and Barwell Area Action 
Plan (September 2014).  It is currently expected that a Local Plan Examination 
(part of the statutory process prior to formal adoption) will be held in Summer 
2022.  

 
28. The Government’s Planning White Paper, considered by the Cabinet on 18 

September 2020, proposes ‘end to end’ reform of the current planning system 
in England. Local Plans are proposed for retention but with a greater role and 
tighter timeframe. Once the consultation responses have been considered by 
Government legislative change and revision to national planning policy will take 
place and will impact on plan making processes. The timescale for these 
changes is not yet known, however, it is understood Government will make an 
announcement on planning reforms in the autumn. 

 
29. In December 2020 Government announced a new Standard Method for the 

calculation of local housing need, which included a 35% uplift for the 20 largest 
cities and urban areas in England, including Leicester. For the L&L HMA this 
gives an indicative housing need figure of 5,520 per year 2020-2036. Whilst the 
figures in the districts remain largely the same, the need in Leicester has 
increased by about 10,000 homes (600 homes per year). 

 
Overview of content of Hinckley and Bosworth BC Draft Local Plan document 

 
30. The Hinckley and Bosworth Local Plan will set out the vision and objectives for 

the growth of the Borough up to 2039. The Draft Plan seeks to present the 
emerging position and seeks comments and asks questions to refine and 
shape the strategy and policies of the Plan. It acknowledges that further 
evidence is still being prepared.  

 
31. The standard method for assessing local housing need as set out in the 

National Planning Policy Guidance identifies an annual housing need figure for 
Hinckley and Bosworth of 444 dwellings per year (8,436 dwellings over the 
period 2020-2039). Hinckley and Bosworth BC propose planning for this scale 
of new housing growth with an additional 10% to allow for flexibility and to 
respond to unmet housing need in the city of Leicester; the draft Local Plan 
allocates development for 9,280 new dwellings.  
 

224



32. The preferred strategy for growth seeks to direct 70% of housing and economic 
growth to the urban areas of the Borough, with 30% to key rural settlements. 
Out of the total identified supply of new dwellings, 4,000 are through existing 
commitments. The remaining 5,000 are through allocated sites comprising: 

 Earl Shilton SUE – 1,000 dwellings 

 Barwell SUE – 990 dwellings 

 Remainder of Urban Area – 1,596 dwellings 

 Rural Area – 1,607 dwellings 

 

33. Two Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUEs) are currently planned at Barwell 
and Earl Shilton. The Borough Council expects that the Barwell SUE will 
provide 2,500 new homes and Earl Shilton 1,600, although this may not be 
delivered in its entirety prior to the end of the Plan period in 2039.  

 
Duty to Cooperate 

 
34. It is recognised that should a Housing Market Area (HMA) authority identify, 

quantify and provide robust evidence to demonstrate an unmet need, it is 
incumbent upon the HMA authorities to jointly resolve any cross-boundary 
matters with HMA partners under the Duty to Co-operate. Whilst it is 
acknowledged that Government intends to reform the planning system and 
recently consulted on a White Paper – Planning for the Future, there is as yet 
no timetable for such reforms. The Duty to Cooperate is a key to the ongoing 
success of the SGP. Without the SGP and without a clear aligned approach to 
delivery, Leicestershire faces high levels of speculative/indiscriminate 
development with the consequent high risk of inadequate highway and 
education infrastructure. To avoid this, ongoing commitment from all the local 
authorities to the SGP is therefore crucial, as is their support for a collaborative 
and coordinated approach to the defining and allocating of infrastructure 
funding requirements of local plans. 

 
35. All ten partners to the SGP also signed up to a Joint Position Statement relating 

to Leicester’s Housing and Employment Land Needs in September 2020. This 
sets out how the local authorities and the LLEP will continue to work together to 
accommodate unmet need for housing and employment land identified in the 
draft City of Leicester Local Plan. 

 

36. In April 2021, the County Council became a signatory to a Statement of 
Common Ground (SoCG) prepared by the Leicester and Leicestershire local 
planning authorities and the County Council, guided by the Strategic Planning 
Group and Members’ Advisory Group to support the Charnwood Local Plan 
process. In becoming a signatory to the SoCG, the County Council was not 
necessarily giving support to the content of the emerging Charnwood Local 
Plan. The key strategic matters covered in the SoCG under the Duty to Co-
operate are; Leicester and Leicestershire Housing and Employment Needs to 
2036; Unmet Need to 2036; and the process of apportioning unmet need to 
2036. 

 

225



37. A future SoCG  for Leicester and Leicestershire dealing with the apportionment 
of unmet need from the City to the district councils will be informed by strategic 
evidence work currently being undertaken by partners in Leicester and 
Leicestershire to inform future infrastructure and growth, and work the City 
Council is undertaking to maximise the growth it is able to accommodate 
without adversely affecting the environment and quality of place. It is expected 
this will be available in winter 2021/2022 and will be the subject of a report to 
the Cabinet. 
 

Response to the Draft Hinckley and Bosworth Local Plan document  
 

38. The comments of the County Council in response to the questions put in the 
consultation are set out in the Appendix to this report. A summary of the key 
issues is set out below, covering     
 

- Overarching response 
- Vision and objectives 
- Climate Change 
- Scale and distribution of planned growth and Local Plan Review Policy 
- Other development strategy considerations 
- Transport 
- Costs, viability and developer contributions 
- Education 
- Place Making and Design 
- Housing 
- Economic Prosperity 
- Town Centres 
- Communities, Leisure and Tourism 
- Heritage and Conservation 
- Natural Environment 
- Waste 
- Minerals 
- The County Council as a landowner. 

 
Overarching response 
 
39. Closer partnership working is required with Hinckley and Bosworth BC across 

key disciplines and at a senior level in recognition of: 

 the challenges presented by the Strategic Road Network (SRN) in the 
Borough and wider area; 

 the lack of capacity on the Local Road Network; 

 the need to take a strategic approach to education and other 
infrastructure provision; and  

 The need to secure deliverable planned growth supported by 
infrastructure rather than unplanned speculative development. 

     
40. The County Council recognises that a new sustainable and deliverable Local 

Plan is required as a Plan-led approach offers the greatest opportunities to 
address key challenges in comparison to seeking to deal with the impacts of 
ad-hoc ‘unplanned’ growth. Furthermore, the County Council wishes to enable 

226



continued progress towards an up to date adopted Local Plan recognising the 
risk presented by the lack of five-year land supply. To achieve this the County 
Council wishes to put in place stronger partnership working arrangements with 
Hinckley and Bosworth BC and other partners. 

 
41. To date the level of involvement in partnership working desired by the County 

Council has not been achieved, it has been more ‘arms-length’ in nature.  
Therefore, the County Council wishes to change this moving forward, and put in 
place better, closer partnership working arrangements which will benefit the 
County Council, Hinckley and Bosworth BC and other partners in successfully 
achieving sustainable planned growth. The County Council is of the view that to 
achieve this level of working a delay is required in Hinckley and Bosworth BC’s 
current Local Plan programme before progressing to Regulation 19. 

 
42. The Appendix contains the officer responses to the thirty-three questions posed 

by Hinckley and Bosworth BC in their consultation. Set out below are the key 
points arising from consideration of the draft Local Plan. 
 

Vision and objectives 
 

43. The reference to Midlands Engine is supported, however there should also be 
reference made to the SGP, the environment and associated key aspirations 
for the Borough, especially in respect of the climate emergency. 

 
44. An amendment to Objective 3 (“…that the future infrastructure needs… are 

properly assessed, planned for and delivered at the right time in the 
development process”) is sought, to reflect that it is increasingly necessary for 
individual districts to consider future transport infrastructure requirements on a 
cross-boundary, cumulative basis. For example, recognising where the 
provision of new/improved transport infrastructure in one district will also be 
critical to unlock/support growth in another. 

 
45. It is requested that Objective 7 (Climate Change) is strengthened to better 

reflect the context of recent national/local ‘climate emergency’ declarations and 
associated policies/priorities. 

   
46. Support is given to references to healthy people and wider determinants of 

health such as work and home environments. 
 
47. It is advised that specific reference should be made to biodiversity net-gain and 

new requirement in the National Planning Policy Framework to integrate 
biodiversity within design of development.  

 
Climate Change 
 
48. The planned approach to mitigating and adapting to climate change should be 

reviewed and updated as necessary in light of the Government’s recently 
published Transport Decarbonisation Plan. 

 

227



49. The approach should be strengthened by adding reference to the provision of 
infrastructure/facilities to support low and zero-carbon vehicle technologies, 
such as electric vehicle charging points. Reference should also be made to the 
potential to mitigate climate change through the delivery of off-site renewables. 

 
Scale and distribution of planned growth and Local Plan Review Policy 
 
50. The proposed scale of growth to be planned for is appropriate at the current 

time, as the most up to date Standard Method used is plus 10% contingency. It 
is advised that the 10% contingency should allow for flexibility in delivery during 
the Plan period and should not be relied upon for taking a proportion of unmet 
need from the City. It is considered that this will need to be dealt with through a 
review of the Local Plan following the publication of the SoCG for Leicester and 
Leicestershire apportioning unmet need arising from the City to the districts. 

 
51. A Local Plan review trigger policy is required. This is needed to handle future 

anticipated ‘knowns’ such as the SoCG for Leicester and Leicestershire 
apportioning unmet need arising from Leicester City to the districts which will be 
informed by current ongoing joint evidence work, the outcome of the Nationally 
Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) process on the Hinckley National Rail 
Freight Interchange (HNRFI) if consent is granted, future national planning 
reforms etc. as well as triggering a review in the light of other significant future 
unforeseen changes in circumstances.   

 
52. With regards to spatial distribution, it is considered that the 70% urban areas 

and 30% rural areas split needs to be more focused on urban areas and less 
on rural wherever this is possible. Urban areas offer a greater degree of 
connectivity to key services and facilities and employment opportunities and 
greater scope for sustainable forms of travel. The SGP anticipates a shift 
towards the provision of more future growth on strategic sites with the ability to 
plan for, and secure funding for associated infrastructure together with S106 
developer contributions. Strategic sites are more likely to be appropriately 
located adjoining existing urban areas rather than in connection with existing 
villages in more rural settings unless they have the potential to form new 
freestanding settlements.  

 
53. The spatial distribution needs to also be informed by further transport work and 

by the aspirations of infrastructure providers, including County Council 
infrastructure providers. So, exploring scope to utilise existing or anticipated 
spare capacity and siting potential allocations in areas where more than one 
community can be served. 

 
54. Early reference in the Local Plan to the SGP is supported, however an issue 

that will ultimately need to be addressed is how the Local Plan will incorporate 
and/or respond to ongoing and planned work to support the SGP and the 
emerging Local Plans of adjacent districts in and around the SGP ‘Priority 
Growth Corridor’. In particular, no reference is made to the Borough abutting 
the western end of the A46 Priority Growth Corridor with the cross-boundary 
implications of growth that will need to be considered, noting that this work 
could identify a need for significant changes to the Plan in transport terms. This 

228



further emphasises the need for a Local Plan review policy within the Local 
Plan. 

 
55. If the HNRFI is permitted and developed it is likely to have a very significant 

highways and transport impact and could have material implications for the 
deliverability of sites that will ultimately be included in the new Local Plan. It is 
therefore necessary that the Local Plan review policy is triggered should the 
HNRFI gain approval. 

 

56. From the County Council’s knowledge and involvement with the preparation of 
adjoining Local Plans (including Charnwood, Blaby and the City of Leicester), 
the following observations are likely to have material implications for arriving at 
a preferred strategy for the Hinckley and Bosworth Borough: 

 The A5 in the Hinckley area is already failing functionally, in terms of 
its capacity and disruption caused by the frequent rail bridge strikes. It 
is possible that without a strategic scale intervention, the corridor’s 
ability to enable further growth will be significantly limited. Without 
such intervention, the impacts of growth would likely result in the 
displacement of traffic to far less suitable and appropriate routes within 
and around Hinckley and across the boundary in Warwickshire. 

 The M1 between Junction 21 and 21a and the Leicester Western 
Bypass from J21a around to the Hobby Horse roundabout at Syston 
(both parts of the Strategic Road Network – SRN) are also failing 
functionally. The highways impacts of any proposals for growth, 
especially towards the north east of the Borough, are likely to have a 
material impact on these parts of the SRN, which when combined with 
the cumulative impacts of growth proposed in adjoining areas, is likely 
to prove challenging, complex and costly to address. 

 Notwithstanding the proposed Major Road Network project on the 
A50/A511 corridor, there is evidence (emerging from other Local Plan 
work) to suggest that further measures are likely to be required along 
the corridor to ensure that it can continue to play its relevant role in 
enabling growth and in providing access to jobs and key services and 
facilities in the City of Leicester. 

 

Other development strategy considerations 

 

57. The absence of any formally published comprehensive transport evidence base 
and information about potential sites, means it is difficult to comment on 
whether policies are likely to be sufficiently robust in terms of dealing with the 
impacts of further growth in the Borough and seeking to secure funding. 

 
58. The County Council would welcome the opportunity to work with Hinckley and 

Bosworth BC and other relevant partners to review jointly the evidence work to 
date; to support Hinckley and Bosworth BC in undertaking work to explore 
options for and pathways towards the delivery of required highways and 
transport mitigation measures; consider how this might impact on assumptions 
about potential sites to be included in the next version of the Plan; and also to 
review how this affects the contents of the Plan. 

 

229



59. A coordinated, strategy-led approach will be required to address the transport 
challenges of seeking to accommodate further growth (housing and 
employment) in the Borough, one involving cross-boundary coordination and 
cooperation (within and without Leicestershire) and including National 
Highways (formally Highways England). The Local Plan needs to provide 
policies and text that underpin this approach and provide a robust basis for 
seeking developer contributions towards mitigating measures to address 
cumulative impacts within and without the Borough/ Leicestershire. 

 

60. The emerging Local Plan’s continued reliance on the Barwell and Earl Shilton 
SUEs as principal strategic sites for meeting the Borough’s future housing 
growth requirements is noted, however development has yet to commence at 
either site. Furthermore, the draft Plan indicates that housing delivery across 
these two sites during the emerging plan period (i.e. 2020-2039) will be less 
than half the total allocated through the 2009 Core Strategy. Additionally, the 
draft Plan indicates that the total housing growth envisaged at the Earl Shilton 
is now significantly lower than the original allocation set out within the 2009 
Core Strategy.  
 

61. All of the above has potentially significant implications for: 

 The delivery of supporting transport infrastructure previously 
committed to through the 2009 Core Strategy. 

 The cumulative impacts of the Barwell/Earl Shilton SUEs when 
considered in conjunction with other planned (or potential future) 
developments within and without Hinckley and Bosworth Borough 
(recognising the substantial changes that have taken place in this 
respect since 2009). 

 In light of the preceding point, the specific transport infrastructure 
required to address these cumulative impacts.  

 
62. The inclusion of updated policies for the two SUEs is required within the draft 

Plan. 
 
63. There is a need for ‘Doorstep’ green spaces that provide ‘wedges’ and 

‘corridors’ throughout development so that it has a cumulative impact for nature 
networks. This includes providing buffers between the A5 Growth Corridor 
employment and residential sites.  

 
64. The ongoing review of the settlement hierarchy needs to consider implications 

of SGP “Priority Growth Corridor” and “A5 Improvement Corridor” in the 
identification of settlement roles in the future.  

 
65. It is suggested that consideration is given to identifying Groby and Ratby in a 

separate ‘Edge of Leicester Urban Area’ category, given their much closer 
physical proximity and stronger transport links in comparison to other 
settlements across the Borough identified as ‘key rural centres’. 

 

66. Any new settlement should be of a scale that ensures it will contain a range of 
economic and social services and facilities that means it is likely to function as 
a true ‘free standing’/largely self-contained community, or alternatively is 

230



located close to existing urban areas (and associated services and facilities) in 
locations accessible via sustainable modes of travel. 

 

67. From a transport perspective, it would be very helpful if the new Plan could at 
least identify (underpinned by evidence) the likely area of the Borough in which 
any new settlement may be located in the future. It would also be helpful if the 
Plan could set out the ‘journey’ by which proposals for the new settlement (and 
supporting measures and infrastructure) will be developed and how, in the 
meantime, any proposals that might come forward that could hamper or 
frustrate delivery of the new settlement, or potential infrastructure required to 
enable it, will be dealt with. 

 

68. Access to green spaces within and adjacent to new settlements is very 
important and should look to provide new habitat as well as restoring and 
enhancing existing areas.  

 

69. It is considered that Health Impact Assessments should also be undertaken on 
potential new settlements.  

 
Transport 
 
70. Policy HT01 (Highways and Transportation) is too generic and unlikely to 

provide a sufficiently robust basis for seeking developer contributions towards 
mitigating measures to address cumulative impacts within and without the 
Borough/Leicestershire. No reference is made in the text to the Strategic Road 
Network and the roles and responsibilities of National Highways . Also, it is 
considered that the policy wording uses phraseology that is inconsistent with 
that of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
71. The emphasis on safe walking and cycling is welcome but it could also 

reference supporting infrastructure such as safe, secure cycle storage. 
 
72. The Local Plan needs to set out how it will incorporate/respond to the Strategic 

Growth Plan (SGP) and the emerging Local Plans of adjacent districts in and 
around the SGP ‘Priority Growth Corridor’, noting that this work could identify a 
need for significant changes to the Plan in transport terms (e.g. transport 
mitigation measures identified to accommodate the Local Plan could be 
superseded by ‘bigger’ mitigation requirements to deal with wider growth 
identified through the SGP/adjacent Local Plans). 

 
73. If the Local Plan is to be submitted prior to the conclusion of the SGP transport 

work, the County Council considers that it would need to include a policy setting 
out an appropriate review trigger/mechanism to ensure that the Plan is updated 
as necessary to reflect the outcomes of the SGP and adjacent Local Plans 
work as and when this emerges. 

 
74. With regards to Policy HT04 (A5 Improvement Corridor) a specific policy on the 

A5 is welcomed but the wording is inconsistent with that used in the NPPF. It is 
unclear why just cumulative impacts of the corridor are covered. Given the poor 
functionality of the corridor, it is highly probable that even the impacts of a 

231



single development could have a material impact. The County Council would 
welcome planning policy protection that could be afforded to seeking to 
safeguard the route’s upgrade. Were the opportunity to be lost to achieve the 
route’s upgrade, this would likely have a material impact on the ability to deliver 
any further growth. 

 
75. Whilst the principle of an A5 specific policy is welcomed, it is not apparent from 

the way that it is presently drafted that its intention is to seek to safeguard land 
for the future strategic upgrade of the A5 through the Borough. 

 
76. Regardless of the eventual preferred strategy, it is likely that a coordinated, 

strategy-led approach will be required to address the transport challenges of 
seeking to accommodate further growth (housing and employment) in the 
Borough, one involving cross-boundary coordination and cooperation (within 
and without Leicestershire) and including National Highways . The County 
Council, in particular in its role as the Local Highway Authority (LHA), would 
expect the Plan to provide policies and text that underpin this approach and 
provide a robust basis for seeking developer contributions towards mitigating 
measures to address cumulative impacts within and without the Borough/ 
Leicestershire. 

 
Costs, viability and developer contributions 
 
77. The cost associated with addressing these challenges could be significant – 

especially where delivery of growth is reliant on addressing issues on the 
Strategic Road Network (including the M1, A5 and A46). Should it be that the 
costs of addressing issues were to rest solely with developers, there is a risk 
that this would render the Plan unviable. It will be important, therefore, for 
Hinckley and Bosworth BC to work jointly with the LHA, National Highways  and 
other highway authorities as necessary (e.g. Warwickshire County Council) to 
continue to develop evidence that identifies the impacts of the Plan’s proposals 
for growth; to identify the mitigating measures and infrastructure to enable that 
growth; and to identify and agree with the highway authorities appropriate 
delivery pathways and potential funding sources.  

 

78. What is agreed will be reflected in the Plan in terms of a narrative for the 
infrastructure delivery ‘journey’ that the strategic highway authorities are on and 
the co-ordinated, strategy-led approach required towards the development and 
delivery of projects. In this context, there is a notable absence of any specific 
reference to the need for developer contributions towards addressing 
cumulative and cross-boundary impacts and associated infrastructure 
requirements within either the proposed infrastructure and delivery policy or 
supporting text. 

 
79. Furthermore, the suggestion that 100% affordable housing schemes proposed 

and supported with Affordable Housing Grant from Homes England should be 
exempt from providing other planning contributions is opposed. The residents 
of these properties will still require access to local infrastructure, and it will fall 
to other organisations such as the County Council to pay for this infrastructure 
out of public money as opposed to the developer. For example, some types of 

232



affordable housing may generate increased pupil yield compared to market 
housing, and in the absence of developer obligations, a lack of funds for 
education infrastructure may lead to a deficiency of school places. The County 
Council strongly recommends that this be removed as any such requests 
should be subject to viability testing in the same way as all developments. 

 
80. Reference in the Local Plan to the requirements in the County Council’s 

Planning Obligations Policy (July 2019) needs to be made so that other 
infrastructure such as public health is not overlooked.  

 
Education 
 
81. The Draft Plan, at this stage, provides insufficient detail to respond fully 

regarding specific education infrastructure required and the County Council 
would welcome the opportunity to discuss the draft allocations at the earliest 
opportunity to crystallise the potential educational infrastructure requirements.  

 
82. A number of existing schools within the Borough are currently operating at the 

upper limit of their site capacity and may not be able to provide school places 
which would arise from the allocation of substantial housing growth, particularly 
some of the smaller village schools. 

 
83. The Plan should make provision to secure additional land for expansion of 

existing schools, or sites for additional schools in the area, with suitable scale 
of development to ensure the viability and sustainability of new schools (700 
dwellings for primary, 4500 for secondary), along with suitable financial 
contributions. 

 
84. Wherever possible new Special Educational Needs and Disabilities provision 

will be attached to existing or new primary or secondary schools in the locality, 
accepting there will be circumstances where pupils with specialist needs may 
need to attend schools further afield. 

 
85. From an Early Years perspective, it is expected that new provision will be 

developed in each locality, either attached to schools or placed separately in 
community hubs. 

 
86. Reserved sites for expansion of existing, or the construction of new schools will 

need to reflect statutory guidance from the Department for Education regarding 
reasonable walking distances from home to school of two miles for primary 
pupils and three miles for secondary pupils. 

 
87. The County Council has a statutory duty to provide every child with a school 

place. The draft Local Plan recognises that school’s function best when placed 
at the heart of the communities they serve. This connection is particularly 
important as, by ensuring pupils are educated in their local communities, 
support can be more easily given into local employment and progression 
beyond, and it can help with the transition into healthy and participatory 
adulthood.      
 

233



Place Making and Design 
 
88. The County Council recognises the role high-quality design can play, though 

long-term maintenance can be an issue, so those promoting non-standard 
materials or elements need to also include a strategy for long term 
maintenance. 

 
89. The Local Plan should more strongly articulate the need for Electronic Vehicle 

charging points to be a standard feature of all new developments and should 
specify what high quality in design means for nature. 

 
90. Active travel, air quality and accessibility are all considered, but a design that 

truly improves health and wellbeing of residents needs to have a wider lens 
than just active design, include the impact of design by the wider determinants 
of health. 

 

Housing 
 

91. The proposed housing mix needs to accord with currently available housing 
needs information and be applied to all major developments, meeting nationally 
described space standards for all new dwellings.  

 
92. A Strategic Health Impact Assessment (HIA) led by Public Health and 

supplemented by rapid targeted HIA on planning applications would bring 
together considerations around how development will affect a person’s mental 
health, access to services, education and many more factors.   

 
93. It is considered that there is a current lack of specifics with regards to models of 

specialist accommodation for older people with vulnerabilities which offer an 
alternative to residential care homes.   

 
94. Housing density should be pitched at a level that provides a good quality of life 

for future occupants whilst delivering an economic return to the 
developer/landowner sufficient to secure the delivery of the housing. 

 
95. The avoidance of clustering of affordable housing is welcome and would make 

more sense to locate accessible dwellings on larger sites as close as possible 
to existing or planned public/passenger transport routes and stops, to minimise 
walking distances and thereby maximise the ability of accessible housing 
occupants to use these services. 

 
96. The estimated need for affordable housing seems to have been informed by 

Housing Needs Study (2019), but there is no mention of how the pandemic and 
the long-term effects (particularly financial) may have/will exacerbate this need.  

 
97. Planning Obligations Paragraph 7.32 states that 100% affordable housing 

proposals where grant are sought from Homes England will be exempt from all 
other infrastructure requirements. The residents of these properties will still 
require access to local infrastructure, and it will fall to other organisations such 
as the County Council to pay for this infrastructure out of public money as 

234



opposed to the developer. The County Council strongly recommends that this 
be removed as any such requests should be subject to viability testing in the 
same way as all developments. 

 
98. Gypsy, Traveller and Showpeople sites should be included in the local plan and 

consideration given to providing socially rented pitches or at least a proportion 
of new pitches to be socially rented, and that if the Local Plan fails to deliver 
new private pitches further socially rented pitches would be considered.  

 
Economic Prosperity 

 

99. It is difficult to respond to how best deliver the necessary employment land and 
premises required to meet the identified need, in the absence of an identified 
employment need or potential site options for meeting this need. 

 
100. The Local Plan recognises the need to encourage economic growth and 

aspires to meet the demand for high quality premises across the whole 
borough. It also recognises the likely need to address some of Leicester City’s 
unmet employment needs for which additional allocations should be made in 
accordance with the SoCG. 

 
101. Policy EP01 (Scale and distribution of new Employment Sites) correctly 

identifies transport as key factor in deciding the best locations for new 'strategic' 
employment development and so the County Council would welcome the 
opportunity to engage/input to the appraisal of sites for potential inclusion in the 
emerging Local Plan.  The Plan should be underpinned by an evidence base 
that assesses the impacts of potential employment sites and identifies 
appropriate mitigation, including to address cumulative impacts.  

 

102. A5, M1 J21 and J21a in the Hinckley area and Leicester Western Bypass from 
J21a around to the Hobby Horse roundabout at Syston are already failing 
functionally. It is possible that without a strategic scale intervention, the ability 
to enable further growth will be significantly limited and likely to prove 
challenging, complex and costly to address. On the A50/A511 corridor, further 
measures are likely to be required along the corridor to ensure that it can 
continue to play its relevant role in enabling growth and in providing access to 
jobs and key services and facilities in the City of Leicester. 

 
103. The process of identifying future strategic distribution needs and locations 

through the Local Plan will need to consider how such needs and locations 
might be influenced by the SGP and associated growth in neighbouring Local 
Planning Authorities. 

 
104. HNRFI will be subject to the (NSIP) process. It is surprising that the Plan does 

not include or suggest the need to include in its next version, a Policy in respect 
of triggering a review of the Plan should the HNRFI gain approval. 

 
 
 
 

235



Town Centres 
 
105. The Local Plan is very focussed on retail and there is no acknowledgement of a 

shift to on-line retailing and therefore town centres need to adapt and become 
places/centres that people visit not just for shopping, but for events and other 
leisure activities.  

 
106. The County Council is supportive of the policy approach that helps to regulate 

any changes of use where this is likely to significantly reduce access to key 
services or facilities via sustainable modes of travel, and could thereby 
adversely affect the sustainability of an existing settlement and/or wider 
planned development.  

 
107. Whilst protecting employment uses wherever feasible and economically viable, 

the Policy should be made as flexible as possible to maximise the potential for 
premises/areas to remain in a beneficial economic use within the general Class 
E (Commercial, Business and Service) use. Any potential change of use should 
require a Health Impact Assessment.  

 
Communities, Leisure and Tourism 
 
108. Reference should be made to the Leicester and Leicestershire Tourism Growth 

Plan, the impact of the pandemic on the sector or the importance that the 
sector plays in the economy.  

 
109. The inclusion and acknowledgement of the importance of Neighbourhood Plans 

is welcomed. 
 
Heritage and Conservation 
 
110. Reference needs to be made to the Heritage Action Zone status of Hinckley 

Town Centre. 
 

Natural Environment 
 

111. The Local Plan draws heavily for its evidence base on the Hinckley and 
Bosworth BC Green Infrastructure Strategy 2020.  The document is lacking in 
vision and depth with regards to biodiversity and is based on a partial evidence 
base that excludes many natural assets. It is considered that the evidence base 
(as regards biodiversity) is not fit for purpose of informing the Local Plan.   

 
112. There is no objection to the general approach/principle of the planned green 

wedges but limits of development should be reviewed in advance of the 
designation being made in order not to sterilise potential sustainable 
development, the benefits of which would significantly outweigh any harm to the 
integrity of the settlements protected by the green wedge. 

 
113. It is considered that Policy NAT08 (Enhancing Biodiversity and habitat 

connectivity) is not completely in accordance with the NPPF or with the 
emerging Environment Bill. The Policy should be aligned to the mandatory 

236



requirement and require 10% net-gain for major and minor development with 
‘additional biodiversity gains measures’ better defined.  

 
114. The impact of proposed options for redressing biodiversity loss is minor and is 

not going to solve rapid biodiversity decline. The Plan fails to address creation 
of large connected networks of habitat to facilitate resilience and adaption to 
the impacts of climate change. 

 
115. The Upper Soar as a site for biodiversity enhancement should be referred to, 

and consideration should be given to designation of Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) 
linking up priority habitats and features.  
 

116. Mature plantation woodlands within the Borough which have huge biodiversity 
and landscape value need to be included in policy. Also consider contributing to 
Green Infrastructure aspiration to increase tree cover in the Western and 
Southern Green Infrastructure (GI) Zones, an offsetting site or sites should be 
sought in these areas.   

 
117. With regards to the reference to protecting Biodiversity, specific wording on the 

River Mease is required. 
 

Waste 

 

118. Waste facilities are deemed as critical infrastructure in the Plan and the County 
Council is supportive of this. There is concern however, that the County wide 
impact of development does “...not have any bearing on decisions around 
which settlements are able to accommodate growth.”  Some waste facilities 
operated by the County Council would be directly affected, greatest impacts at 
Barwell, Coalville and Whetstone Recycling and Household Waste Sites and 
the Bardon and Whetstone Waste Transfer Stations.  Where effects of the 
household waste generated by developments cannot be managed within the 
infrastructure provided within that development then appropriate Developer 
Contributions should be provided to ensure capacity can be maintained at 
Council sites, as per the Council’s Planning Obligations Policy document (July 
2019). 

 
119. Given that waste has significant environmental impacts (such as, but not limited 

to, the carbon impact from waste being sent to landfill) increasing the scope of 
how waste would be managed from developments should be promoted. 
Therefore, wider consideration should be given to: 

 Minimising waste arisings from residential developments;    

 Ensuring residential developments designed to allow the effective 
segregation of recyclables and waste; 

 Commercial premises accommodating ‘reverse vending machines’. 
 
Minerals 

 

120. There are four existing mineral sites in the Borough that the County Planning 
Authority considers to be of strategic importance and should be safeguarded in 
line with Policy M12 of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan. The 

237



prevention of mineral sterilisation needs to be taken into account in site 
allocations. 

 

Comments from the County Council as a landowner 
 
121. The comments of Strategic Property Services representing the County 

Council’s landowner interests largely align with and are incorporated within this 
report.  However, from a landowner perspective there was a strong preference 
for a buffer of 20% to be included within the scale of housing in order to give 
the Local Plan greater resilience.  In addition, given the spatial objectives 
outlined in the draft plan it is considered that priority should be given to the 
delivery of an SUE to the North of Hinckley, which from the County Council’s 
perspective as a landowner was the preferred option detailed in the earlier  
Directions for Growth consultation, as it would deliver housing and additional 
community infrastructure, such as schools, in a location close to key services, 
employment opportunities and other community facilities.    

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

122. There are no equality and human rights implications arising from the 
recommendations in this report. Hinckley and Bosworth BC is working with the 
County Council and with other partners in the L&L HMA to provide for the 
homes and jobs required in the future. 

 
Environmental Implications 
 
123. The County Council will continue to work closely with Hinckley and Bosworth 

BC and other partners to minimise the impact of the planned growth on the 
environmental assets of Leicester and Leicestershire. 

 
124. The impact upon the environment is a key consideration in all planning 

decisions made within the context of an approved or emerging Local Plan, and 
the County Council will seek to ensure that opportunities are taken to enhance 
the environment through biodiversity net gain and sustainable forms of 
development. 
 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 

125. The County Council works closely with the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Strategic Planning Partnership, which includes Leicester City Council, the 
seven district councils in Leicestershire and the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Enterprise Partnership. A strengthening of partnership working is sought to deal 
with the transport challenges which require a strategy-led approach with 
multiple partners, both in Hinckley and Bosworth Borough and the wider area. 
   

Background Papers 
 
Report to Council on 6 December 2017: Strategic Plan and Single Outcomes 
Framework  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4 

238

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4


 
Report to the Cabinet on 23 November 2018: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Growth Plan – Consideration of Revised Plan for Approval 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4 
 
Minutes of the County Council meeting held on 15 May 2019 (10 (a) Climate 
Emergency)  
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5112  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 29 March 2019: Response to Consultation on Hinckley and 
Bosworth Borough Council’s Local Plan Review: New Directions for Growth 
https://bit.ly/3iQbGoD 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 20 November 2020: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Transport Priorities 2020 to 2050 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5999  
 
Report to the Cabinet on 22 June 2021: Urgent action taken by the Chief Executive 
in relation to the Leicester and Leicestershire Statement of Common Ground relating 
to housing and employment land needs (March 2021) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6444  
 
Appendix 
 
Appendix:  Leicestershire County Council Officer Comments on Hinckley and 

Bosworth Draft Local Plan (Regulation 18) Consultation  

 
 

239

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5112
https://bit.ly/3iQbGoD
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5999
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6444


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 
 
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council Draft Local Plan 2020-2039 (Regulation 18) Consultation  
Leicestershire County Council Officer Comments (August 2021) 
 
N.B. – Additional comments related to particular policies are interspersed appropriately between the specific questions posed by Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council 
 

 Question Page/para 
number 
(if 
relevant) 

Comments 

1 
 
 
 
 

Overarching/ 
general comments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 There is a need for closer partnership working on the evolution of the draft Local Plan, so that the working through of solutions 
becomes less challenging and robust progress is made and resolution reached.  A more ‘arms-length’ approach is taken by HBBC 
in comparison with some other districts in Leicestershire which means advice and the working through of solutions is more 
challenging to progress and help resolve.  The County Council considers therefore that partnership working arrangements 
between the Borough Council, the County Council and other partners, notably Highways England, need to be formalised as a 
matter of urgency.  The County Council will also need to secure substantial funds from the Borough Council and other partners in 
order to meet the (as yet unidentified) cost of the work to identify transport mitigation measures and strategy required to 
support delivery of the Draft Local Plan. 
 
The inclusion of a Local Plan review trigger policy is also required.  This is needed to handle future anticipated ‘knowns’ such as 

the Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) dealing with the redistribution of unmet need arising from Leicester City which will be 

informed by current ongoing joint evidence work, the outcome of the NSIP process on the Hinckley National Rail Freight 

Interchange (HNRFI), future national planning reforms etc, as well as triggering a review in the light of other significant future 

unforeseen changes in circumstances.  Officers are concerned that progression to a Regulation 19 Local Plan before Christmas 

2021 is a significant challenge, particularly in light of the transport evidence and resulting mitigation strategy/strategies likely to 

be required.  As such, a request to lengthen the timeframe before consultation on Regulation 19 of the Local Plan is made. 

 

In making this request it is acknowledged that the Borough Council has less than a five year housing land supply, and the desire is 

to work with the Borough Council to put in place a new Local Plan which provides both a framework for dealing with the short 

term situation together with a sustainable and deliverable longer term strategy to deliver planned growth in the borough.   

Discussion is encouraged and welcomed with officers at H&BBC on the most appropriate approach to achieve both the short and 

longer term aims. 

 

Given the functional connectivity of the Borough with settlements and communities within and outside of Leicester and 

Leicestershire and the likely challenges the transport evidence will reveal on the Strategic Road Network (SRN) and local road 

241



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

network, a co-ordinated strategy-led approach at a ‘wider than borough’ area is required involving the County Council and other 

partners including Highways England, Leicester City Council and Warwickshire County Council. 

 
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) is supportive of the development plan process; whilst providing for the future growth of 
Leicester and Leicestershire will be challenging in many regards (including in respect of highways and transport), a Plan-led 
approach offers the greatest opportunities to address those challenges as compared to seeking to deal with the impacts of ad-
hoc, ‘unplanned’ growth. 
 
The LHA would therefore wish to see the successful adoption of a new Local Plan for the Borough.  However, it has been asked to 
provide very little input into the Plan’s development to date.  For example, whilst noting that this draft of the Plan contains no site 
allocations, the future housing numbers and employment land provision are/will be, presumably, informed by some 
considerations of potential sites available.  In the absence of the LHA having any understanding of those potential sites, there is a 
risk that some may not be acceptable in principle on highway grounds (for example because they would be contrary to Policy IN5 
of the Leicestershire Highways Design Guide).  Should that be the case, this would have material implications for the contents of 
the Plan and/or its deliverability. 
 
Given the influence of rail connectivity on the Borough (via Hinckley Railway Station or stations outside Leicestershire), it is 
perhaps surprising how little reference is made to rail in this draft Plan.  For example, it would be helpful for the Plan to at least to 
reference the Leicester and Leicestershire Rail Strategy, but a policy that actively supported securing rail improvements serving 
Hinckley might also be considered. 
 
The early reference to the Strategic Growth Plan is welcomed in setting the general context in which the new Local Plan is being 
developed.  However, in terms of specifics it is surprising that no reference is made to the fact that the Borough abuts the western 
end of the A46 Priority Growth Corridor, with cross-boundary implications of growth that will need to be considered. 
 
It is also surprising that the Plan does not acknowledge the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic and current uncertainties over the long-
term implications this will have on society, including on transport provision and travel behaviour (encompassing trends such as 
increased home working).  It is suggested the emerging evidence relating to these potential long-term implications be reviewed 
and incorporated as necessary as the development of the plan progresses. 
 
It is noted that the Local Plan discusses the requirement to provide capacity to store and manage waste in an appropriate manner 
within policy PMD01 (High Quality Design) and INF01 (Infrastructure and Delivery).  The inclusion of waste considerations is 
supported.  Nevertheless, given that waste has significant environmental impacts (such as, but not limited to, the carbon impact 
from waste being sent to landfill) increasing the scope of how waste would be managed from developments should be promoted. 
Therefore wider consideration should be given to:- 
 

a) That residential developments are designed to minimise waste arisings through providing adequate internal storage 

capacity (to avoid products being disposed of prematurely) and home composting facilities.    

242

https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/resource/files/field/pdf/faq/2018/6/5/Part-1-introduction.pdf
https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/resource/files/field/pdf/faq/2018/6/5/Part-1-introduction.pdf
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/180873/rail-strategy-march-2017.pdf


 

b) That the residential developments are designed to allow the effective segregation of recyclables and waste to ensure such 

waste can be managed according to the waste hierarchy.  In particular it should be noted that, subject to the outcome of 

current consultations, residential properties will need capacity to store separate containers for the following types of 

waste – green (garden); plastics; metals; glass; paper and card; food; and residual waste.  As such developments should be 

designed to allow residents to effectively sort and store such wastes separately prior to their collection.  This includes 

sites where there may be shared facilities (e.g. flats). 

 

c) That as part of current consultations the government is proposing to introduce a Deposit Return Scheme for all drink 

containers (e.g. bottles, cans etc).  The regulations may require all commercial enterprises that sell such drinks to provide 

‘reverse vending machines’ to accept public returns.  As such commercial premises should be designed to be able to 

accommodate this type of infrastructure in a convenient and easily accessible location.  

 

d) It is supported that waste management facilities would be deemed critical infrastructure within the proposed Local Plan.  
It is however noted that the referenced infrastructure capacity study considers that county wide the impact of 
development does “…not have any bearing on decisions around which settlements are able to accommodate growth.” 
 

Any development would increase household waste arising in Leicestershire.  Nevertheless, some waste facilities operated by the 
Council would be directly impacted by residential developments, some of which are already at capacity.  Such waste would be 
required to be accommodated within the existing infrastructure managed by the Council with the greatest impact likely being at 
the Barwell, Coalville and Whetstone Recycling and Household Waste Sites and the Bardon and Whetstone Waste Transfer 
Stations.  As such it should be noted that where the impacts of the household waste generated by developments cannot be 
managed within the infrastructure provided within that development then appropriate Developer Contributions should be 
provided to ensure capacity can be maintained at Council sites, as per the Council’s Planning Obligations Policy document (10th 
July 2019). 
 
Leicestershire County Council in its role as the County Planning Authority deals with planning matters in relation to the 

safeguarding of minerals and waste development.  Although the safeguarding of specific waste sites is of concern to us, these 

sites are typically confined to existing employment areas and as such are considered unlikely to be adversely impacted by 

allocated development.  

 

Preventing the sterilisation of potential mineral reserves contained within Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) is of particular 

concern to the County Planning Authority due to the local and national strategic importance of minerals, their finite status and 

benefits to the economy. 

 

It is noted that Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) are listed as an assessment criterion as outlined in the Sustainability 

Assessment Criteria (SAC) and are scored negatively. Although specific site allocations have not yet been proposed, it is 

243



considered that including MSAs in the SAC meets the requirement of Table 4 c) of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local 

Plan. Table 4 c) states that: 

“applications that are in accordance with the development plan where the plan took account of the prevention of 

unnecessary mineral sterilisation and determined that prior extraction should not be considered when development 

applications came forward” 

Providing that the prevention of mineral sterilisation is taken into account in site allocations, moving forward these allocated sites 

could be considered as being exempt from mineral safeguarding considered as outlined in Policy M11 of the Leicestershire 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  However, this would need to be accompanied by a determination that prior extraction of mineral 

reserves is not necessary in order for Table 4 c) to apply for each site allocation that falls within an MSA. 

 

There are four existing mineral sites in the Hinckley & Bosworth District that the County Planning Authority considers to be of 
strategic importance and should be safeguarded in line with Policy M12 of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  
Assessment Sites AS32, AS33 and AS686 are located within a close proximity to Desford Brickworks and Assessment Sites (LPR32, 
LPR42 A, LPR 42 B, LPR 110 , LPR117, LPR120, LPR121, LPR94, AS415, AS417, AS419 are within close proximity to Cliffe Hill Quarry.  
In the event that these sites are proposed as site allocations, these should be accompanied by Minerals Assessments to consider 
the potential impacts of development at these sites on existing minerals sites and any associated strategic mineral infrastructure, 
and ensure that it is not incompatible. 
 
The draft plan, at this stage provides insufficient detail to respond fully regarding specific education infrastructure required. 

 

A number of existing schools within the District are currently operating at the upper limit of their site capacity and may not 

accommodate substantial housing growth, particularly some of the smaller village schools. 

 

The County Council would welcome an opportunity to discuss the draft allocations at the earliest opportunity to crystallise the 

potential educational infrastructure requirements. 

 

In these circumstances, the Local Plan should make provision to secure additional land for expansion of existing schools, or sites 

for additional schools in the area, with suitable scale of development to ensure the viability and sustainability of new schools (700 

dwellings for primary, 4500 for secondary), along with suitable financial contributions. 

 

Wherever possible new SEND provisions will be attached to existing or new primary or secondary schools in the locality, accepting 

there will be circumstances where pupils with specialist needs may need to attend schools further afield. 

 

From an Early Years perspective, it is expected that new provision will be developed in each locality, either attached to schools or 

placed separately in community hubs. 

244



 

Reserved sites for expansion of existing, or the construction of new schools will need to reflect statutory guidance from the DfE 

regarding reasonable walking distances from home to school of 2 miles for primary pupils and three miles for secondary pupils. 

 

The County Council has a statutory duty to provide every child with a school place. The draft Local Plan recognises that school’s 
function best when placed at the heart of the communities they serve.  This connection is particularly important as, by ensuring 
pupils are educated in their local communities, support can be more easily given into local employment and progression beyond, 
and it can help with the transition into healthy and participatory adulthood.      
 
Green Infrastructure is referenced as needing to be proactively planned at the outset and multifunctional. Some clarity around 

what is meant by multifunctional may help in assessment of suitability as the plan is delivered. In addition, how is the location of 

green space being managed to ensure that growth creates infrastructure that is at the heart of communities, makes it a place for 

social activity, physical activity, active travel etc. - to reduce the incidence of green space being placed at the least valuable 

location within a development proposal. 

 

How the use of Health Impact Assessments is being considered or delivered to maximise the positive contribution potential of 

developments on the health, wellbeing and vitality of communities should be explained further.  

 

The inclusion and acknowledgement of the importance of Neighbourhood Plans is welcomed. 

 

It is suggested that reference be made within the Local Plan to make it clear that development encouraging the move to a low 

carbon circular economy will be supported. 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The emerging Local Plan will be the strategic planning document for the Hinckley and Bosworth area and should be used to direct 
the policies within Neighbourhood Plans for settlements across the Borough.  However, in formulating strategic policy within the 
emerging plan significant weight is placed on policy within existing neighbourhood plans which are based on the out of date Core 
Strategy.  This has the potential to constrain plan makers and result in less sustainable outcomes.  A better approach would be to 
include a policy which facilitated an early review of Neighbourhood Plans in order that they remain policy compliant. 
 
The incorporation of the basic principles of the SGP is supported as is the need to take into account the provisions of SoCGs in 
respect of Leicester City’s unmet need and cross border issues with Nuneaton/Warwickshire. 
 

2 Do you have any 
comments on the 
Spatial Portrait of 

 
 
 

More consideration should be given for the wider landscape character area in terms of biodiversity and the ecological networks in 
terms of spatial distribution.  For example, linear corridors such as hedgerows, fragments of woodland, buffer zones, 
steppingstones and enhancing important wildlife corridors.  This could also include tributaries, canals, and rivers, disused railway 

245



the Borough? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.13 Para 
2.5 
 
 
 
 
P.14 

sidings, as well as areas of existing tree cover in the local area. 
 
The healthy life expectancy figures have been updated to cover 2017-19 rather than 2016-18 used: 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page 
/1/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/401/are/E07000132/iid/90366/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/tbm/1 This should be considered for the 
final plan.  It is also worth considering that although they are ‘higher’ than England averages, only males are showing as 
significantly higher (and this has actually decreased with the update).  
 
The data relating to the activity levels of Hinckley & Bosworth residents is incorrect.  The latest Active Lives data shows 59.8% of 
residents are classed as active, which is lower than the England average of 61.4% and the Leicestershire average of 61.7%.  
Updated data for children and young people is not currently available at local authority level due to lower reporting during the 
Coronavirus pandemic.  Point 2.17 references residents being considered to be in relatively good health, however opportunity 
could be taken to highlight health challenges which exist, such as 60.6% of adults being classified as obese.  Identifying some of 
the public health challenges may support identification of measures to growth that will help maximise positive impacts and 
minimise negative impacts.  Up-to-date health profiles have been developed by public health which may support this. 
   
ADD: 2.5  …with nearby Bosworth Battlefield being of significant international historical and cultural interest, and as a designated 
heritage asset of national importance.  
 
Bosworth Battlefield carries a national rather than international designation for its importance, although the site is undoubtedly 
of international interest. 
 
Para 2.12 is poorly expressed. 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The two areas that stand out are the need for development to be capable of meeting the needs of the ageing population and the 
need for affordable housing within rural communities where there is the greatest affordability gap. 
 

3 Do you agree with 
the Plan Vision? If 
not, what changes 
do you suggest? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Include in the vision reference to the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) and the strategic steer this provides for future growth within 
the borough.  So, adjacent to one of the proposed ends of the A46 Priority Growth Corridor, the A5 Improvement Corridor, the 
MIRA Enterprise Zone (Engineering Skills Training Centre at MIRA, Centre for Connected Autonomous Vehicles) etc.  Refer to 
wider connectivity into Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough and wider Warwickshire County, Blaby District and importance of 
proposed M1 J20a, North West Leicestershire District and Charnwood Borough with the Leicestershire International Gateway (and 
more recently the Development Corporation and success with the Freeport initiative), and connection with parts of the Borough, 
notably Ratby and Groby, with the City of Leicester. 
 
The vision is the first (and only?) reference made in the Local Plan to the ‘Midlands Engine’ (ME).  In the light of the vision being 

246

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page/1/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/401/are/E07000132/iid/90366/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/tbm/1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page/1/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/401/are/E07000132/iid/90366/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/tbm/1


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.17 Para 
3.2 

that the Borough should be a key part of the ME, it would be helpful if the Spatial Portrait explained the current role of the 
Borough in the ME and also if the Plan could also set out how that role might change going forward.  From a highways and 
transport perspective, this will be important to understand in terms of likely changes in travel patterns (employees and 
distribution of materials, goods, etc.) and any transport measures/infrastructure that might be required to enable any such 
changes. 
 
It seems slightly inconsistent to refer within the vision to the borough’s role in the ME but not to its role in the Leicester and 
Leicestershire (L&L) sub-region/housing market area (and by extension, the implementation of the L&L Strategic Growth Plan). 
 
It is also suggested that the vision should include explicit reference to the environment and associated key aspirations for the 
Borough, especially in respect of the climate emergency. 
 
The vision could demonstrate integration of ecosystem services into the wording far more prominently-seems to focus on the 
beauty of the environment-Beauty needs definition somewhere in the document. 
 
More reference should be made to ecological networks and the services they provide, how these play an active role in human 
health and recreation as well as the significance to declining biodiversity and associated habitats. 
 
The multiple mention of healthy people and the wider determinants of health such as work and home environments are 
particularly welcomed. This supports the objectives of the planning system (sustainable development) clearly and effectively. 
 
Regarding 6. Natural Environment – a re-wording is suggested to align more closely with the July 2021 revision of the NPPF. 

Reference should be made to Biodiversity net-gain – see NPPF, paras 174 and 179: . . . plans should […] b) promote the 
conservation, restoration and enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority 
species; and identify and pursue opportunities for securing measurable net gains for biodiversity.  
 
Reference should be made to a new requirement in the NPPF, to integrate biodiversity within design of developments – see NPPF 
180d: [. . .] opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments should be integrated as part of their design, 
especially where this can secure measurable net gains for biodiversity or enhance public access to nature where this is appropriate. 
 
ADD: The Borough is a place where our historic and cultural assets will be respected for their intrinsic significance and for the 
positivity benefits they can bring to social cohesion, sense of place and to attract new investment and tourism to support our 
thriving economy 
 
Use of the word ‘attractive’ could also include functional-for people and nature. More emphasis that development has a great 
role to play in making landscaping functional for nature and not just aesthetically pleasing. 
 

247



 
 
 
 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The vision is supported especially the statements that “Development will primarily focussed in the urban area where it will be 
closest to key services, opportunities and facilities” and ”Social infrastructure will be supported in rural communities with 
sustainable development in key centres….” 
 

4 Do you agree with 
the Spatial 
objectives? If not, 
what changes do 
you suggest? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.20 
 
 
 

Having referred to the Strategic Growth Plan in the introduction chapter, and to the Midlands Engine in the spatial vision, it is 
surprising that neither of these key strategic challenges/aspirations are acknowledged through the spatial objectives.  Suggest 
expansion of spatial objective 3 to include reference to the ambitions of the SGP and benefits to residents and businesses of the 
Borough from new and improved infrastructure within the Borough and elsewhere in Leicester and Leicestershire, such as 
recognising the pivotal role of new infrastructure in Blaby District, in particular proposed J20a of M1. 
 
Objective 3 (Infrastructure) refers to meeting the “…future infrastructure needs of the borough…”.  In the context of the SGP (and 
equally Midlands Engine) however, it will increasingly be necessary for individual districts/LPAs to consider future transport 
infrastructure requirements on a cross-boundary, cumulative basis (recognising where the provision of new/improved transport 
infrastructure in one district will also be critical to unlock/support growth in other, neighbouring districts, or even neighbouring 
HMAs - e.g. the importance of the A5 corridor to growth across Hinckley and Bosworth, other areas of Leicestershire, and 
adjacent districts within Warwickshire/the West Midlands).  It is suggested that the objective be amended to reflect this. 
 
Objective 7 (Climate Change) – it is suggested that the wording of this objective could be strengthened to better reflect the 
context of recent national/local ‘climate emergency’ declarations and associated policies/priorities (conversely, the current form 
of wording feels a bit ‘weak’/‘out-of-date’ in relation to this). 
 
Under 6. Natural Environment emphasis should include the word recover/restore too.  Nature recovery is key to healthy 
ecosystems, as well as habitat creation and enhancement etc. 
 
There is no mention of sustainable food options being explored within people social objectives (place?) or environment sections.  
Creating and protecting food growing spaces in and around a locality can be beneficial for health and the environment both in 
rural and urban spaces, alongside the economy if commercial spaces are identified.  However, we do acknowledge the section on 
takeaway outlets and fast food etc. This may seem aspirational, but some Local Authorities have explored this as 
https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/FINAL%20Food%20PAN%202020.pdf and can be seen as timely 
with current concerns around climate change and carbon reduction considerations.   
 
ADD: 9. Historic Rural and Built Environment and Townscape 
To conserve and enhance the Borough’s historic environment and the unique townscape character of the its towns and villages.  
 
The current objective appears not to identify that the archaeological and historical significance of the historic environment is not 
confined solely to the Borough’s towns and villages. 

248

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/FINAL%20Food%20PAN%202020.pdf


 
 
 
P.19 Point 
6. 
 
P.21 Point 
4.2 

 
Add in the word ‘restore’ nature. 
 
 
Typo in Borough. 
 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The Spatial Objectives are supported with Objective 12 being seen as key to the delivery of the wider plan objectives. 
 

5 Do you support the 
preferred strategy 
for growth set out 
above for the local 
plan? If not, what 
do you consider 
would be a 
reasonable 
alternative strategy 
for growth? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The scale of growth takes as a starting point the most recent Standard Method and then includes a 10% contingency.  This is 
supported, but it is necessary to note that this 10% contingency should not be relied upon to absorb the proportion of unmet 
need from the City which is to be identified later in 2021/2022.  This will be expressed in a SoCG for L&L dealing with 
apportionment to the Leicestershire districts, and will specify the amount to be provided within H&B Borough.    
 
A Local Plan review trigger is required to ‘future proof’ the Local Plan so an appropriate additional amount is then included in the 
scale of provision if the draft Local Plan proceeds ahead of the SoCG being published. 
 
Concern raised that the intent to review the Local Plan five years from adoption is too long into the future given timeframes of 

potential changing circumstances. 

With regards to distribution, it is considered that the 70% urban areas/30% rural split needs to be more focused on urban areas 
and less on rural. Urban areas offer a greater degree of connectivity to key services and facilities and employment opportunities 
and greater scope for sustainable forms of travel.  The SGP anticipates a shift towards the provision of more future growth on 
strategic sites with the ability to plan for, and secure funding for associated infrastructure together with S106 developer 
contributions.  Strategic sites are more likely to be appropriately located adjoining existing urban areas rather than in connection 
with existing villages in more rural settings unless they form new freestanding settlements.  
 
The spatial distribution needs to also be informed by further transport work and by the aspirations of infrastructure providers, 
including County Council infrastructure providers.  So exploring scope to utilise existing or anticipated spare capacity and siting 
potential allocations in areas where more than one community can be served. 
 
The urban area being the focus for new development in the borough as the most sustainable location for strategic level growth 
fits with aspirations around connectivity for active travel to services, shopping, socialising and employment.  Would this mean any 
development more rurally would then effectively ‘price out’ those needing more affordable homes in this location? 
 
In the current absence of any formally published comprehensive transport evidence base and information about potential sites, it 

249



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

is not possible for the Local Highway Authority (LHA) to express a definitive view at this time on the preferred strategy. 
 
However, from its knowledge and through its involvement with the development of Local Plans for areas adjoining the Borough 
(including Charnwood, Blaby and the City of Leicester), the LHA would make the following observations that are likely to have 
material implications for arriving at a preferred strategy: 
 

 The A5 in the Hinckley area is already failing functionally, in terms of its capacity and disruption caused by the frequent rail 
bridge strikes. It is possible that without a strategic scale intervention, the corridor’s ability to enable further growth will be 
significantly limited.  Without such intervention, the impacts of growth would likely result in the displacement of traffic to far 
less suitable and appropriate routes within and around Hinckley and across the boundary in Warwickshire. (e.g. impacting on 
Nuneaton). 

 The M1 between Junction 21 and 21a and the Leicester Western Bypass from J21a around to the Hobby Horse roundabout at 
Syston (both parts of the Strategic Road Network – SRN) are also failing functionally.  The highways impacts of any proposals 
for growth, especially towards the north east of the Borough, are likely to have a material impact on these parts of the SRN, 
which when combined with the cumulative impacts of growth proposed in adjoining areas, is likely to prove challenging, 
complex and costly to address. 

 Notwithstanding the proposed Major Road Network project on the A50/A511 corridor, there is evidence (emerging from 
other Local Plan work) to suggest that further measures are likely to be required along the corridor to ensure that it can 
continue to play its relevant role in enabling growth and in providing access to jobs and key services and facilities in the City of 
Leicester. 

 
Regardless of the eventual preferred strategy, it is likely that a coordinated, strategy-led approach will be required to address the 
transport challenges of seeking to accommodate further growth (housing and employment) in the Borough, one involving cross-
boundary coordination and cooperation (within and without Leicestershire) and including Highways England.  The LHA would 
expect the Plan to provide policies and text that underpin this approach and provide a robust basis for seeking developer 
contributions towards mitigating measures to address cumulative impacts within and without the Borough/Leicestershire. 
 
The LHA also notes the emerging Local Plan’s continued reliance on the Barwell and Earl Shilton SUEs as principal strategic sites 
for meeting the Borough’s future housing growth requirements.  Whilst the principle of the two SUEs was established through the 
2009 Core Strategy, it is noted that development has yet to commence at either site.  Furthermore, the draft Plan indicates that 
housing delivery across these two sites during the emerging plan period (i.e. 2020-2039) will be less than half the total allocated 
through the 2009 Core Strategy.  Additionally, the draft Plan indicates that the total housing growth envisaged at the Earl Shilton 
is now significantly lower than the original allocation set out within the 2009 Core Strategy.  All of the above has potentially 
significant implications for: 
 

 The delivery of supporting transport infrastructure previously committed to through the 2009 Core Strategy. 

 The cumulative impacts of the Barwell/Earl Shilton SUEs when considered in conjunction with other planned (or potential 
future) developments within and without Hinckley and Bosworth Borough (recognising the substantial changes that have 

250



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.27 Para 
4.16 

taken place in this respect since 2009). 

 In light of the preceding point, the specific transport infrastructure required to address these cumulative impacts.  
 
Given these changes and potential wider implications, has consideration been given to the inclusion of updated policies for the 
two SUEs within the draft Plan? 
 
(NB: LHA comments in respect of the Plan’s viability are provide in response to Q33.) 
 
Sustainable development should also factor in the need for ‘Doorstep’ green spaces that provide ‘wedges’ and ‘corridors’ 
throughout development so that it has a cumulative impact to nature networks.  This includes providing buffers between the A5 
Growth Corridor employment and residential sites.  The urban area of Hinckley is becoming more urbanised through the 
development in Warwickshire such as the proposed warehousing between the Longshoot and railway line. 
 
A definition is needed on what is meant by valued assets. 
 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
Overall the Spatial Development Strategy is welcomed as it seeks to provide a balance between the delivery of self-sustaining 
strategic development areas in locations close to the existing urban area where it is closest to key services, employment 
opportunities and other facilities and delivering development in key centres thereby enhancing their sustainability.  In particular, 
Para 4.3 recognises need to take account of population growth, economic growth and by implication unmet needs elsewhere. 
 
Importantly the plan recognises that larger strategic developments will be delivered over more than one Local Plan period and as 
such strategic allocations will provide an ability to bring forward additional housing in the event of other sites not coming forward 
in the projected time scales. 
 
The Settlement Hierarchy is seen as appropriate recognising the ability of individual settlement to support communities and 
services.  It is noted that the proposed housing allocations are directed to Settlements and not tied to Parishes and the constraints 
of parish boundaries.  This is seen as important in the planning of future sustainable growth.  Accordingly, to be consistent with 
the Local Plan future Neighbourhood Plans also need to be settlement based. 
 
Para. 4.20 provides for housing numbers to be increased by an additional 10% over the standard method calculation to provide 
flexibility and resilience.  The Local Plans Expert Group report, 2016, set out recommendations for a 20% allowance of 
developable reserve sites to provide extra flexibility to respond to change.  It is also important to note that Harborough District 
Council includes a 15% contingency over and above their minimum housing requirement and that the Local Plan Inspector 
specifically commented that this was to provide resilience and was not to be regarded as the Council's contribution to meeting 
Leicester's unmet needs.  Any increase over and above 10% should be directed primarily to the Hinckley urban area and key 

251



centres rather than being directed to a new settlement.  However, the currently proposed allocation of a minimum of 1596 
dwellings to the Hinckley urban area and a minimum of 200 homes to each key centre is supported being entirely consistent with 
the promotion of the County Councils sites at Middlefield Farm, Hinckley (as part of a larger strategic development) being located 
in a sustainable location on the edge of the existing urban area and Barton Road, Barlestone where the development would 
provide additional open space in addition to valuable housing required to meet the current shortfall in housing delivery. 
 

 Other Comments on 
Chapter 4 – Spatial 
Development 
Strategy 

P.24-25 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.30 Para 
4.21 

The chapter makes only passing reference to the Strategic Growth Plan in paragraph 4.14, despite the potentially significant 
implications this could have for the borough’s future growth and infrastructure requirements.  
 
Comments on proposed spatial hierarchy: 
 

 Will the ongoing review of the spatial hierarchy consider the implications of the Strategic Growth Plan on the proposed 
categories and allocation of specific settlements to each category?  In particular, the current spatial hierarchy is silent on 
either the “Priority Growth Corridor” or “A5 Improvement Corridor” as identified through the SGP and consequently unclear 
as to how it aligns with this. 

 Has consideration been given to identifying Groby and Ratby in a separate ‘Edge of Leicester Urban Area’ category, given their 
much closer physical proximity, stronger transport links and resulting ‘satellite settlement’/‘dormitory community’ 
characteristics in comparison to the other settlements across the borough identified as ‘key rural centres’? 

 
The text states that the 2021 SHELAA as being published alongside the draft Local Plan, whereas the document that has actually 
been published is the 2020 SHELAA. 
 

6 We consider a new 
settlement will be 
required to help 
meet future growth 
needs in the 
borough. How can 
this best be 
reflected in policy? 
 

 It is suggested, taking as a starting point the joint evidence work being undertaken on potential growth options and constraints 
and the inclusion of a criteria based policy in the draft Local Plan setting out requirements for the creation of a sustainable 
community in the form of a freestanding new settlement embracing the Garden Communities concept.  This could potentially 
form a further ‘node’ in the ring of market towns surrounding Leicester City. 
 
The lack of a further radial route out from the City means there is not a ‘natural’ intersection point, further emphasising the 
importance of transport evidence in informing consideration of the potential location for a new settlement. 
 
Recognition is given to the longevity in planning for a new settlement, delivery of which would be likely to begin in the next round 
of plan making beyond 2039. 
 
It will be important that any new settlement is of a scale that ensures it will contain a range of economic and social services and 
facilities that means it is likely to function as a true ‘free standing’/largely self-contained community, or alternatively is located 
close to existing urban areas (and associated services and facilities) in locations accessible via sustainable modes of travel, as 
opposed to becoming a car-oriented dormitory housing estate. 
 

252



From a transport perspective, it would be very helpful if the new Plan could at the least identify (under-pinned by evidence) the 
likely area of the Borough in which any new settlement may be located in the future.  It would also be helpful if the Plan could set 
out the ‘journey’ by which proposals for the new settlement (and supporting measures and infrastructure) will be developed and 
how, in the meantime, any proposals that might come forward that could hamper or frustrate delivery of the new settlement (or 
potential infrastructure required to enable it) will be dealt with. 
 
A new settlement should not only be sustainable for jobs, education, services, and public transport but also access to natural 
greenspaces that are in themselves sustainable sites.  This is not mentioned in the section.  They should also give due regard to 
providing new habitat as well as restoring and enhancing existing areas, providing access to nature too locally to residents. 
 
A self-sustaining new settlement, the population living there and the surrounding populations would benefit from a targeted, 
specific health impact assessment looking at risks to health, mitigation, population health profile and opportunities to improve 
health further.  This would provide a baseline for monitoring impact and allow gathering of best practice for future development. 
 
Education infrastructure requirements for a new settlement will be driven by the size and location of the new settlement.  In 

order to establish new school provision, settlement sizes would ideally correlate with de minimis pupil yield ratios per form of 

entry for Primary education (210 pupil places) and Secondary education (150 pupil places). 

 

Based on current pupil yield rates, c700 dwellings would generate a requirement for 210 place primary school (the smallest 

primary school to be considered) and c4,500 dwellings would generate a requirement for a new secondary school. 

 

Based on a “minimum of 1500 homes” for a Garden Village or New Town as set out in 4.13 of the Draft Local Plan, a 420-place 

primary school would be required. However, a settlement of this size would not sustain a new secondary school provision.  Early 

discussion regarding potential location of any new settlement would therefore be welcomed in order to identify potential 

secondary education requirements. 

 

Wherever possible new SEND provisions will be attached to existing or new primary or secondary schools in the locality, accepting 

there will be circumstances where pupils with specialist needs may need to attend schools further afield. 

 

From an Early Years perspective, it is expected that new provision will be developed in each locality, either attached to schools or 

placed separately in community hubs. 

 

For new settlements, and other large-scale developments where new schools would be required, the provision of suitable land for 

school sites, alongside financial contributions must be provided by the developer. 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 

253



Whilst a new settlement (garden village) would be self-sustaining, given the spatial objectives outlined in the draft plan it is 
considered that priority should be given to the delivery of a SUE to the North of Hinckley, which from the County Council’s 
perspective as a landowner was the preferred option detailed in the earlier Directions of Growth consultation as it would deliver 
housing and additional community infrastructure, such as schools, in a location close to key services, employment opportunities 
and other community facilities. 
 

7 Do you agree with 
the approach to 
mitigating and 
adapting to climate 
change? 
 

P.32 Para 
5.4 

The LHA has no objection to the overall approach proposed, but it is suggested that paragraph 5.4. could be strengthened by 
adding an extra bullet point covering: "provision of infrastructure/facilities to support low and zero-carbon vehicle technologies 
(e.g. electric vehicle charging points)." 
 
Additionally, it is suggested the chapter and planned approach should be reviewed and updated as necessary in light of the 

Government’s recently published Transport Decarbonisation Plan: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-

decarbonisation-plan 

 

Placing an emphasis on carbon reduction - particularly through the prioritisation of active travel, development of walkable 
communities and locally accessible facilities is welcome to both combat climate change, but to also improve health & wellbeing 
outcomes for residents.  This also links to 1 - Healthy Communities and Places within the spatial objectives due to obvious links 
around air quality.  There are co-benefits between these areas - particularly around air quality and active lifestyles (which leads to 
improvement in wellbeing).   
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The proposals are broadly supported.  The proposal to reduce the need for car travel needs to be supported by the allocation of 
sites well related to existing services and employment.  There is also potential to mitigate climate change by delivery of off-site 
renewables which would make a valuable addition to the proposed strategy by providing additional flexibility and resilience and 
opportunities for off-setting. 
 

8 Once site 
allocations are set 
out in the next draft 
of the Local Plan the 
policy CC02 will 
include a list of 
those site 
allocations which 
will need to address 
recommendations 
made in the 

 
 
P.34 

This approach is supported.   
 
CC02 Flood Risk - Mentions enhancing existing defences but perhaps it should state create new defences. 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The proposed policy appears to follow accepted best practice and is therefore supported.  However, in applying the sequential 
test it is important that, in circumstances where the function of the development proposed is to support the sustainability of a 
particular settlement or key centre that the test be based on the potential to deliver an alternate site of a lower flood risk within 
the same settlement, as housing located some distance away within the wider borough would fail to fulfil that function. 
 

254

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan


Borough Council’s 
Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment Level 2. 
Do you agree with 
this approach? 

 
 
 
 

 Comment on CC03 – 
Sustainable 
Drainage Systems 
 

P.38 SUDS provided should be in addition to other green space-SUDS have limited recreational opportunities and should be the only 
green space or habitat created in development. 
 

9 Do you support the 
overall proposed 
strategy for high 
quality design in the 
borough? Are there 
any other issues the 
policy should 
address? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.44 Point 
E 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) recognises the role that high-quality design can play in respect of providing safe, healthy and 
attractive environments, and that reflect local distinctiveness. 
 
However, like very many other authorities across the country the LHA has insufficient funding to maintain even its most important 
highway assets (such as it most heavily trafficked A roads) and accordingly does not have the funding to maintain non-standard 
materials; bespoke street furniture; trees in the highway; or other such elements that might be used to create high quality 
environments.  Thus, the LHA would like to see the policy amended such that those promoting the use of such elements in a new 
development are required provide a supporting strategy for their long-term maintenance. 
 
Additionally bullet point (e) of the proposed policy, specifically the section that refers to: “…including electric vehicle charging 
points where feasible…” is a bit weak (i.e. implies that EV charging points are ‘nice to have’ rather than essential infrastructure) 
and should more strongly articulate the need for EV charging points to be a standard feature of all new developments (with any 
exceptions being very rare). 
 
More detail on what high quality in design means for nature-policy is not robust enough on this to date.  Developers tend to push 
responsibility onto consumers rather than implement good design in construction more could be done around integration of nest 
and shelter for bats and birds. Likewise, more advice given around the importance of landscaping and appropriate lighting.   
 
The context setting around the impact of poor design is welcome, although it could be clearer of the direct connection between 
poor design and health (inactivity, air quality, social cohesion and wellbeing etc.), which could reinforce the need to put health 
and wellbeing first in the design of new developments.  Active travel, air quality and accessibility are all considered, but a design 
that truly improves health and wellbeing of residents needs to have a wider lens than just active design- including the impact of 
design by the wider determinants of health.  Health impact assessment used within Leicestershire covers direct influences on 
health behaviour such as diet and mental wellbeing; community and social influences such as neighbourliness, pride in local area, 
crime and social support; living environmental conditions such as healthy food, attractiveness and housing need and type; 
economic conditions such as income and employment; access to services including food growing, training and employment 
support and macro-economic, environmental and sustainability factors such as climate change.  The plan contains all of this, but it 
may be a consideration to bring it together into a measurable format to inform design. 

255



 
 
 
P.44 Point 
A 

 
ADD: …including the local pattern of development, building form and landscape character, style detail and materials and the 
archaeology, history and culture of the local area. 
 
Clearer reference to the constituent elements of the historic environment could be made, alternatively, elements could be 
dropped and instead referred to simply as ‘historic environment’. 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 

The proposed policy appears to follow accepted best practice and is therefore supported.   

10a Should the Active 
Design and Travel 
Policy apply only to 
new residential 
development or 
should other 
development types 
be included? 
 

P.48-51 Given that the title of the policy includes ‘Active Travel’ it is unclear what the justification is for confining its application solely to 
new residential developments.  The policy should also be applicable at least to employment developments and other types of 
development that are likely to generate significant numbers of employees and/or visitors. 
 
Links to employment development would be welcomed to help strengthen the case for and facilitate workplace health initiatives.  
There seems to be obvious application of ‘healthy streets and space’s active design principle to any new retail areas and all would 
apply to any new educational development. 
 
The use of Active Design principles is welcomed to encourage active lifestyles.  In particular, highlighting that 'making physical 
activity the easiest and most practical option in everyday life' is particularly strong in promoting design that can help to deliver 
this. Walkable communities, local places to play, high quality active infrastructure are all beneficial.  In addition, maximising the 
safety and visibility of these interventions is key - maximising natural surveillance - while taking measures to reduce reliance on 
inactivity (such as slowing traffic speeds) will support this agenda. 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
Against the background that there are significant advantages to co-locating housing with a range of other uses such as 
employment and community facilities there is merit in other development types being included in order to achieve a co-ordinated 
approach. 
 

 Other comments on 
the proposed Active 
Design and Travel 
Policy and 
supporting text 

P.48-51 It is surprising that no reference is made to the Government’s latest ‘Gear Change’ vision for cycling and walking (published in 
2020: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-
a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf).  In relation to this, the policy and/or supporting text should reference the need to 
develop proposals in accordance with the Government's latest Cycle Design Guidance (LTN 1/20). 
 

10b Is the threshold of 
10 or more 

 The LHA has no definitive view on the appropriateness of the proposed threshold as this will presumably need to take account of 
a range of wider factors (including viability). 

256

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf


residential dwellings 
appropriate? 
 

 
However, it is suggested that any such threshold should not apply to requests for ‘passive provision’ (e.g. the safeguarding of land 
within a development) to facilitate future active travel infrastructure by the LHA or other third-parties, as such a requirement 
could in certain circumstances be appropriate for developments of less than 10 dwellings.  
 
It would be fair to suggest that interventions would/should be proportionate.  Whilst smaller developments may not be expected 
to provide significant infrastructure (i.e. cycle routes), measures can still be made at a small scale that could deliver lasting change 
for residents of the scheme through smaller practical measures (such as cycle storage at dwellings, design encouraging natural 
surveillance to encourage safer neighbourhoods for active travel, social function, play etc.). 
 
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) fits in here - healthy communities and improvements around health and wellbeing for the 
population spans much wider than just active communities, although this is an important principle.  It would be good to see a 
threshold where a rapid HIA would be triggered as required by the developer using the planning portal designed by LRS.  This 
brings together considerations around how development will impact a person’s mental health, access to services, healthy eating, 
smoking, active travel opportunities, social connectivity, education, economic wellbeing and many more factors.  It also allows 
considerations around groups who are particularly at risk around these areas and consider mitigating factors.  The process allows 
monitoring against these factors, which also gives an opportunity to monitor success around maintaining and improving good 
health.  
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
It is considered that in practice a threshold of 10 would be too low as these are likely to be located within the existing limits of 
development and therefore be constrained by existing infrastructure. 
 

11 Should the housing 
mix policy apply to 
all residential 
developments or 
only to 
developments of 10 
or more dwellings? 
 

 This figure is lower than some other local examples, so should ‘catch’ more developments within its reach.  It also mirrors the 
trigger for Health Impact Assessments to be completed in other areas nationally.  Ideally, there could be a scoping exercise done 
for those under 10 to pick up circumstances where the policy does need to apply.   
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The proposed housing mix needs to accord with the currently available housing needs information and should be applied to all 
major developments. However, the policy also needs to recognise that house types need to reflect the needs of the population 
and be adaptable meeting the demands of the ageing population.  Accordingly, there may be little need for single bed 
accommodation outside the urban areas and therefore the mix should be adjusted to reflect this.  For smaller sites, particularly in 
smaller rural settlements it would be more appropriate to meet local demand/needs. 
 

 Comment on 
PMD05 Open Space, 

 
 

There is lots of reference to general open space and would welcome a commentary to the development of specific green space 

developments which bring communities together in a common purpose i.e. allotments and yield significant and well researched 

257



Sport and recreation 
facilities 
 

 
 
P.58  
Point i 

health and wellbeing benefits. 

ADD: nature networks 

 

 Comment on Policy 
HO02 Housing Mix, 
Size and Type 
 

 Whilst there is acknowledgment of increasing demand from the older population there is a lack of specifics with regards to 

models of specialist accommodation for older people with vulnerabilities which offer an alternative to residential care homes i.e. 

Extra Care Housing / Sheltered Living. These would offer sites of multiple units including single and two bedroom options.  These 

developments would require some communal facilities as well as accommodation for the provision of care and support services. 

At this time H&B has no affordable Extra Care Housing provision. 

12 Do you agree that 
the nationally 
described space 
standards should 
apply to all new 
dwellings? 
 

 Yes, evidence shows that poor quality and overcrowded housing are associated with increased risk of cardiovascular diseases, 
respiratory diseases, depression and anxiety.  The mention of sufficient private garden/green space is welcomed, particularly as 
the pandemic emphasised the need for such space to maintain health and wellbeing, and highlighted and in some cases widened 
the inequalities within this area within our communities.   
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
Meeting minimum national space standards is seen as desirable as well as accepted good practice and is therefore supported. 
 

 Comment on Policy 
HO04 Housing 
Density 

P.64-65 It is suggested that the second sentence of the policy should be amended as follows (additional text underlined): “However, unless 
justified through principles of good design and/or essential infrastructure requirements, to ensure the efficient use of land…etc.” 
 

13 How can the 
emerging national 
design code 
guidance on density 
be better 
incorporated into 
the policy on 
housing density?  
 

 Reference to numerical targets being used for proposed developments that lack a coherent design rationale are concerning - 
implying that such developments would still be supported should they meet the density requirements.  Density must be 
considered alongside other measures - such as accessibility of open space, provision of active travel infrastructure, space for social 
function, place for play etc and therefore ensuring residents have easy access to local amenities should be the overriding concern 
- with developments encouraged to consider how higher density elements of projects could free up land for other health and 
wellbeing amenities.  High housing density can also conflict with space for nature such as trees in gardens and hedgerows. 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
Housing density should be pitched at a level that provides a good quality of life for future occupants whilst delivering an economic 
return to the developer/landowner sufficient to secure the delivery of the housing. 
 

 Comments on Policy 
HO05 – Accessible 
Housing and 

P.67 Para 
7.14 

The LHA would question whether ‘pepper potting’ such dwellings around larger sites is necessarily the best approach to meeting 
accessible housing needs, at least from a transport perspective.  In this regard, it would potentially make more sense to locate 
accessible dwellings on such larger sites as close as possible to existing or planned public/passenger transport routes and stops, to 

258



supporting text minimise walking distances and thereby maximise the ability of accessible housing occupants to use these services. 
 
Equally, there may be transport (and possibly wider) benefits to clustering accessible dwellings together within larger sites, in 
terms of supporting the efficient provision of specialist/targeted (e.g. social care) transport services to such dwellings where 
required. 
 

14 Do you agree with 
the policy approach 
to Self and Custom 
build housing? 
 

 The Criteria Based approach is relatively typical of most local authorities and the criteria themselves are reasonable and 
achievable and for the benefit of all.  Consideration of health need is also welcomed. 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The policy should also include a provision whereby in circumstances where there is no demand for self and custom build plots that 
have been actively marketed over a six month period the ability exists for the developer to reincorporate the plots within the 
wider site to ensure a timely completion to the overall development. 
 

15b If the 
accommodation 
assessment 
identifies an 
evidenced need to 
allocate land for 
Gypsy, Traveller and 
Travelling 
Showpeople 
accommodation 
should this be 
through the local 
plan or a separate 
Development Plan 
Document? 
 

 Needs of this population can at times be complex due to inequalities - not in the least a much-reduced average life expectancy.  
Consideration should be given to providing socially rented pitches or at least a proportion of new pitches to be socially rented, 
and that if the local plan fails to deliver new private pitches further socially rented pitches would be considered.  A separate 
document may allow this to be explored in more detail and adapted when needed. 
 

16a Do you have any 
comments on the 
broad approach to 
securing affordable 
housing? 
 

 Avoidance of clustering of affordable housing is welcome, as is design to make it indistinguishable.  Affordable housing should 
provide residents with equitable access to local amenities and equal opportunity to live a healthy lifestyle – such as parks, public 
transport links, town centres, leisure provision, and other local amenities. 
 
However, the estimated need for affordable housing seems to have been informed by Housing Needs Study (2019), but there is 
no mention of how the pandemic and the long-term effects (particularly financial) may have/will exacerbate this need.  
 

259



 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The policy should be caveated by the addition of the words ‘up to’ in respect of the proposed percentages.  It is noted that the 
level of affordable housing can take account of the viability of individual sites in order that delivery of the housing is not 
compromised which is supported. 
 

16b Where 100% 
affordable housing 
schemes are 
proposed and 
supported with 
Affordable Homes 
Grant from Homes 
England should they 
be exempt from 
providing other 
planning 
contributions as 
explained in the 
supporting text to 
the policy? 
 

 
 
 
 
P.74 Para 
7.32 

As planning contributions are sought to fund transport (as well as other) infrastructure and services that are necessary to support 
the development, it will be necessary to identify how any exemptions applied will be funded and delivered through other sources 
should this proposal be taken forward. 
 
Planning Obligations Paragraph 7.32 states that 100% affordable housing proposals where grant are sought from Homes England 
will be exempt from all other infrastructure requirements.  The residents of these properties will still require access to local 
infrastructure, and it will fall to other organisations such as the County Council to pay for this infrastructure out of public money 
as opposed to the developer.  The County Council strongly recommends that this be removed as any such requests should be 
subject to viability testing in the same way as all developments. 
 
Paragraph 7.32 also raises concerns regarding developments of 100% affordable housing schemes supported with Affordable 
Homes Grant attracting zero developer contributions for other infrastructure.  Some types of affordable housing may generate 
increased pupil yield compared to market housing.  In the absence of developer obligations, a lack of funds for education 
infrastructure may lead to a deficiency of school places. 
 
Any proposals should not hinder conversations around building health and applying Health Impact Assessments into the design of 
schemes. 
 

 
 

 

17 How can the Local 
Plan best deliver the 
necessary 
employment land 
and premises 
required to meet its 
identified needs? 
 

 It is difficult to answer this question in the absence of an identified employment need or potential site options for meeting this 
need.  However, the proposed policy EP01 – Scale and distribution of new employment sites correctly identifies transport a key 
factor in deciding the best locations for new 'strategic' employment development and the LHA would therefore welcome the 
opportunity to engage/input to the appraisal of sites for potential inclusion in the emerging Local Plan.  The Plan should be 
underpinned by an evidence base, including in respect of highways and transport, that assesses the impacts of potential 
employment sites and identifies appropriate mitigation, including to address cumulative impacts. 
 
From its knowledge and through its involvement with the development of Local Plans for areas adjoining the Borough (including 
Charnwood, Blaby and the City of Leicester), the LHA would make the following observations that are likely to have material 
implications in respect of potential new employment sites: 
 

 The A5 in the Hinckley area is already failing functionally, in terms of its capacity and disruption caused by the frequent rail 

260



bridge strikes. It is possible that without a strategic scale intervention, the corridor’s ability to enable further growth will be 
significantly limited. Without such intervention, the impacts of growth would likely result in the displacement of traffic to far 
less suitable and appropriate routes within and around Hinckley and across the boundary in Warwickshire. 

 The M1 between Junction 21 and 21a and the Leicester Western Bypass from J21a around to the Hobby Horse roundabout at 
Syston (both parts of the Strategic Road Network – SRN) are also failing functionally.  The highways impacts of any proposals 
for growth, especially towards the north east of the Borough, are likely to have a material impact on these parts of the SRN, 
which when combined with the cumulative impacts of growth proposed in adjoining areas, is likely to prove challenging, 
complex and costly to address. 

 Notwithstanding the proposed Major Road Network project on the A50/A511 corridor, there is evidence (emerging from 
other Local Plan work) to suggest that further measures are likely to be required along the corridor to ensure that it can 
continue to play its relevant role in enabling growth and in providing access to jobs and key services and facilities in the City of 
Leicester. 

 
It is likely that a coordinated, strategy-led approach will be required to address the transport challenges of seeking to 
accommodate further growth (employment and housing) in the Borough, one involving cross-boundary coordination and 
cooperation (within and without Leicestershire) and including Highways England.  The LHA would expect the Plan to provide 
policies and text that underpin this approach and provide a robust basis for seeking developer contributions towards mitigating 
measures to address cumulative impacts within and without the Borough/ Leicestershire. 
 
In relation to the matters covered in paragraphs 8.7 to 8.9, maintaining the ability to regulate changes in employment use/type as 
far as possible will be important to ensure that where this is likely to result in significant changes in transport 
impacts/requirements, such changes can be assessed and where necessary mitigated.  As such, any mechanisms provided within 
the Local Plan policies that facilitate this are welcomed. 
 
(NB: LHA comments in respect of the Plan’s viability are provide in response to Q33.) 
 
The provision of a wide portfolio of employment land tailored to the findings of the H&B Employment Land and Premises Study 
and Economic Regeneration Strategy, informed by the recently published Warehousing and Logistics Study (May 2021) and the 
transport evidence to be undertaken, is recommended.  Regard needs to be given to the opportunity to co-locate new housing 
with new employment and the possibility of an element of unmet employment need from the City also needing to be 
accommodated.  This is likely to be proportionate to the scale of unmet housing to be accommodated in the Borough.  
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The draft plan recognises the need to encourage economic growth and aspires to meet the demand for high quality premises 
across the whole borough. It is therefore important to meet the need for sites well located to communities to encourage greater 
economic activity without the need to commute outside the area to find well paid highly skilled employment and support the 
supply chain of the strategic logistics and distribution sites.  Clearly, there remains a need to encourage further inward investment 

261



in the logistics sector to further enhance economic activity.  The plan also recognises the need to address Leicester City’s unmet 
employment needs for which additional allocations should be made in accordance with the SoCG. 
 

 Comment on Policy 
EP02 – New 
Employment 
Development 

P.81 Point 
C 

For bullet point (c) it is suggested replacing “bus” with “passenger transport” (to reflect that options other than conventional bus 
services, such as rail or demand responsive transport, may also have a role to play in providing access to new employment sites). 
 
The Policy should push for net gain for biodiversity not just no net loss.  This should include sites that are not ‘valued’ sites- 
employment sites in Hinckley & Bosworth should have a massive contribution to nature restorations.  
 

18 Should some key 
employment 
areas/premises that 
are of particular 
significance to 
Hinckley & 
Bosworth’s portfolio 
of employment 
areas be afforded 
additional 
protection over and 
above category A 
areas? If so, should 
this include all 
category A areas, 
some category A 
areas, or a mixture 
of category A & B 
areas? What extra 
evidence would be 
needed to warrant 
this special policy 
designation? 
 

 It is considered that the levels of protection detailed in the draft policy should afford sufficient protection for the existing key 
employment areas. 
 
This view is congruent with Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner. 
 

19 Do you have any 
comments on the 
planning for 
Strategic 
Distribution 

 Strategic Distribution developments normally have widescale highways and transport impacts in respect of employees’ origin and 
of the movement of goods and materials.  Thus, the impacts of any sites within the Borough are likely to spread beyond its 
boundaries/the boundary of Leicestershire.  The Plan should recognise this and provide a robust policy basis for addressing 
widescale impacts, including on a cumulative, cross-boundary basis as necessary. 
 

262



developments in 
Hinckley and 
Bosworth, and how 
local policy could be 
formulated? 
 

The process of identifying future strategic distribution needs and locations through the Local Plan will need to consider how such 
needs and locations might be influenced by the SGP and associated growth in neighbouring LPAs.  Similarly, it will need to take 
account of the potential implications of the HNRFI, should this be approved through the NSIP process. 
 
It is advised that the joint work with other partners in L&L continues, to consider the recommendations in the recently completed 
Warehousing and Logistics Study (May 2021), and identify the collective next steps which may include a ‘rolling reserve’ approach 
or possibly a maximum policy limit over a certain timeframe across the Areas of Opportunity identified in the study. 
 
The Borough and L&L have a distinct geographical appeal for this sector given the central location of our area nationally, and the 
impacts of this use are far greater than L&L.  This emphasises the importance of a joint approach in responding to this fast 
changing, evolving sector.  
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
The planning of further strategic distribution developments should have regard to the ability of the site to be access via the 
strategic highway network and the additional infrastructure investment that may be required to support the development. 
 

20 Taking into account 
the recent creation 
of Class E planning 
uses and the 
implications for 
employment uses 
and sites/premises, 
what changes if any 
do you think should 
be made to the 
Economic Prosperity 
section and 
policies? 
 

P. 88 
 
 
 
 
P.89 Para 
8.30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AMEND: With reference to EP06 MIRA Technology Park Enterprise Zone – no reference is made to the proximity of the nationally 
important and internationally significant registered Bosworth Battlefield.  Whilst the Enterprise Zone may not encroach upon the 
battlefield in its current designated form, the significance of the battlefield may be detrimentally affected by ill-considered 
development within its setting.  
 
Paragraph 8.30, relating to Policy EP06 (MIRA Technology Enterprise Zone) and supporting text, identifies who HBBC will engage 
with to determine the boundary for the special policy area and specific aspirations for growth and development.  In relation to 
this, it is suggested that it will be equally important to involve the relevant highway/transport authorities (Leicestershire CC, 
Warwickshire CC and Highways England) in any discussions concerning the special policy area boundaries given the potential 
implications for the strategic and local road networks and any future transport infrastructure aspirations in and around the area 
(e.g. in relation to the A5). 
 
Additionally, whilst there is not a question that explicitly references the proposed Hinckley National Rail Freight Interchange 
(HNRFI) proposal, nevertheless the Local Highway Authority (LHA) wishes to make some observations in relation to this.  The LHA 
recognises that the HNRFI remains a proposal at this time; that it will be subject to the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project 
(NSIP) process; and that no NSIP application has yet been submitted by its promoters.  It is therefore, perhaps to some extent, 
understandable that the draft Plan contains little in respect of the HNRFI.  However, from experience with the East Midlands 
Gateway site (near Castle Donington) if the HNRFI is permitted and developed it is likely to have a very significant highways and 
transport impact and thus could have a material implications for the deliverability of sites that will (ultimately) be included in the 
new Local Plan.  It is therefore surprising that this draft Plan does not include or suggest the need to include in its next version a 
Policy in respect of triggering a review of the Plan should the HNRFI gain approval. 

263



 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
Whilst protecting employment uses wherever feasible and economically viable Policy should be made as flexible as possible to 
maximise the potential for premises/areas to remain in a beneficial economic use within the general Class E use class. 
 

 Comment on Policy 
TDC01 Sustainable 
Town Centres 

 Section 9 on town centres is very focussed on retail and there is no acknowledgement that since the pandemic, there has been a 

seismic shift to on-line retailing and that our town centres need to adapt and become places/centres that people visit not just for 

shopping, but for events and other leisure activities.  

There is no acknowledgement that there may be more restaurants, bars and cafes to meet this need and less A1 uses.  There 

should be consideration to protect prime retail sites, especially when lots of the larger vacant units are likely to remain empty 

unless they are sub-divided or other uses found. 

21a Should policy define 
the expected extent 
of search for 
sequentially 
preferable sites?  As 
a minimum, the 
nearest Town, 
District or Local 
Centre should be 
assessed.  Further 
options could 
include always 
assessing Hinckley 
Town Centre, 
assessing all Town, 
District and Local 
Centres in the 
Borough, using 
development size 
thresholds or using 
catchment area 
distances, which 
could also include 
defined centres of 
neighbouring local 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
Sequential tests should relate only to those centres which the impact assessment identifies as being within the catchment area of 
the proposed development, including those situated in neighbouring authority areas. 

264



authorities. 
 

21b Should permissions 
for E use in or edge 
of centre be 
conditioned to 
exclude light 
industry (the former 
B1c use)? 
 

 Yes, the LHA would support a policy approach that helps to regulate any changes of use that are likely to have significant 
implications from a transport perspective 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
Whilst protecting employment uses wherever feasible and economically viable Policy should be made as flexible as possible to 
maximise the potential for premises/areas to remain in a beneficial economic use within the general Class E use class. 
 

21c Where retail use is 
proposed in-centre, 
should it be 
conditioned to 
prevent Change of 
Use to other E class 
uses? 
 

 Yes, the LHA would support a policy approach that helps to regulate any changes of use that are likely to have significant 
implications from a transport perspective. 
 
However, a change of use from retail to restaurant or cafe without the requirement for scrutiny would create a risk or an increase 
in access to unhealthy foods, which links to healthy weight and associated public health indicators.  It is acknowledged that the 
restaurant or café may serve healthy options, but without the need for planning permission for a change of use there will be less 
known within Environmental and Public Health around the aims of the business and target customers etc. and so less opportunity 
to support and influence.   
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner  
 
Whilst protecting employment uses wherever feasible and economically viable Policy should be made as flexible as possible to 
maximise the potential for premises/areas to remain in a beneficial economic use within the general Class E use class. 
 

21d Where particular 
non-retail E class 
uses can pass the 
sequential test and 
be permitted 
because they 
require large site 
footprints difficult 
to accommodate in-
centre, should they 
be subject to 
conditions 
restricting change of 
use to retail? 

 Yes, the LHA would support a policy approach that helps to regulate any changes of use that are likely to have significant 
implications from a transport perspective 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 
 
Whilst protecting employment uses wherever feasible and economically viable Policy should be made as flexible as possible to 
maximise the potential for premises/areas to remain in a beneficial economic use within the general Class E use class. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

265



  
 
 

22a What should the 
role of Policy TDC02 
be if the 
Government 
introduces a 
permitted 
development right 
to change Class E 
use to Class C3 
(residential)? 
 

 The role should require an appropriate assessment of impacts of change of use - specifically health impact assessment. The 
assessment should consider a range of potential health impacts - such as whether the change impacts the broader community's 
access to amenities that support physical activity, healthcare, access to healthy food, the ability to access amenities within a 
walkable community etc and the scope for returning infrastructure to such uses in the future should it be needed - noting the 
potential challenges of converting back to other uses once it is residential.  
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 
 
To ensure a mix of compatible uses, including residential, that maximises economic activity, encourages future investment and 

maximises potential foot fall in the future. 

22b Should the borough 
consider the use of 
an Article IV 
Direction to help 
protect any 
particularly valuable 
Town Centre uses? 
 

 Yes, the LHA would support a policy approach that helps to regulates any changes of use where this is likely to significantly reduce 
access to key services or facilities via sustainable modes of travel, and could thereby adversely affect the sustainability of an 
existing settlement and/or wider planned development. 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 
 
Given the rapidly changing retail economy and the potential for a reduced demand for office space in the future such a policy 
could have the effect of sterilising areas of the town centres where alternative uses can maintain it as a thriving vibrant centre. 
 

22c Is there a role for 
Primary and/or 
Secondary Shopping 
Frontages to help 
with the definition 
of key locations at 
ground floor level in 
Policy TDC02?  If so, 
should primary and 
secondary frontages 
be defined for the 
District Centres (as 
recommended in 
the Town and 
District Centres 

 No comment.  

266



Study 2017) or any 
other centre? 
 

 Comment on Policy 
TDC03 – Hot Food 
Takeaways and 
Betting Offices 
 

P.100 
Point B 

It is suggested that bullet point (b) should be widened to include traffic and parking (or alternatively an extra bullet point added to 
cover residual traffic impacts). 

23 Could the measure 
of “over-
proliferation” of 
facilities be 
improved and does 
the measure need 
to be individually 
tailored to suit 
centres in different 
levels of the centre 
hierarchy? 
 

 No comment. 

24 Are the criteria for 
safeguarding 
against the loss of 
public houses in 
urban and rural 
areas reasonable 
and proportionate 
and are there any 
other criteria the 
Borough Council 
should include to 
safeguard against 
the loss of public 
houses? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.104 

The LHA has no views or suggestions on the specific criteria to be applied in relation to this.  
 
Nevertheless, the LHA would support a policy approach that helps to regulate any changes to the of use of public houses and/or 
other key community facilities where this is likely to significantly reduce access to such facilities via safe and sustainable modes of 
travel, and could thereby adversely affect the sustainability of existing settlements and/or planned developments. 
 
Equally, the LHA would support policy provisions that facilitate the diversification of public houses where this is likely to positively 
contribute to the range of key services and facilities accessible via safe and sustainable forms of travel and thereby encourages 
safe and sustainable travel behaviour. 
 
Recognition of public houses as potential heritage assets is supported. 
 
ADD: Below 10.7:  Where the community facility is a heritage asset, the council will seek retention of the building and any 
features of interest or representative of its character, notably including historic statuary and commemorative monuments, 
memorials or plaques, in accordance with national and local policies. 
 

 Comments on Policy 
CLT03 Cultural and 

P.109 Reference should be made to the Leicester and Leicestershire Tourism Growth Plan, the impact of the pandemic on the sector and 

267



Tourism Facilities 
 

the importance that the sector plays in the economy. 

It is positive that sustainable transport is mentioned but is may not be realistic to expect new/enlarged tourism attractions to be 

accessible by sustainable transport given that most are in rural areas. 

25 Do you have any 
comments on the 
approach to 
Heritage and 
Conservation? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.114 
Para. 11.1 
 
 

The section on the Natural Environment draws heavily for its evidence base on the HBBC Green Infrastructure Strategy 2020.  
This document is considered lacking in vision and depth as regards biodiversity, and for reasons that are unclear, it is based on a 
partial evidence base that excludes many natural assets.  It is not felt that this evidence base (as regards biodiversity) is fit for 
purpose of informing the Local Plan.   
 
Candidate Local Wildlife sites are omitted from the strategy maps Fig.5.5 (biodiversity assets) and as a result they are also omitted 
from the collated GI assets strategy map (Fig.5.1).  Candidate LWS have the same status in planning terms as notified LWS; they 
are of equivalent quality and significance to LWS.  All candidate LWS are sites that are known through recent survey data to meet 
the published criteria for designation of LWS. 5.42 refers to more than 45 LWS and notes a lack around Witherley and around 
Hinckley; in fact there are 230+ candidate and notified LWS, including many hedges in Witherley, and grasslands, hedges and 
other habitat around Hinckley and especially in the area south of Burbage.  
 
It is noted that potential and historic LWS are included; these sites are part of the natural assets of the Borough, but do have 
lower status than candidates LWS as the designation is not supported by recent survey data that demonstrated they meet LWS 
criteria.  Omission of candidate LWS seems to be an oversight, the reasons for which are unclear as the spatial information is 
available through annual data supply from Leicestershire and Rutland ERC to HBBC.  
 
The GI Strategy proposes several options for redressing biodiversity loss, including ‘re-wilding’ of highway verges and private 
garden management.  Whilst any biodiversity improvements in these assets is welcome, the impact is minor and it is not going to 
solve the problem of rapid biodiversity decline.  Fig 5.5 shows a handful of small ‘network enhancement zones’ based around 
SSSIs; but it is considered that this is completely inadequate.  It fails to address one the core reasons for ecological networks, 
which is to create large connected networks of habitat throughout regions, which will facilitate resilience and adaption to the 
impacts of climate change on natural species distribution.  In this context, the river and waterway corridors through the Borough 
are of special important, and it is of concerns that these are not identified on the maps as key elements in the biodiversity 
network. 
 

Regarding the Historic environment, there is no mention of the Heritage Action Zone status that the borough council have, or any 

description of the area of focus in Hinckley Town Centre of that scheme. 

 

There are also series of amendments suggested regarding the heritage section: 

 

AMEND: 11.1: When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 

weight should be given to the heritage asset’s conservation, including sustaining significance (NPPF, paragraph 199). 

268



 
 
 
 
 
 
P.115 
Para. 11.3 
 
P.115 
Para. 11.4 
 
P.116 Para 
11.10 

 
 
 
P.120 
 
 
P.120 Para 
11.29 

 
 

 
Heritage policies should be amended to take into account recent changes to the NPPF, notably including NPPF Para 198: 
 
In considering any applications to remove or alter a historic statue, plaque, memorial or monument (whether listed or not), local 
planning authorities should have regard to the importance of their retention in situ and, where appropriate, of explaining their 
historic and social context rather than removal. 
 
ADD: 11.3: …Heritage assets are categorised as designated (such as listed buildings) and non-designated (such as assets recorded 
on the HER or identified by the local planning authority). 
 
AMEND: 11.4: …The HER provides the most comprehensive register of archaeological remains and historic buildings within the 
borough, the majority of which are non-designated. 
 
ADD: 11.10: Recognising the role of the Leicestershire & Rutland Historic Environment Record (HER) in identifying non-
designated heritage assets and adopting a list of local heritage assets; 
 
Regarding HE03 Preserving the Borough’s Archaeology 
 
DELETE: Where applicable, justified, and feasible the Borough Council will require remains to be preserved in situ ensuring 
appropriate design, layout, ground levels, foundations, and site work methods to avoid and adverse impacts on the remains. 
 
AMEND: 11.29: Where archaeological remains are found and their preservation on site is justified, the Borough Council will seek 
to resist development which adversely affects their significance.  Where preservation is not required, mitigation may including 
excavation, analysis of remains and public dissemination of results, which will be undertaken by an organisation approved by the 
Leicestershire County Council’s Archaeology Team and the Borough Council before any works start… 
 

   Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 
 
The policy appears to follow accepted best practice.  However, archaeological trenching should only be required in advance of the 
determination of planning application in circumstances where there is strong evidence, provided by the desk based assessment 
and a geophysical survey (where appropriate) carried out in accordance with the proposed policy, of potential for assets of 
significance to be present on site. 
 

26 Do you support the 
approach to green 
wedges set out in 
the policy? 
 

 
P.125 

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has no objection to the general approach/principle of the planned green wedges, but suggests 
that an additional bullet point/category be added to those listed under the sentence beginning: “The following land uses will be 
acceptable in the Green Wedge…” covering: “other, essential transport infrastructure”. 
 
The health benefits of access to green space have long been documented.  The considerations around sing the space for 

269



community food growing and educational purposes are also welcomed on top of mental health and physical activity benefits.   
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 
 
The policy is supported subject to the limits of development being reviewed in advance of the designation being made in order 
not to sterilise potential sustainable development the benefits of which would significantly outweigh any harm to the integrity of 
the settlements protected by the green wedge. 
 

 Comments on Policy 
NAT03 – Trees, 
Hedgerows, 
Woodlands and 
Development 
 

P.127 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.127 

The correct terms are ‘Ancient Semi-natural Woodland’ (ASNW) and ‘Planted Ancient Woodland Site’ (PAWS). 

This policy only includes woodlands in NE’s inventory of ancient woodland, woodlands within statutory sites, ancient/veteran 
trees (not defined) and TPO trees.  This ignores the mature plantation woodlands within the borough which have huge 
biodiversity and landscape value.  This is completely inadequate, and feel sure it is not what is intended; it runs counter to other 
parts of the plan that rightly flag up the value of woodlands and trees for carbon sequestration.  An absolutely basic requirement 
of climate change mitigation is to protect existing woodland – but this policy falls far short.  
 
The policy that ‘On development sites of 0.5 hectares or more a tree canopy cover of 20% of the site area will be sought.  This will 
principally be achieved through retention and planting of trees, but where it can be demonstrated that this is impractical the use of 
other green infrastructure (e.g. green roofs and walls) can be used to deliver equivalent benefit’ feels inappropriate.  Whilst green 
roofs and walls are welcome in their own right, they are not an adequate compensation for loss of tree cover or failure to meet 
the 20% requirement; they will not have the same value for carbon sequestration.  Small woodlands have limited biodiversity 
value on small sites unless connected to off-site woodland.  Instead I feel it would be better for the shortfall of trees to be offset 
elsewhere, through contributions to another woodland planting scheme of higher value and greater size – and this may 
contribute also to the GI aspiration to increase trees cover in the Western and Southern GI Zones.  An offsetting site or sites 
should be sought in these areas.   
 
Within the policy text, it would be helpful to state that tree-planting schemes should be informed by ecology surveys of the 
intended site, and that trees and woodlands should not be planted on habitats of local biodiversity value, such as species-rich 
grasslands, as described in the local BAP.  
 
Trees within Conservation areas are not mentioned under protection of Trees.  
 

 Comments on Policy 

of NAT07 - 

Protecting 

Biodiversity  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The policy text on Internationally and Nationally Designated Sites does not distinguish between these two designations, and the 
wording of the policy applies only to nationally designated sites (i.e SSSIs).  This is not in accordance with the NPPF paragraph 175 
(or the later text in the policy, 12.31 and 12.34.)  
 
Specific wording on the R Mease is required: part of H&B is within the catchment of the river, which is an SAC, an internationally 
designated site.  The policy should ensure that there is no adverse impact on the site; protection is covered in Part 1 of ODPM 
Circular 06/2005: Biodiversity and Geological Conservation – Statutory Obligations and their Impact within the Planning System.  A 

270



 
 
 
 
P.135 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.133 
Para 
12.29 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.134 

development that has a significant effect on this site will require an ‘Appropriate Assessment’, and this decision has to be made 
on a precautionary basis.  An appropriate assessment is required where there is a probability or a risk that the plan or project will 
have significant effects on a site.   
 
The policy in NAT07 on Locally Important Sites should refer to sites and habitats that meet the published criteria for designation 
as Local Wildlife Sites.  There has not been comprehensive survey coverage of all land in the Borough to identify presence of LWS; 
new sites emerge all the time, and old sites are lost. Land does change in value over time and sites can gain or lose their LWS 
status.  The policy should be future-proofed.  We need to be able to protect sites that emerge or develop or are discovered in the 
future.  I recommend that the policy is amended to: “Where a proposal is likely to result in harm to locally important sites 
(including habitats or species of principal importance for biodiversity, and sites that meet the Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland criteria for designation as a Local Wildlife Site), developers will be required to accord with the following sequential 
approach: . .” See: https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/8/22/Guidelines_LWS.pdf 
 
Irreplaceable habitats also include old species-rich grassland, including that marked by ridge and furrow, and species-rich 
hedgerows that meet Hedgerow Regulations ecological criteria.  
 
LWS are designated by the Panel, as stated correctly in the text, but RIGS are designated by a separate group.  It would be helpful 

to state than the Leicestershire and Rutland Environmental Records Centre maintain a register of LWS.  LNRs are covered by 

legislation – the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 – and are therefore statutory designated sites; they are 

notified by the local authority, not the LWS Panel, and accepted by Natural England.   

LWS are designated in accordance with published criteria, which reflect the priorities in the local Biodiversity Action plan – but the 
criteria are in a separate document: 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/8/22/Guidelines_LWS.pdf 
 
Consideration should be given to Local Wildlife Sites (LWS), whist these do not have the same statutory protection they are still 
significantly important for local wildlife.  Greater emphasis on their role locally, as well as spatially linking up priority habitats and 
notable features. 
 
Buffers should be considered around nationally and internationally important sites to minimise development impact. 
 
Biosecurity should also be referenced, in terms of our contribution to minimising the spread of pests and diseases. 
 

 Comments on Policy 

NAT08 -Enhancing 

Biodiversity and 

habitat connectivity  

 

 
 
 
 
 

Part of NAT08 policy is not in accordance with earlier wording in NAT07 on the Avoidance-Mitigation-Compensation 

hierarchy.  “On site features should be retained, buffered and managed favourably to maintain their ecological value, connectivity 

and functionality in the long-term. The removal or damage of such features shall only be acceptable where it can be demonstrated 

the proposal will result in no net loss of biodiversity and where the integrity of local ecological networks can be secured.”  It is 

recommended the last sentence is replaced by reference to the hierarchy.  

271

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/8/22/Guidelines_LWS.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/8/22/Guidelines_LWS.pdf


 
 
P.140 
Para 
12.47 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.139 
Para 
12.44 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.139 

 

In the accompanying text, this statement does not in any sense agree with national Biodiversity Net-gain policy: compensatory 

measures should be of equal or greater size or quality than the area lost as a result of the development.  In addition, newly created 

habitats should be in place in time to provide fully the ecological functions that they are intended to compensate for.” It is 

recommended that this is deleted. 

 

Private gardens are not sustainable as there is no commitment from developers or householders to make them good for 
biodiversity or nature. That is, unless covenants are placed on development sites to ensure this occurs through the sale of 
property.  
 
The list of habitats present in H&B include the typo ‘lowland fears’ and it is not clear what it is intended.  However, the list doesn’t 

correlate with the BAP – so the text here is incorrect.  See: 

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/25/LLR_BAP_Space_for_Wildlife_2016-26_part_1.pdf 

LBAP habitats relevant to H&B are:  

 Broadleaved woodland 

 Eutrophic standing water  

 Field margins  

 Heath-grassland  

 Hedgerows  

 Lowland wood-pasture and parkland  

 Mesotrophic lakes  

 Neutral grassland  

 Reedbed  

 Wet woodland  

 Rivers (in preparation)  

 Floodplain wetland  

 Mature trees  

 Roadside verges  

 Rocks and built structures  

 Sphagnum ponds  

 Springs and flushes  

 Urban habitats 

 
The contributions of the River Soar are not mentioned. 

272

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/25/LLR_BAP_Space_for_Wildlife_2016-26_part_1.pdf


Para 
12.46  

 

27 Do you agree with 
the ‘major 
developments’ 
threshold set out in 
the biodiversity 
policy or should a 
different threshold 
be applied for the 
additional 
biodiversity gains 
measures? 
 

 Policy NAT08 Enhancing Biodiversity and habitat connectivity is not completely in accordance with the NPPF or with the emerging 
Environment Bill, which includes a mandatory 10% gain in biodiversity value for most development (exemptions are currently 
unclear, but may include some change-of-use, householder and permitted development; a final response to the 2019 consultation 
is not available as yet).  Smaller development may be able to take a simpler approach to calculation, but at present it appears as 
though most will be subject to the mandatory 10%.   
 
The policy should be aligned to the mandatory requirement and require 10% net-gain for major and minor development.  The 
phrase in the policy that ‘All development should provide a net gain in biodiversity where possible’ is weak, and not aligned to 
the NPPF.  The NPPF wording used in 174 is that ‘Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and 
local environment by [. . . ] d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity’ and 179 is that ‘. . plans should [. . .] 
and identify and pursue opportunities for securing measurable net gains for biodiversity.’  
 
In the question, it is not clear to what the ‘additional biodiversity gains measures’ for major developments are; minor 
development can also have impacts on ecological networks if it is in the wrong place (an example would be a small housing 
development that severs an existing green corridor such as a linear woodland along a former railway line).  There is little value in 
singling out major developments or determining a local threshold; net-gain is needed for all development bar the few exemptions, 
and this policy needs to be in accordance with the emerging Environment Bill. 
 

 Comments from Strategic Property Services in respect of the County Council’s interests as a Landowner 
 
The general principles need to be incorporated within the planning of all sites, wherever feasible, with a view to maximising 
biodiversity gains.  In practical terms only sites where there is a need to provide public open space will be to feasible to deliver an 
on-site solution.  Consideration therefore needs to be made for a requirement for off-setting. 
 

28 Do you have any 
comments on the 
policy for 
development within 
the countryside? 
 

P.141-144 It is suggested that an additional bullet point should be added to the policy under “Development in the countryside will be 
considered sustainable where…” stating "residual traffic and transport impacts are addressed, as necessary, in accordance with 
policies HT01 to HT04*". 
 
*NB – policy references listed here are notwithstanding our later comments on the proposed transport chapter/policies 
 

 Comment on Policy 
NAT11 – Blue 
Infrastructure 
 

 There is no mention of the Upper Soar as a site for Biodiversity enhancement.  However, future development proposals will 
impact on this tributary. 
 

29 Do you agree with 
the approach to 

 The principle of a Plan policy in respect of highways and transportation is welcomed and something that the Local Highway 
Authority (LHA) supports. 

273



highways and 
transportation set 
out in policy HT01? 
 

 
In the current absence of any formally published comprehensive transport evidence base and information about potential sites, it 
is difficult for the LHA to comment definitively on whether the Policy and supporting narrative are likely to be sufficiently robust in 
terms of dealing with the impacts of further growth in the Borough, especially cumulative impacts and seeking to secure funding 
(including from developers), which could be considerable in quantum. 
 
But, reflecting its comments on other aspects of the draft Plan(1), the LHA’s preliminary view is that the policy and text is too 
generic and is unlikely to provide a sufficiently robust basis for seeking developer contributions towards mitigating measures to 
address cumulative impacts within and without the Borough/Leicestershire.  The LHA would welcome the opportunity to work 
with HBBC and other relevant partners to review jointly the evidence work to date; to support HBBC in undertaking work to 
explore options for and pathways towards the delivery of required highways and transport mitigation measures (including to 
address cumulative and cross-boundary impacts); consider how this might impact on assumptions about potential sites to be 
included in the next version of the Plan; and also to review how this affects the contents of the Plan, including policy HT01. 
 
A particular issue that will ultimately need to be addressed is how the Local Plan will incorporate/respond to ongoing and planned 
work to support the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP) and the emerging Local Plans of adjacent districts in and around the SGP ‘Priority 
Growth Corridor’, noting that this work could identify a need for significant changes to the Plan in transport terms (e.g. transport 
mitigation measures identified to accommodate the Local Plan could be superseded by ‘bigger’ mitigation requirements to deal 
with wider growth identified through the SGP/adjacent Local Plans).  Correspondingly, if the Local Plan is to be submitted prior to 
the conclusion of the SGP transport work, the LHA considers that it would need to include a policy setting out an appropriate 
review trigger/mechanism to ensure that the Plan is updated as necessary to reflect the outcomes of the SGP and adjacent Local 
Plans work as and when this emerges (i.e. as per the suggested approach to the HNRFI set out in the LHAs response to Q20). 
 
In respect of more detailed aspects of the Policy and supporting text: 
 

 It is a notable absence that no reference is made in the text to the Strategic Road Network and the roles and responsibilities 
of Highways England (albeit there is mention in text that supports policy HT04). 

 The wording of the Policy uses phraseology that is inconsistent with that of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
e.g.”…. residual cumulative impacts of development on the transport network are not significant…” whereas the NPPF states: 
“…or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe…” 

 The lack of reference to the Government’s (cycling and walking ) ‘Gear Change’ document and to its national bus strategy ‘Bus 
Back Better’ is surprising.  It would be helpful to cross reference the LHA’s passenger transport policy and strategy and also to 
its new Cycling and Walking Strategy.  Further reference could be made to appropriate supporting infrastructure here - such 
as safe, secure cycle storage with good natural surveillance (at popular locations such as parks, town centres etc) but also 
storage for cycles at homes and workplaces.  This is crucial to making active travel a more feasible and convenient form of 
travel. How are development proposals to be designed to encourage a slowing of traffic speed and consistently prioritise the 
pedestrian or cyclist above private or motorised vehicles? 

 

274

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/980227/DfT-Bus-Back-Better-national-bus-strategy-for-England.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/buses-and-public-transport/passenger-transport
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2021/7/27/Cycling-and-walking-strategy.pdf


(1) Especially the LHA’s view that it is likely that a coordinated, strategy-led approach will be required to address the transport 
challenges of seeking to accommodate further growth (employment and housing) in the Borough, one involving cross-
boundary coordination and cooperation (within and without Leicestershire) and including Highways England.  The LHA would 
expect the Plan to provide policies and text that underpin this approach and provide a robust basis for seeking developer 
contributions towards mitigating measures to address cumulative impacts within and without the Borough/ Leicestershire. 

 

 Comment on Policy 
HT02 – Parking 
Standards 
 

P.152 It is suggested that policy HT03 should be cross-referenced within HT02 to clarify that EV charging facilities are covered 
separately. 
 

30 Are there any other 
locations or criteria 
you think would be 
acceptable to 
support the delivery 
of HGV parking 
facilities? 
 

P.152-153 The Local Highway Authority (LHA) would expect the need for HGV parking facilities to be driven by evidence, including in respect 
of additional demand generated by any future sites allocated through the emerging Local Plan and/or growth in neighbouring 
areas.  At the time of writing, there is insufficient evidence or knowledge of such potential growth in and around the Borough to 
comment on possible increases in locally generated HGV parking demand that might arise. 
 
That said, it is possible that there could be pressure/need for additional HGV parking facilities in those parts of the Borough 
located around or closest to the A42/M42 and M69 corridors (noting that most of the M69 is either within or very near to the 
Borough and that whilst the A42/M42 does not pass through the Borough, it similarly passes very close by at certain points) 
arising from strategic/long distance HGV traffic using either of these routes. 
 
Consideration should also be given to the HGV driver workforce around their access to services needed for their health and 
wellbeing (inc. exercise/access to restrooms/access to healthier food and water etc), when looking at practicality and suitability of 
parking facilities.  Loughborough University have done work around lorry driver health and lack of provision around the 
aforementioned considerations leading to poor mental and physical health within this population.  
 

31 Should the policy 

set different electric 

vehicle charging 

infrastructure 

requirements for 

different types of 

non-residential 

uses, for example 

rapid charging 

points at 

commercial/retail 

developments or 

 It seems logical that the type of EV facilities provided should be aligned with anticipated demand in terms of length of stay; i.e. an 
emphasis on ‘rapid’/‘ultra-rapid’ chargers for short-stay uses/facilities and on relatively slower/‘standard’ chargers for long-stay 
uses/facilities. 
 
However, it is less clear why the proportions of overall parking spaces to be either ‘actively equipped’ with EV charging facilities of 
one form or another, or ‘passively equipped’ for future provision, should differ from one form of development to another, given 
the vastly expanded EV charging provision that will be needed in most locations in future to support the mass transition to EVs.  
 
It is suggested that the policy should include a starting point of seeking passive provision as a minimum for every new off-street 
parking space provided within all new developments (both residential and non-residential), other than in exceptional 
circumstances (i.e. so that any parking spaces that are not actively equipped with EV facilities from ‘day one’ can be equipped 
with such active facilities at minimum cost/disruption as demand rises in future). 
 

275



more charging 

points at long stay 

locations such as 

employment sites? 

 

On-street/off-street charging needs to be backed up by a range of other solutions, hubs, destination charging as well as 
sustainable alternative transport modes, such as passenger transport and cycling and walking as fall-back options. 
 
There is a need to focus on where people are stationary for long periods of time and allow the EV chargers to utilise this so that 
there is then less emphasis on public chargepoints. 
 
There may also need to be a reconsideration of what may have traditionally been considered as long stay destinations such as 
employment sites and making them appropriate to a post-Covid world.  
 

32 Do you agree with 

the approach of 

seeking to 

safeguard land 

along the A5 

corridor? Are there 

any constraints or 

issues which could 

preclude the 

Council, in 

conjunction with 

the A5 Partnership, 

from safeguarding 

this land? 

 

 Whilst the principle of an A5 specific policy is welcomed, it is not apparent from the way that it is presently drafted that its 
intention is to seek to safeguard land for the future strategic upgrade of the A5 through the Borough.  Options for the route’s 
upgrade adjacent to Hinckley appear to be extremely limited and the LHA would welcome any planning policy protection that 
could be afforded to seeking to safeguard the route’s upgrade.  Were the opportunity to be lost to achieve the route’s upgrade, 
this would likely have a material impact on the ability to deliver any further growth (including expansion of existing facilities, e.g. 
at MIRA) in the A5 corridor (within or without the Borough/ Leicestershire).  
 
Additionally, and notwithstanding any actions pursued through the A5 Partnership, any policy to secure developer contributions 
and safeguard land for the future upgrade of the A5 within Hinckley and Bosworth’s emerging Local Plan would need to be 
‘mirrored’ by equivalent provisions in the Local Plans of adjacent Warwickshire Districts to be fully effective.  The LHA would wish 
to be involved in any future discussions with the relevant local planning authorities and other highway authorities (i.e. 
Warwickshire County Council and Highways England) to advance a coordinated approach to these matters through the various 
Local Plans.  
 
Whilst evidence has yet to be published that definitively links the enabling of growth (in the Borough and more widely) to the 
need for the A5’s strategic upgrade, based on knowledge of the corridor’s current functionality a link is likely to be demonstrated.  
In that respect, whilst is understandable that due to the corridor’s relative importance – e.g. as identified in the Strategic Growth 
Plan – the Plan as drafted treats it separately from the local road network (i.e. separate from HT01), in other respects it, i.e. the 
LHA’s view that a coordinated, strategy-led approach will be required to enable growth, it would be more appropriate not to treat 
it separately.  A compromise could be to redraft and combine the text supporting HT01 and HT04 and then renumber HT04 as 
HT02, such that Policy HT01 and ‘new’ HT02 follow directly on from the redrafted text.  In redrafting the text, it is suggested that 
reference to the low railway bridge and the issues arising from its frequent striking should be referenced. 
 
Additionally, if (when) a link is demonstrated between the delivery of growth and the A5’s strategic upgrade, the current draft 
text referencing funding is weak and may call into an Inspector’s mind whether the Plan is ‘sound’ and deliverable.  Challenges to 
growth presented by Strategic Road Network impacts are becoming increasingly common for Plans being developed across the 
wider Housing Market Area, and so it will be important to continue to work jointly with Highways England (and other partners as 
relevant) to identify and agree a suitable way forward; ensuring that there is a coordinated approach to dealing with SRN impacts 
underpinned by a Plan that contains a coherent narrative about the infrastructure delivery ‘journey’ is likely to be important to 

276



agreeing the way forward. 
 
With regard to the specific wording of the draft policy HT04 (as currently numbered): 
 

 Although welcomed, it is unclear why just cumulative impacts are covered.  Given the poor functionality of the corridor, it 
is highly probably that even the impacts of a single development could have a material impact. 

 As per the LHA’s comments on Policy HT01, the wording of HT04 is inconsistent with that used in the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
Safeguarding of land along the A5 corridor should include for space for nature such as hedges, SUDS, trees and open space buffers 
between the road and residential development.  Open space buffers also allow for species to move along the road network.  Any 
development next to the corridor should ensure that buffers are built into design. 
 

 Comment on INF01 

Infrastructure and 

Delivery 

P.160 
Para 14.3 
 
P.160 
Para 14.6 

States that an Infrastructure Delivery Plan will be prepared and kept up to date so that local infrastructure can be identified, 

costed, and planned for to deliver the requirements of the plan.  This is positive.  

Infrastructure requirements are split into critical, essential, and desirable.  Highways, bus services, primary and secondary 
education, special education is referred to as critical, but post 16 education is not referred to unless this fall under the ‘further 
education’ banner.  This should be more specific.  Early Years and libraries are classified as essential infrastructure but Civic 
Amenities (waste) is not referred to at all in any of the categories.  This needs to be added to the essential infrastructure category.  
It is suggested that it would be better to make reference to the requirements in the County Council’s Planning Obligations Policy 
here so that other areas such as public health which are referred to in this document aren’t missed out in the future. 
 

33 Should the policy be 

amended to reflect 

emerging 

Government 

proposals for 

infrastructure 

funding and 

planning gain set 

out in the Planning 

White Paper? 

 

 Whilst there is not a question that explicitly references the affordability of infrastructure and the Plan’s viability, the Local 
Highway Authority (LHA) nevertheless wishes to make the following observations. 
 
Although there is a current absence of any formally published comprehensive transport evidence base and information about 
potential sites, from its knowledge and through its involvement with the development of Local Plans for areas adjoining the 
Borough (including Charnwood, Blaby and the City of Leicester), there are likely to be some considerable highways and transport 
challenges in seeking to accommodate further growth in the Borough (as highlighted in LHA’s responses to questions relating to 
the preferred housing strategy and delivery of employment land). 
 
The costs associated with addressing these challenges could be significant – especially where delivery of growth is reliant on 
addressing issues on the Strategic Road Network (including the M1, A5 and A46).  Should it be that the costs of addressing issues 
were to rest solely with developers, there is a risk that this would render the Plan unviable.  It will be important, therefore, for 
HBBC to work jointly with the LHA, Highways England and other highway authorities as necessary (e.g. Warwickshire County 
Council) to continue to develop evidence that identifies the impacts of its Plan proposals for growth; to identify the mitigating 
measures and infrastructure regard to enable that growth; and to identify and agree with the highway authorities appropriate 

277



delivery pathways and potential funding sources. 
 
It is the LHA’s anticipation that what is agreed will be reflected in the Plan in terms of a narrative for the infrastructure delivery 
‘journey’ that we are on and the coordinated, strategy-led approach required towards the development and delivery of projects.  
In this context, there is a notable absence of any specific reference to the need for developer contributions towards addressing 
cumulative and cross-boundary impacts and associated infrastructure requirements within either the proposed infrastructure and 
delivery policy or supporting text. 
 

 Comment on Policy 
INF03 
Telecommunications 
Infrastructure 
 

 
 
P.164 Para 

14.16 

 
 
 
 
P.165 Para 

14.19 

 

P.165 Para 

14.20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P.165 Para 

14.21 

 

There are a number of suggested revisions to wording relating to Policy INF03, these are highlighted below:  

‘The key consideration for telecommunications in the Local Plan is to ensure that there is universal coverage of gigabit capable 

broadband infrastructure for all homes and businesses in Leicestershire and new developments are fully equipped and future-

proofed to provide full-fibre gigabit capable broadband provision.  The development of high-speed broadband technology and 

other communications networks will also play a vital role in enhancing the provision of local community facilities, services and 

employment.’ 

‘Superfast Leicestershire has indicated that 95.2% of properties in Hinckley & Bosworth were able to receive superfast broadband 

(as of April 2020) (the latest date for which full figures are available), which is slightly lower than the 96% county-wide average.’ 
 

‘The key consideration for telecommunications provision is to ensure that new development is fully equipped and future-proofed 

to provide superfast broadband infrastructure and ensure retrospective installation is not required.  Superfast Leicestershire has 

particularly highlighted the role which planning policies can play in securing this – the installation of fibre optic cables within new 

developments is a service which BT Openreach will generally provide to developers free of charge, but if not appropriately-timed 

it becomes prohibitively expensive.  The proposed development should allow mechanisms for securing a full fibre broadband 

provision for each premise and business from at least one network operator, provided on an open access basis.  Such provider 

must deploy a Fibre to the Premise (FTTP) access network structure in which optical fibre runs from a local exchange to each 

premise.  The optical fibre may be point-to-point or may use a shared infrastructure such as a Gigabit Passive Optical Network 

(GPON).  

To promote competition and consumer choice, the proposed development must engage with and secure, where possible, 

additional broadband provision from a variety of additional network operators including those providing services under a 

vertically integrated model.  Such operators own the passive and active infrastructure and offer services to end users directly or 

through communications providers under a wholescale supply provision.’ 

‘The policy also addresses planning applications or prior notification applications for the installation of satellite dishes, microwave 
antennae, radio masts, cabinet boxes and other types of telecommunications apparatus which require planning permission.  It 
would be beneficial to have policies that support the expansion of electronic communications networks, including next 
generation mobile technology (such as 5G) and full fibre broadband connections.  The proposed development will be required 

278



to work with all engaged network operators to further this aspiration within the Hinckley & Bosworth areas and to seek to 
leverage improved gigabit capable network deployment to surrounding areas.  When considering such applications, the 
Borough Council will also have regard to the legal requirements placed upon telecommunications operators to provide an 
adequate service, and any technical and operational constraints that may be faced.’ 
 

 Glossary  There is no definition of some terms such as ‘irreplaceable habitat’, ‘locally important site’, ‘Local Wildlife site’, ‘biodiversity net-

gain’, ‘ecological network’ , ‘ancient or veteran tree’, biodiversity accounting metric’ and ‘priority habitat’.  This will need to be 

addressed. 

 

279



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT PRINCIPLES 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

PART A 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to share and seek approval for two key 

documents that have been developed as part of the Council’s approach to 
public engagement; the recently developed Consultation and Engagement 
Principles document, and the Consultation Institute’s Charter. 
 

2. These documents, and the work that has led to them, reflect the lessons of the 
pandemic as well as feedback received from officers, the public and Members 
over the last 12 months. They also respond to the need to consider the 
planned engagement activity for autumn/winter 2021, and to consider the 
future approach more generally.  
 

3. The Consultation and Engagement Principles document is attached as 
Appendix A to this report, and the Consultation Institute’s Charter is appended 
as Appendix B.  

 
Recommendations 

 
4. It is recommended that the Cabinet: 

 
(a) Approves the Council’s Consultation and Engagement Principles;   

 
(b) Agrees that the Council should become a signatory to the Consultation 

Charter. 
 

Reasons for Recommendation 
 
5. The Consultation and Engagement Principles update the Council’s approach 

to involving members of the public in decision making, reflecting key lessons 
from the pandemic and broader changes in the way that local authorities 
nationally are involving residents.  
 

281 Agenda Item 13



6. By becoming a signatory to the Consultation Institute’s Charter it will provide 
validation of the Council’s high standards of consultation from the UK’s 
national body for best practice and case law in this field.  

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

 
7. The Scrutiny Commission received a report on 12 July and its comments are 

set out in paragraphs 28 and 29 below.  
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
8. The documents and developments in this report align with the Council’s 

Communities Strategy, and the Great Communities outcome of the Strategic 
Plan. 
 

Resource Implications 
 

9. There are no resource implications arising from this report.  
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

10. None.  
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Tom Purnell 
Assistant Chief Executive 
Chief Executive’s Department 
Tom.Purnell@leics.gov.uk 0116 3057019 
 
Elizabeth Watkins 
Engagement and Consultation Manager, Chief Executive’s Department 
Elizabeth.watkins@leics.gov.uk, 0116 3051152 
 
Leon Charikar 
Policy Manager, Chief Executive’s Department 
Leon.charikar@leics.gov.uk, 0116 3051336 
  
 
 

282

mailto:Tom.Purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Elizabeth.watkins@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Leon.charikar@leics.gov.uk


PART B 

 
Background   
 
11. The Council has a strong record of engaging with communities on changes to 

its services and strategies. The existing pro-active approach reflects the 
Council’s values of openness and transparency. It also facilitates trust, 
enabling the Council to build strong relationships with its residents, service 
users and local businesses. For many of the Council’s services and strategies 
there is a statutory duty to consult or other legal grounds for consultation.  

 
12. The Council’s high standards and commitment to engagement and 

consultation activity have been recognised by the Consultation Institute, the 
UK’s national body for public engagement. Historically, the Council has 
particularly excelled at formal consultations on specific changes.   

 
13. The range of tools that officers draw on when engaging, and the standards of 

excellence the Council expects of staff, have been tried and tested across 
many consultations. The frequent use of quantitative methods (such as 
surveys) alongside more qualitative methods (such as focus groups) have 
proven to be a robust approach, providing sound insight, and surviving legal 
challenge.  

 
14. Looking ahead, the Council has a large programme of consultation and public 

engagement activity over the autumn and winter of 2021, involving at least 
nine different projects. This includes strategic work like NetZero (carbon 
reduction) and partnership activity such as the joint municipal waste strategy, 
as well as the annual Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) update. 
Officers leading on each project will seek opportunities to approach 
stakeholders together, particularly where the projects involve similar themes. 
This could also create an opportunity to mirror the kind of large scale 
engagement and visioning exercises that other councils have undertaken post 
pandemic. Such an approach creates the opportunity to weave together 
different consultation subjects under one narrative and set of activities. This 
idea is to be considered further by the Council’s Engagement Hub and if this is 
a practical proposition will be considered by chief officers in the first instance.  

 
15. There remain many challenges to running good consultations, which the 

Council is determined to address. For example, closing the “We asked, You 
said, We did” consultation loop to tackle the perception that consultation 
activity does not influence the final decision. In some areas of work, the 
Council also faces challenges getting the level of quantity and quality of 
response aimed for in order to inform decision-making. There are also 
improvements to be made in defining activity and in developing a robust digital 
approach that also facilitates access for individuals who are digitally excluded.  
 

The Consultation and Engagement Principles 
 

16. The Council’s Consultation and Engagement Principles have been developed 
to meet the challenges stated above and to improve on the Council’s existing 

283



good practice. In particular, the document was developed in response to the 
Council’s experience of consultation during the pandemic, where many 
activities were moved online, and to recognise the national shift toward 
greater community involvement. The document reflects these influences and 
also provides a benchmark for officers leading the significant volume of 
consultation activity planned for the year ahead. Subject to the Cabinet’s 
approval of the Principles, the document will be published on the Council’s 
website.  
 

17. The key points in the Principles document are:  
 

a. Moving towards a more continuous engagement approach, rather than 
one-off consultation. 

 
b. Closing the loop: creating feedback mechanisms that evidence how 

seriously the Council takes what people tell it. 
 

c. Drawing on the Council’s tools to maximise the effectiveness of the 
engagement work undertaken – to understand both ‘what’ people think 
and ‘why’ they hold a particular view. 

 
d. Involving communities who may not typically have their voice heard – 

understanding who these groups are, their needs, and targeting the 
approach effectively.  

 
e. Best practice: making sure that the Council’s corporate messages, 

training and support create consistent good practice and create a 
culture of excellence.  

 
f. Elected Members have an important role to play in promotion and in 

representation.  
 

18. The key principles that should underpin all our engagement activity are: 
Inclusive, Transparent and Meaningful. These values, as articulated in the 
document, are intended to set a corporate benchmark for all engagement 
activity.  
 

19. The role of Members is one of the key themes for future work referenced in 
the document. Members may wish to play a more active role in the Council’s 
consultation and engagement activity. This will often involve promoting 
consultation and engagement to the communities they represent. The new 
Elected Member Portal has a link to all current consultations and, where 
consultations are considered to have a significant impact on residents across 
Leicestershire, Members will receive notification that a consultation is due to 
start and will also be involved in responding to consultations through the 
Scrutiny process.  Where a consultation has a significant impact on a 
particular electoral division, the local Member will be notified by the service 
area in the usual way. A local Member may receive representations from the 
communities they represent and choose to advocate for these communities on 
the matter being consulted on.  

284



 
The Consultation Institute’s Charter 
 
20. Following Members’ suggestion at the All Member Briefing in 2020, the 

Council is now in a position to sign up to the Consultation Institute’s Charter. A 
copy of the Charter is attached as Appendix B. The Council has also been a 
long-time member of the Consultation Institute and this membership was 
recently upgraded in response to growing interest in training and resources 
from officers. 

 
21. The Charter is a set of standards created by the Consultation Institute, the 

UK’s national body for consultation and engagement, to guide public bodies in 
the way that they use public consultation within decision-making processes.  
As the approach to consultation is typically shaped by English Common Law, 
there is no one widely recognised standard for public consultation. The value 
of the Charter is in its clear and succinct articulation of best practice, which 
reflects both emerging and historic case law. As such, the Charter provides 
external validation of the Council’s existing commitment to excellence in public 
consultation, stating the standards that officers should be working to and that 
the public can expect of the council.  
 

22. The Charter comprises seven ‘best practice principles’, which are: Integrity, 
Visibility, Accessibility, Transparency, Disclosure, Fair Interpretation and 
Publication.  Each principle is underpinned by direction on the policy, 
processes and behaviours that should govern the authority that is consulting 
and the individuals who are being consulted.  

 
23. Officers propose to use a programme of further training and communications 

to launch the Charter at the Council. This will also be an opportunity to ensure 
a broader understanding of the Council’s own corporate principles through the 
new Principles document. The Principles document and detail of the Charter 
will be hosted on the engagement pages of the Council’s website. It is 
proposed that the Charter be co-signed by the Leader of the Council and the 
Cabinet Lead Member for Equalities, Community Engagement and Rural 
Partnerships.  

 
Consultation 

 
24. The Consultation and Engagement Principles document has been created 

following feedback received from officers, Members and the public during 
2020 and 2021. 
 

Resident feedback 
 

25. Resident feedback on the Council’s approach to public engagement and 
consultation was gained  through the ‘Conversations about Covid’ project 
and through the Leicestershire Equalities Challenge Group (LECG). 
‘Conversations about Covid’ involved older Asian women, foodbank 
coordinators and users, adult and youth volunteers, children in care, and 
parent-carers of young people with SEND, amongst others. The project 

285



identified recommendations from the public including the Council providing 
more frequent channels of communication and easier ways to find material 
on the website. It also became clear that there are differing levels of digital 
exclusion across the county and a need to feel listened to amongst local 
residents. 
 

26. The LECG broadly welcomed the Council’s Consultation and Engagement 
Principles and reiterated that these should apply to both formal consultation 
and more informal engagement, particularly when it comes to ensuring an 
inclusive approach. The group offered their networks in order to increase the 
reach of future engagement activity, which was welcomed by officers.  

 
Officer Feedback 

 
27. The primary forum for getting feedback from officers across the Council was 

the Engagement Hub, which is an informal group of officers from all 
departments involved in public engagement activity. The function of the Hub 
is to ensure that Council engagement initiatives are joined-up and efficient, 
for officers to get advice and support, and to reinforce the Council’s 
standards of best practice. The group made detailed suggestions on the draft 
document, refining the Principles and ensuring that it reflected the standards 
across departments.  

 
Comments from the Scrutiny Commission 
 
28. On 12 July 2021 the Scrutiny Commission considered a report of the Chief 

Executive that reviewed the Council’s approach to public engagement and 
formal consultation. The report set out the proposed new Consultation and 
Engagement Principles, and the Consultation Charter.   
 

29. The Commission supported the consultation principles and the Council’s 
membership of the Consultation Institute and asked that some specific 
comments on the report be forwarded to the Cabinet, as follows:  
 
(i) Residents often viewed consultations as a formality rather than a 

genuine exercise to engage. It was suggested that publicising examples 
of where consultation feedback had contributed to the development of, or 
change in, proposals would help provide some reassurance on this 
issue. Members noted existing work to develop the Council’s website to 
state this clearly for residents.  

 
(ii) Reflecting the nature of consultation, the Charter is very process driven 

and its purpose is to guide officers on the best way to undertake 
consultation or engagement activity. Following best practice processes is 
the best way for officers to ensure high-quality outcomes from the work.  

 
(iii) Whilst it was felt that the Council ran very good, targeted, service-driven 

consultations, it was suggested that these were less effective when 
carried out for high-level strategic issues, such as the MTFS. Some 
Members felt that the number of responses were sometimes so small 

286



that these could not be regarded as being truly representative and 
therefore not statistically relevant. Whilst perhaps providing some rich 
and useful information, there was a risk they reflected the views of a 
vocal minority. 

 
(iv) Commissioners commented that large-scale high-level consultations 

often failed to grab the attention of the public. It was suggested by the 
officers present that framing a consultation to make it more personal and 
relatable to residents would help participants see the direct impact a 
particular issue might have on them. This in turn would help encourage 
them to engage in the process. 

 
(v) It was also emphasised the need for clarity on the purpose of a 

consultation exercise. Whilst questions should be sufficiently broad so as 
not to be framed towards a preferred outcome, they needed to be clear 
to ensure the public understand the scope of the consultation. Members 
noted that the Council’s business intelligence team provided expertise 
and support to departments to help ensure questions were framed 
clearly and so as to avoid bias.   
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
30. The Consultation and Engagement Principles explicitly emphasise the 

importance of an inclusive, tailored and proactive approach to engaging with 
individuals with protected characteristics. The use of the principles should 
facilitate broadening and deepening this work to ensure that we are reaching 
all those who have a stake in an issue, using external channels and internal 
forums such as the LECG.  

 
Background Papers  
 
None 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Leicestershire County Council Consultation and Engagement Principles 
Appendix B: The Consultation Institute’s Charter 

 
 

287



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Leicestershire County Council 

Consultation & Engagement Principles 

1. Introduction 

When the council is considering how best to improve policies, services, or assets, or decide what the 

future direction of the organisation might be, ideas are typically invited from members of the public 

within a process known as ‘engagement’. In some cases, there is a statutory obligation to get feedback 

from service users and interested parties; in other cases, talking to people is just the best way to get 

good information on how the council can improve. But as well providing valuable insight and data, 

engagement enables strong relationships to arise between the council and local communities. 

This document describes the current way that the council engages with residents and businesses, and 

the vision for future engagement. It also sets out the key principles, tools and methods that will enable 

the council to realise this vision.  

2. What do we mean by ‘Engagement’ and ‘Consultation’? 

‘Engagement’ is when the council reaches out to talk with local people to exchange information and 

views on something that affects both parties. Engagement can cover any subject, from the council’s 

long-term corporate priorities to specific changes in a particular village. The activity involved can range 

from informing residents of a change to delegating decisions to a community. It is a flexible approach 

that facilitates mutual trust and understanding.  

 

‘Consultation’ is just one form of engagement. The council has a statutory obligation to run 

consultations on some kinds of changes. Consultations have specific standards and timescales that the 

council must follow to ensure that the consultation is meaningful and that the council is not subject to 

legal challenge. Consultations are more formal and time-specified forms of engagement.   

 

3. Context   

The council has a strong record of engaging with communities on services and strategies. The council 

engages because it is the right thing to do in the spirit of openness and transparency; it facilitates trust 

and shows respect, as well as enabling the council to build strong relationships with local communities. 

Proactive engagement also facilitates informed decisions on council services and more efficient 

implementation of changes.   

The range of tools that officers draw on when engaging, and the standards of excellence the council 

expects of staff, have been tried and tested across hundreds of consultations. The frequent use of 

quantitative methods (such as surveys) alongside more qualitative methods (such as focus groups) have 

proven to be a robust approach, providing sound insight, and surviving legal challenge.  

Historically, the council has particularly excelled at formal consultations on specific changes. This is the 

result of strong governance, good preparation, and delivery, and because the feedback received is 

valued by staff and Members.  

The Covid-19 pandemic has brought engagement into focus for councils as both local authorities and 

citizens have had to face new challenges. Councils are adapting to lower levels of trust amongst some 

289

https://www.consultationinstitute.org/the-gunning-principles-implications/
mhand_2
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX A



 
 
communities, to citizens feeling less enfranchised and less able to exert influence over local government 

decisions, coupled with fear of cuts and service changes.  

Recognising these challenges, the council aims to change the process of engagement in the following 

ways:    

• Closing the Loop: Ensuring that the council communicates how feedback and ideas have influenced 

final decisions (and if the feedback has not influenced the final decision, that this is stated and 

justified). This builds democratic goodwill amongst local communities and mitigates against any 

belief that engagement is not sincere. 

 

• Using a wider range of methods: Engagement can be approached in many different ways and the 

council’s methods should facilitate each engagement exercise being maximally insightful, inclusive, 

and robust. Whilst the time-proven use of surveys indicates ‘what’ people think, making use of 

narrative or qualitative approaches, videos, and user forums can show more about ‘why’ local 

people hold the views they do.   

 

• Engaging marginalised communities: Some members of local communities may struggle to engage 

with the council so the approach must facilitate full participation from groups such as older people, 

children, and young people, those with protected characteristics, and rural communities. In addition 

to the equalities processes already in place, officers should make best use of data on the digital 

literacy and needs of different groups, offer both printed and digital materials, and advertise 

through a range of media using accessible language. 

 

• Reinforcing best practice: In addition to the existing council standards and tools, joining the 

Consultation Institute’s Charter will enable officers to better understand the national standards 

governing this policy area. The Consultation Institute is a national body that sets and promotes 

standards of excellence for engagement activity, reflecting current case law, regulation, and 

emerging trends.  

 

4. Adapting to a changing landscape  

How people access information and what they expect from local government have shifted over the last 

few years. Many citizens are now be able to instantly access information and communicate with the 

council via their smart phones. The Covid-19 pandemic resulted in dramatic changes to services and 

citizens’ lives, and there are many changes still to come. The council therefore needs to ensure 

communities’ voices are heard as services evolve. Ensuring that engagement is future-proofed will 

better enable the council to understand what quality, cost-effective services look like to those who need 

them. 

Looking ahead, some of the key themes are:  

• Thinking in terms of engagement, not just consultation: putting in place a variety of mechanisms 

to talk to people on an ongoing basis about a wide range of issues, both raised by the council and 

by citizens. This includes early informal engagement with the relevant communities and elected 

Members on emerging areas of change. 

290

https://www.consultationinstitute.org/


 
 

 

• Widening and deepening our engagement: ensuring that the council understands the needs and 

interests of service users and other interested parties; and that engagement methods are tailored 

to maximise involvement from all those who have a stake in an issue. 

 

• Investing in relationships with end users: prioritising staff capacity and tools to ensure that the 

council can build and sustain relationships with our communities over time; engagement will offer 

large dividends to service design and delivery where the appropriate resources are put in place.  

 

• Drawing on the role of elected Members: ensuring that officers use the insight into communities 

that Members have to shape planned activity; and using Members’ networks to increase 

engagement. To continue with the governance provided by Cabinet and Scrutiny Commission.  

5. The council’s engagement principles 

 

These three principles state the most fundamental characteristics of the council’s engagement activity 

and provide the foundation for any planned engagement work.  

 

Inclusive  

Involve all those who have a stake in an issue by understanding local communities, actively reaching out 

to different groups, and tailoring the approach.  

 

Transparent  

Build trust with citizens by being open and clear about reasons and decision-making. 

 

Meaningful 

Engagement activity is sufficiently well defined and well executed such that local people are able to 

participate fully and effectively influence decisions.  

 

6. Engagement Methods and Tools 

The council has a range of support and tools that officers can draw on to design and implement effective 

engagement. As well as being held to national standards of best practice, officers are expected to be 

able to define the success criteria for their engagement activity at the outset, with reference to the 

target groups to engage and the outcomes to be achieved.  

The council’s engagement methods and tools include: 

• Dedicated support staff at the corporate centre across the Policy Team, Business 

Intelligence Service, Communications, Democratic Services and Legal 

• Engagement Hub meetings for staff to connect activity, troubleshoot and access training  

• Access to diverse service users and community groups, including Leicestershire Equalities 

Challenge Group and the Leicestershire & Rutland Association of Local Councils 

• Intranet site for staff to self-serve on best practice and get support 

• Corporate website pages to promote and host engagement activity  

• A wide range of surveying and data tools: Snap Survey, Confers, Mentimeter, MS Forms 

291



 
 

• Expertise in qualitative methods including interviewing and focus groups 

• Expertise in quantitative methods including data analysis and statistical techniques 

• Access to data to track engagement and review previous consultations 

• Targeted publicity across a range of media 

• Links to the Consultation Institute for external advice and national trends 

6. Evolution  

It is likely that the communities the council serves and how the council operates will continue to change 

at pace over the coming years. This document is therefore a work in progress that will be reviewed and 

adapted as officers engage with staff, elected Members and local people.  

For further information about the council’s engagement approach, please contact:   

Elizabeth Watkins  

Engagement & Consultation Manager,  

Chief Executive’s Policy Team, 

Leicestershire County Council  

Elizabeth.Watkins@leics.gov.uk  

0116 3051152 

292

https://www.consultationinstitute.org/
mailto:Elizabeth.Watkins@leics.gov.uk


 

   1  

  

  

  

The    

Consultation  

 Charter  
  

  

 

  

  
The Consultation Institute  

Centre of Excellence, Baystrait House,  
 Station Road, Biggleswade,   

Beds SG18 8AL  
01767 318350  

www.consultationinstitute.org  

  

   

2021  
  

  

293

mhand_3
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX B



 

   2  

The Consultation Charter   

Introduction & Rationale  
  

Taking important policy decisions today both in Public bodies and in the Private and 
Voluntary Sectors is a far cry from the traditional ways of decision-making.   
  

Two seminal trends drive the change. One is the steady growth in transparency, 
which is evident well beyond organisations, which are democratically accountable. 
The other is an increase in popular participation, as greater awareness and new 
technologies enable more people to express an opinion on important issues.  
  

These and a number of other factors all contribute towards an explosion of activity - 
loosely called consultation, but also known as public participation, engagement or a 
range of other terminology. (See the Glossary of Consultation Terms - currently 
available to Institute Members)  
  

Unsurprisingly, the sheer amount of consultation has led to a wide range of output 
and outcomes, ranging from poor to excellent and there is much scope to introduce 
improved standards and to encourage innovation.  
  

There are, as yet few recognised standards covering consultation, and the Institute 
has therefore adopted this Charter whilst more detailed standards emerge. Since its 
initial publication, it has received widespread support, and is now observed by many 
organisations worldwide.  
 
In addition to our other services, after completion of the Consultation Charter course, 
the Institute invites organisations to formally sign the Consultation Charter and 
publicise that they have done so. This action signifies publicly that the organisation 
has accepted the principles of the Charter, and commits to implementing them 
across their consultation and engagement practice. 
    

  Consultation is the dynamic process of dialogue between individuals or groups, 

based upon a genuine exchange of views, with the objective of influencing decisions, 

policies or programmes of action.  

  

  

294



 

   3  

Best Practice Principles  
 
For consultation to yield its true benefits and to assist in the process of evidence 
based decision-making, it needs to take account of seven Best Practice principles. In 
applying these Best Practice principles, organisations should also have regard to the 
law, the particular circumstances of the specific consultation, and to ongoing custom 
and practice. 
 
We believe that these seven principles apply to almost every consultation exercise. In 
addition to signing this document, organisations are encouraged to publicise their 
commitment, and clearly publish a copy of this document so that stakeholder 
organisations and other consultees are aware of the standards that they can expect. 
In addition, the Institute will publish a list of names of organisations who have signed 
the Consultation Charter 
 
We also encourage organisations to recommit on a regular basis to these Best 
Practice principles. The Consultation Institute reviews its list of signatories to this 
Charter every two years, and will remove the names of those who have not 
recommitted. We will endeavour to remind you near the time your commitment has 
lapsed.  
 

Principle 1  The INTEGRITY of Consultation   

The process must have an honest intention. The Consultor must be willing to 
listen to the views advanced by consultees, and be prepared to be influenced 
when making subsequent decisions.  
  

If the decisions subject to consultation have already been taken, it is a waste 
of consultees' time and a fraud upon all participants to undertake a 
purposeless exercise, and breaches the principle of Consultation Integrity. 

  

Principle 2  The VISIBILITY of Consultation   

All those who have a justifiable right to participate in a consultation should 

be made reasonably aware of the exercise. For Closed Consultations1, this 

will be less demanding than for Open Consultations.   

 
1 Where the audience only consists of fully identified stakeholders  

295



 

   4  

Visibility is also important for decision-makers who should have full 
awareness of any consultation exercise, which is relevant to decisions they 
are about to take. 

  

Principle 3  The ACCESSIBILITY of Consultation 

Consultees must be able to have reasonable access to the exercise. This 
means that the methods chosen must be appropriate for the intended 
audience and that effective means are used to cater for the special needs of 
‘seldom heard’ groups and others with special requirements. 
 
New technology and social media offers an ever-wider choice of 
consultation mechanism, but consultors must always ensure that the ‘Digital 
Divide’ does not disenfranchise citizens or stakeholders 

 

  

Principle 4  The TRANSPARENCY of Consultation   

Many Consultations are highly public, and rightly so. Indeed the principle of 
Transparency and the Freedom of Information Act 2000 requires that 
stakeholder invitation lists, consultee responses and consultation results be 
published. But this should only occur with the express or implied consent of 
participants. Consultors who intend to publish details of respondents and 
their responses have a duty to ensure that this is understood by all 
participants.  
  

Consultation submissions will be published unless specific exemptions apply.  
Freedom of Information Act requests can be used to seek access to data 
previously kept hidden2.    

  

Consultees rightly expect full transparency of the governance arrangements 
applicable to a consultation and the decision-making process which will 
follow.  They will also expect explanations for decisions taken following a 
consultation.  

 

  

 
2 But note that the Data Protection Act 1988 applies to information of a “personal nature”  

296



 

   5  

Principle 5  The DISCLOSURE obligations in Consultation 

For consultation to succeed, and to encourage a measure of trust between 
the parties, it is important to provide for reasonable disclosure of relevant 
information. 
 
Consultors are under a duty to disclose information which could materially 
influence the nature and extend of consultees’ responses. In particular, 
areas were decisions have effectively been taken already, and where 
consultee views cannot influence the situation, should be disclosed. 
 
Consultees are also under a duty to disclose certain information. If a 
representative body expresses a view on behalf of its members, it should 
inform the consultor of the presence of any significant minority opinion 
within its membership, and be prepared to estimate the extent to which it is 
held. 

  

Principle 6  The FAIR INTERPRETATION of Consultation   

Information and viewpoints gathered through Consultation exercises have to 
be collated and assessed, and this task must be undertaken promptly and 
objectively.  
  

In general, decision-makers should not normally be personally involved with 
primary analysis and interpretation of consultation data, and the use of 
external data analysts has many advantages.   
  

Where consultors use weighting methods to assist in the assessment 
process, this must be disclosed to participants and to decision-makers 
relying on the consultation output.   

 

  

Principle 7  The PUBLICATION of Consultation   

Participants in a consultation exercise have a proper expectation that they 
will see both the output and the outcome of the process. Except in certain 
Closed or Internal consultations, the assumption should be that publication 
in a form accessible to the consultee would follow within a reasonable time 
after the conclusion of the exercise.   
  

297



 

   6  

It is the responsibility of a consultor to publish an adequate feedback 
document, consisting of consultation output, preferably in advance of 
decisions being taken.  
  

Where no publication is intended, it is the duty of the consultor to disclose 
this when initially inviting stakeholders or the public to participate   

 
 

 

Signed on behalf of:                          ________________________________________ 

 

by:                                                        __________________________________________ 

 

on:                                                        __________________________________________ 

 

Signed on behalf of:                          __________________________________________ 

 

by:                                                        __________________________________________ 

 

on:                                                        __________________________________________ 

 

--- 

 

Signed on behalf of:                          The Consultation Institute 

 

by:                                                        Keith McCallum  

 

on:                                                       28 June 2021 

 

298



CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE SCHOOL TERM-TIME PATTERNS 
FROM AUTUMN 2022 TO SUMMER 2027 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the outcome of the 

consultation on the preferred Leicestershire school term-time pattern to apply 
from autumn 2022 to summer 2027 for schools controlled by the Local 
Authority and to seek approval to a preferred term time pattern. 
 

Recommendations 
 

2. It is recommended: 
 

a) That the outcome of the public consultation on the proposed term-time 
options be noted; 
 

b) That the current Leicestershire term-time pattern that includes an 
earlier autumn and summer holiday and longer autumn term (Proposal 
1) be approved. 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

3. The Education Act 2002 places a statutory obligation on the County Council to 
determine the number of school days that schools under its control must be 
open. The County Council is required to determine a pattern that ensures at 
least 380 sessions (190 days) during a school year.  
 

4. The consultation responses overwhelmingly supported the retention of the 
existing Leicestershire term-time pattern and no imperative to change this has 
emerged. 
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 

5. Although there is no prescribed timetable offering a framework by when term 
dates must be determined there is a generally accepted convention to 
determine dates at least a year before they come into force.   
 

6. A copy of this report has been shared with members of the Children and 
Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

299 Agenda Item 14



Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

7. Term dates are determined by school employers following public consultation, 
as is set out in the Education (School Day and School Year) (England) 
Regulations 1999. 
 

8. As the Local Authority is the employer for any community, voluntary controlled 
and community special schools, any changes to agreed term time dates 
proposed by such schools must be agreed in advance by the Director of 
Children and Family Services. 
 

9. Leicestershire’s school term time dates were last agreed by the Cabinet in 
June 2018 when it was agreed that it would follow the traditional 
Leicestershire pattern for the period autumn 2019 to summer 2022. 
 

Resource Implications 
 

10. There are no resource implications arising from this report. The cost of 
administering the recommended term time pattern forms part of the existing 
Children and Family Service budget allocation. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

11. As stated above, a copy of the report has been sent to members of the 
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee .All Members will be 
advised when the term time dates are published on the County Council’s 
website. 
 

Officers to Contact 
 
Jane Moore, Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel:  0116 305 2649 
Email:  Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk 
 
Paula Sumner, Assistant Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel: 0116 305 0546 
Email: Paula.Sumner@leics.gov.uk  
 
David Atterbury, Head of Service (Education Sufficiency), Children and Family 
Services 
Tel: 0116 305 7729 
Email: David.Atterbury@leics.gov.uk   
 
Gurjit Singh Bahra, Service Manager School Admissions and Pupil Services 
Tel: 0116 305 6324 
Email: Gurjit.Bahra@leics.gov.uk   

 
 
 

300

mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Paula.Sumner@leics.gov.uk
mailto:David.Atterbury@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Gurjit.Bahra@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 
Background 

 
12. The Local Authority remains responsible for setting school term time dates for 

all community, voluntary controlled and community special schools, under 
Section 32 of the Education Act 2002. In order to fulfil this duty, it is good 
practice to consult with parents and interested parties to take a view of 
potential options. The length of the school day remains the responsibility of 
each schools governing body.   
 

13. From September 2015, Schedule 16 of the Deregulation Act 2015 amends 
Section 32 of the Education Act 2002 such that all state funded schools in 
England will be able to decide their own school term and holiday dates, a 
flexibility that is already available to academies and free schools. However, 
schools will still be expected to agree common dates so that families can 
continue to plan their holidays together. All local authority maintained schools 
will still be required to be open for a minimum of 190 days a year.  
 

14. The Rt. Hon. Gavin Williamson MP, the Secretary of State for Education, has 
not given any indication of a date for when maintained schools shall have the 
freedoms to set their own term time patterns, as has been previously 
suggested by the government. Until then the Local Authority retains the 
responsibility to set term time patterns, following consultation. 
 

15. It should be noted that with the advent of academies there is now a disparity 
of term time patterns in the County, as some schools have moved away from 
the traditional Leicestershire pattern. There are also differences between 
maintained schools in Leicestershire and adjoining authorities.   
 

16. Leicester City Council ran a concurrent consultation with identical options to 
Leicestershire.    
 

The Consultation Process 
 

17. An eight-week public consultation exercise was undertaken, from 24th May 
2021 to 18th July 2021 (the consultation document is attached as Appendix A). 
This was widely publicised through the Local Authority’s website and local 
press and the Council engaged with a range of stakeholders including 
parents/carers, schools, governing bodies, neighbouring authorities, the 
Diocese and the professional associations/trade unions to seek their views.   
The consultation document sought views on three options;  
 
Proposal 1:   The existing traditional term time pattern with an earlier autumn 

and summer holiday dates but a longer autumn term; 
 
Proposal 2:   Summer holiday at similar dates to Leicester City and 

significantly earlier than the majority of schools elsewhere, but 
aligning the autumn and spring breaks in line with most other 
authorities, including Leicester;  

301



 
Proposal 3:  A mixture of Proposals 1 and 2 to achieve a more balanced 

spread of holidays across the year and which incorporates a 2-
week autumn half-term and a shorter Easter break.  

 
 A link to Leicester City Council’s consultation was included on the webpage. 
 
Consultation Results  

 
18. A summary of the consultation results is attached as Appendix B. By the close 

of the consultation on 18th July, the Local Authority had received a total of 
12,467 responses.  The majority of responses received 8,585 (69%) were in 
favour of Proposal 1, i.e. to remain with Leicestershire’s traditional patterns. 
 

19. Proposal 2 received 1,568 (13%) support and Proposal 3 received 2,128 
(17%) support and 176 (1%) of respondents had no preferred preference or 
no view.  Most of the responses 9,733(78%) were provided by parents and 
grandparents with 2067(17%) from teachers or employers, the remainder 
being from students, members of the public and Early Years providers.  More 
females 8,371(83%) responded than males 1,631(16%) the remaining 56(1%)  
indicated a non-binary gender, with 9,282 (93%) of respondents categorised 
as white, and the remainder 707(7%) being from Asian/mixed race and other 
ethnic groups.  It should be noted that 11,149 (91%) of the respondents were 
Leicestershire residents.   
 

20. The consultation received just under 500 pages of comments that 
predominant favoured Proposal 1, comments ranged from: ‘cheaper holidays, 
less childcare costs, family time off together and could not afford a holiday 
otherwise’.  There are word clouds at Appendix C that captures views 
expressed.   
 

21. Leicester City Council officers have confirmed they too saw an overwhelming 
demand for Proposal 1 and have confirmed that this will be their 
recommended option presented for approval later in September. 
 

Conclusion 
 

22. The consultation had over 12,400 responses received and shows that the 
current Leicestershire (traditional) term-time pattern remains the most popular 
option for respondents.   
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications  
 
 

23. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening 
questionnaire was completed to ensure the patterns applied equally to all 
children.  Furthermore, where for example families that have children in a 
schools with different term time patterns e.g. one child in a secondary 
academy and another in a maintained primary school , there is flexibility for 
the maintained school to seek permission from the LA to adjust their pattern 

302



for exceptional circumstances, so as to allow children to be off at the same 
time.  A full EHRIA was not therefore required.   
 

Background Papers 
 

House of Commons Library Briefing Paper: The School Day and Year (England) 
issue 24th March 2021. 
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn07148/ 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 12 June 2018 - “Leicestershire School Term-time Patterns 
from Autumn 2019 to Summer 2022 - https://bit.ly/3hE8zzx 
 
Appendices  
 
Appendix A - Consultation document 
Appendix B - Summary of consultation results  
Appendix C – Word Cloud of textualised responses 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

303

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn07148/
https://bit.ly/3hE8zzx


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

APPENDIX A  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

305



 

 
 

306



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

307



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

308



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

309



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

310



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

311



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

312



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

313



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

314



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

315



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

316



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

317



This page is intentionally left blank



 
APPENDIX B  

 
Proposal 1: The existing traditional term time pattern. Summer holiday is similar to the City 
and significantly earlier than the majority of schools nationally. Spring Half Term Break is a 
week earlier than surrounding authorities (including Leicester city). Autumn Half Term Break 
is a week earlier than surrounding authorities (including Leicester city). 
 
Proposal 2: Summer holiday at similar dates to the City and significantly earlier than the 
majority of schools nationally. Spring Half Term Break is at a similar date to surrounding 
authorities (including Leicester city). Autumn Half Term Break is at a similar date 
surrounding authorities (including Leicester city) 
 
Proposal 3: A mixture of Proposals 1 and 2 to achieve a balanced spread of holiday across 
the year. Summer holiday is a few days later than the current pattern, keeping to similar 
dates to the City and significantly earlier than the majority of schools nationally. Two-week  
 

 

 

319



[Please note percentages are based on Base figure of respondents] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

320



 

[Please note percentages are based on Base figure of respondents] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

321



 

[Please note percentages are based on Base figure of respondents] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

322



 

[Please note percentages are based on Base figure of respondents] 

 

323



 

 

 Respondent demographics: 

324



 

 

 

325



 

 

 

326



                                                                               APPENDIX C 
 
A word cloud maps out prominent words collected from written responses.  
This means, the larger the font of the word, greater its prominence in the 
views of the respondent.    
 
 
 

Q5a) ‘Why do you say this?’ Question in response to their Proposal Preference. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Selection of general comments: 

 

- Cheaper holidays 

- Its more affordable to have a family break 

- Early summer break means quitter holidays with disable d children 

- Cheaper holidays and less busy 

- The cost of holidays is cheaper   

- It suits families 

- More affordable holidays for my family 

- Better holiday prices for family get aways 

- If they change the holidays my children would miss out on a holiday 

 

 
 
 
 

327



 
 
 

Q6a) ‘Why do you say this?’ Question in response to their answer for the level of 
importance that City and LCC had the same term times 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Selection of general comments: 

 

- Our child attend county schools but my husband and I work in city schools 

- Makes childcare much easier as I work in the City 

- City County should align holidays 

- Better to align everyones holidays together 

- I work in the City my child attend County school we would miss out with time 

off together 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

328



 

 Q7) ‘Do you have any other comments or suggestions?’ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Selection of general comments: 
 
 

- Keep it as it is 
- Cheaper holidays 
- Time off together before others counties break up 

- It works leave it as it is 
- Affordable holidays 

- Leave it as is holidays in July and October are cheaper 
 

329



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 
PARTNERSHIP ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21  

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to bring to Cabinet’s attention the Annual Report 

2020/21 for the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership 
(LRSCP) for consultation and comment.   

 
2. The final Annual Report is the report of the identified Safeguarding Partners who 

must publish an annual report on the effectiveness of multi-agency arrangements for 
safeguarding children. 

 
3. Any comments or proposed amendments made by the Cabinet will be addressed in 

the final report before it is published at the end of September 
 
Recommendations 
 
4. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes and comments on the Leicestershire and 

Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership (LRSCP) Annual Report for 2020/21. 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

5. Leicestershire County Council is one of the Statutory Partners who have a shared 
and equal statutory duty with the local Clinical Commissioning Groups and Chief of 
Leicestershire Police to agree and make arrangements to work together to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of all children in Leicestershire. 
 

6. The multi-agency safeguarding arrangements locally are managed through a 
partnership – the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership that 
covers the counties of Leicestershire and Rutland.  The arrangements were 
published on 28 June 2019 and commenced on 29 September 2019, replacing the 
former Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). 

 
7. In Leicestershire and Rutland the Annual Report has traditionally been presented to 

the Cabinet and the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
8. Presenting the Annual Report enables the Cabinet to comment on the content of this 

document and consider whether it identifies matters that it wishes to address in 
relation to the effectiveness of safeguarding within the work of the Authority. 

 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

331 Agenda Item 15



 
9. The Annual Report of the LRSCP was considered by the Children and Families 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 8 September 2020 and its comments are 
summarised in paragraph 31 of this report. 

 
10. Any proposed additions or amendments to the Annual Report made by the Cabinet 

will be considered by the Safeguarding Partners for incorporation into the final 
documents which will be published by the end of September 2021. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
11. The Children Acts of 1989 and 2004 set out specific duties for local authorities, 

working with partner organisations and agencies, to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of all children in their area. Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 puts a duty 
on the local authority to provide services to children in need in their area; section 47 
of the same Act requires local authorities to undertake enquiries if they believe a 
child has suffered or is likely to suffer significant harm.  
 

12. These duties can only realistically be discharged with the full co-operation of other 
partners, many of whom have individual duties when carrying out their functions 
under section 11 of the Children Act 2004.  

 
13. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 and Working Together 2018 (statutory 

guidance on inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of children) 
give responsibility for this join-up locally with the safeguarding partners, the Police, 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and the local authority, which have a shared 
and equal duty to agree and make arrangements to work together to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of all children in a local area. 
 

14. As stated above the LRSCP manages the statutory multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements for the counties of Leicestershire and Rutland. The arrangements were 
published on 28 June 2019 and commenced on 29 September 2019.  These 
arrangements replaced the former Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). 

 
15. It is a statutory requirement, as set out in Working Together 2018, that the 

Safeguarding Partners publish a report at least once every twelve months on the 
arrangements and their effectiveness. 
 

Resource Implications 
 
16. There are no resource implications arising from this report, as this is a retrospective 

report. The LRSCP operates within a budget to which partner agencies contribute.  
   
17. Safeguarding partners have, along with Safeguarding Adults Board statutory partners 

set a single agreement of principles to share the operating costs of the Safeguarding 
Children Partnerships and Safeguarding Adults Boards for Leicestershire and 
Rutland.  
 

18. As part of this agreement Leicestershire County Council contributes £102,496 to the 
SAB and SCP in 2021/22.  This is 31% of the total funding for the Leicestershire and 
Rutland SAB and SCP (£325,779).  This compares with £112,633 in the previous 

332



year which was 31% of the total budget for the Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB, 
SCP and SAB of £358,500 in 2020/21. 
 

19. This compares with £137,897 in the previous year which was 40% of the total budget 
for the Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB, SCP and SAB of £343,419 in 2019/20. 

 
20. Leicestershire County Council also hosts the Safeguarding Boards’ Business Office 

that supports the SCP and SAB. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
21. None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jane Moore, Director of Children and Family Services 
Telephone: 0116 305 6340  
Email: Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk 
  

333

mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background 
 
22. The multi-agency safeguarding arrangements for Leicestershire and Rutland were 

published on 28 June 2019 and commenced on 29 September 2019. The 
arrangements are reviewed each year by the Safeguarding Partners and changes 
are reported in the Annual Report. 
 

23. The Safeguarding Children Partnership shares some operational arrangements with 
the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board (LRSAB) and some 
partnership structures with the Leicester Safeguarding Children Partnership Board 
(LSCPB). 

 
Annual Report 2020/21 and Recent Progress 

 
24. The key purpose of the Annual Report is to assess the impact of the work undertaken 

in 2020/21 on service quality and on safeguarding outcomes for children in 
Leicestershire and Rutland.  Specifically it evaluates performance against the 
priorities that were set out in the LRSCP Business Plan 2020/21. 
 

25. A pre-publication draft of the Annual Report 2020/21 can be found as the Appendix to 
this report. 

 
26. The report includes an independent scrutiny assessment of progress from the 

Independent Advisor to the Partnership Kay Whyte-Bell.  
 
27. The report outlines the learning, assurance, training and improvement activity of the 

LRSCP and its partners, particularly the response to difficult circumstances of the 
pandemic and the impact this has had on safeguarding children. Key messages from 
the SCP specifically in relation to Leicestershire are: 

a. Partners have worked well together to safeguarding children and to identify 
needs and areas for improvement to safeguard children during the difficult and 
changing circumstances of the pandemic.  

b. Continued work is required to sustain approaches that hear the voice and 
understand the lived experience of children in safeguarding and respond to 
this. 

c. Safeguarding babies and the mental health of young people are notable areas 
to improve safeguarding identified during the pandemic. 

d. The partnership will continue to work together and develop links across 
partnerships to foster a reliable, trusting culture in organisations and across 
our area and challenge and drive improvement in multi-agency safeguarding 
of adults. 

  
28. The report outlines a change to the existing arrangements in order to enable the 

delegated officers of the statutory safeguarding partners to chair the partnership in 
place of the Independent Advisor.  This comes into place in October 2021 and has 
been introduced in order to allow the Independent Advisor to give a greater focus to 
independent scrutiny of the effectiveness of the arrangements. 
  

Consultations 
 

334



29. The Annual Report includes a summary of the consultation and engagement work 
the SCP has carried out with children and young people and with practitioners. 
 

30. All members of the SCP have had opportunities to contribute to and comment on 
drafts of the Annual Report. 

 
31. As stated above, the Annual Report has also been considered by the County 

Council’s Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The committee 
welcomed the report and made no further comment on this. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 18 September 2020 “Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding 
Children Partnership Annual Report 2019/20 and Business Plan 2020/21”  
 http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5997&Ver=4 
 

 
Appendix 
 
Appendix – Draft Annual Report of the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children 
Partnership 2020/21. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications  
 
32. Safeguarding children, young people and adults concerns individuals who are likely 

to be disadvantaged in a number of ways. Information on differing needs of and 
impacts on different groups of individuals with regard to safeguarding is considered 
as part of the process to develop the Partnership’s Business Plan.  Specific impacts 
on or views of different groups is also considered in the work of the SCP’s Planning 
and Delivery and Assurance and Audit Groups in assessing performance and 
effectiveness with regard to safeguarding.  The SCP has identified a specific priority 
for 2021/22 to explore and respond to safeguarding children from diverse 
backgrounds. 
 

Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
33. There is a close connection between the work of the LRSCP and that of community 

safety partnerships in Leicestershire.  For example the LRSCP works closely with 
community safety partnerships to scrutinise and challenge performance in community 
safety issues that affect the safeguarding and well-being of individuals and groups, 
for example domestic abuse and Prevent.  The LRSCP also supports community 
safety partnerships in carrying out Domestic Homicide Reviews and acting on their 
recommendations.  

 
Environmental Implications 
 
34. The published LRSCP Annual Report will primarily be made available on-line in 

electronic form, rather than paper.  There are no environmental implications arising 
from this report. 

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 

335

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5997&Ver=4


35. Safeguarding children is dependent on the effective work of the partnership as set 
out in national regulation, Working Together 2018, published by the Department for 
Education.  

336



Leicestershire & Rutland  
Safeguarding Children Partnership 
Annual Report - 2020-21

337

mhand_4
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX

mhand_5
Typewritten Text
DRAFT



2  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21

Foreword
We are pleased to present this report of the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership that 
covers the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.  

The early part of the year was dominated by the emergency response to the Covid-19 pandemic and the 
pandemic and changing circumstances of this heavily influenced the ongoing work of all partners, and the 
partnership as a whole through the year.

Despite the unprecedented challenges facing the many organisations that make up the partnership, overall the 
partnership has been able to progress its work to review and improve the approach to safeguard Children in 
Leicestershire & Rutland.  We have adapted our methods, training approaches and continued to communicate 
important messages to the community and to all who work with children and families across the area.

During this period we have seen partnership working strengthened as working together becomes all the more 
important when facing uncertainty and challenges on many fronts.  And as we have had to adapt how we 
work the involvement of every member of our communities in helping to protect children and respond to abuse 
and neglect has become even more important.

Workers and managers in organisations across Leicestershire & Rutland have worked hard in difficult 
circumstances to support the welfare and safety of children, and their wellbeing has been a key concern 
alongside those they serve.

Our thanks go to you all.

The Safeguarding Partners for Leicestershire & Rutland

Signatures and pictures ?????

338



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21  3

The Partnership
The Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership brings together organisations across the 
counties of Leicestershire and Rutland with the vision: 
 

“For children and young people in Leicester to be safe,  
well and achieve their full potential”

 
The Partnership commenced in September 2019 as the multi-agency safeguarding arrangements required by 
Working Together.

Its members include the statutory safeguarding partners: Police, Local Authorities, and Clinical Commissioning 
Groups, as well as other relevant agencies including schools, health agencies, Probation and other 
organisations working with children.

During 2020/21 the Partnership was Chaired by its Independent Advisor.  This role was held by Simon 
Westwood until September 2020, and then taken on by Kay Whyte-Bell.   

This is the statutory report of the SCP outlining the work it has carried out from April 2020 to the end of March 
2021.

In Line with Working Together 2018 government guidance this report outlines: 

• What has been done by the Partnership and the partners, to safeguard children and young people 
during the previous year and how effective the partnership arrangements have been.

• This report includes information about: 

• Agreed priorities 

• Analysis of progress against priorities 

• Decisions and actions taken by partners 

• Feedback from children and young people and how this has been utilised to inform work and 
influence service provision 

• Information on the delivery and impact of multi-agency safeguarding training 

• Information on the learning and impact of any Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews

•  Any changes to the safeguarding arrangements and reasons for those changes

 
For more information on how the Partnership works please visit https://lrsb.org.uk/lrscp

339

https://lrsb.org.uk/lrscp


4  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21

The work of the Partnership

The Priorities of the Partnership
The SCP identified the following priorities and outcomes for 2020/21: 

Statutory responsibilities 

• The Partnership has carried out the statutory requirements of the Safeguarding Partners and assured 
itself they are meeting these.

• Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews and Partnership assurance work result in timely learning and 
changes in systems and practice to improve safeguarding/outcomes for children.

• The impact of COVID-19 on safeguarding and welfare of children is understood, emerging issues are 
identified, and partnership approaches to address this and mitigate future risk are in place. 

Voice of the Child 

• The priorities and work of the partnership has been influenced by the voice and experience of children 
who have received safeguarding support.

• Partners evidence that work with children to safeguard them is directed by their voice and lived 
experience and this is having a positive impact on their safety and wellbeing.

• The partnership is assured that messages and measures online safety are reaching children and young 
people and supporting them to be safe online.

Mental Health 

• The emotional and mental health needs of children with learning disabilities and/or autism are 
understood in the context of safeguarding and support for this group of children is in place as required 
to reduce risk.

• Safeguarding and mental health support for children is joined up and partners work together and with 
young people to reduce risk of harm.

Communications 

• People who work or live in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland report child abuse and neglect and 
concerns they are aware of.

Domestic Abuse 

• The partnership is assured that there are appropriate support and interventions for children living with 
domestic abuse.

The work on these priorities was embedded within the assurance, training, procedure and review work of the 
partnership outlined further in this report.  

 “Just let me talk” (YPAG)

340



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21  5

Response to COVID-19
The coronavirus pandemic had a significant impact on the work of partners and the partnership to safeguard 
children. 

At the end of March 2020 the partnership had to react quickly to the emerging global pandemic and response 
to this.  Within four days of lockdown, the four safeguarding partners had reviewed their arrangements and 
written out to the partnership identifying which SCP work would be prioritised in the changing circumstances. 

The LRSCP and Leicester Safeguarding Children Partnership Board also agreed a joint statement in relation to 
COVID-19 to encourage people to continue to report concerns regarding safeguarding.  

The Partnership saw a significant reduction in the number of contacts coming into individual agencies’ 
safeguarding teams and children’s social care at the end of March and beginning of April and was concerned 
that children at risk of abuse would be seen by fewer professionals.  In response to this, led by Rutland County 
Council, the SCP developed a safeguarding campaign #ourdoorisopen to encourage everyone to look out for 
the safety of children in their community during lockdown and act.  This was promoted across the partnerships, 
through social media and in local communities linked to the pandemic response.  Following the campaign 
reports and referrals to local authorities and police regarding safeguarding children increased and the campaign 
was recognised as good practice by the Local Government Association in June 2020.

Led by the local Clinical Commissioning Group, safeguarding partners across the locality were swift to adapt to 
the impact of COVID-19 by setting up a regular (weekly with flexibility to change) meeting of safeguarding leads 
with a view to achieve a collective understanding of the impact of COVID-19 on safeguarding children at an 
operational level, to share information about the impact of COVID-19 on services, and to address any emerging 
issues.

This Safeguarding ‘Sub-Cell’ allowed timely and flexible sharing of information, issues, and solutions for 
safeguarding children across the partnership in response to COVID-19. It also fed into a number of different 
strategic bodies, avoiding duplication, which was particularly important at a time of crisis. 

341



6  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21

This group identified and responded to the following areas as follows: 

Area of concern identified Action taken

Increase in pregnant women 
known to substance abuse 
services

Hospital and Substance misuse treatment service data was reviewed 
and the positive management, engagement & regular caseload 
meetings between Safeguarding Lead of the substance misuse service 
and Hospital trust Substance Abuse Midwife was noted.

Increase in Concealed/ Denied 
Pregnancy 

A deep-dive into midwifery records followed by multi-agency 
communication planning including a piece in our Safeguarding Matters 
newsletter to raise public and professional awareness alongside an 
update to procedures.  The local Hospital Trust’s work on this also 
helped influence a national public campaign.

Concern that changes in 
services resulted in risks to new-
born babies being unseen

The partnership gained assurance that GPs had been requested to 
ensure that the SW was informed about any vulnerable babies (on 
Child Protection Plans) who were not brought for a face to face 6-8 
week baby check with their GP.

A reduction in Community Child 
Protection Medicals

Medicals data explored for 3-months for all child protection medicals, 
identified overall figures in line with local authority data and no further 
reduction noted.

Concerns regarding the impact 
of the pandemic on workforce 
capacity and welfare

Assurance gained from all agencies that workforce capacity met 
demand and safeguarding was being prioritised.

The positive impact of this on children, young people, and their families is difficult to measure, however the 
group’s ability to identify, analyse and respond to concerns raised meant that none of these areas became 
an ongoing or escalating safeguarding concern.  The partnership has overall recognised a stronger approach 
to working together, and the approach of this group will be retained as part of the partnership’s assurance 
process.

The impact of COVID-19 and the response of partners and the partnership was regularly reviewed to support 
effective safeguarding and use of partners resources.

342



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21  7

Seeking Assurance
The partnership has developed and implemented a Quality Assurance Framework shared with the Leicester 
Safeguarding Children Partnership Board.  This can be found here https://lrsb.org.uk/aboutlrscp.

Performance data
It has proved difficult to identify data from across partners that evidences the effectiveness of multi-agency 
working. 

The partnership reviewed data regarding referrals to Children Social Care from different sources and partners 
involvement in multi-agency safeguarding.

To help understand impact of partnership working the partnership also reviewed data regarding ‘re-referrals’ 
(children referred back to social care following safeguarding intervention) and ‘repeat plans’ (children needing 
a follow up child protection plans after initial plans had ended). 

 
Leicestershire

As previously outlined partners and the partnership saw an initial reduction in referrals at the start of the year 
linked to the response to the pandemic, which was followed by an increase up to expected levels.

Of all contacts to the local authority around 40% met the thresholds for Children’s Social Care or Children 
and Family Welfare Services for early help. 48% were for information and advice only, 1% were referred on 
to other services and 11% were deemed to be inappropriate referrals.  Education sources had the highest 
proportion meeting thresholds (56%), but also the highest proportion of inappropriate referrals (21%). 

Breakdowns of referrals by source - Leicestershire 2020 - 21

0.0%

Police

Education

Health

Individual

Local Authority Services

Other Group

Anonymous

Other Legal Agency

Housing

10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0% 80.0% 90.0% 100%

% meeting threshold % for information and advice % for refferal on % inappropriate referrals

343

https://lrsb.org.uk/aboutlrscp


8  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21

This highlights some areas to work on with regard to awareness of safeguarding and thresholds.  During the 
year we reviewed the thresholds and engaged schools in this work, this was a really valuable two-way process 
which led to further engagement work between social care and schools including a virtual meet and greet for 
school staff with First Contact managers to support the referral process.

In Leicestershire there were a high proportion of repeat child protection plans (26.3%) and re-referrals (26.2%) 
at the start of the year.   Domestic Abuse became a more significant factor in cases during the pandemic and 
many repeat plans were related to domestic abuse.  Audit work identified strengthening safety planning as 
a key area for improvement for both areas.  Leicestershire County Council has carried out focussed work to 
improve safety planning, and have been working to develop an improved approach to domestic abuse as part 
of their programme of defining services for the future. In the final quarter of the year re-referrals were down to 
18.4% and Repeat plans 22.1%.

The partnership is following up assurance regarding domestic abuse in tis priority plans for 2021/22.

START OF YEAR END OF YEAR

Re-referrals

START OF YEAR END OF YEAR

Repeat child protection plans

The introduction of online meetings due to the pandemic has resulted in better attendance at multiagency child 
protection and review meetings, for example by GPs and Mental Health Services. Feedback from families, 
children and young people has been positive and some have identified that they have felt less anxious and 
more engaged in the meeting. 

344



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21  9

Rutland

As previously outlined partners and the partnership saw an initial reduction in referrals at the start of the year 
linked to the response to the pandemic, which was followed by an increase up to expected levels.

As the first lockdown ended in the summer of 2020 referrals increased and the proportion of these that met 
thresholds for social care increased across the main referring agencies.  As with numbers of referrals, the 
proportion meeting thresholds was in line with previous years by the end of the year.

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Apr-Jun Jul-Sep Oct-Nov Jan-Mar

% of referrals meting social care thresholds 
by quarter - Rutland 2020 - 21

Police Health Education

While the numbers of contacts not meeting threshold for social care are high further analysis during the year 
identified that the referrals were appropriate in early identification of need and most have accessed early 
intervention through Early Help in Rutland.  Further work will be done with partners regarding awareness fo 
thresholds and appropriate referrals, linked to the refresh of the Partnership thresholds document in summer of 
2021.

In Rutland there were a high proportion of repeat child protection plans (33%) and re-referrals (30%) at the 
start of the year.   Proportions of repeat child protection plans and re-referrals can fluctuate significantly in 
Rutland due to the small number of referrals and young people on child protection plans.  Rutland County 
Council carried out work to improve quality and family ownership of Signs of Safety plans. This supported 
families to sustain changes, which has led to a reduction in re-referral rates.  At the end of the year re-referral 
rates had reduced (22%) and there were no children on a second (or more) child protection plan.

In response to low number of CP plans Rutland County Council audited CIN and strategy meeting decision 
making and put in place development plan regarding step down plans as part of ‘back to basics’ practice work. 
This included responsive plans that don’t lose sight of original concerns.  Rutland County Council also worked 
with partners regarding making appropriate referrals and supporting challenge.

345



10  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21

START OF YEAR END OF YEAR

Re-referrals

START OF YEAR END OF YEAR

Repeat child protection plans

Self-assessment
During 2020 partners carried out a self-assessment of their safeguarding effectiveness.  The partnership 
focussed this assessment on specific areas of priority in the pandemic, including domestic abuse, safeguarding 
in service change and staff welfare and support.

All agencies provided some evidence that they were effective in their:

• Governance of safeguarding, 

• Consideration of safeguarding in commissioning 

• Consideration of safeguarding in service change, including the response to Covid-19

• Supporting workforce capacity and resilience in order to effectively safeguard children

 
Some agencies identified there was further work to improve effectiveness regarding:

• Engaging with children to hear and respond to their voice, and 

• The response to children affected by domestic abuse

Those agencies identified plans in place within their organisations to increase effectiveness.

The assessment did not directly identify any areas for significant work across partners or on a multi-agency 
basis. However on the basis of the information provided the SCP identified that it could be challenging partners 
to be more ambitious in hearing and responding to the voice of children in safeguarding.  The partnership will 
follow this up through its work in 2021/22.

346



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21  11

Audits
The SCP followed up its assurance work in 2019-20 regarding Mental health with a multi-agency audit focussed 
on safeguarding of children on the waiting list for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS). 

The audit highlighted that work takes place with children on the waiting list, but organisations are not always 
communicating well regarding the work taking place, young people’s education and parental mental health.  
Understanding and joint working around mental health and safeguarding had improved following the findings and 
action from the SCP audit in the previous year, however there was still further improvement required. Further key 
findings were:

• CAMHS were not always invited to Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPCs) 

• There is a need for greater consistency and quality in how Voice of the Child is heard and recorded

• In Leicestershire County it was identified that the local domestic violence support service had involvement 
in each case, but were not always invited to multi-agency meetings.

Approaches to multi-agency meetings are being reviewed to address these findings and in line with the finding 
from the self-assessment the partnership is seeking further information from agencies as to how they are 
improving how they hear and respond to the voice of children.

A multi-agency audit regarding domestic abuse and safeguarding was planned, but could not take place due to 
agencies capacity relating to the coronavirus pandemic. This will be carried out in 2021.

 “Don’t pressure anyone into saying anything but make a more open and 
comforting environment for students to talk.” (Covid survey)

 

347



12  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21

Multi-Agency Safeguarding Procedures
The partnership has ensured procedures are in place for multi-agency safeguarding in line with Working 
Together 2018 and has specifically revised the following procedures in response to learning from local and 
national reviews and assurance processes:

• Concealed/denied pregnancies

• Child Criminal Exploitation

• Allegations against people who work with children

• Female Genital Mutilation (FGM)

• Neglect Toolkit updated to include adolescent neglect, SUDI (Sudden Unexplained Death in Infants) 
and pre-birth neglect

In addition work was underway at the end of the year to complete:

• Guidance regarding children with mental health needs/self-harm and suicide

• A procedure for Children on child protection plans who leave the UK,

• A review of the Pre-birth procedure for safeguarding

• A review of the Multi-agency Thresholds document

• A review of the Fabricated and Induced Illness procedures

Training
The SCPs training co-ordination and delivery function is shared with the Leicester Safeguarding Children 
Partnership Board to support consistent and effective partnership working.  

In the immediate response to the pandemic the training function of the SCP was suspended, apart from the 
ongoing offer to train multi-agency COVID-19 related volunteers.  

The training programme re-commenced in September 2020 with a diversified approach delivering training 
in a more blended way, offering film clips, recorded webinars, live pdfs, and self-directed learning/reading 
alongside virtual-only delivery.  

Along with a core safeguarding offer we have also linked with the local Violence Reduction Network (VRN) to 
support a programme of delivery on ‘The impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and Trauma on 
Children and Young People’.

In addition Leicestershire & Rutland County Councils ran training and development sessions for Safeguarding 
leads in schools and early years establishments in the area, incorporating learning from the SCPs.

 “Encouraging students to talk about how they are feeling and not 
overloading them” (Covid survey)

348



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21  13

From September 2020 to March 2021 the SCP programme delivered training to 988 people over 58 training 
events. This number of attendees is almost equivalent to the face to face training of the previous year, which 
totalled just over 1000. This shows the ongoing need for learning and highlighted some potential benefits of a 
more diversified approach.  A further 640 people attended 3 larger events, 2 webinars and a conference which 
brings this total to 1,628 across 2020/21.

Our training evaluation shows an increase of 80 to 90 points (on a scale from -100 to +100) across evaluated 
training in all areas of knowledge, confidence, and skills.

A particular session that had excellent feedback was ‘Understanding Neglect and its impact in adolescence’. This 
was commissioned and delivered in response to leaning from one of the Serious Case Reviews published this year.  
All attendees reported a significant increase in knowledge and skills following the training.

An end of year survey of training attendees found that 80% of respondents identify they have changed their 
practice at work as a result of SCP training.

The SCP intends to continue this diversified approach, with the addition of some face to face delivery when it is 
possible and beneficial. 

 “Absolutely fantastic learning experience. Incredibly in-depth, knowledgeable 
and informative” (Psychological Wellbeing Practitioner - Leicestershire CC, attending Understanding 

Neglect and its impact in adolescence). 

 “I found the safeguard core awareness course very informative. Being a newly 
qualified practitioner I was not confident in procedures of identifying and 
reporting safeguarding concerns. I now feel confident and skilled in this”  
(Pre- School Assistant, attending Core Awareness in Safeguarding CYP). 

 “This training gave more confidence when talking about mental capacity 
and awareness of law” and “My assessments now have a more informed 
consideration when looking at capacity with client cases.  Trainer was superb.” 
(Mental Capacity Act training) 

Voluntary and Community Sector 
The SCP engages with the voluntary and community sector through a VCS reference group that brings together 
agencies across Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland.  This allows the partnership to understand needs and 
emerging issues and influence good safeguarding practice in the sector.   During the year the SCP was asked to 
present our approach on this to support another regional SCP in developing their engagement with the sector.

The reference group has contributed to the development of the partnership priorities and has developed its own 
briefings relating to the SCP’s priorities and emerging learning.   The briefings are disseminated widely through the 
sector and written specifically to meet the needs of voluntary and community agencies.

Engagement with the VCS sector led to the development and delivery of training for safeguarding leads in voluntary 
and community agencies during the pandemic and the partnership setting up specific pages for the sector on its 
website.

349



14  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21

Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews 
The partnership assesses Serious Safeguarding Incidents as defined by Working Together 2018 and decides 
whether a Child Safeguarding Practice Review (CSPR), in order to identify how to improve safeguarding 
responses in future, is required.  

The Partnership carried out 4 Rapid Reviews following a Serious Incident Notification or referral in the period 
of this report.  One of these was revisited later in the year when more information became available.  From 
these the partnership commenced two Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews. Both of these were in progress at 
the end of March 2021 to be completed later in 2021.

Local health agencies worked well to continue to contribute to these reviews whilst facing significant resource 
challenges during the pandemic.

The former Safeguarding Children Board published four Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) in 2020.  The 
Partnership completed six other learning reviews that had not met the criteria for an SCR or CSPR.

These reviews identified the following key areas for further work:

• Identifying and responding to adolescent neglect

• Improved understanding and collaborative working regarding safeguarding and child mental health 
support

• Consistently hearing and responding to the voice and lived experience of children and evidencing this

• Effective engagement and involvement of all agencies in child protection conferences

• Improved confidence in recognising and responding to potential Fabricated and Induced Illness.

Action plans are in place to respond to these and learning has been shared with practitioners across 
organisations through the Safeguarding Partnerships’ Safeguarding Matters newsletter, through articles and 
‘7-minute briefings’ designed to convey key messages from reviews and encourage managers and workers to 
reflect on their practice.

 “I want space to talk, but don’t want to be pressured by anyone to say 
anything’ (YPAG) 

Action taken during the year can be seen in the work previously outlined on procedures, training and audit 
relating to adolescent neglect, mental health the voice of the child and concealed and denied pregnancy but 
also included:

• Production of standards and guidance to support effective child protection conferences with all 
agencies well engaged.

• Ongoing messages regarding hearing the voice of children and promoting the partnership’s ‘Was not 
heard’ video.

• Additional clarification regarding the areas for further learning in the review of the Thresholds 
document.

350

https://lrsb.org.uk/newsletters


Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2020-21  15

 “When I cry I’m talking to you, when I fall silent I’m talking to you…”  
(Was Not Heard)

During the period covered in this report the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel published one national 
safeguarding practice review. ‘Out of routine: A review of sudden unexpected death in infancy (SUDI) in 
families where the children are considered at risk of significant harm’ was published in July 2020. 

The report identifies that ‘Situational risks and out-of-routine circumstances act together to increase the 
risk of SUDI and may mean that families find it difficult or impossible to engage with standard safer sleep 
messages.’ (page 8). Within the published report, our local multi-agency Strategy to Support Healthy 
Pregnancy, Birth and Babies is referenced as an example of a strategy which brings together ‘action to 
reduce poverty and health inequalities with systematic arrangements for prevention and early intervention to 
support vulnerable families’ (p.25).

Whilst the recommendations from the report are aimed at national bodies, locally we have embedded the 
learning about SUDI, situational risks, and out-of-routine circumstances into our multi-agency safeguarding 
children training programme and will continue to do so.

As part of our 2021/22 Business Plan, our Multi-Agency Learning and Development Group has been tasked 
with considering the impact of our work to date and to review SUDI awareness-raising and multi-agency 
training across the partnership as required. 

It was notable that the majority of Rapid Reviews and referrals in the year related to children under 1 year 
old, whereas in previous years the majority of referrals related to teenagers.  This has led to the partnership 
adopting a priority on safeguarding babies for the coming year incorporating a communications campaign 
across the partnership, raising awareness to support the safety of babies linked to local implementation of the 
Icon project regarding crying babies.  

351

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901091/DfE_Death_in_infancy_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901091/DfE_Death_in_infancy_review.pdf
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/184822/strategy-to-support-healthy-pregnancy-birth-and-babies-in-leicester-leicestershire-and-rutland-2019-2024.pdf
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/184822/strategy-to-support-healthy-pregnancy-birth-and-babies-in-leicester-leicestershire-and-rutland-2019-2024.pdf
https://www.lcitylscb.org/media/1868/llr-scps-2021-2022-business-plan-v10.pdf


How feedback from children and families has 
informed our work and influenced service provision. 

 “a lot of groups don’t realise how young people can be overwhelmed by being 
asked too often ‘are you ok?’ blah, blah, blah…” (YPAG)

The Partnership has a Young Peoples Advisory Group, which includes young people from across Leicestershire and 
Rutland with a variety of backgrounds relating to safeguarding.  The young people play a part in the priority setting and 
scrutiny of the partnership.

The pandemic initially limited the engagement work the SCP could carry out with young people, however the 
partnership adapted it’s approaches to ensure children and young people’s voices continued to influence the 
partnership approach.

In June 2020 the partnership supported a local extension of a national survey regarding young people’s emotional 
health and wellbeing in light of the pandemic.  The survey had 221 responses from Leicestershire & Rutland.

This particularly highlighted that loneliness, stress and lack of sleep had increased for a large minority of young people 
(39%) and lack of contact with friends was having a large impact on the majority of young people’s wellbeing (70%).

 “I really want to return to college. I’m looking forward to seeing my friends and 
teachers, but I am worried about being exposed to the virus” (Covid survey)

The partnership considered this in its requests for assurance and in setting its forward priorities.  The findings of the 
survey were also fed into local work to develop responses to support children and young people’s emotional health and 
wellbeing.

Young people were involved in the recruitment panel for the Partnership’s new Independent Advisor.

Whilst the disruption to normal working made it difficult to set up planned scrutiny by young people the SCP was able 
to seek the views of young people to inform the Partnerships priorities for 2021/22.  Young people helped to lead the 
Partnership’s priority setting meeting in March 2021 and shaped the priorities and actions beneath these.  Young 
people continued to highlight mental health and domestic abuse as their biggest concerns.

 “Young people prefer to talk to friends because professionals ‘rat you out’” (YPAG)

352



Partners commissioned some work to hear from children and young people whose parents have been 
considered at Domestic Abuse MARAC to understand their experience. This will report later in 2021 and be 
considered alongside the findings of a multi-agency audit focussed on domestic abuse to be completed in 
2021.

The Partnership held an online launch of its ‘Was not heard’ film.  The film was written and produced by 
young people locally with involvement from members of the Young Peoples Advisory Group.  It encourages 
those who work with children to understand how children communicate with them and highlights the 
importance and legal duty to hear and respond to them.  

This was nominated for a number of independent film awards and was included in national training on 
Psychological first aid as part of the response to the pandemic.

This took the message of the film to thousands of people across Britain, with feedback identifying it as one of 
the most powerful and important parts of the training.  

In February 2021 LLR Safeguarding Children Partnerships’ Multi-Agency Learning and Development Subgroup 
posted the film on their YouTube channel and it has since received over 35,000 views.  

 “It’s my life you’re talking about. I might not understand everything yet but 
I’m living it.” (Was Not Heard)

353

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=x14_2chx3lE&t=56s


Changes to the arrangements
The partnership is committed to developing and improving.  Following a number of changes during its first 6 
months of operation there were no formal changes to the arrangements during 2020/21, however as outlined 
the partnership significantly adapted its working in response to the pandemic.

During the year the Partnership established stronger joint working with Leicester Safeguarding Children 
Partnership Board (LSCPB).  A single Independent Advisor was appointed across both partnerships and the 
two SCPs held joint main partnership meetings throughout the year to more closely align approaches and 
make best use of partner agencies time.

Members of the partnership noted that during the year partnership working became stronger, as increased 
communication and planning together in response to the pandemic enhanced relationships.  More 
organisations were more regularly involved in partnership safeguarding meetings and in the multi-agency 
safeguarding meetings working directly with children and families.

The Partnership’s quarterly ‘Safeguarding Matters’ newsletter was also extended to cover the Leicester SCPB.   
This is a joint publication with the Safeguarding Adults Boards for Leicester and Leicestershire & Rutland, 
highly regarded locally and used to communicate learning and developments with regard to multi-agency 
safeguarding with those working with Children and Young people. 

From 2021 the Safeguarding Partners have decided that the Partnership will be chaired by the Safeguarding 
Partners in rotation.  This will support the Independent Advisor to focus on leading Independent Scrutiny 
of the arrangements and providing independent advice.  In addition to this the partnership will continue to 
review the arrangements learning from working during the pandemic.

354



Independent Scrutiny -  
Report of the Independent Advisor - Kay Whyte-Bell
 
Kay was appointed late September 2020 as the Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland (LLR) 
Safeguarding Children Partnerships (SCPs) Independent Adviser following the completion of the 
transitional arrangements from Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards (LSCBs) to SCPs and the 
departure of the previous Chair, Simon Westwood.  Leicester & Rutland SCP would like to thank 
Simon for his leadership and support as Chair in overseeing the transitional arrangements.

Kay is a social worker by profession and brings a range of experience through senior leadership and 
management roles in local and regional Government, as well as within voluntary and charitable 
organisations.  Additionally, Kay has also worked in Children’s Social Care Inspection, previously 
chaired an LSCB and authored Serious Case Reviews as well as currently Lead Consultant with a 
number of organisations on behalf of Elia, the umbrella organisation for Signs of Safety, the practice 
approach utilised across Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland Children’s Services.    

What is the Role of Independent Adviser/Independent Scrutineer?

‘The role of independent scrutiny is to provide assurance in judging the effectiveness of  
multiagency arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in a local area,  
including arrangements to identify and review serious child safeguarding cases” and,  
“The independent scrutineer should consider how effectively the arrangements are working for  
children and families as well as for practitioners, and how well the safeguarding partners 
are providing strong leadership and agree with the safeguarding partners how this will be  
reported.” – Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 

Being mindful of each’s individual and unique footprint, Leicester SCP and Leicestershire &  
Rutland SCP decided to appoint one Independent Adviser given that much of the planning,  
commissioning and delivery of child safeguarding is jointly undertaken across the three local areas.

The Independent Advisor therefore has reviewed the work of the Leicester & Rutland SCP together 
with this annual report and provided the following assessment and recommendations.

Summary

Given the operational challenges that were as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic, overall, the 
Leicester & Rutland SCP 2020-21 Annual Report offers a good range of evidence, together with 
analyses, providing assurance of the local safeguarding children arrangements.  The report, 
furthermore, identifies specific areas for development through new or enhanced priorities.

What are the strengths?

- The statutory partner agencies, Clinical Commissioning Group, Police and Local Authorities, 
demonstrate a strong partnership, strengthened through the transition from LSCB to SCP

- Priorities have been agreed in an open and transparent process, involving the wider 
partnership

- Though self-assessment identifies more progress to be made, there is a strong Young 
People’s Advisory Group that demonstrates influence and SCP engagement on local 
decision making and priorities 

355



- The nationally acclaimed “Was Not Heard” short film advocating the right of children to 
be heard and the duty of those working with them to act has been viewed over 36,000 
times

- There is evidence of LLRSCPs developing working together with the Safeguarding Adults 
Boards (SABs) on cross cutting themes and shared issues

- The Covid 19 pandemic impact planning has been helped by regular and effective 
meetings between the partners’ Safeguarding Sub-Cell as well as leading to deep dive 
audit activity such as increase in concealed or denied pregnancy

- Successful Covid 19 communications strategy to the wider public “Our Door is Open”  
also adopted by Leicester SCP and recognised as good practice by the LGA

- Rapid Reviews are timely, appropriately attended and outcome-focused with key learning 
identified as well as decisions on next steps clearly evidenced

- Good evidence of impact of training and development through follow up surveys 

What could be more evident?

- A robust multi-agency data set linked to the overarching priorities, that can be tracked, 
scrutinised and evidenced of impact on service delivery and improvements 

- Scrutiny and assurance activity in which the engagement of children and young people 
show impact on service commission and/or delivery

- Families views in relation to engagement and intervention

- Influence of learning from Rapid Reviews, Local Safeguarding Children Practice Reviews 
and Serious Case Reviews 

- Impact of partnership with voluntary agencies

- Transitional safeguarding*

- Safeguarding children from diverse communities*

*Identified as priorities for 2021-22

356



Developments in Independent Scrutiny

The Independent Adviser, together with the LLR Statutory Partners, has begun work on further de-
veloping the scrutiny function, based on growing practice across English SCP’s, the National Safe-
guarding Children Panel Reports (2018, 2020), and the Wood Review of Multi Agency Safeguarding 
Arrangements (May 2021).   The following developments are either already happening or scheduled 
to begin from September 2021: 

• Agree with Statutory Partners a Scrutiny Programme against agreed priorities

• Transition chairing arrangements from September 2021 – LLRSCPs will now be chaired on a 
rotational basis by Statutory Partners

• Established regular ‘keep in touch’ scrutiny and assurance meetings between Independent Adviser 
and Safeguarding partners

• Quarterly meetings between the Independent Adviser and the Independent Chair of the local SABs

• Agreed joint priority with local SABs - ’Think Family’ approach

• Joint meetings between the SABs and SCPs

• Engagement with Children and Young People – for example joint chairing of LLR SCPs Priority 
Setting meeting; involvement in SCP Scrutiny programme

• Independent scrutiny of SCP subgroups 

• Providing Independent advice to the Case Review Group and Rapid Review Meetings

• Explore further opportunities for external review such as with peer SCP’s or through the Local 
Government Association

Kay Whyte Bell, Independent Adviser 
Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnerships

30th August 2021

357



Finance
The work of the SCP is supported by the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Partnership Business Office that 
also supports the Safeguarding Adults Boards and carries out Domestic Homicide Reviews for Community Safety 
Partnerships in Leicestershire & Rutland.  The SCP is funded by contributions from its partners.  

A single funding arrangement for the Safeguarding Children Partnerships and Safeguarding Adults Boards for 
2020 onwards has been agreed between the statutory partners for the Safeguarding Adults Boards and the 
children’s Safeguarding Partners for Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland.

The contributions from partners for the Leicestershire & Rutland SCP and SAB as a whole for 2020/21 were 
as follows:

£

Leicestershire County Council 112,633

Rutland County Council 50,367

Leicestershire Police 89,000

West Leicewstershire CCG and East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG 106,500

National Probation Services 1,348

Total income for SAB and SCP 359,848

Overall expenditure across the SCP and SAB was £334,104.  The balance will go into reserves. From 2021 
onwards the reserves of the SCP and SAB will be used to reduce partner contributions to the partnership whilst 
leaving a contingency to cover the cost of Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews going forwards.

Expenditure for the SCP is apportioned as follows:

£

Staffing 110,676

Independent Chairing 14,113

Support Services 3,250

Operating Costs 9,128

Training 41,200

Case Reviews 3,760

Total SAB Expenditure 182,127

With the joint funding arrangement across the SCP and SAB and a more even balance of work 50% of the overall 
business office staffing cost and support services costs have been allocated to the SCP rather than 63% in 
previous years.  Planned changes to ways of working, as well as changes enforced by the pandemic have reduced 
support services and operating costs compared to previous years.  Expenditure on safeguarding case reviews 
reduced as the majority of work by independent reviewers had been completed before the start of the year or 
commenced towards the end of the year.

358



Priorities 2021/22 onwards
The partnership has reviewed learning from local and national reviews, and from local assurance and 
engagement work, as well as speaking to children and young people and considering the current context of 
the pandemic in determining its priorities going forward.   The Partnership has identified the following forward 
priorities shared with Leicester Safeguarding Children Partnership Board:

 “I feel like I was listened to” (YPAG)

SAFEGUARDING BABIES

Improve how we work together 
with families before and after 

births to safeguard babies

HARM OUTSIDE  
OF THE HOME   

Seek assurance that the local 
approach to safeguarding 

children from extra-familial threat 
is effective.

CHILD MENTAL HEALTH 
AND EMOTIONAL 

WELLBEING 
Seek assurance that partners are 
working to support good mental 

health for children and that 
mental health and safeguarding 

are effectively addressed together

SAFEGUARDING 
CHILDREN FROM 

DIVERSE BACKGROUNDS 
Understand and improve how 
well partners work together 

with children and families from 
diverse backgrounds

DOMESTIC ABUSE AND 
CHILD SAFEGUARDING 
Seek assurance that partners 

are responding appropriately to 
safeguard and support children 

living with domestic abuse

COVID-19  
(SHARED WITH LEICESTER 

SAB AND LEICESTERSHIRE & 
RUTLAND SAB) 

Reflect on and respond to 
the ongoing impact of the 
Coronavirus pandemic on 

safeguarding children and adults.

359



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND SAFEGUARDING ADULT BOARD 
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 

 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR OF THE LEICESTERSHIRE AND 
RUTLAND SAFEGUARDING ADULT BOARD (LRSAB) 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to bring to Cabinet’s attention the Annual Report 

2020/21 for the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board (LRSAB) for 
consultation and comment. 
 

2. Any comments or proposed amendments made by the Cabinet will be addressed in 
the final report before it is published later in September 2021. 

 
3. The final Annual Report is the report of the Independent Chair who must publish an 

annual report on the effectiveness of safeguarding adults in the local area. This is a 
statutory requirement under the Care Act 2014. 

 
Recommendations 
 
4. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes and comments on the LRSAB Annual 

Report for 2020/21 particularly in relation to the business of the County Council. 
 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
5. The LRSAB is a statutory body and local authorities have a duty to ensure that the 

Board is enabled to operate effectively.   
 
6. It is a requirement of the Care Act 2014 that the LRSAB Annual Report be reported 

to the Leader of the Council together with the Chief Executive of the local authority, 
the Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and local Healthwatch. 

 
7. In Leicestershire and Rutland the Annual Report has traditionally also been 

presented to the Cabinet and the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 
8. Presenting the Annual Report enables the Cabinet to comment on the content of the 

Annual Report and consider whether the report identifies matters that it wishes to 
address in relation to the effectiveness of safeguarding within the work of the 
Authority. 

 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

361 Agenda Item 16



 
9. The LRSAB Annual Report was considered by the Adults and Communities Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee on 6 September.  and its comments are summarised in 
paragraph 25 of this report. 

 
10. Any proposed additions or amendments to the Annual Report made by the Cabinet 

will be considered by the Independent Chair for incorporation into the final report, 
before it is published by the end of September 2021. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
11. The LRSAB is a statutory body established as a result of the Care Act 2014.  The 

main purpose of the LRSAB is to ensure effective, co-ordinated multi-agency 
arrangements for the safeguarding of vulnerable adults. 
 

12. As outlined above it is a statutory requirement for the Chair of the SAB to publish an 
annual report into the effectiveness of safeguarding adults arrangements in the local 
area.  This report must be reported to the Leader of the Council together with the 
Chief Executive of the local authority, the Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, the Police and Crime Commissioner and local Healthwatch. 

 
13. The Business Plan of the LRSAB for the period that this Annual Report relates to was 

considered by Cabinet on 18 September 2020. 
 
Resource Implications 
 
14. There are no resource implications arising from this report, as this is a retrospective 

report. The LRSAB operates within a budget to which partner agencies contribute.    
 

15. Safeguarding Adults Board statutory partners have, along with Safeguarding 
Partners for safeguarding children, set a single agreement of principles to share the 
operating costs of the Safeguarding Children Partnerships (SCPs) and Safeguarding 
Adults Boards for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  
 

16. As part of this agreement Leicestershire County Council contributes £102,496 to the 
SAB and SCP in 2021/22.  This is 31% of the total funding for the Leicestershire and 
Rutland SAB and SCP (£325,779).  This compares with £112,633 in the previous 
year which was 31% of the total budget for the Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB, 
SCP and SAB of £358,500 in 2020/21. 
 

17. Leicestershire County Council also hosts the Safeguarding Partnerships’ Business 
Office that supports the SAB and the SCP. 

 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
18. None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Fran Pearson, Independent Chair of the LRSAB 
Safeguarding Business Office, Leicestershire County Council 
Telephone: 0116 305 7130          Email: lrspbo@leics.gov.uk 

362

mailto:lrspbo@leics.gov.uk


 
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities 
Tel: 0116 305 7454    Email: jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk   

363

mailto:jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background 
 
Annual Report 2020/21 
 
19. The key purpose of the Annual Report is to assess the impact of the work undertaken 

in 2020/21 on service quality and on safeguarding outcomes for adults in 
Leicestershire and Rutland.  Specifically, it evaluates performance against the 
priorities that were set out in the LRSAB Business Plan 2020/21. 

 
20. A pre-publication draft of the Annual Report 2020/21 can be found in full as the 

Appendix to this report. 
  
21. The key messages from the LRSAB, specifically in relation to Leicestershire are: 

a. Partnership working to safeguard adults with care and support needs has 

strengthened during the difficult circumstances of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

b. Individuals and their needs can become hidden in plain sight within 

organisational and inter-organisational processes. This is a particular concern 

for those with learning disabilities. 

c. Understanding and application of the Mental Capacity Act in relation to 

Safeguarding is improving but requires a sustained focus. 

d. The Board continues to seek ongoing assurance that people within the 

Transforming Care cohort of adults at risk are being adequately safeguarded.  

e. The Board will continue to work together and develop links across partnerships 

to foster a reliable, trusting culture in organisations and across the local area 

and challenge and drive improvement in multi-agency safeguarding of adults. 

 

22. Work to address hidden harm including highlighting vulnerability of particular 
individuals, such as those with learning disabilities is a priority within the SABs 
business plan for 2020/21.  This will also include work to encourage developing and 
responding to professional curiosity and escalating safeguarding concerns.  

 
Consultations 
 
23. The annual report includes a summary of the consultation and engagement work the 

SAB has undertaken with the public, adults with care and support needs and with 
practitioners during 2020/21. 

 
24. All members of the Board have had opportunities to contribute to and comment on 

earlier drafts of the Annual Report.   
 

25. The Report was also considered by the Adults and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on the 6 September. The Committee welcomed 
the Annual Report and made no further comments. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications  
 

364



26. The LRSAB seeks to ensure that a fair, effective and equitable service is discharged 
by the partnership to safeguard vulnerable adults. At the heart of the work is a focus 
on any individual or group that may be at greater risk of safeguarding vulnerability.  

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
27. The SAB works closely with community safety partnerships in Leicestershire to 

scrutinise and challenge performance in community safety issues that affect the 
safeguarding and well-being of individuals and groups, for example domestic abuse 
and Prevent.  The SAB also supports community safety partnerships in carrying out 
Domestic Homicide Reviews and acting on their recommendations.  

 
Environmental Implications 
 
28. The published LRSAB Annual Report will primarily be made available on-line in 

electronic form, rather than paper.  There are no other environmental implications 
arising from this report. 

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
29. Safeguarding adults is dependent on the effective work of the partnership as set out 

in national regulation relating to the Care Act 2014.  
 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 18 September 2020 “Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Adult Board Annual Report 2019/20, Strategic Plan 2020-2025 and Business Plan 
2020/21” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5997&Ver=4 
 
List of Appendices  

 

Appendix - Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board Draft Annual Report 

2020/21 

 

365

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5997&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Leicestershire & Rutland 
Safeguarding Adults Board 
Annual Report 2020-21

Safeguarding
Adults Board

Safeguarding
Adults Board

Safeguarding
Adults Board

367

mhand_6
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX

mhand_7
Typewritten Text
DRAFT



2  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2020-21

Foreword from the Independent Chair
This year, for the first time, I am writing one foreword for the reports of both the Safeguarding Adults Boards for 
the Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland area. This reflects that, over the year, the boards have continued a 
process that had already begun. This was a move to greater shared activity and leadership of the safeguarding 
system, while keeping a strong focus on the local populations of Rutland, Leicestershire and the city of 
Leicester and their distinct needs. 

The context for this report is also unique and has had profound consequences for adult safeguarding and 
the role of the Safeguarding Adults Board. The pandemic started in the year covered by the 2019-2020 
Annual Report. It impacted on everything the Safeguarding Adults Boards did for the whole of 2020-2021. 
Partnerships and local communities lived and worked through a year of high, often unpredictable demand and 
unprecedented situations. Serious incidents generally happen over a few days. As I write, our partnerships 
have been planning for, or responding to, the effects of the pandemic for eighteen months. 

Partnership working has been strong during the pandemic. The government allowed some aspects of local 
councils’ Care Act responsibilities to be ‘eased’ during a period in 2020. None of the three councils needed 
to enact these easements despite the very difficult context. An added layer of assurance from my external 
perspective lay with something that I felt was remarkably strong in Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland. The 
Local Resilience Forum for each area of England coordinates emergency responses. Work done by the national 
network of Safeguarding Adults Board chairs, showed how variable these structures were in their inclusion and 
prioritisation of adult safeguarding. This was not so in our area and particularly notable was the setting up of a 
Safeguarding Sub Cell in the Local Resilience Forum structure. 

During the year, the two Safeguarding Adults Boards began to meet as one group on a six-weekly basis with 
a particular focus for each of our sessions. This agility came out of the pandemic but what it enabled was 
honesty, transparency and shared approaches to complex problems. This openness will be important in the 
year ahead, as sadly, I think I anticipate as do all members of both Safeguarding Adults Boards, that harm – 
often unintentional - and neglect that happened during the pandemic, will emerge and our task will be to learn 
from it and prevent future occurrences wherever possible. The statutory partners to the boards – Leicestershire 
Police, the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group, and the three local authorities, have met regularly and steered 
and owned the work of the Safeguarding Adults Boards. This leadership has extended to include regular joint 
sessions and priority setting with the Safeguarding Children Partnerships, which can only benefit families 
and communities. Another first was that priority setting for the year was held jointly and included the naming 
of shared priorities, with transition pathways into adulthood for children and young people who have been 
exploited being the main joint area of work for 2021-2022.

I would like to thank everyone involved in all aspects of adult safeguarding over the last year. I would also want 
to recognise that it has been a time of loss and sadness and to offer condolences and best wishes to all those 
around our boards and in the communities of Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland, who have been affected.

Fran Pearson 
Chair of Leicestershire & Rutland SAB and Leicester SAB

368



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2020-21 3

The Safeguarding Adults Board
The Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) brings together organisations across 
Leicestershire and Rutland Counties.  Its members include Police, Local Authorities, Health agencies, Prisons, 
Care homes and other organisations working with adults with care and support needs. The SAB leads 
arrangements to safeguard adults with care and support needs and oversees and coordinates the effectiveness 
of the safeguarding work of its member and partner agencies.

The Board is led by Independent Chair, Fran Pearson.  This is the statutory annual report of the SAB outlining 
the work it has carried out during 2020-21.

For more information on how the Board works please visit www.lrsb.org.uk/lrsab

Priorities and what we achieved
The SAB set a joint Strategic Plan for 2020-2025 with the Leicester SAB in 2020 which provides the 
framework for forward priorities of the two SABs.

The business plan for the LRSAB for 2020-2021 was strongly influenced by the Covid-19 pandemic as the 
SAB adapted to working in the context of ongoing impact of and response to Covid-19.

The three priorities in the Business plan for 2020/21 were: 

• Safeguarding Adults spotlights – focussed exploration of specific areas of concern in the current 
circumstances

• Responding to changing need – adapting structures and processes to increase flexibility and 
responsiveness of the SAB

• Meeting statutory responsibilities – learning and improving safeguarding adults, including engaging 
communities and carrying out safeguarding adults reviews

 
These three priorities were shared with the Leicester SAB.

Responding to changing need 
The SAB adapted its working to respond to the capacity and changing needs of its partners and communities 
in Leicestershire & Rutland during the pandemic.   In the initial months of the pandemic response the SAB 
prioritised continuing Safeguarding Adults Reviews, assessing and responding to emerging concerns and 
communicating key messages to the public and practitioners to support ongoing safeguarding of adults during 
the pandemic.

Joint working with the Leicester SAB increased during the year including shared Board meetings and shared 
communication campaigns.

Partners worked together to respond to the changing situation and consider safeguarding risks and changing 
need of adults with care and support needs.  One example of this is a partnership set up in response to an 
increase in unplanned closures of care homes to develop an approach to identify and provide appropriate 
support to to safeguard residents.  Intelligence from this has shaped the SABs forward priority regarding care 
homes.

369

http://www.lrsb.org.uk/lrsab


4  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2020-21

Safeguarding adults spotlights
The Board explored the following themes in response to emerging concerns during the year: 

• Safeguarding those with complex needs (Transforming Care cohort)

• Hidden harm; Safeguarding those shielding and domestic abuse

• Learning from Learning Disability Mortality Reviews 

• Modern Slavery

• Cuckooing

 
The SAB found that almost two thirds (61%) of people in the Transforming Care cohort had been subject to 
at least one safeguarding enquiry in the last four years, highlighting these as people at notable risk of abuse 
or neglect.  Information regarding safeguarding of those in placements outside of Leicester, Leicestershire & 
Rutland could not be verified.

The Board will continue to follow up the approach regarding those with the most complex needs and has 
commenced development of local guidance and workshops to improve practice in safeguarding those with 
multiple complex needs, particularly where they are in placements outside of the area.

A number of cases locally had highlighted concerns about the exploitation of adults with care and support 
needs including modern slavery and cuckooing.   Partners developed guidance to support effective multi-
agency responses to cuckooing, learning from partnership work during the year.

The SAB reviewed local and national reports from the Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) 
programme.   The local LeDeR programme had identified many examples of excellent person-centred care 
and the quality of completed LLR LeDeR reviews was high.  However, it had also highlighted a number of 
areas where improvements were required.  These improvements fell under the broad themes of advanced care 
planning and end of life care; communication and care coordination; the application of the Mental Capacity 
Act and Best Interest decision making; diagnostic overshadowing and the role of carers in diagnosis and care 
management. 

The SAB was concerned that there remained much to do to ensure those with Learning Disabilities received 
the same level of care as other adults and urged partners to ensure all people with a learning disability had an 
annual health check.  The SAB will seek assurance from partners regarding the plans for putting the learning 
from these reports into action.

Meeting statutory responsibilities
Work on meeting statutory responsibilities is outlined in the reminder of this report considering the SABs work 
on Safeguarding Adults Reviews, audits, procedures and training.

370



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2020-21 5

Procedures
Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board works with Leicester Safeguarding Adults Board to 
maintain up to date inter-agency adult safeguarding policies and procedures across Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland. These policies and procedures are hosted on our dedicated policy and procedures website 
called the MAPP (Multi Agency Policies and Procedures). Throughout 2020/21 these policies and procedures 
continued to be reviewed and updated in line with learning from reviews, audits, and best practice. 

A new addition to our MAPP during 2020/21 was our multi-agency Guidance for Working with Adults at 
Risk of Exploitation: Cuckooing. This guidance seeks to provide front line professionals with a multi-agency 
framework to facilitate effective working with adults who are at risk due to ‘cuckooing’. 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews
During 2020/21 the SAB had 14 referrals for Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs), significantly more than 
any previous year.  From these the SAB commenced seven Safeguarding Adults Reviews during the year, 
and continued work on two others.  One review was completed during the year and learning disseminated to 
practitioners.

The SAB participated in a pilot of the Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) SAR in Rapid Time methodology.  This is 
a process designed to complete analysis of cases and identify systems learning in a short space of time. The purpose is 
to minimise the time it takes to make improvements to the safeguarding system following SARs.  The report for the SAR 
included in this pilot was completed within a couple of months by the end of the year and the SABs response to the systems 
findings worked through at a workshop later in Spring 2021.

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

2016/17

SAR Referrals

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

SARs Commenced

371

http://www.llradultsafeguarding.co.uk/
https://www.llradultsafeguarding.co.uk/guidance-for-working-with-adults-at-risk-of-exploitation-cuckooing/
https://www.llradultsafeguarding.co.uk/guidance-for-working-with-adults-at-risk-of-exploitation-cuckooing/


6  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2020-21

Key areas of learning from the SARs worked on during 2020-21 were: 
  

• Inconsistent understanding and application of the Mental Capacity Act

• Individuals and their needs can become hidden in plain sight within organisational and inter-
organisational processes

• Multi-agency escalation processes are not always well understood or used. 

• Many areas of abuse and neglect could be picked up and responded to earlier through good 
professional curiosity

• Inconsistencies in essential primary care support to people with learning disabilities.

• Oversight of commissioned placements for people with learning disabilities is not clear

• The system adds to complexities of responding to adults with dual diagnosis care and support needs

• Support for informal carers is not widely known about.

 
The SAB identified and shared key messages from SARs through its Safeguarding Matters newsletter.  

To support people to put learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews into practice the SAB has continued to 
use 7-minute learning briefings for SARs.  These concise documents are focussed on encouraging reflection 
and development within teams and by individuals in response to the learning.

The SAB has developed Safeguarding Mental Capacity Act (MCA) guidance across Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland, with ‘How To’ guides available to support practitioners with their MCA assessments. In addition, 
the Training Subgroup has commissioned basic and enhanced MCA training for the partnerships. 

Partners have reviewed how they communicate with carers around assessments and communicate support 
available to carers via the new service; Carefree which launches in June 2021.

The SAB will continue to seek assurance regarding the care and safeguarding of individuals with learning 
disabilities. The SAB will also carry out further work focussed on supporting professional curiosity and use of 
escalation processes in the SABs 2021/22 business plan.

To support effective and timely learning from SARs in future the SAB reviewed and revised its SAR policy and 
procedures in 2020 and commenced development of a multi-agency analysis training course for those who 
will are involved in reviewing cases within their organisation.

372



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2020-21 7

Assurance and audit work
The SAB considers data and reviews cases and agency assurance reports to understand how agencies are 
working together to safeguard adults. 

The SAB paused its audit and performance assurance work at the start of the year to support partners’ focus 
on the response to pandemic.  The SABs adapted approach maintained an overview of safeguarding through 
more regular focussed SAB meetings exploring specific areas of concern.  In addition a ‘safeguarding sub-cell’ 
of the Local Resilience Forum brought partners together on a weekly basis to respond to emerging needs and 
service changes and the impact of these across safeguarding children and adults.

The SAB carried out one multi-agency audit process during 2020/21.  The process brings together 
practitioners to give a multi-agency view on practice in safeguarding cases to identify areas of good practice 
and areas for learning and improvement.  The audits focus on particular themes or parts of the safeguarding 
process.

The audit focussed on Neglect and Older people. The audit found: 

• Risks to the individuals involved had been reduced and wider risks to others were considered

• Principles of Making Safeguarding Personal were almost always clearly applied.

• Mental Capacity Act decisions were not always supported by assessments.

• Whilst there is good evidence of family views being sought appropriately as advocates, Independent 
Advocacy is still not always considered when it would be appropriate

• Safeguarding enquiries often did not identify and involve all appropriate agencies

• Of the cases audited the majority had had previous safeguarding enquiries

• There are significant challenges in following up safeguarding enquiries for individuals placed within the 
area from other areas.

 
The findings from this have been disseminated to practitioners and are being taken forward as follows: 

• Facilitating multi-agency workshops to promote the work of advocacy providers. 

• Facilitating multi-agency training around safeguarding adults strategy meetings. 

• Consideration is being given to updating multi-agency policies and procedures relating to how 
outcomes are recorded. We will be taking a regional view on this in the first instance. 

• Highlighting with providers through the SAB Trainers’ Network the issues identified, particularly family 
intervention when this is impacting on the person’s care and refusal of care.

• The Performance Subgroup will review repeat referrals. 

• Guidance and workshops to be finalised in 2021 in response to audits around ‘Transforming Care’ are 
also relevant is relevant to findings form this audit. 

 
In addition the SAB received the delayed findings of an audit regarding financial abuse from the previous year. 

373



8  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2020-21

The audit found: 

• Financial abuse by relatives including those who held Legal Power of Attorney was a common factor

• Progress of Office of the Public Guardian investigations is unclear when the person dies.

• The role different organisations can play in financial abuse investigations can be confusing for frontline 
staff.

• In several cases initial Strategy Discussions were not happening on a multi-agency basis.

• Loneliness appears to be a factor which increases the risk of financial abuse and exploitation 

• Workers often lack confidence in talking to alleged perpetrators, particularly family members, about 
safeguarding concerns where this is appropriate.

• Awareness of financial abuse within a range of agencies is good. Many cases were recognised by 
Finance Departments and reviewing officers

The findings from this have been disseminated to practitioners and have resulted in the following actions: 

• Information about agencies that can support work around financial abuse, including Trading Standards 
has been shared across the workforce.

• Closer working, and further clarification of processes, has been developed with the Office of the Public 
Guardian

• Development of financial abuse training to commence in 2021

 
The SAB did not carry out a Safeguarding Adults Audit Framework (SAAF) assessment this year due to 
reduced operating as part of the response to the pandemic.  The SAB is reviewing its approach to the SAAF 
and how it gets assurance from individual agencies about how they work to safeguard adults to support 
effective improvement.

374



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2020-21 9

Training
The pandemic and response to it significantly impacted the SABs ability to carry out training.

The SAB continued to support up-to-date training in single agencies, including all key partners and many care 
providers through disseminating learning from reviews and updates to procedure and legislation through its 
Trainers’ Network and Safeguarding Matters newsletter.  The SAB has established a joint Training Subgroup 
with the Leicester SAB, based upon their existing approach that will oversee assessing training needs and 
developing and commissioning training as required.

Engagement
The SAB has worked to ensure good engagement with individuals, families and practitioners in its 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews during the year in difficult circumstances.  The SAB has disseminated messages 
to practitioners through the Safeguarding Matters newsletter.  

The SAB carried out a campaign encouraging people to continue to look out for and report concerns regarding 
abuse or neglect of adults with care and support needs through the #ourdoorisopen campaign.  This 
campaign ran during both lockdowns in 2020 and was seen to contribute to reports of safeguarding concerns 
increasing following an initial dip at the start of the pandemic.

This is an essential area for the SAB to develop further, working closely with partners existing engagement 
approaches.

The SAB has identified engagement as a priority in its Strategic Plan for 2020 onwards and further work is 
planned in 2021/22 to develop a sustainable and effective set of arrangements for engaging with users and 
carers.  

Your door is shut. 
Ours is open.

Safeguarding
Adults Board

For more information visit
lrsb.org.uk/adults

375



10  Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2020-21

Finance
The work of the SAB is supported by the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Partnership Business office 
that also supports the Safeguarding Children Partnership and carries out Domestic Homicide Reviews.  The 
SAB is funded by contributions from its partners.  

A single funding arrangement for the Safeguarding Adults Boards and Safeguarding Children Partnerships for 
2020 onwards has been agreed between the statutory partners for the Safeguarding Adults Boards and the 
children’s Safeguarding Partners for Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland.

The contributions from partners for the Leicestershire & Rutland SAB and SCP as a whole for 2020/21 
were as follows:

£

Leicestershire County Council 112,633

Rutland County Council 50,367

Leicestershire Police 89,000

West Leicewstershire CCG and East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG 106,500

National Probation Services 1,348

Total income for SAB and SCP 359,848

Overall expenditure across the SAB and SCP was £334,104.  The balance will go into reserves. From 2021 
onwards the reserves of the SCP and SAB will be used to reduce partner contributions to the partnership 
whilst leaving a contingency to cover the cost of Safeguarding Adults Reviews going forwards.

Expenditure for the SAB is apportioned as follows:

£

Staffing 110,676

Independent Chairing 9,319

Support Services 3,250

Operating Costs 4,768

Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) 23,964

Total SAB Expenditure 151,977

With the joint funding arrangement across the SCP and SAB and more work on SARs, 50% of the overall 
business office staffing cost and support services costs have been allocated to the SAB rather than 37% in 
previous years in line with the more even balance of work.  Planned changes to ways of working, as well as 
changes enforced by the pandemic have reduced support services and operating costs compared to previous 
years.  Expenditure on SARs has increased with the increase in the number of SARs commencing in the last 
two years.

376



Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2020-21 11

Forward priorities 2021 onwards
The SAB has developed a joint Strategic Plan for 2020-2025 with the Leicester SAB.  This provides the 
framework for forward priorities of the two SABs.

The LRSAB has developed a business plan jointly with the LSAB for 2021/22 in line with the two SABs’ 
shared Strategic Plan.

The three priorities in the Business plan are: 

 
In addition the SAB will work to continue to meet its statutory responsibilities and continue to develop its 
approach to learning and improving safeguarding of adults.

The Covid-19 priority is a shared with the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnership and 
Leicester Safeguarding Children Partnership Board to provide a broader lens on the cross-generational impact 
of Covid-19.

COVID-19  
Understanding and responding 

to the ongoing impact of 
Covid-19 on Safeguarding Adults 

and Children

HIDDEN HARM  
Reviewing how we work together 

across society to prevent the 
needs of, and harm to, adults 
with care and support needs 
being missed or hidden and 

ensuring we respond effectively.

CARE HOMES  
Work together to support and 

sustain effective safeguarding in 
Care homes.

377



V0
36

7

378



 
 

CABINET – 17 SEPTEMBER 2021  
 

EAST MIDLANDS FREEPORT – INCLUDING URGENT ACTION 
TAKEN  

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the latest position in 

establishing the East Midlands Freeport and to advise members of urgent 
action taken by the Chief Executive using his delegated powers to agree the 
submission of an Outline Business Case (OBC) to the Government as a key 
stage in securing Freeport designation.    
 

Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that  
 

(a) The latest position and next steps in establishing the East Midlands 
Freeport, including the financial implications for the County Council, be 
noted;  

 
(b) The urgent action taken by the Chief Executive under delegated 

authority to support the submission to Government of an Outline 
Business Case ahead of the submission deadline of 10 September be 
noted; 

 
(c) The Chief Executive, following consultation with the Leader of the 

Council, be authorised to submit the Full Business Case for the East 
Midlands Freeport to the Government on behalf of the County Council 
as the lead authority and accountable body for the East Midlands 
Freeport Interim Board; 

 
(d) The Chief Executive in consultation with the Director of Corporate 

Resources and Director of Law and Governance be authorised to enter 
into such governance and other agreements as may be required to 
progress the Freeport designation. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3. To ensure that the Cabinet is aware of the latest position and next steps to be 

taken in establishing the Freeport.   

379 Agenda Item 17



 
4. The Government stipulated that as part of the process to secure designation 

of a Freeport, an OBC should be submitted by 10th September 2021.  The 
Chief Executive took the decision, following consultation with the Leader of 
the Council, in order to meet the Government’s deadline.  
 

5. The Council’s Constitution (Part 3, Section D) provides that the Chief 
Executive may take urgent decisions between Cabinet meetings subject to 
this being reported for information to the next available meeting. 
 

6. The deadline for the submission of the Full Business Case (FBC) is 10th 
December 2021 which falls before the Cabinet meeting (14th December).   
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
7. It is anticipated that a FBC for the Freeport will be submitted to Government 

by 10th December 2021.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
8. On 15th December 2020 the Cabinet received a report regarding the Council’s 

participation in the Development Corporation Interim Vehicle and the 
emerging East Midlands Freeport proposal and resolved ‘that the Chief 
Executive, following consultation with the Leader of the Council and the 
Cabinet Lead Member for Resources, be authorised to agree the Council’s 
support or otherwise, for the submission of a Freeport bid.’  The bid (in effect 
an Expression of Interest (EoI)) was submitted to Government, with the  
support of the Council and other partners, on 5th February 2021.  The 
Chancellor announced that the EoI had been successful during his Budget 
announcement on 3rd March 2021.  

 
9. On 22nd June 2021 the Cabinet noted the latest position and next steps in 

establishing the Freeport; that the Council was a member of the interim 
Freeport Board with the Leader of the Council as the nominated 
representative; and that urgent action had been by the Chief Executive under 
delegated authority for the Council to assume the role of lead authority and 
accountable body and incur expenditure to support progression of the 
Freeport proposal. 

 
10. At the time of writing the OBC is awaiting approval of the Freeport Board. 

Once this is given the Chief Executive will take the urgent decision set out in 
paragraph 4 above.    

 
Resource Implications 
 
11. The resource implications can be split into two main elements: those relating 

to the County Council’s role as lead authority, and those relating to the 
implications for the County Council and other authorities of increased 
business activity and on business rates. 
 

Lead Authority 

380



 
12. As lead authority for the Freeport there has been a certain level of 

dependency on the County Council to ensure funding is available to 
undertake the various activities required to develop the OBC and ultimately to 
turn this into the FBC by December. 
 

13. The initial finance estimates to get to OBC stage totalled £600,000, including 
consultancy support to develop appropriate governance, programme structure 
and risk management approach, legal advice, recruitment of a programme 
manager and various other aspects.  

 
14. The Government provided £300,000 of capacity funding but this still left a 

£300,000 shortfall to get to OBC stage. In addition another £200,000 at least 
will be required to move to FBC, currently unfunded. This therefore leaves a 
shortfall of £0.5m which the County Council will be required to cover initially. 
Provisional agreement has been reached with partners that these costs can 
be recovered from the first call on retained business rates as the sites start to 
grow. But this will still require the Council to cash flow at risk in the event that 
Freeport designation is not achieved. 
 

15. Furthermore, ongoing operating costs of an estimated £400,000 will be 
needed by the Freeport going forwards. At this stage it is unclear whether 
further capacity funding from the Government will be available to help offset 
these costs and so again, there is a likelihood of the Council as the lead 
authority and accountable body being required to forward fund these costs, 
depending on how quickly retained business rates become available. 
 

Business Rates 
 
16. The Freeport will bring tax and customs incentives to those businesses that 

locate in the designated area and as a result it will lead to greater economic 
development and more skilled jobs. This brings obvious benefits to the 
residents of Leicestershire. There is, however, likely to be a greater need for 
investment in transport infrastructure to ensure increased business activity 
can be accommodated on the transport network. There is also likely to be a 
need for investment in green infrastructure such as hydrogen technology and 
other priorities. There will be sources of funding, principally retained business 
rates. The major financial advantage is that the Freeport retains 100% of the 
growth in business rates rather than the 50% currently retained by County, 
Districts and Combined Fire Authority (CFA). Modelling is being undertaken to 
quantify this benefit and it is expected to be significant.  
 

17. The retention of business rates, although a positive for the Freeport, has the 
potential to erode the business rates tax base for Local Authorities and the 
CFA. However, this will be addressed by having a 'no detriment' agreement 
with MHCLG so that all authorities receive their fair share of the Freeport 
business rates ensuring they are in a no worse off position than if the Freeport 
did not exist.  This will be agreed as part of the FBC development. 

 

381



18. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and 
Governance have been consulted on the content of this report. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure  
 

19. This report has been circulated to Mr. T. Pendleton CC. 
 

Officers to Contact 
 
John Sinnott 
Chief Executive 
Tel: 0116 305 6000 
Email: john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tom Purnell,  
Assistant Chief Executive 
Tel: 0116 305 7019 
Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk   

382



PART B 
 

Background 
 

20. Since Cabinet considered the Freeport at its meeting on June 22nd the interim 
Freeport Board has met fortnightly to oversee preparation of an OBC for 
submission by September 10th in line with the Government’s requirements.  
As lead authority and accountable body for the Freeport the County Council 
has supported the operation of the Board and the preparation of the OBC.  In 
this capacity the Council has appointed consultants, EY and a Freeport 
Programme Manager to help progress work on the OBC, and these 
arrangements will remain in place to support completion and submission of an 
FBC in December 2021.  
 

21. The Government’s Freeport Bidding Prospectus states that Freeports are “a 
flagship Government programme that will play an important part in the UK’s 
post-Covid economic recovery and contribute to realising the levelling up 
agenda, bringing jobs, investment and prosperity to some of our most 
deprived communities across the four nations of the UK with targeted and 
effective support.”  
 

22. The OBC’s development has been supported by a series of working groups, 
all of which have included Council representatives.   The strategic, economic, 
commercial, financial and management cases for the Freeport are articulated 
in the OBC, together with more detailed information regarding the specific 
measures which can be brought to bear to encourage investment at the 
Freeport.  These measures relate to customs, tax, business rates, planning, 
regeneration and infrastructure, and innovation.  
 

23. Once the OBC has been submitted work will commence in line with 
Government guidance on preparing the FBC and account will be taken of 
Government feedback on the OBC.   
 

24. At its meeting in December 2020 the Cabinet approved the County Council’s 
participation in the Development Corporation (an interim vehicle was agreed) 
and funding over three years subject to conditions.  Now known as the East 
Midlands Development Company, a company limited by guarantee, it is 
owned by five local authorities and supported by the Midlands Engine.   
 

25. Legislation will be required to put the Company on a statutory footing; that 
may feature in the forthcoming Planning Bill.  In the interim a business case 
has been submitted (March 2021) to Government with a substantial funding 
bid.  A response is awaited.   
 

26. The current structure has a Board comprising local authority officers, on which 
the County Council is represented by the Director of Corporate Resources.  
Advertisements have been placed to recruit independent directors. 
 

27. From the Freeport expression of interest stage through to the business case 
stage, the Government has made clear that it regards alignment with the 

383



Development Corporation/Company as important.  With that in mind the 
County Council, as the accountable body for the Freeport, commissioned 
independent legal advice on alignment, options and practical steps over time.  
That advice has been reported to the Freeport Board and the County Council 
agreed that it can also be shared with the Development Company Board. 

 
28. It is intended to  report to the Scrutiny Commission  in November with  an 

update on the progress towards the FBC being submitted and any issues 
arising for the Council.  

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
29. There are no equality or human rights implications arising from the 

recommendations in this report. 
 
Background Papers 
 
Reports to the Cabinet on 15 December 2020 “East Midlands Development 
Corporation ‘Interim Vehicle (Devco)’ and Freeport Proposal” - https://bit.ly/3v5jfe8 
and 22 June 2021 “East Midlands Global Gateway Freeport - Including Urgent Action 
Taken” - https://bit.ly/3kIL4pc  

384

https://bit.ly/3v5jfe8
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s161918/East%20Midlands%20Global%20Gateway%20Freeport.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s161918/East%20Midlands%20Global%20Gateway%20Freeport.pdf
https://bit.ly/3kIL4pc

	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 20 July 2021.
	4 Medium Term Financial Strategy - Latest Position.
	Appendix A Revenue Summary
	Appendix B Revenue budget major variances
	Appendix C Revised Capital Programme 2021-25
	Appendix D Slipped Capital Schemes
	Appendix E Savings Under Development v3

	5 Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Southern Section - Housing Infrastructure Fund Grant.
	6 Corporate Asset Investment Fund Annual Performance Report 2020-21.
	Appendix -  CAIF Annual Report 20-21
	_Hlk78268916


	7 Ashby Canal Maintenance Funding.
	Appendix - Ashby Canal potential land transfer

	8 Interim Coalville Transport Strategy.
	Appendix A - ICTS
	Appendix B - Interim Coalville Transport Strategy
	Contents
	Foreword
	1. Introduction
	2. Scope of the ICTS
	3 Challenges
	4. Previous work
	5. Prioritisation
	6. The A511 MRN Growth Corridor scheme
	7. Funding the MRN Growth Corridor Scheme
	8. Strategy for complementary highway schemes, passenger transport, and active travel
	9. Next steps
	Appendix A


	9 Leicester City Council Draft Local Transport Plan 4 and Work Place Parking Levy Consultations.
	10 Exception to Contract Procedure Rules - Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive in Relation to the Appointment of a Supplier to Provide the Publishment of Legal Traffic Orders.
	11 Response to Charnwood Borough Council's Emerging new Local Plan: the Pre-submission Charnwood Local Plan (2021 to 2037) Consultation.
	Appendix - LCC RESPONSE

	12 Response to Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council's draft Local Plan (Regulation 18) consultation.
	Appendix - LCC Officer Reponse

	13 Public Engagement Principles.
	AppendixA_LCC_Engagement_Principles
	AppendixB_The Consultation Charter_LCC

	14 Leicestershire School Term-Time Patterns from Autumn 2022 to Summer 2027.
	Appendix A - Consultation Document
	Appendix B - Consultation Responses
	Appendix C - Wordcloud

	15 Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Board Partnership Annual Report 2020/21
	Appendix - Leics Rutland Draft Safeguarding Children Annual Report
	_Hlk46758108


	16 Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Report 2020/21.
	Appendix - Draft Leics Rutland Safeguarding Adults Annual Report
	_Hlk79157212


	17 East Midlands Freeport - Including Urgent Action taken by the Chief Executive.



